# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

# FORM S-1

General form of registration statement for all companies including face-amount certificate companies

Filing Date: **1999-07-27** SEC Accession No. 0000891618-99-003293

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

## **FILER**

### **VERITAS SOFTWARE CORP /DE/**

CIK:1084408| IRS No.: 770507675 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231 Type: S-1 | Act: 33 | File No.: 333-83775 | Film No.: 99670537 SIC: 7372 Prepackaged software

### **VERITAS SOFTWARE CORP**

CIK:867666| IRS No.: 942823068 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231 Type: S-1 | Act: 33 | File No.: 333-83775-01 | Film No.: 99670538 SIC: 7372 Prepackaged software Mailing Address 1600 PLYMOUTH ST MOUNTAIN VIEW CA 94043

Mailing Address 1600 PLYMOUTH ST MOUNTAIN VIEW CA 94043 Business Address 1600 PLYMOUTH STREET MOUNTAIN VIEW CA 94043 6503358000

1600 PLYMOUTH STREET

MOUNTAIN VIEW CA 94043

**Business Address** 

6503358000

AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ON JULY 27, 1999 REGISTRATION NO. 333------\_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM S-1 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION (EXACT NAME OF CO-REGISTRANT AS SPECIFIED IN ITS CHARTER) <TABLE> <C>  $\langle S \rangle$  $\langle C \rangle$ 77-0507675 DELAWARE 7372 
 DELAWARE
 7372

 (STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF
 (PRIMARY STANDARD INDUSTRIAL

 INCORPORATION OR ORGANIZATION)
 CLASSIFICATION CODE NUMBER)
 (I.R.S. EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION NO.) </TABLE> 1600 PLYMOUTH STREET, MOUNTAIN VIEW, CALIFORNIA 94043 (650) 335-8000 (ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE, OF CO-REGISTRANT'S PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES) MARK LESLIE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 1600 PLYMOUTH STREET, MOUNTAIN VIEW, CALIFORNIA 94043 (650) 335-8000 (NAME, ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE, OF AGENT FOR SERVICE) VERITAS OPERATING CORPORATION (EXACT NAME OF CO-REGISTRANT AS SPECIFIED IN ITS CHARTER) <TABLE> <S> <C> <C> DELAWARE 7372 94-2823068 (STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION OR ORGANIZATION) (PRIMARY STANDARD INDUSTRIAL (I.R.S. EMPLOYER CLASSIFICATION CODE NUMBER) IDENTIFICATION NO.) </TABLE> 1600 PLYMOUTH STREET, MOUNTAIN VIEW, CALIFORNIA 94043 (650) 335-8000 (ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE, OF CO-REGISTRANT'S PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES) MARK LESLIE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 1600 PLYMOUTH STREET, MOUNTAIN VIEW, CALIFORNIA 94043 (650) 335-8000 (NAME, ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE, OF AGENT FOR SERVICE) <TABLE> <CAPTION> COPIES TO <S> <C> GORDON K. DAVIDSON, ESQ. DANIEL G. KELLY, JR., ESQ. DAVIS POLK & WARDWELL HORACE L. NASH, ESQ. DAVID MICHAELS, ESQ. 450 LEXINGTON AVENUE FENWICK & WEST LLP NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10017 (212) 450-4000 TWO PALO ALTO SQUARE PALO ALTO, CALIFORNIA 94306 (650) 494-0600 </TABLE> APPROXIMATE DATE OF COMMENCEMENT OF PROPOSED SALE TO THE PUBLIC: As soon as practicable after the effective date of this Registration Statement. If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box. []

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering

pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. []

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. []

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. []

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box.  $\ \ [$  ]

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

<table></table>			
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
FITLE OF EACH CLASS OF SHARES TO BE REGISTERED	AMOUNT TO BE REGISTERED		AGGREGATE OFFERIN PRICE
<pre>% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006 Common stock, \$0.001 par value per share issuable</pre>	\$575,000,000(1)		
upon conversion of Notes			
<pre></pre>	<c></c>		
<caption> <s> TITLE OF EACH CLASS OF SHARES TO BE REGISTERED</s></caption>	<c> AMOUNT OF REGISTRATION FEE</c>		
<pre></pre>	<c> AMOUNT OF REGISTRATION FEE \$159,850</c>		

 Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the amount of registration fee. Includes \$75,000,000 principal amount at maturity of notes to cover the over-allotment option.

- (2) Such indeterminate number of shares of Common Stock and associated preferred share purchase rights as shall be required for issuance upon conversion of the Notes being registered hereunder.
- (3) No additional consideration will be received for the Common Stock and, therefore, no registration fee is required pursuant to Rule 457(i).

THE REGISTRANT HEREBY AMENDS THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON SUCH DATE OR DATES AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO DELAY ITS EFFECTIVE DATE UNTIL THE REGISTRANT SHALL FILE A FURTHER AMENDMENT WHICH SPECIFICALLY STATES THAT THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL THEREAFTER BECOME EFFECTIVE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 8(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE ON SUCH DATE AS THE COMMISSION, ACTING PURSUANT TO SAID SECTION 8(a), MAY DETERMINE.

------

2

THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT COMPLETE AND MAY BE CHANGED. WE MAY NOT SELL THESE SECURITIES UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION IS EFFECTIVE. THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL THESE SECURITIES AND IT IS NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TO BUY THESE SECURITIES IN ANY STATE WHERE THE OFFER OR SALE IS NOT PERMITTED.

PROSPECTUS (Subject to completion) Issued July 27, 1999

[VERITAS LOGO]

% CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES DUE 2006

------

### Interest Payable on and

VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION AND VERITAS OPERATING CORPORATION ARE ISSUING THE NOTES AND WILL BE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR ALL PAYMENTS UNDER THE NOTES.

HOLDERS MAY CONVERT THE NOTES INTO COMMON STOCK OF VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION AT ANY TIME BEFORE , 2006, AT A CONVERSION PRICE OF \$ PER SHARE, SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT IN CERTAIN EVENTS.

THE NOTES ARE BEING ISSUED AT AN ORIGINAL PRICE OF % OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AT MATURITY, WHICH REPRESENTS AN ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT OF % FROM THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE NOTES WHICH IS PAYABLE AT MATURITY. INTEREST ON THE NOTES AT THE RATE OF % PER ANNUM TOGETHER WITH THE ACCRUAL OF ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT REPRESENT A YIELD TO MATURITY OF % PER ANNUM.

VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION MAY NOT REDEEM ANY OF THE NOTES BEFORE , 2002, AS DESCRIBED IN "DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES" BEGINNING ON PAGE

99.

-----

THE NOTES ARE SUBORDINATED IN RIGHT OF PAYMENT TO ALL SENIOR DEBT OF VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION AND ARE SUBORDINATED BY OPERATION OF LAW TO ALL LIABILITIES (INCLUDING TRADE PAYABLES AND LEASE OBLIGATIONS) OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES. AT JUNE 30, 1999, VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION HAD SENIOR DEBT OUTSTANDING IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF \$37.8 MILLION, AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES HAD DEBT OR OTHER LIABILITIES OUTSTANDING IN THE AMOUNT OF \$84.6 MILLION, TO WHICH THE NOTES WOULD HAVE BEEN EFFECTIVELY SUBORDINATED.

FOR A MORE DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES, SEE "DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES" BEGINNING ON PAGE 99.

\_\_\_\_\_

-----

THE COMMON STOCK IS LISTED ON THE NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET UNDER THE SYMBOL "VRTS." ON JULY 26, 1999, THE REPORTED LAST SALE PRICE OF THE COMMON STOCK ON THE NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET WAS \$57.25 PER SHARE.

INVESTING IN THE NOTES OR OUR COMMON STOCK INVOLVES RISKS. SEE "RISK FACTORS" BEGINNING ON PAGE 8 OF THIS PROSPECTUS.

PRICE % AND ACCRUED INTEREST, IF ANY

The Securities and Exchange Commission and state securities regulators have not approved or disapproved of these securities, or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

VERITAS Software Corporation has granted the underwriters the right to purchase up to an additional \$ principal amount at maturity of notes to cover over-allotments. Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated expects to deliver the notes to purchasers on , 1999.

------

MORGAN STANLEY DEAN WITTER CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON SG COWEN

DONALDSON, LUFKIN & JENRETTE

, 1999

3

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	PAGE
<\$>	<c></c>
Prospectus Summary	3
Risk Factors	10
Forward-Looking Statements	20
Use of Proceeds	20
Common Stock Price Range	20
Dividend Policy	21
Capitalization	22

Selected Financial Data VERITAS Summary Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed	23
Financial Data	26
VERITAS Unaudited Comparative Per Share Data	28
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition	
and Results of Operations	30
Old VERITAS Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about	
Market Risk	67
Business	68
Management	82
Related Party Transactions	90
Principal Stockholders	92
Description of Capital Stock	94
Description of the Notes	102
Certain Federal Income Tax Considerations	113
Underwriters	117
Legal Matters	119
Experts	119
Where You Can Find More Information	119
Index to Financial Statements	F-1

  |

#### -----

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information different from that contained in the prospectus. We are offering to sell the notes and seeking offers to buy the notes only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of the notes.

Until , 1999, all dealers that buy, sell or trade the notes, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

Unless otherwise noted, all information in this prospectus relating to outstanding shares of VERITAS common stock or options to purchase VERITAS common stock is based upon information as of July 15, 1999 and reflects the two-for-one stock split paid as a stock dividend in July 1999.

2

4

### PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in the notes or our common stock. You should read the entire prospectus carefully, including "Risk Factors" and the financial statements, before making an investment decision.

### VERITAS

VERITAS designs, develops and markets software products that help large organizations rapidly and reliably access, manage, store and restore important information stored on their networked computer systems. Our products provide performance improvement and reliability enhancement features that are critical for many commercial applications. These products enable protection against data loss and file corruption, rapid recovery after disk or system failure, the ability to process large files efficiently and the ability to manage and back up data distributed on large networks of systems without interrupting users. In addition, our products provide an automated fail over between computer systems organized in clusters sharing disk resources. Our highly scalable products can be used independently, and certain products can be combined to provide interoperable client/server storage management solutions. Some of our products offer centralized administration with a high degree of automation, enabling customers to manage complex, distributed environments cost-effectively by increasing system administrator productivity and system availability. We also provide a comprehensive range of services to assist customers in planning and implementing storage management solutions.

We market our products and associated services to original equipment manufacturers and end-user customers through a combination of direct sales and indirect sales channels such as resellers, value-added resellers, hardware distributors, application software vendors and systems integrators. Our original equipment manufacturer customers include Compaq, Dell, Hewlett-Packard, Sun Microsystems, Microsoft, Sequent Computer Systems and EMC Corporation. Our end-user customers include AT&T, Bank of America, BMW, Boeing, British Telecommunications, Daimler-Chrysler Corporation, Lucent Technologies, Oracle

#### Corporation and Motorola.

VERITAS is the successor to the business previously operated by VERITAS Software Corporation, which we refer to as "Old VERITAS," now known as VERITAS Operating Corporation. On May 28, 1999, VERITAS acquired the Network & Storage Management Group business of Seagate Software, Inc., which we refer to as "NSMG." On June 1, 1999, VERITAS acquired TeleBackup Systems, Inc., which we refer to as "TeleBackup." Pursuant to the rules of the SEC, we have included in this prospectus the historical financial statements of Old VERITAS, NSMG and TeleBackup for periods ending on and prior to March 31, 1999. Unless expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms "we," "our," "us," "the Company" and "VERITAS" refer to VERITAS as the successor to the businesses of Old VERITAS, NSMG and TeleBackup.

VERITAS incorporated in Delaware on October 2, 1998 under the name VERITAS Holding Corporation. Old VERITAS, which is a co-obligor of the notes, originally incorporated in California on May 4, 1982, and reincorporated in Delaware on January 6, 1997. The address for both companies is 1600 Plymouth Street, Mountain View, California 94043, and the telephone number is (650) 335-8000. 3

5

### RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Our reported revenue for the three months ended June 30, 1999, including one month of operating results for NSMG and TeleBackup, was \$114.6 million, compared with Old VERITAS' revenue of \$48.1 million for the same period in 1998. This was a 138% increase from revenue reported for the three months ended June 30, 1998, including a 143% increase in license revenue from the comparable quarter in 1998. The revenue growth was driven primarily by increasing market acceptance of VERITAS' products, a larger percentage of total license revenue generated through the direct sales channel and the acquisition of NSMG in the three months ended June 30, 1999. Service revenue grew by 118%, and resulted primarily from increased sales of service and support contracts on new license sales and, to a lesser extent, from increased renewals of these contracts by our installed base of licensees. We also experienced an increase in demand for consulting and training services.

For the three months ended June 30, 1999, we had a net loss of \$162.3 million, or \$1.33 per share on a diluted basis, compared with Old VERITAS' net income of \$8.5 million, or \$0.08 per share on a diluted basis, for the three months ended June 30, 1998. Included in the net loss for the three months ended June 30, 1999 were one-time charges of \$103.1 million for the write-off of in-process research and development and \$11.0 million for merger and restructuring costs. Also included in the results for the three months ended June 30, 1999 was purchase accounting amortization of \$76.6 million.

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	MARCH 31, 1998	JUNE 30, 1998	SEPTEMBER 30, 1998	DECEMBER 31, 1998	MARCH 31, 1999	JUNE 30, 1999
		(	IN THOUSANDS EXC	CEPT PER SHARE D		
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c> `</c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
AS REPORTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:						
Total net revenues Amortization of developed	\$ 39,082	\$ 48,113	\$ 56,545	\$ 67,125	\$ 71,904	\$ 114,648
technology Amortization of goodwill and other						5,006
intangibles						71 <b>,</b> 557
Merger-related costs In-process research and						11,000
development		2,250		(1,650)		103,100
Income (loss) from operations	9,838	9,801	14,774	19,255	19,494	,
Net income (loss)	9,055	8,541	,	21,459	13,583	(162,329)
Net income (loss) per share	9,000	0,041	12,393	21,439	13,505	(102,323)
basic(1) Net income (loss) per share	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.14	\$ (1.33)
diluted(1) Number of shares used in computing	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.12	\$ 0.21	\$ 0.13	\$ (1.33)
per share amounts basic(1) Number of shares used in computing per share	92,868	93,724	94,458	95,034	95,644	122,430
amounts diluted(1)	101,900	102,708	104,652	104,084	106,272	122,430

THREE MONTHS ENDED

<sup>&</sup>lt;TABLE> <CAPTION>

	MARCH 31, 1998	JUNE 30, 1998	SEPTEMBER 30, 1998	DECEMBER 31, 1998	MARCH 31, 1999	JUNE 30, 1999
			IN THOUSANDS EXC			
<pre><s> AS REPORTED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:</s></pre>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Working capital Total assets Long-term obligations Accumulated deficit Stockholders' equity	258,883 100,872 (72,009)	\$204,967 278,382 100,839 (63,468) 128,512	308,293 100,805 (50,877)	\$198,842 349,117 100,773 (29,416) 169,854	374,876 100,733 (15,833)	<pre>\$ 161,325 4,058,408 100,739 (178,162) 3,595,184</pre>
(1) Share and per share data appl give retroactive effect to a dividend effected in July 199	2-for-1 stock s	-				
6						
	THE OFFERING					
ISSUER	VERITAS Software	e Corporati	on			
CO-OBLIGOR	VERITAS Operation VERITAS	ng Corporat	ion, a subsidiar	y of		
SECURITIES OFFERED	<pre>% Convertible (plus an addition amount at mature)</pre>	Subordinat onal \$ ity if the	ount at maturity ed Notes due 200 principa underwriters' ully exercised).	6 1		
ISSUE PRICE	% plus acc: date of issue.	rued intere	st, if any, from	the		
INTEREST	payable semiann	ually in ar	incipal amount, rears in cash on year, beginning			
YIELD TO MATURITY OF NOTES	<pre>% per annum ( basis giving ef issue discount a calculated from</pre>	fect both t and to accr	ued interest),			
CONVERSION	any time until previously reden notes. The init of common stock maturity of noto be adjusted for or interest, but events affection this prospectus will not received	, emed or oth ial convers per \$1,000 es. The con accrued or t will be a g the commo occur. Upo e any cash	into common stoc 2006, unless we erwise purchased ion rate is sh principal amoun version rate wil iginal issue dis djusted if any co n stock describe n conversion, yc payment represen count or interes	have the ares tt at l not count of the d in u tting		
SUBORDINATION	payment to all of senior debt of of described under to all debt and subsidiaries. A debt outstandin \$37.8 million, other liabilition, been effectivel does not limit	of the exis VERITAS Sof "Descripti other liab t June 30, g in the pr and our sub es outstand to which th y subordina the amount at we may i escription	tware Corporatic on of the Notes" ilities of our 1999, we had sen incipal amount of sidiaries had de ing in the amoun e notes would ha ted. The indentu of debt, includi ncur, as more fu	n and dior of obt or tt of vve ure ng		
ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT	discount for fee to the different at maturity of	deral incom ce between the note an	at an original e tax purposes e the principal am d its issue pric ccrued original	equal nount		

	discount will be includable periodically in your gross income for federal income tax purposes before conversion, redemption, other disposition or maturity of your notes, whether or not those notes are ultimately converted, redeemed, sold (to us or otherwise) or paid at maturity.
SINKING FUND	None. 5
7	
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION	We may redeem any of the notes on or after , 2002 by giving you at least 20 days' notice. We may redeem the notes either in whole or in part at the redemption prices set forth in "Description of the Notes Optional Redemption by VERITAS," together with accrued and unpaid interest.
FUNDAMENTAL CHANGE	If a fundamental change (as described under "Description of the Notes Redemption at Option of the Holder") occurs before , 2006, you may require us to purchase all or part of your notes at the redemption prices set forth in "Description of the Notes Redemption at Option of the Holder," together with accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase.
USE OF PROCEEDS	We expect to use the net proceeds from the offering for general corporate purposes, including working capital expenditures and possible acquisitions of companies or technology, although there are no current agreements or negotiations with respect to any material acquisitions. Pending these uses, we intend to invest the net proceeds in short-term interest-bearing, investment grade securities.
NASDAQ SYMBOL	VRTS
CONCURRENT OFFERING	Some of our stockholders are offering for sale through another prospectus 12,000,000 shares of our common stock (which excludes the over-allotment option). 6

8

### SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The following historical financial information is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of Old VERITAS for 1996 through 1998, audited financial statements of TeleBackup for 1996 through 1998, audited combined financial statements of the NSMG business for fiscal years 1996 through 1998, and the unaudited financial statements of Old VERITAS, TeleBackup and the NSMG business for the interim periods presented, all included elsewhere in this prospectus.

The following unaudited pro forma financial data is derived from the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 and the three months ended March 31, 1999 included elsewhere in this prospectus.

SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF OLD VERITAS AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA OF VERITAS

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

						VIIIIII
				OLD VE	RITAS	PRO FORMA
	OLD VERITAS		VERITAS	HISTOR	ICAL	
			PRO FORMA			
						THREE MONTHS
	HISTORICAL					
				THREE M	IONTHS	
YEAR 1	ENDED DECEMBER	31,	YEAR ENDED	ENDED MA	RCH 31,	ENDED
			DECEMBER 31,			MARCH 31,
1996	1997	1998	1998	1998	1999	1999
		(IN THOUS	SANDS, EXCEPT PE	R SHARE DAT	'A)	

VERITAS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

<pre><s> CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:</s></pre>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Total net revenue	\$72,746	\$121,125	\$210,865	\$ 409,998	\$ 39,082	\$ 71,904	\$ 134,729
Income (loss) from operations	11,858	20,076	53,668	(826,950)	9,838	19,494	(190,234)
Net income (loss)	12,129	22,749	51,648	(800,397)	9,055	13,583	(194,653)
Net income (loss) per share basic	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.55	\$ (4.82)	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.14	\$ (1.16)
Net income (loss) per share diluted Number of shares used in computing	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.50	\$ (4.82)	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.13	\$ (1.16)
per share amounts basic Number of shares used in computing	86,052	91,244	94,026	166,216	92,868	95,644	167,834
per share amounts diluted	92,992	98,986	103,342	166,216	101,900	106,272	167,834

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	AS OF MAR	СН 31, 1999
	ACTUAL	PRO FORMA
	(IN TH	OUSANDS)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:		
Working capital	\$196,180	\$ 172,651
Total assets	374,876	4,099,870
Long-term obligations	100,733	100,913
Accumulated deficit	(15,833)	(130,533)
Stockholders' equity	190,255	3,633,508

SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF THE NSMG BUSINESS

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	YEAR ENDED			NINE MONTHS ENDED	
	JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999
		(IN	THOUSANDS)	)	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:					
Revenues	\$ 116 <b>,</b> 742	\$141,502	\$175 <b>,</b> 046	\$131 <b>,</b> 539	\$170 <b>,</b> 225
Income (loss) from operations	(102,655)	(41,208)	9,430	9,248	43,076
Net income (loss)	(94,596)	(33,200)	2,856	2,669	25,280

### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	AS OF APRIL 2, 1999
<s> COMBINED BALANCE SHEET DATA:</s>	<c></c>
Total assets Group equity 	

 \$115,270 63,611 |7

### 9

SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF TELEBACKUP

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

CAPITON	YEAR EN	DED DECEMBE	THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,		
	1996 1997		1998	1998	1999
<s> STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: Canadian GAAP</s>	(IN <c></c>	THOUSANDS, <c></c>	EXCEPT PER <c></c>	SHARE DATA) <c></c>	<c></c>
Revenue Net loss. Net loss per share basic and fully diluted Number of shares used in computing per share	(1,141)	(1,870)		(200)	C\$1,237 (517) C\$(0.05)
amounts basic and fully diluted	6,288	7,385	9,347	8,043	11,362

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

202

AS OF MARCH 31, 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)

<\$>	<0>	<c></c>	
BALANCE SHEET DATA:			
Canadian GAAP			
Working capital			C\$ 3,483
Total assets			7,678
Long-term obligations			271
Accumulated deficit			(5,151)
Shareholders' equity (deficiency)			4,021

  |  |  ||  |  |  |  |
For a summary of the principal differences between U.S. and Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, see Note 13 in the consolidated financial statements of TeleBackup included in this prospectus.  $\frac{8}{3}$ 

10

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA -- EXCLUDING PURCHASE ACCOUNTING ADJUSTMENTS

On a pro forma basis, which includes the operating results of NSMG and TeleBackup for the three months ended June 30, 1999, we had revenue of \$155.7 million. This represents an increase of 70% from the pro forma revenue of \$91.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 1998, and an increase of 16% from the pro forma revenue of \$134.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. Excluding nonrecurring charges of \$114.1 million and purchase accounting amortization of \$76.6 million and related adjustments for income taxes, pro forma net income increased to \$29.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 1999. This represents an increase of 102% over the pro forma net income for the three months ended June 30, 1998, and an 8% increase over the pro forma net income of \$27.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. After giving effect to a two-for-one stock split to all periods, pro forma net income per share on a diluted basis for the three months ended June 30, 1999 was \$0.16. This represents a 100% increase from pro forma net income per share of \$0.08 for the same period last year, and a 7% increase from pro forma net income per share of \$0.15 for the three months ended March 31, 1999.

The following pro forma statement of operations data is intended to present VERITAS' operating results for each of the six quarters in the period ended June 30, 1999, excluding purchase accounting adjustments but including the results of NSMG and TeleBackup and assuming the companies had been combined at the beginning of the periods presented. These purchase accounting adjustments would have included, on a pre-tax basis, amortization of developed technology of approximately \$15.0 million and amortization of goodwill and intangibles of approximately \$214.7 million per quarter. These adjustments would have also included, on a pre-tax basis, approximately \$103.1 million of in-process research and development charges and approximately \$11.0 million of merger and restructuring costs during the three months ended June 30, 1999.

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	THREE MONTHS ENDED								
	MARCH 31, 1998	JUNE 30, 1998	SEPTEMBER 30, 1998	DECEMBER 31, 1998	MARCH 31, 1999	JUNE 30, 1999			
		(1	IN THOUSANDS EXC	EPT PER SHARE D	 АТА)				
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>			
PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:									
Total net revenues	\$ 87,308	\$ 91,620	\$105,078	\$125,992	\$134,729	\$ 155,738			
Income from operations	21,454	21,602	25,618	35,713	40,508	43,912			
Net income	14,224	14,198	17,116	23,896	26,969	29,228			
Net income per									
share basic(1)	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.16	\$ 0.17			
Net income per									
share diluted(1)	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.15	\$ 0.16			
Number of shares used in computing									
per share amounts basic(1)	165,057	165,913	166,647	167,224	167,834	168,932			
Number of shares used in computing per share									
amounts diluted(1)	179,080	179 <b>,</b> 937	181,880	181,312	183,500	184,113			

  |  |  |  |  |  |-----

(1) Share and per share data applicable to prior periods have been restated to give retroactive effect to a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock

11

#### RISK FACTORS

q

You should carefully consider the following risk factors and all other information contained in this prospectus before investing in VERITAS. Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Any of the following factors could harm our business and could result in a partial or complete loss of your investment.

WE MAY FAIL TO INTEGRATE OUR BUSINESS WITH THE BUSINESSES OF NSMG AND TELEBACKUP

Product line integration will be difficult. We recently acquired the NSMG business of Seagate Software, Inc. and TeleBackup and must integrate these independent businesses with our own. If we fail to integrate these businesses, our business and our quarterly and annual results of operations may be adversely affected. One key issue will be the integration of our products with those of NSMG and TeleBackup. This product line integration will involve consolidating products with duplicative functionality, coordinating research and development activities, and converging the technologies supporting the various products. For example, Old VERITAS' NetBackup product and NSMG's Backup Exec product share many features and functions, and NSMG's Client Exec product is very similar to TeleBackup's TSInfoPro. Technology convergence will be particularly difficult because Old VERITAS' products and NSMG's products lack a common technology architecture. In particular, NSMG products were not designed for the degree of scalability that Old VERITAS' products were designed for, nor for use on a variety of operating systems. Further, we have no experience with product and technology integration on the scale that resulted from the NSMG and TeleBackup combinations.

Other business integration issues, if not satisfactorily resolved, could have a material negative impact on our business. Other problems inherent in integrating Old VERITAS' business with the businesses of NSMG and TeleBackup include:

- maintaining brand recognition for key products formerly associated with NSMG, such as Backup Exec, and TeleBackup, such as TSInfoPro, while migrating customer identification of these brands to VERITAS;
- resolving channel conflicts that may arise between the original equipment manufacturer and direct sales distribution channels of Old VERITAS and the retail channels acquired in the NSMG combination;
- coordinating, integrating and streamlining geographically dispersed operations, such as engineering facilities in California, Minnesota, Florida, North Carolina, Maryland, Colorado, Massachusetts, Washington, Canada and India; and
- coping with customers' uncertainty about continued support for duplicative products.

The integration will be expensive and is likely to interrupt our ordinary business activities. Any of these risks could harm our revenues and results of operations.

Management and employee integration issues, if not satisfactorily resolved, could have a material negative impact on our business. Potential management and employee integration problems include:

- resolving differences between the corporate cultures of Old VERITAS and the NSMG business and TeleBackup; and
- integrating the management teams of all three companies successfully. For example, Terence Cunningham, our President and Chief Operating Officer, who joined VERITAS from NSMG, recently resigned.

10

12

WE WILL INCUR SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING CHARGES IN CONNECTION WITH THE NSMG AND TELEBACKUP COMBINATIONS THAT WILL REDUCE OUR EARNINGS IMMEDIATELY AND IN THE FUTURE

The significant costs of integration associated with the NSMG and TeleBackup combinations increase the risk that we will not realize the anticipated benefits. Because we accounted for the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination as purchases, we recorded non-cash charges of \$103.1 million in our statements of operations in the three months ended June 30, 1999, related to the write-off of in-process research and development. We also recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately \$3,678.5 million. This amount will be amortized over four years, and will result in charges to operations of approximately \$229.7 million per quarter. We also recorded a restructuring charge in the three months ended June 30, 1999 of \$11.0 million related primarily to costs for duplicative facilities of Old VERITAS which we plan to vacate. These costs are in addition to the liability for the estimated costs to vacate duplicative facilities of the NSMG business.

WE HAVE A SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF DEBT WHICH WE MAY BE UNABLE TO SERVICE OR REPAY

In connection with the sale of the notes, we will incur \$ million indebtedness (\$ million if the over-allotment option is exercised in full) which will result in our having as of March 31, 1999, a ratio of long-term debt to total capitalization of approximately % ( % if the over-allotment option is exercised in full). We sold \$100.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.25% convertible subordinated notes due 2004 in October 1997. The annual interest payments on our outstanding notes are \$5.3 million. The annual interest payments on the notes offered in this prospectus will be \$ million, which we expect to fund from cash flow from operations.

We will need to generate substantial amounts of cash from our operations to fund interest payments and to repay the principal amount of debt when it matures, while at the same time funding capital expenditures and our other working capital needs. If we do not have sufficient cash to repay our debts as they become due, we may be unable to refinance our debt on reasonable terms or at all. For example, the notes could be declared immediately due and payable if we do not make timely payments. While our cash flow has been sufficient to fund interest payments to date, if we cannot meet our debt obligations from the cash generated by our business, we may not be able to develop and sell new products, respond to changing business or economic conditions adequately, make acquisitions or otherwise fund our business.

THE NOTES ARE SUBORDINATED TO OUR SENIOR DEBT OBLIGATIONS

The notes will be unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to all of the existing and future senior debt obligations of VERITAS. Therefore, if we go bankrupt, liquidate our assets, reorganize or enter into other specified transactions, our assets will be available to pay our obligations with respect to the notes only after we have paid all of our senior debt obligations in full, and there may not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the notes then outstanding. The notes will also be effectively subordinated in right of payment of all the liabilities, including trade payables, of our subsidiaries which do not guarantee the notes. The indenture governing the notes does not prohibit or limit the ability of us or our subsidiaries to incur senior debt obligations, other debt obligations and other liabilities. If we take any of these actions, this could harm our ability to pay off the notes. As of June 30, 1999, we had senior debt obligations outstanding in the principal amount of \$37.8 million. Our subsidiaries had debt or other liabilities in the amount of \$84.6 million, including trade payables, as of June 30, 1999, but they may incur additional liabilities in the future. See "Description of Notes -- Subordination of Notes."

WE ARE LIMITED IN OUR ABILITY TO REPURCHASE THE NOTES UPON A FUNDAMENTAL CHANGE

Upon a fundamental change, as defined below, each holder of notes has the right, at the holder's option, to require us to repurchase all or a portion of the holder's notes. If a fundamental change were to

11

13

occur, we may not have sufficient funds to pay the repurchase price for all notes tendered by holders. Any future credit agreements or other agreements relating to other indebtedness, including senior indebtedness, to which we become a party may contain restrictions and provisions limiting our ability to repurchase the notes. In the event a fundamental change occurs at a time when we are prohibited from purchasing or redeeming notes, we could seek the consent of lenders to the purchase of notes or could attempt to refinance the borrowings that contain this prohibition. If we do not obtain a consent or repay these borrowings, we would remain prohibited from purchasing or redeeming notes. Our failure to repurchase tendered notes would constitute an event of default under the indenture, which might constitute a default under the terms of other indebtedness that we may enter into from time to time. In these circumstances, the subordination provisions in the indenture would likely restrict payments to the holders of notes. The term "fundamental change" is limited to specified transactions and may not include other events that might adversely affect our financial condition. In addition, the requirement that we offer to repurchase the notes upon a fundamental change does not necessarily afford holders of the notes protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction, reorganization, merger or similar transaction involving us. See "Description of Notes -- Redemption at Option of Holders."

OUR OPERATING RESULTS MAY FLUCTUATE SIGNIFICANTLY AS A RESULT OF FACTORS OUTSIDE OUR CONTROL, WHICH COULD CAUSE THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR NOTES AND OF OUR STOCK TO DECLINE

Fluctuations in our operating results are likely to affect the market price of our notes and our common stock in a manner that may be unrelated to our long-term operating performance. The more likely it is that market prices of our notes and our common stock will fluctuate, the riskier is your decision to acquire our securities. In addition, the number of factors that could affect our operating results makes an investment in our securities riskier than many other investments.

Our revenues in any quarter will depend substantially on orders we receive and ship in that quarter. In addition, we typically receive a significant portion of orders in any quarter during the last two weeks of the quarter, and we cannot predict whether those orders will be placed, fulfilled and shipped in that period. If we have lower revenues than we expect, we probably will not be able to reduce our operating expenses quickly in response. Therefore, any significant shortfall in revenues or delay of customer orders could have an immediate adverse effect on our operating results in that quarter.

The operating results of Old VERITAS, as well as the operating results of NSMG and TeleBackup, have fluctuated in the past, and our operating results are likely to fluctuate significantly in the future. Factors that could affect our operating results include:

- the timing and magnitude of sales through original equipment manufacturers;
- the unpredictability of the timing and level of sales to large distributors in the retail channel and our direct sales force, which tend to generate sales later in our quarters than original equipment manufacturer sales;
- the timing and magnitude of large orders;
- the timing and amount of our marketing, sales and product development expenses;
- the cost and time required to develop new software products;
- the introduction, timing and market acceptance of new products;
- our ability to deliver products that are Year 2000 compliant;
- the timing of revenue recognition for sales of software products and services;
- changes in data storage and networking technology or introduction of new operating system upgrades by original equipment manufacturers, which could require us to modify our products or develop new products;
- the relative growth rates of the Windows NT and UNIX markets;

12

### 14

- the rate of adoption of Microsoft's release of the next version of Windows NT, or Windows 2000, by users;
- pricing policies and distribution terms; and
- the timing and magnitude of acquisitions.

WE DEPEND ON LARGE ORDERS WITH LENGTHY SALES CYCLES FOR A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF OUR REVENUES

Our revenues for a quarter could fluctuate significantly based on whether a large order is closed near the end of a quarter or delayed. Customer orders can range in value from a few thousand to a few million dollars. The length of time between initial contact with a potential customer and sale of a product, or our sales cycle, outside the retail channel is typically complex and lengthy, so it can last from three to nine months. These direct sales also represent our largest orders. Therefore, our revenues for a period are likely to be affected by the timing of larger orders, which makes those revenues difficult to predict. The cycle factors that could delay or defer an order, include:

- time needed for technical evaluations of our software by customers;
- customer budget restrictions;
- customer internal review and testing procedures; and

- engineering work needed to integrate our software with the customers' systems.

### WE FACE MANY NEW DIFFICULTIES MANAGING A LARGER COMPANY

The NSMG and TeleBackup combinations have created new challenges for our management. If we fail to meet those challenges, our business and quarterly and annual results of operations may be harmed and the value of your investment may decline. Old VERITAS grew rapidly before the NSMG and TeleBackup combinations. After these combinations, our workforce is approximately twice the size of Old VERITAS' workforce, and we still need to hire additional sales, engineering, service and administrative personnel. This growth is likely to strain our management control systems and resources, including decision support, accounting, management information systems and facilities. We must continue to improve our financial and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures to manage our employees and to obtain additional facilities.

### WE MAY BE UNABLE TO HIRE AND RETAIN NEEDED SALES AND ENGINEERING PERSONNEL

Our personnel needs are more acute than those facing most companies. As a result of the NSMG and TeleBackup combinations, we must hire many additional sales, engineering, service and administrative personnel. If we are unable to hire and retain these employees, our business and quarterly and annual results of operations will be adversely affected. Competition for people with the skills we require is intense. Additions of new personnel and departures of existing personnel may disrupt our business and may result in the departure of other employees. We also depend on the continued service of our key personnel. Even though we have entered into employment agreements with key management personnel, these agreements cannot prevent their departure. For example, Terence Cunningham, our President and Chief Operating Officer, who joined VERITAS from NSMG, resigned effective August 30, 1999. We do not have key person life insurance covering any of our personnel, nor do we currently intend to obtain any of this insurance.

WE DISTRIBUTE OUR PRODUCTS THROUGH MULTIPLE DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS, EACH OF WHICH IS SUBJECT TO RISKS

Historically, Old VERITAS sold products through original equipment manufacturers and through direct sales. As a result of the NSMG and TeleBackup combinations, however, we also have a retail

13

15

distribution channel as well. If we fail to manage our distribution channels successfully, our business and quarterly and annual results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Retail distribution. Certain software products of the former NSMG business are sold primarily in the retail channel. Our management faces different challenges than it faces in selling most of our other products. For example:

- the VERITAS brand does not have the same level of recognition in the retail channel;
- retail distribution typically involves shorter product life cycles; and
- the retail channel has higher risks of product returns, higher marketing expenses and less predictable market demand.

Moreover, our retail distributors have no obligation to continue selling the products previously sold by NSMG and TeleBackup and may terminate our relationship at any time.

Direct sales. We also depend on our direct sales force to sell our products. This involves a number of risks, including:

- longer sales cycles for direct sales;
- our need to hire, train, retain and motivate our sales force; and
- the length of time it takes our new sales representatives to become productive.

Original equipment manufacturers. A portion of our revenue is expected to come from original equipment manufacturers that incorporate our storage management software into systems they sell. We have no control over the shipping dates or volumes of systems the original equipment manufacturers ship and they have no obligation to ship systems incorporating our software. They also have no obligation to recommend or offer our software products exclusively or at all. They have no minimum sales requirements and can terminate our relationship at any time. These original equipment manufacturers also could choose to develop their own storage management products internally and incorporate those products into their systems in lieu of our products. Finally, the original equipment manufacturers that we do business with compete with one another. To the extent that one of our of original equipment manufacturer customers views the products we have developed for another original equipment manufacturer as competing with its products, it may decide to stop doing business with us, which could harm our business.

Development agreements for original equipment manufacturers. We have important original equipment manufacturer agreements with Hewlett-Packard, Sun Microsystems, Microsoft, Dell, Seagate Technology and Compaq Computer. Under these agreements we develop "lite" versions of our products to be included in these original equipment manufacturers' systems software and products. Developing products for these original equipment manufacturers causes us to divert significant resources from other activities which are also important to our business. If these "lite" versions do not result in substantial revenues, our revenue could be adversely affected.

#### OUR DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS COULD CONFLICT WITH ONE ANOTHER

We have many different distribution channels. If we cannot use these distribution channels efficiently, our business and quarterly and annual results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. Our original equipment manufacturers, resellers and direct sales force might target similar sales opportunities, which could lead to inefficient allocation of sales resources. We may also try to sell full versions of the products to customers of the original equipment manufacturers for whom we have developed "lite" versions of our products. This would result in us marketing similar products to end-users. These overlapping sales efforts could also adversely affect our relationships with our original equipment manufacturers and other sales channels and result in them being less willing to market our

14

16

products aggressively. If our indirect sales decline, we would need to accelerate our investments in alternative distribution channels. We may not be able to do this in a timely manner, or at all.

OUR DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS WITH MICROSOFT COULD CAUSE US TO LOSE CUSTOMERS

We have important agreements with Microsoft under which we develop software for its Windows operating system. However, if we do not develop these products in time for the release of Microsoft's Windows NT 5.0, or Windows 2000, operating system, Microsoft will not include our products in this operating system. Even if we do develop these products on time, Microsoft is not obligated under the agreements to include them in this operating system. If for any reason our software is not included in Windows 2000 we will lose our expected opportunity to market additional products to the Windows NT installed customer base, as well as suffer negative publicity. In addition, we would lose the investment we have made in developing products for inclusion in Windows 2000.

Risks of delay of release of Windows 2000. Microsoft is not required to release Windows 2000 on any particular date. If the release of this operating system is delayed it will be more difficult for us to market and sell our products to Windows NT users.

Microsoft could develop competing products. Microsoft can also develop enhancements to and derivative products from our software products that are embedded in Windows NT products. If Microsoft develops any enhancements or derivative products, or enhances its own base products with equivalent functionality, Microsoft could choose to compete with us.

SALES OF A SMALL NUMBER OF PRODUCT LINES MAKE UP A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF OUR REVENUE

For the foreseeable future, we expect to derive a substantial majority of our revenue from a limited number of software products. If many customers do not purchase these products as a result of competition, technological change or other factors, our revenue would decrease and our business and quarterly and annual results of operations would be materially and adversely affected. In the year ended December 31, 1998, Old VERITAS derived approximately 87.4% of its license revenue from storage management products, and the NSMG business derived 87.9% of its revenue from its Backup Exec product. In the three months ended March 31, 1999, Old VERITAS derived approximately 75.5% of its license revenue from storage management products and the NSMG business derived 90.2% from its Backup Exec product. Also, Old VERITAS' NetBackup product and NSMG's Backup Exec product perform some overlapping functions. Customers may select one product over the other, resulting in reduced revenue for the product not selected. Therefore, we may not receive the same aggregate level of revenue from these products as we have received in the past.

### OUR PRODUCTS HAVE RELATIVELY SHORT LIFE CYCLES

Our software products have a limited life cycle and it is difficult to estimate when they will become obsolete. This makes it difficult for us to forecast revenue and makes your investment more risky. If we do not develop and introduce new products before our existing products have completed their life cycles, we will not be able to sustain our level of sales. In addition, to succeed, many customers must adopt our new products early in each product's life cycle. Therefore, if we do not attract sufficient customers early in a product's life, we may not realize the amount of revenue we anticipated for the product. We cannot be sure that we will continue to be successful in marketing our key products.

### WE DERIVE SIGNIFICANT REVENUES FROM ONLY A FEW CUSTOMERS

Sales to a small number of customers generate a disproportionate amount of our revenue. For example, in the year ended December 31, 1998, Old VERITAS derived 12% of its revenue from sales to Sun Microsystems and the NSMG business derived 28% of its revenue from sales to Ingram Micro Inc. In the three months ended March 31, 1999 Old VERITAS derived 12% of its revenue from sales to Sun

15

17

Microsystems and the NSMG business derived 24% of its revenue from sales to Ingram Micro Inc. If Sun Microsystems or Ingram Micro, or any other significant customer, were to reduce its purchases from us, our revenues and therefore our business would be harmed unless we were to increase sales to other customers substantially. We do not have a contract with Sun Microsystems, Ingram Micro or any other customer that requires the customer to purchase any specified number of software licenses from us. Therefore, we cannot be sure that these customers will continue to purchase our products at current levels.

# WE FACE UNCERTAINTIES PORTING PRODUCTS TO NEW OPERATING SYSTEMS AND DEVELOPING NEW PRODUCTS

Some of our products operate primarily on the UNIX computer operating system. We are currently redesigning, or porting, these products to operate on the Windows NT operating system. We are also developing new products for UNIX and for Windows NT. TeleBackup's products operate on the Sun Solaris version of UNIX, the Windows and Windows NT operating systems. We intend to port the TeleBackup products to other UNIX operating systems and subsequent releases of Windows NT. We may not be able to accomplish any of this work quickly or cost-effectively.

These activities require substantial capital investment, substantial employee resources and the cooperation of the owners of the operating systems to or for which the products are being ported or developed. Our porting and development work for the Windows NT market has required us to hire additional personnel with Windows NT expertise and to devote engineering resources to these projects. We must obtain from operating system owners a source code license to certain portions of the operating system software to port some of our products to or develop products for the operating system. Operating system owners have no obligation to assist in these porting or development efforts. If they do not grant us a license or if they do not renew our license, we would not be able to expand our product line easily into other areas. For example, we rely on a source code license from Microsoft with respect to our Windows NT development projects. Microsoft is under no obligation to renew the source code license, which is subject to annual renewal.

### THE MARKET FOR TSInfoPro is unproven

TeleBackup's primary product, TSInfoPro, which is designed to back up data for remote PC users, represents new technology that has no proven market. A market may not develop for this product or similarly unproven products in the future. This could harm our business because our investment in TeleBackup, and any additional development and marketing costs, would be lost, and any expected revenue opportunities would not materialize.

### WE FACE INTENSE COMPETITION ON SEVERAL FRONTS

- We face a variety of tough competitors, principal among which are:
- internal development groups within original equipment manufacturers that provide storage management functions to support their systems;
- other software vendors and hardware companies that offer products with some of our products' features, such as controller and disk subsystem manufacturers;
- hardware and software vendors that offer storage application products;

- hardware and software vendors that offer high availability and clustering products; and
- software vendors focused on remote backup technologies and electronic data vaulting services.

Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial and technical resources than we do and may attempt to increase their presence in the storage management market by acquiring or forming strategic alliances with other competitors or business partners.

16

18

POTENTIAL YEAR 2000 RISKS MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR BUSINESS

We are in the process of conducting an extensive review of our products and services and of our internal business systems and infrastructure to identify potential Year 2000 problems and are implementing remedial action to address those problems. While we do not expect to encounter any problems that would be material to our business or to incur significant costs in fixing Year 2000 problems, if we do not identify and remedy these problems in a timely and efficient manner, we could experience substantial disruptions to our operations. Failure to achieve Year 2000 readiness of our systems or products could lead to loss of existing and potential customers and subsequent costly litigation claims against us. Factors outside our control, such as loss of water and power, telecommunications systems, banking systems and transportation systems, could also cause substantial business disruption. Please see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -- Old VERITAS -- Year 2000 Compliance" and "-- NSMG -- Year 2000 Readiness" for detailed information on our Year 2000 readiness.

EXPANDING OUR INTERNATIONAL SALES DEPENDS ON ECONOMIC STABILITY IN REGIONS THAT RECENTLY HAVE BEEN UNSTABLE

An investment in our securities is riskier than an investment in many other companies because we plan to expand in overseas markets such as Asia, Russia and Latin America that have experienced significant economic turmoil in recent years. Continued turmoil could adversely affect our plans to increase sales in these regions. Economic recession could also affect our ability to maintain or increase sales in these or other regions in the future. Our concern is that recession in these markets could lead to:

- restrictions on government spending imposed by the International Monetary Fund;
- customers' reduced access to working capital to fund software purchases;
- higher interest rates; and
- reduced bank lending or other sources of financing for customers and potential customers.

Any of these factors could cause foreign customers to substantially reduce their purchase of our products.

OUR FOREIGN-BASED OPERATIONS AND SALES CREATE SPECIAL PROBLEMS THAT COULD HURT OUR RESULTS  $% \left( {\left( {{{\left( {{{\left( {{{C}} \right)} \right.} \right.} \right.} \right)} \right)} \right)$ 

An investment in our securities is riskier than an investment in most businesses because we have significant offshore operations, including development facilities, sales personnel and customer support operations. For example, as of July 15, 1999, we had approximately 141 engineers located in Pune, India, performing product development work. These offshore operations are subject to certain inherent risks, including:

- potential loss of developed technology through piracy, misappropriation, or more lax laws regarding intellectual property protection;
- imposition of governmental controls, including trade restrictions;
- fluctuations in currency exchange rates and economic instability;
- longer payment cycles for sales in foreign countries;
- difficulties in staffing and managing the offshore operations;
- seasonal reductions in business activity in the summer months in Europe and other countries; and
- political unrest, particularly in areas in which we have facilities.

In addition, our international sales are denominated in local currency, creating risk of foreign currency translation gains and losses that could harm our financial results. If we generate profits or losses in foreign countries, our effective income tax rate could also be harmed. The currency instability in Asia and other financial markets may make our products more expensive than products sold by other vendors

17

19

that are priced in one of the affected currencies. Therefore, customers in these markets may choose not to purchase our products.

OUR GROWTH STRATEGY IS RISKIER THAN OTHERS BECAUSE IT IS BASED UPON ACQUISITIONS OF OTHER BUSINESSES

An investment in our securities is riskier than investments in other companies because we plan to continue to pursue our strategy of growth through acquisition. We have grown aggressively through acquisitions in the past and expect to pursue acquisitions in the future. Acquisitions involve a number of special risks and challenges, including:

- diversion of management attention, particularly in the case of multiple concurrent acquisitions;
- integration of the acquired company's operations and employees with an existing business;
- incorporation of technology into existing product lines;
- loss of key employees; and
- presentation of a unified corporate image.

In the past, we have lost certain employees of acquired companies whom we desired to retain. In some cases, the integration of the operations of acquired companies took longer than initially anticipated. In addition, if the employees of target companies remain geographically dispersed from our existing staff, we may not realize some or all of the anticipated economies of scale.

### FRAUDULENT TRANSFER STATUTES MAY LIMIT YOUR RIGHTS AS A NOTEHOLDER

The obligations under the notes by our co-obligor, VERITAS Operating Corporation, may be subject to review under various laws for the protection of creditors, including federal and state fraudulent conveyance and fraudulent transfer laws, if a bankruptcy case or a lawsuit, including in circumstances where bankruptcy is not involved, is commenced by or on behalf of any creditor of VERITAS Operating Corporation or a representative of any such creditor. In such a case, the analysis described below would generally apply, except that the obligations could also be subject to the claim that, since the obligations were incurred for our benefit, and only indirectly for the benefit of VERITAS Operating Corporation, the obligations of VERITAS Operating Corporation were incurred for less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration. A court could void VERITAS Operating Corporation's obligations, subordinate the obligations to other indebtedness of VERITAS Operating Corporation, direct that you return any amounts paid under the obligations to VERITAS Operating Corporation, or to a fund for the benefit of its creditors, or take other action detrimental to you. In addition, the liability of VERITAS Operating Corporation under the indenture will be limited to the amount that will result in its obligations not constituting a fraudulent conveyance and we cannot assure you as to what standard a court would apply in making a determination as to what would be the maximum liability of VERITAS Operating Corporation.

Federal or state fraudulent transfer laws permit a court, if it makes certain findings, to

- avoid all or a portion of the obligations to you;
- subordinate the obligations to you to other existing and future indebtedness of VERITAS Operating Corporation, entitling other creditors to be paid in full before any payment is made on the notes; or
- take other action detrimental to you, including, in certain circumstances, invalidating the obligations of VERITAS Operating Corporation.

Under federal and state fraudulent transfer laws, in order to take any of

those actions, courts will typically need to find that, at the time the notes were issued, VERITAS Operating Corporation:

- incurred the obligations with the intent of hindering, delaying, or defrauding current or future creditors; or
- (2) received less than fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value for incurring the indebtedness represented by the obligations and
  - (a) were insolvent or were rendered insolvent by reason of the incurrence of the obligations;
  - (b) were engaged, or about to engage, in a business or transaction for which its assets were unreasonably small; or
  - (c) intended to incur, or believed (or should have believed) it would incur, debts beyond its ability to pay as such debts mature (as all of the foregoing terms are defined in or interpreted under such fraudulent transfer statutes).

Different jurisdictions define "insolvency" differently. However, VERITAS Operating Corporation generally would be considered insolvent at the time it incurred the indebtedness constituting the obligations if:

- the fair market value (or fair saleable value) of its assets is less than the amount required to pay its total existing debts and liabilities (including the probable liability related to contingent liabilities) as they become absolute or matured or
- (2) it were incurring debts beyond its ability to pay as such debts mature.

We cannot assure you as to what standard a court would apply in order to determine whether VERITAS Operating Corporation were "insolvent" as of the date the obligations were incurred, and we cannot assure you that, regardless of the method of valuation, a court would not determine that VERITAS Operating Corporation was insolvent on that date. Nor can we assure you that a court would not determine, regardless of whether VERITAS Operating Corporation was insolvent on the date the obligations were incurred, that the payments constituted fraudulent transfers on another ground.

### A TRADING MARKET FOR THE NOTES MAY NOT DEVELOP

The notes are a new issue of securities for which there is currently no active trading market. If the notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount from their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, the financial condition and the prospects of our company and other factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions. Although the underwriters have advised us that they intend to make a market in the notes, they are not obligated to do so and may discontinue market making at any time without notice. Their market-making activity will be subject to the limitations imposed by the securities laws. We cannot guarantee that the market for the notes will be maintained. Also, we do not intend to apply for listing of the notes on any securities exchange. The trading price of the notes will decline if there ceases to be an active trading market for them.

THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK HAS FLUCTUATED SIGNIFICANTLY

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated in the past and is likely to continue to fluctuate. In addition, the securities markets, particularly with respect to technology stocks, have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of companies.

19

21

### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information contained in this prospectus, you should carefully consider the foregoing risk factors before investing in our securities. All statements, trend analyses and other information contained in this prospectus regarding markets for our products and services and net revenue, gross margin and anticipated expense levels, and any statements that contain the words "anticipate," "believe," "plan," "estimate," "expect," "intend" or other similar expressions, constitute forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to business and economic risks, and our actual results of operations may differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. The cautionary statements made in this prospectus apply to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this prospectus.

### USE OF PROCEEDS

Our net proceeds from our sale of the notes are estimated to be approximately \$ million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses and assuming the underwriters' over-allotment option is not exercised. We expect to use the net proceeds of the offering for general corporate purposes, including working capital expenditures and possible acquisitions of companies or technology, although there are no current agreements or negotiations with respect to any material acquisitions. Pending these uses, we intend to invest the net proceeds in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade securities.

### COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "VRTS." The table below shows the range of reported last sale prices on the Nasdaq National Market for our common stock for the periods indicated. All amounts have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split paid in the form of a stock dividend in July 1999.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

<CAPTION>

	COMMON PR:	STOCK ICE
	HIGH	LOW
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Year ended December 31, 1997		
First Quarter	\$12.67	\$ 5.95
Second Quarter	12.03	5.06
Third Quarter	16.84	10.97
Fourth Quarter	17.96	11.50
Year ended December 31, 1998		
First Quarter	\$20.09	\$13.04
Second Quarter	21.84	16.75
Third Quarter	30.13	20.19
Fourth Quarter	32.50	11.88
Year ended December 31, 1999		
First Quarter	\$44.75	\$29.00
Second Quarter	49.88	30.50
Third Quarter (through July 26, 1999)	63.44	46.44

On July 26, 1999, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was \$57.25.

20

22

### DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. Old VERITAS also did not pay cash dividends to its stockholders. We may incur indebtedness in the future that may prohibit or effectively restrict the payment of dividends.

21

### 23

### CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 1999, Old VERITAS' unaudited capitalization on an actual basis and VERITAS' on a pro forma combined basis to give effect to the completion of the NSMG and TeleBackup acquisitions. In addition, the following table sets forth our unaudited capitalization as further adjusted to assume the completion of the note offering after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses. The concurrent offering of our common stock by the selling stockholders will not affect our capitalization since we will not receive any of the proceeds.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

MARCH	31.	1999
MAINCI	L J L /	エンシン

		PRO FORMA	PRO FORMA
	ACTUAL	COMBINED	AS ADJUSTED
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Cash and cash equivalents	\$111,324	\$ 158,993	\$

	=======	========	
Long-term obligations	\$ 733	\$ 913	\$
5 1/4% convertible subordinated notes due 2004	100,000	100,000	
% convertible subordinated notes due 2006			
Stockholders' equity:			
Preferred stock, par value \$0.001 per share;			
10,000 shares authorized, none issued and			
outstanding			
Common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, 500,000			
shares authorized, 96,185 issued and			
outstanding actual; 168,363 issued and			
outstanding pro forma combined and as			
adjusted	206,911	3,764,864	
Accumulated deficit			
		(823)	
Total stockholders' equity	190,255	3,633,508	
Total capitalization	\$290,988	\$3,734,421	\$
. /			

  |  |  |24

### SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

22

The following financial information is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of Old VERITAS for 1994 through 1998, audited financial statements of TeleBackup for 1995 through 1998, audited combined financial statements of the NSMG business for the fiscal years 1996 through 1998, unaudited combined financial statements of the NSMG business for the fiscal years 1994 and 1995, and the unaudited financial statements of Old VERITAS, TeleBackup and the NSMG business for the interim periods presented. The interim financial data reflects all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which are considered necessary to present fairly the financial information for these periods. The information is only a summary and you should read it in conjunction with each company's historical financial statements and related notes included in this prospectus. The results of operations for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of results for a full fiscal year, and historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

### UNITED STATES AND CANADIAN GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Old VERITAS and the NSMG business reported their quarterly and annual results of operations using methods required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. TeleBackup reported quarterly and annual results of operations using methods required by generally accepted accounting principles in Canada. United States and Canadian generally accepted accounting principles are not materially different with respect to TeleBackup's financial statements. For a summary of the principle, see Note 13 in the consolidated financial statements of TeleBackup included in this prospectus.

Old VERITAS had never declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings to fund development and growth of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

#### OLD VERITAS HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements and notes of Old VERITAS as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and for the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998 and the unaudited consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 1999 and for the three months ended March 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999 are included in this prospectus.

### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP BUSINESS COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited combined financial statements and notes of the NSMG business as of June 27, 1997 and July 3, 1998, and for the three years in the period ended July 3, 1998 and the unaudited combined financial statements as of April 2, 1999 and for the nine months ended April 3, 1998 and April 2, 1999, are included in this prospectus. The NSMG business was an operating division of Seagate Software, Inc. and had no formal capital structure, so its per share information is not provided.

### TELEBACKUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited financial statements and notes of TeleBackup as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and for the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998 and

the unaudited financial statements as of March 31, 1999 and for the three months ended March 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999 are included in this prospectus.

23

25

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOT INCLUDED IN THIS PROSPECTUS

The selected historical financial data for Old VERITAS as of December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996 and for the years ended December 31, 1994 and 1995 were derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The selected historical financial data for the NSMG business as of and for the fiscal years ended July 1, 1994 and June 30, 1995 were derived from unaudited combined financial statements not included in this prospectus.

The selected historical financial data for TeleBackup as of December 31, 1995 and 1996, and for the period from May 5, 1995 (inception) through December 31, 1995 have been derived from audited financial statements not included in this prospectus.

### SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF OLD VERITAS

### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

		YEAR EN		ARCH 31,			
	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999
		 11)	THOUSANDS	S, EXCEPT PR	ER SHARE DAT	 ГА)	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:							
Total net revenue	\$ 33,575	\$47,826	\$72 <b>,</b> 746	\$121 <b>,</b> 125	\$210,865	\$ 39,082	\$ 71 <b>,</b> 904
Merger-related costs				8,490			
In-process research and development			2,200		600		
Income (loss) from operations	(15,212)	1,193	11,858	20,076	53,668	9,838	19,494
Net income (loss)	(15,274)	2,371	12,129	22,749	51,648	9,055	13,583
Net income (loss) per share basic	\$ (0.19)	\$ 0.03	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.55	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.14
Net income (loss) per share diluted	\$ (0.19)	\$ 0.03	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.50	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.13
Number of shares used in computing							
per share amounts basic	79,658	80,706	86,052	91,244	94,026	92,868	95,644
Number of shares used in computing							
per share amounts diluted	79,658	86,124	92,992	98,986	103,342	101,900	106,272

  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

		AS OF				
	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	MARCH 31, 1999
			(IN THOUS	SANDS)		
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:						
Working capital	\$ 14,690	\$ 23,451	\$ 67,413	\$188,578	\$198,842	\$196,180
Total assets	36,830	48,100	94,524	241,880	349,117	374,876
Long-term obligations	6,366	6,205	1,468	100,911	100,773	100,733
Accumulated deficit	(124,064)	(115,942)	(103,813)	(81,064)	(29,416)	(15,833)
Stockholders' equity	14,052	23,602	74,955	104,193	169,854	190,255

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

		YEAR END	THREE MONTHS			
	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	ENDED MARCH 31, 1999
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA:						
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		2.3x	13.1x	13.0x	9.9x	13.4x

  |  |  |  |  |  |Earnings consist of income (loss) before provision for income taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest charges, amortization of bond issuance costs related to indebtedness, and that portion of rental expense representative of interest. During the year ended December 31, 1994, there was a deficiency of earnings to cover fixed charges of approximately \$15.1 million.

### SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF THE NSMG BUSINESS

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

			NINE MONTHS ENDED				
	JULY 1, 1994	JUNE 30, 1995	JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999
			 (I)	THOUSANDS)			
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:							
Revenues	\$ 24,866	\$ 81,325	\$ 116,742	\$141,502	\$175,046	\$131 <b>,</b> 539	\$170 <b>,</b> 225
Gross profit	18,187	59 <b>,</b> 837	89,397	109,390	151,711	112,373	156 <b>,</b> 697
In-process research and development		73,177	61,066		6,800		
Write-down of goodwill, developed technology							
and intangibles			2,157	13,091	1,900	1,900	
Restructuring costs			9,502	2,524			
Income (loss) from operations	(12,270)	(82,958)	(102,655)	(41,208)	9,430	9,248	43,076
Net income (loss)	(7,356)	(85,132)	(94,596)	(33,200)	2,856	2,669	25,280

### </TABLE>

### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

<caption></caption>	AS OF					
	JULY 1, 1994	JUNE 30, 1995	JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999
			(IN THO	USANDS)		
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET DATA:						
Total assets	\$13,089	\$96 <b>,</b> 725	\$137 <b>,</b> 600	\$94,087	\$74 <b>,</b> 721	\$115 <b>,</b> 270
Group equity						

 6,950 | 44,919 | 64,315 | 34,601 | 38,033 | 63,611 |

### SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF TELEBACKUP

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

CAPITON	PERIOD FROM MAY 5, 1995 (INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31,	YEAR EN	YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,			40NTHS DED H 31,	
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999	
		(IN THOUSAN	IDS, EXCEPT	PER SHARE D	 ATA)		
	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: Canadian GAAP							
Revenue	C \$	C \$ 252	C\$ 486	C\$ 3,423	C \$ 708	C\$1,237	
Net loss	(53)	(1,141)	(1,870)	(1,570)	(200)	(517)	
Net loss per share basic and fully diluted	C\$(0.01)	C\$ (0.18)	C\$ (0.25)	C\$ (0.17)	C\$(0.02)	C\$(0.05)	
Number of shares used in computing per share							
amounts basic and fully diluted	5,475	6,288	7,385	9,347	8,043	11,362	

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

		AS OF MARCH 31,			
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999
			(IN THOUSAN		
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
BALANCE SHEET DATA: Canadian GAAP					
Working capital	C\$ 35	C \$ 979	C\$ 1,568	C\$ 3,693	C\$ 3,483
Total assets	194	1,311	3,270	7,699	7,678
Long-term obligations		350	3,004	302	271
Accumulated deficit	(53)	(1,194)	(3,064)	(4,634)	(5,151)
Shareholders' equity (deficiency)	120	835	(2)	4,252	4,021

25

### COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL DATA

We are providing the following summary unaudited pro forma financial data to give you a better picture of what the results of operations and financial position of the combined businesses of Old VERITAS, the NSMG business and TeleBackup might have looked like had the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination occurred at an earlier date. This information is provided for illustrative purposes only and does not show what the results of operations or financial position of VERITAS would have been if the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination actually occurred on the dates assumed. In addition, this information does not indicate what VERITAS' future consolidated operating results or consolidated financial position will be. Both the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination closed during the second quarter of 1999.

#### HOW THE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA WAS PREPARED

We derived this data from the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 and three months ended March 31, 1999 and the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet as of March 31, 1999. These statements give effect to the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The pro forma combined condensed statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999 assumes the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination took place on January 1, 1998. The pro forma combined condensed balance sheet assumes the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination took place on March 31, 1999.

THESE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN BASED ON ASSUMPTIONS

We prepared these statements on the basis of assumptions described in the notes, including assumptions relating to the allocation of the amount of consideration paid for the assets and liabilities of the NSMG business and TeleBackup based upon preliminary estimates of their fair values. The actual allocation of the amount of consideration paid may differ from those assumptions after valuations and other procedures to be performed have taken place.

### CHARGES RESULTING FROM THE COMBINATIONS

VERITAS recorded charges to operations during the three months ended June 30, 1999 related to in-process research and development of 101.2 million as a result of the NSMG combination and 1.9 million as a result of the TeleBackup combination.

In addition, VERITAS recorded a restructuring charge in the three months ended June 30, 1999 of \$11.0 million, primarily related to exit costs with respect to duplicate facilities of Old VERITAS that VERITAS plans to vacate. These costs are in addition to the liability for the estimated costs to vacate duplicative facilities of the NSMG business, which liability was assumed by VERITAS and included as a part of the purchase price. The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet includes the effect of these charges. However, the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations do not reflect these charges because they are non-recurring.

YOU SHOULD READ THESE SUMMARY PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The VERITAS summary unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial data should be read in conjunction with the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements and the related notes, which begin at page F-26. They should also be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of Old VERITAS which begin at Page F-3 of this prospectus, the financial statements of the NSMG business, which begin at page F-42 of this prospectus, and the financial statements of TeleBackup which begin at page F-74 of this prospectus. The VERITAS summary

26

28

unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial data are not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations and financial position would have been had the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination taken place on January 1, 1998 or March 31, 1999, and do not indicate VERITAS' future results of operations or financial position.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA.

DATA.		
Total net revenue	\$ 409,998	\$ 134,729
Loss from operations	(826,950)	(190,234)
Net loss	(800,397)	(194,653)
Net loss per share basic	\$ (4.82)	\$ (1.16)
Net loss per share diluted	(4.82)	(1.16)
Number of shares used in computing per share		
amounts basic	166,216	167,834
Number of shares used in computing per share amounts		
diluted	166,216	167,834

  |  |AC OF

### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	AS OF
	MARCH 31, 1999
	(IN THOUSANDS)
<s></s>	<c></c>
VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET DATA:	
Working capital	\$ 172,651
Total assets	4,099,870
Long-term obligations	100,913
Accumulated deficit	(130,533)
Stockholders' equity	3,633,508

  |<TABLE> <CAPTION>

CAPIION/

29

	YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998	THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1999
<\$>	(IN THOU <c></c>	SANDS) <c></c>
VERITAS UNAUDITED OTHER PRO FORMA DATA: Deficiency of earnings to fixed charges	\$ (820,711)	\$ (187,430)

The pro forma deficiency of earnings to fixed charges was computed based on amounts reflected in the VERITAS Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Statement of Operations for the periods indicated.

27

### VERITAS UNAUDITED COMPARATIVE PER SHARE DATA

The following tables present certain unaudited historical and unaudited pro forma per share data that reflect the completion of the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination. This data should be read in conjunction with the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements, and the historical financial statements of Old VERITAS, the NSMG business and TeleBackup included elsewhere in this document. VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed per share data does not necessarily indicate the operating results that would have been achieved had the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, and do not indicate future results of operations or financial position.

The NSMG business was an operating division of Seagate Software and had no formal capital structure. Therefore, historical per share information for the NSMG business is not presented.

The following options and other potential common securities, based upon the options outstanding as of the periods presented and closing price of Old VERITAS common stock as of the effective time, have not been included in the computation of pro forma diluted net loss per share because their effect would be antidilutive.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1998	AS OF MARCH 31, 1999
POTENTIAL COMMON SECURITIES:	(IN THOUS	ANDS)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Old VERITAS options outstanding Options issued in connection with the NSMG	16,422	16,254
combination Options issued in connection with the TeleBackup	6,864	6,856
combination	156	103

Common stock issuable upon conversion of VERITAS'		
5.25% convertible notes	4,651	4,651
	28,093	27,864
	=====	======

</TABLE>

### CALCULATION OF BOOK VALUE PER SHARE AMOUNTS

The pro forma book value per share is computed by dividing pro forma stockholders' equity by the pro forma number of shares outstanding at the end of each period for which the computation is made. For purposes of computing the book value per share of Old VERITAS as of December 31, 1998, book value of \$169.9 million was divided by actual shares outstanding of 95,257,484. For purposes of computing the book value of Old VERITAS as of March 31, 1999, book value of \$190.3 million was divided by actual shares outstanding of 96,184,862. For purposes of computing the book value per share of TeleBackup as of December 31, 1998, book value of C\$4.3 million was divided by the actual shares outstanding of 11,158,745. For purposes of computing the book value of TeleBackup as of March 31, 1999, book value of C\$4.0 million was divided by actual shares outstanding of 11,363,445. For purposes of computing the pro forma book value per share of VERITAS as of December 31, 1998, pro forma net book value of \$3,613.4 million was divided by pro forma actual shares outstanding of 167,447,484. For purposes of computing the pro forma book value of VERITAS as of March 31, 1999, pro forma book value of \$3,633.5 million was divided by pro forma actual shares outstanding of 168,374,862.

28

### 30

### CALCULATION OF TELEBACKUP EQUIVALENT PRO FORMA PER SHARE AMOUNTS

The TeleBackup equivalent pro forma per share amounts are computed by multiplying the VERITAS pro forma combined per share amounts by the exchange ratio of 0.26466 shares of VERITAS common stock for each TeleBackup common share.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	YEAR ENDED AS OF	THREE MONTHS ENDED AS OF
	DECEMBER 31, 1998	MARCH 31, 1999
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>
OLD VERITAS HISTORICAL:		
Basic net income per share	\$0.55	\$0.14
Diluted net income per share	\$0.50	\$0.13
Book value per share 		

 \$1.78 | \$1.98 |<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	YEAR ENDED AS OF	THREE MONTHS ENDED
	DECEMBER 31, 1998	AS OF MARCH 31, 1999
<s> TELEBACKUP HISTORICAL:</s>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Basic and fully diluted net loss per share Book value per share	C\$(0.17) C\$ 0.38	C\$(0.05) C\$ 0.35

<TABLE>

	YEAR ENDED AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1998	THREE MONTHS ENDED AS OF MARCH 31, 1999
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>
VERITAS PRO FORMA COMBINED:		
Basic net loss per share	\$(4.82)	\$(1.16)
Diluted net loss per share	\$(4.82)	\$(1.16)
Book value per share	\$21.58	\$21.58
Equivalent pro forma basic and fully diluted net loss		
per TeleBackup share Equivalent pro forma book value per TeleBackup	\$(1.27)	\$(0.31)
share	\$ 5.71	\$ 5.71

# MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

29

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the Financial Statements of Old VERITAS, the NSMG Business and TeleBackup and accompanying notes, each which appear elsewhere in this prospectus. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect the plans, estimates and beliefs of each of Old VERITAS, the NSMG business and TeleBackup. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this prospectus, particularly in "Risk Factors."

VERITAS is the leading independent supplier of enterprise data storage management solutions, providing advanced storage management software for open system environments. Our products provide performance improvement and reliability enhancement features that are critical for many commercial applications. These products enable protection against data loss and file corruption, rapid recovery after disk or system failure, the ability to process large files efficiently and the ability to manage and back up data distributed on large networks of systems without interrupting users. In addition, our products provide an automated fail over between computer systems organized in clusters sharing disk resources. Our highly scalable products can be used independently, and certain products can be combined to provide interoperable client/server storage management solutions. Some of our products offer centralized administration with a high degree of automation, enabling customers to manage complex, distributed environments cost-effectively by increasing system administrator productivity and system availability. We also provide a comprehensive range of services to assist customers in planning and implementing storage management solutions. We market our products and associated services to original equipment manufacturers and end-user customers through a combination of direct sales and indirect sales channels. These indirect sales channels include resellers, value added resellers, hardware distributors, application software vendors and systems integrators.

In connection with the NSMG combination, in consideration for the contribution and transfer of contributed stock and assets by Seagate Technology, Inc., which we refer to as "STI" and Seagate Software, Inc., which we refer to as "SSI," and their respective subsidiaries, we issued to SSI 69,148,208 shares of our common stock and issued options to purchase 6,945,048 shares of our common stock to our employees who are former NSMG employees.

We accounted for the NSMG and TeleBackup acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting. We expect to incur charges of \$229.7 million per quarter primarily related to the amortization of acquired goodwill and other intangibles over a four-year period. We recorded charges to operations of \$103.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 1999, for a one-time write-off related to acquired in-process research and development costs. In addition, we recorded a restructuring charge of \$11.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 1999 as a result of the NSMG combination. This one-time restructuring charge relates primarily to exit costs with respect to duplicative facilities of Old VERITAS, which we plan to vacate. These costs are in addition to the liability for the costs to vacate duplicative facilities of the NSMG business, which liability we assumed and included as a part of the purchase price.

Pursuant to the rules of the SEC, the following discussion has been separated into two parts to discuss Old VERITAS and the NSMG business without giving effect to the NSMG combination. The TeleBackup combination is not reflected in either of the following analyses.

### OLD VERITAS

The terms "we," "our," "us," and "VERITAS," when used in this Subsection captioned "-- OLD VERITAS" refer to VERITAS Software Corporation, a Delaware corporation now known as VERITAS

30

### 32

Operating Corporation, and which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS Software Corporation, formerly known as VERITAS Holding Corporation.

### OVERVIEW

We derive our user license fee revenue from shipments of our software programs to end-user customers through direct sales channels, indirect sales channels and original equipment manufacturer customers. Our original equipment manufacturer customers either bundle our products with the original equipment manufacturer products they license or offer them as options. Certain original equipment manufacturers may also resell our products. We receive a user license fee each time the original equipment manufacturer licenses a copy of the original equipment manufacturer's products to a customer that incorporates one or more of our products. Our license agreements with original equipment manufacturer customers generally contain no minimum sales requirements and we cannot assure you that any original equipment manufacturer will either commence or continue shipping operating systems incorporating our products in the future. Moreover, following the execution of new agreements between us and original equipment manufacturer customers and resellers, a significant period of time may elapse before any revenues are generated due to the development work which we must generally undertake under such agreements and the time needed for the sales and marketing organizations within such customers and distributors to become familiar with and gain confidence in our products.

Our services revenue consists of fees derived from annual maintenance agreements, from consulting and training services and from porting fees. The original equipment manufacturer maintenance agreements covering our products provide for technical and emergency support and minor unspecified product upgrades for a fixed annual fee. The maintenance agreements covering products that are licensed through channels other than through original equipment manufacturer channels provide for technical support and unspecified product upgrades for an annual service fee based on the number of user licenses purchased and the level of service subscribed. Porting fees consist of fees derived from porting and other non-recurring engineering efforts when we port, or adapt, our storage management products to an original equipment manufacturer's operating system and when we develop new product features or extensions of existing product features at the request of a customer. In most cases, we retain the rights to technology derived from porting and non-recurring engineering work for licensing to other customers and therefore generally do such work on a relatively low, and sometimes negative, margin. We have made, and intend to continue to make, a substantial investment in porting our products to new operating systems, including Windows NT. The success of the Windows NT product development may be dependent on receipt of development funding from third parties, including Microsoft, and failure to receive such funding could hamper our efforts to timely expand our products into the Windows NT market. The porting and development process requires substantial capital investment and the devotion of substantial employee resources to such effort and the added focus on Windows NT development has required, and will continue to require, us to hire additional personnel. Under an agreement with Microsoft, we have committed to develop a functional subset of our Volume Manager product that will be ported to and embedded in Windows NT. The agreement also requires us to develop a disk management graphical user interface designed specifically for Windows NT. Microsoft has provided us with significant funding towards such development effort. We recognize revenue under the development contract with Microsoft on a percentage-of-completion basis consistent with our policy for revenue recognition for other similar agreements. The payment terms in the Microsoft agreement do not directly correlate to the timing of development efforts and therefore revenue recognition does not directly correlate to contract billings. The Microsoft relationship requires us to expand our marketing and sales operations to deal with higher volume markets in which we have limited experience. See "Risk Factors -- We face uncertainties porting products to new operating systems and developing new products" and "-- We distribute our products through multiple distribution channels, each of which is subject to risks."

31

33

Our international sales are generated primarily through our international sales subsidiaries. International revenue outside the United States and Canada, most of which is collectible in foreign currencies, accounted for 18% of our total revenues for the three months ended March 31, 1999 and 22% of total revenues for the three months ended March 31, 1998. Our international revenue increased 56% from \$8.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$13.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. Since much of our international operating expenses are also incurred in local currencies, the relative impact of exchange rates on net income or loss is relatively less than the impact on revenues. Although our operating and pricing strategies take into account changes in exchange rates over time, our operating results may be significantly affected in the short term by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Our international subsidiaries purchase licenses from the parent company resulting in intercompany receivables and payables. These receivables and payables are carried on each company's books at the local currency that existed at the time of the transaction. Such receivables and payables are eliminated for financial statement reporting purposes. Prior to elimination, the amounts carried in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollars at the then current rate, or "marked to market." The marked to market process may give rise to currency gains and losses. Such gains or losses are recognized on our statement of operations as a component of other income, net. To date, such gains or losses have not been material.

We believe that our success depends upon continued expansion of our international operations. We currently have sales and service offices in the United States, Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, France, Sweden, Switzerland and the Netherlands, a development center in India, and resellers located in North America, Europe, Asia Pacific, South America and the Middle East. International expansion may require us to establish additional foreign offices, hire additional personnel and recruit additional international resellers, resulting in the diversion of significant management attention and the expenditure of financial resources. To the extent that we are unable to effect these additions efficiently, growth in international sales will be limited, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. International operations also subject us to a number of risks inherent in developing and selling products outside the United States, including potential loss of developed technology, limited protection of intellectual property rights, imposition of government regulation, imposition of export duties and restrictions, cultural differences in the conduct of business, and political and economic instability. Furthermore, certain global markets, including Asia, Russia and Latin America, are currently undergoing significant economic turmoil which could result in deferral of purchase of information technology products and services by potential customers located in such markets, thereby further limiting our ability to expand international operations. See "Risk Factors -- Expanding our international sales depends on economic stability in regions that recently have been unstable."

On February 3, 1999, we completed the acquisition of OpenVision Australia Pty. Ltd., a company principally engaged in reselling our software products and services throughout Australia and New Zealand, for a total cost of approximately \$300,000 in cash. The business combination has been accounted for as a purchase and the purchase price allocated to the fair value of specific net tangible and intangible assets acquired.

On February 8, 1999, we completed the acquisition of the Pune, India operations of Frontier Software Development (India) Private Limited, a company principally engaged in the development of customized software, for a total cost of approximately \$2.4 million. Of this amount, we paid \$1.3 million in cash and agreed to pay Frontier certain earn-out payments totaling \$1.1 million over the next two years. The business combination has been accounted for as a purchase and the purchase price, including the \$1.1 million of earn-out payments, allocated to the fair value of specific net tangible and intangible assets acquired.

32

### 34

#### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenue represented by certain line items from our condensed consolidated statement of operations for the years 1996, 1997 and 1998, the three months ended March 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999 and the percentage changes between the three months ended March 31, 1999 and the three months ended March 31, 1998:

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

<CAPTION/

	DE	ARS ENDI CEMBER :	31,	MARCI	DED	CHANGE CHANGE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1999 COMPARED TO
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999	1998
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Net revenue:						
User license fees	81%	79%	80%	79%	78%	82%
Services	19	21	20	21	22	92%
Total net revenue	100	100	100	100	100	84%
Cost of revenue:						
User license fees	4	4	4	5	3	(1)%
Services	6	10	10	12	9	45%
Total cost of revenue	10	14	14	17	12	31%
Gross profit Operating expenses:	90	86	86	83	88	94%
Selling and marketing	36	35	36	33	37	105%
Research and development	25	21	19	19	19	83%
General and administrative	9	7	5	6	5	52%
Merger-related costs		7				

PERIOD-TO-PERIOD

In-process research and development	3				
Total operating expenses	73	70	60	58	61
Income from operations	17	16	26	25	27
Interest and other income, net	4	4	6	7	4
Interest expense		(1)	(3)	(4)	(2)
Income before income taxes	21	19	29	28	29
Provision for income taxes	3	1	4	5	10
Net income	18%	18%	25%	23%	19%
	===	===	===	===	===

--93%

### </TABLE>

THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1999 VERSUS THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998

### Net Revenue

Total net revenue increased 84% from \$39.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$71.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. VERITAS believes that the percentage increase in total revenue achieved in this period is not necessarily indicative of future results. VERITAS' revenue is comprised of user license fees and service revenue. Growth in user license fees has been driven primarily by increasing market acceptance of VERITAS' products, introduction of new products and a larger percentage of total license revenue generated through the direct sales channel. Service revenue is derived primarily from contracts for software maintenance and technical support and, to a lesser extent, consulting services, training services and porting fees. The growth in service revenue has been driven primarily by increased sales of service and support contracts on new license sales and, to a lesser extent, by increasing renewals of these contracts by VERITAS' installed base of licensees. VERITAS also

33

35

experienced an increase in demand for consulting and training services. Porting fees are derived from VERITAS' funded development efforts that are typically associated with VERITAS' agreements with original equipment manufacturers. User license fees were 78% of total net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 1999, and 79% of total net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 1998.

User License Fees. User license fees increased 82% from \$30.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$55.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The increase was primarily the result of continued growth in market acceptance of VERITAS' software products, a greater volume of large end-user transactions, increased revenue from original equipment manufacturer resales of bundled and unbundled VERITAS products and the introduction of new products. In particular, VERITAS' user license fees from storage products increased by approximately 57% for the three months ended March 31, 1999 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 1998, and accounted for 75% of user license fees in the three months ended March 31, 1999.

Service Revenue. Service revenue increased 92% from \$8.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$16.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The increase was primarily due to increased sales of service and support contracts on new licenses, renewal of service and support contracts on existing licenses and, to a lesser extent, an increase in demand for consulting and training services.

### Cost of Revenue

Cost of user license fees consists primarily of royalties, media, manuals and distribution costs. Cost of service revenue consists primarily of personnel-related costs in providing maintenance, technical support, consulting and training to customers, and development efforts in porting. Gross margin on user license fees is substantially higher than gross margin on service revenue, reflecting the low materials, packaging and other costs of software products compared with the relatively high personnel costs associated with providing maintenance, technical support, consulting, training services and development efforts. Cost of service revenue also varies based upon the mix of maintenance, technical support, consulting and training services.

Cost of User License Fees. Cost of user license fees remained relatively constant at \$2.0 million for each of the three month periods ended March 31, 1999 and March 31, 1998. Gross margin on user license fees increased from 94% for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to 96% for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The gross margin on user license fees may vary from period to period based on the license revenue mix and certain products having higher royalty rates than other products. VERITAS does not expect significant improvements in gross margin on user license fees.

Cost of Service Revenue. Cost of service revenue increased 45% from \$4.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$6.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. Gross margin on service revenue increased from 46% for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to 60% for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to personnel additions in our customer support and training and consulting organizations, in anticipation of increased demand for such services. The improvement in gross margin in the three months ended March 31, 1999 compared to the three months ended March 31, 1998 was a result of increased productivity and higher service revenue growth due to a larger installed customer base paying support revenue.

### Operating Expenses

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits, commissions, consultant fees and other costs associated with VERITAS' sales and marketing efforts. Selling and marketing expenses increased 105% from \$13.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$26.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. Selling and marketing

34

36

expenses as a percentage of total net revenue increased from 33% for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to 37% for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The increase was primarily the result of higher personnel and related costs associated with increased staffing. VERITAS intends to continue to expand its global sales and marketing infrastructure, and accordingly, VERITAS expects its selling and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars but not to change significantly as a percentage of revenue in the future.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits, third-party consultant fees and other engineering-related costs. Research and development expenses increased 83% from \$7.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$13.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The increase was due primarily to increased staffing levels. As a percentage of total net revenue, research and development expenses remained consistent at 19% for the three months ended March 31, 1999 and 1998. VERITAS believes that a significant level of research and development investment is required to remain competitive, and expects such expenses will continue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods, although such expenses may decline slightly as a percentage of total net revenue to the extent revenue increases. Research and development that VERITAS makes periodic incremental investments in research and development and VERITAS' level of revenue fluctuates.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits and fees for professional services, such as legal and accounting services. General and administrative expenses increased 52% from \$2.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$3.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue declined from 6% to 5%. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to additional personnel costs and other expenses associated with VERITAS enhancing its infrastructure to support expansion of its operations. General and administrative expenses are expected to increase in absolute dollars, but not to change significantly as a percentage of revenue in the future, as VERITAS expands its operations.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest and other income, net increased 13% from \$2.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 1998 to \$3.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999. The increase was due primarily to increased amounts of interest income attributable to the higher level of funds available for investment. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses which are included in other income, net, have not had a material effect on VERITAS' results of operations.

Interest Expense. Interest expense remained consistent at \$1.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999 and 1998. Interest expense consists primarily of interest accrued under the 5.25% convertible subordinated notes issued by VERITAS in October 1997.

Income Taxes. VERITAS had effective tax rates of 36% for the three months ended March 31, 1999 and 18% for the three months ended March 31, 1998. VERITAS' 1998 effective tax rate was lower than the combined federal and state statutory rates primarily due to the utilization of federal net operating loss carryforwards and other credit carryforwards, offset by the impact of state and foreign taxes. VERITAS' effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 1999 was higher than the effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 1998 primarily due to a lower benefit being derived from net operating loss carryforwards in 1999 relative to a higher level of pre-tax income.

The realization of VERITAS' net deferred tax assets, which relate primarily to net operating loss carryforwards and temporary differences, is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income in future periods. Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset will be realized. The amount of the net deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced or increased in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are

35

37

changed. Management intends to evaluate the realizability of the net deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis to assess the need for the valuation allowance.

New Accounting Pronouncements. In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS No. 133). SFAS No. 133 establishes methods of accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities related to those instruments as well as other hedging activities. VERITAS will be required to implement SFAS No. 133 for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2001. VERITAS' foreign currency exchange rate hedging activities have been insignificant to date and VERITAS does not believe that the impact of SFAS No. 133 will be material to its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) issued Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use." SOP 98-1 requires that entities capitalize certain costs related to internal-use software once certain criteria have been met. VERITAS has adopted SOP 98-1 as of January 1, 1999. The impact of adopting SOP 98-1 was not material, nor is SOP 98-1 expected to have a material impact on VERITAS' financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In December 1998, the AICPA issued SOP 98-9, "Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain Transactions." SOP 98-9 amends SOP 97-2 "Software Revenue Recognition" to require recognition of revenue using the "residual method" when certain criteria are met. VERITAS will be required to implement these provisions of SOP 98-9 for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2000. Effective in December 1998, SOP 98-9 also amends SOP 98-4 (an earlier amendment to SOP 97-2) to extend the deferral of the application of certain passages of SOP 97-2 provided by SOP 98-4. VERITAS does not believe the impact of SOP 98-9 will be material to VERITAS' financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

FISCAL YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1997 AND 1998

### Net Revenue

Total net revenue increased 74% to \$210.9 million in 1998 from \$121.1 million in 1997, when it increased 67% from \$72.7 million in 1996. VERITAS believes that the percentage increases in total revenue achieved in these periods are not necessarily indicative of future results. VERITAS' revenue is comprised of user license fees and service revenue. Growth in user license fees has been driven primarily by increasing market acceptance of VERITAS' products, introduction of new products and a larger percentage of total license revenue generated through the direct sales channel. Service revenue is derived primarily from contracts for software maintenance and technical support and, to a lesser extent, consulting services, training services and porting fees. The growth in service revenue has been driven primarily by increased sales of service and support contracts on new license sales and, to a lesser extent, by increasing renewals of these contracts by VERITAS' installed base of licensees. VERITAS also experienced an increase in demand for consulting and training services. Porting fees are derived from VERITAS' funded development efforts that are typically associated with VERITAS' agreements with original equipment manufacturers.

User License Fees. User license fees increased 75% to \$167.7 million in 1998 from \$95.7 million in 1997, when they increased 62% from \$59.2 million in 1996. The increases in both 1998 and 1997 were primarily the result of continued growth in market acceptance of VERITAS' software products, a greater volume of large end-user transactions, increased revenue from original equipment manufacturer resales of bundled and unbundled VERITAS' products and the introduction of new products. In particular, VERITAS' user license fees from storage products increased by approximately 72% in 1998 from 1997, and accounted for 88%, 89% and 79% of user license fees in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. User license fee growth in 1998 and 1997 also included increases in direct sales and sales from distributors other than original equipment manufacturers.

Service Revenue. Service revenue increased 70% to \$43.2 million in 1998, from \$25.4 million in 1997, when it increased 88% from \$13.5 million in 1996. The increases in both 1998 and 1997 were primarily due to increased sales of service and support contracts on new licenses, renewal of service and support contracts on existing licenses and, to a lesser extent in 1997, an increase in demand for consulting and training services.

### Cost of Revenue

Cost of user license fees consists primarily of royalties, media, manuals and distribution costs. Cost of service revenue consists primarily of personnel-related costs in providing maintenance, technical support, consulting and training to customers, and development efforts in porting. Gross margin on user license fees is substantially higher than gross margin on service revenue, reflecting the low materials, packaging and other costs of software products compared with the relatively high personnel costs associated with providing maintenance, technical support, consulting, training services and development efforts. Cost of service revenue also varies based upon the mix of maintenance, technical support, consulting services.

Cost of User License Fees. Cost of user license fees increased 86% to \$8.8 million in 1998 from \$4.7 million in 1997, and increased 57% in 1997 from \$3.0 million in 1996. The increases are primarily the result of a larger percentage of license fees being generated from the sale of products with higher royalty rates. Gross margin on user license fees remained constant at 95% in each of the three years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996. The gross margin on user license fees may vary from period to period based on the license revenue mix and certain products having higher royalty rates than other products. VERITAS does not expect improvements in gross margin on user license fees.

Cost of Service Revenue. Cost of service revenue increased 76% to \$20.7 million in 1998 from \$11.7 million in 1997, and increased 164% in 1997 from \$4.4 million in 1996. Gross margin on service revenue was 52%, 54% and 67% in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The decreases in gross margin were primarily due to personnel additions in our customer support and training and consulting organizations, in anticipation of increased demand for such services. In addition, VERITAS devoted technical resources to fund porting activities in excess of the amounts chargeable to customers.

### Operating Expenses

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits, commissions, consultant fees and other costs associated with VERITAS' sales and marketing efforts. Selling and marketing expenses increased 78% to \$76.4 million in 1998 from \$42.9 million in 1997, and increased 65% in 1997 from \$26.0 million in 1996. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of total net revenue remained relatively consistent at 36%, 35% and 36% in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The increase in absolute dollars is primarily attributable to increased sales and marketing programs. VERITAS intends to continue to expand its global sales and marketing infrastructure, and accordingly, VERITAS expects its selling and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars but not change significantly as a percentage of revenue in the future.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits, third-party consultant fees and other engineering related costs. Research and development expenses increased 60% to \$40.2 million in 1998 from \$25.2 million in 1997, and increased 36% in 1997 from \$18.5 million in 1996. The increase was due primarily to increased staffing levels. As a percentage of total net revenue, research and development expenses decreased to 19% in 1998 from 21% in 1997 and 25% in 1996. VERITAS believes that a significant level of research and development

37

### 39

investment is required to remain competitive, and expects such expenses will continue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods, although such expenses may continue to decline as a percentage of total net revenue to the extent revenue increases. Research and development expenses can be expected to fluctuate from time to the extent that VERITAS makes periodic incremental investments in research and development and VERITAS' level of revenue fluctuates.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits and fees for professional services, such

as legal and accounting services. General and administrative expenses increased 31% to \$10.5 million in 1998 from \$8.0 million in 1997, and increased 19% in 1997 from \$6.7 million in 1996. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue were 5%, 7% and 9% in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The increases in absolute dollars in 1998 and 1997 were primarily due to additional personnel costs and other expenses associated with VERITAS enhancing its infrastructure to support expansion of its operations. General and administrative expenses are expected to increase in future periods in absolute dollars to the extent VERITAS expands its operations.

Merger-Related Costs. As a result of the OpenVision merger, VERITAS incurred charges to operations of \$8.5 million in the second quarter of 1997, consisting of approximately \$4.2 million for transaction fees and professional services, \$1.9 million for contract terminations and asset write-offs and \$2.4 million for other costs incident to the OpenVision merger. Of the total charge, \$1.2 million resulted from the write-down of redundant assets and facilities, primarily consisting of intangible assets related to a prior acquisition which were redundant as a result of OpenVision having a similar product line, and \$7.3 million involved cash outflows for banking, legal and accounting fees and other direct costs and payments in connection with the elimination of duplicative facilities. The remaining unpaid amount of \$0.2 million at December 31, 1998 related primarily to ongoing lease payments for vacated facilities through the termination of the lease or the estimated date which such facilities will be subleased.

In-Process Research and Development. On April 1, 1996, VERITAS acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of ACSC for a total cost of approximately \$3.5 million. Of the total cost, \$2.2 million was allocated to in-process research and development and expensed in the second quarter of 1996. Approximately \$1.3 million was allocated to intangible assets that originally were amortized and then fully written off in the second quarter of 1997 as part of the OpenVision merger-related costs, since the ACSC product line became redundant upon the OpenVision merger. On May 15, 1998, VERITAS acquired all of the outstanding stock of Windward for a total cost of \$2.5 million. The transaction was accounted for using purchase accounting. Of the total cost, \$0.6 million was allocated to in-process research and development and \$1.9 million was allocated to acquired intangibles which is being amortized over a five year period. Total cash outflows in 1998 related to this purchase were \$1.3 million. VERITAS agreed to pay the sole shareholder of Windward certain earn-out payments of up to an aggregate of \$1.2 million over the next two years subject to satisfaction of certain conditions (which it was probable would be met) and the amount was accrued at the acquisition date. VERITAS also agreed to pay that shareholder a royalty on certain future product revenue derived from the products acquired over a five year period, up to a maximum of \$2.5 million. The Consolidated Statements of Operations include the results of operations of Windward subsequent to the acquisition date.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest and other income, net increased to \$11.8 million in 1998 from \$4.9 million in 1997, and \$2.8 million in 1996. The increases were due primarily to increased amounts of interest income attributable to the higher level of funds available for investment. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses which are included in other income, net, have not had a significant effect on VERITAS' results of operations.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased to \$5.7 million in 1998 from \$1.2 million in 1997, and \$0.3 million in 1996. Interest expense in 1998 and 1997 consists primarily of interest accrued under the

38

40

5.25% convertible subordinated notes issued by VERITAS in October 1997. Interest expense in 1996 was insignificant.

Income Taxes. VERITAS had effective tax rates of 14%, 4% and 15% in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. VERITAS' effective tax rate is lower than the combined federal and state statutory rates primarily due to the utilization of federal net operating loss carryforwards and other credit carryforwards, offset by the impact of state and foreign taxes.

VERITAS accounts for its income taxes under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS No. 109), "Accounting for Income Taxes." Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and the amounts used for income taxes. The realization of VERITAS' net deferred tax assets, which relate primarily to net operating loss carryforwards and temporary differences, is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income in future periods. Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset will be realized. The amount of the net deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced or increased in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are changed. Management intends to evaluate the realizability of the net deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis to assess the need for the valuation allowance.

#### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaled \$211.1 million and \$208.5 million at December 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999, and represented 60% and 56% of total assets, respectively. Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid with original maturities of ninety days or less. Short-term investments consist mainly of investment grade commercial paper, market auction preferreds and other medium-term notes. At December 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999, we had \$100.8 million and \$100.7 million of long-term obligations, and stockholders' equity was approximately \$169.9 million and \$190.3 million, respectively.

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$62.8 million, \$26.8 million and \$14.4 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, and \$15.2 million in the three months ended March 31, 1999, compared to \$15.3 million in the three months ended March 31, 1998. Increases in 1998 and 1997 cash provided by operating activities resulted primarily from net income and increases in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred revenue balances. These sources of cash were offset somewhat by uses of cash in connection with an increase in balances of accounts receivable and prepaid expenses, reflecting our overall growth. For the three months ended March 31, 1999, cash provided by operating activities resulted primarily from net income, an increase in deferred revenue, and a reduction in accounts receivable offset somewhat by an increase in prepaid expenses. For the three months ended March 31, 1998, cash provided by operating activities increased primarily as a result of higher net income, increases in accound liabilities and deferred revenue balances and reductions in prepaid expenses and accounts receivable.

Our investing activities used cash of \$49.8 million in the three months ended March 31, 1999 primarily due to the net increase in short-term and long-term investments of \$41.1 million and capital expenditures of \$8.6 million. Our investing activities used cash of \$28.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 1998 due to the net increase in short-term investments of \$23.3 million and capital expenditures of \$4.7 million. Our investing activities used cash of \$13.4 million in 1998 primarily due to capital expenditures of \$23.4 million. In addition, we used \$1.3 million of cash for the purchase of Windward in May 1998. Our investing activities used cash of \$71.1 million in 1997 primarily for net purchases of short-term investments of \$65.0 million, and capital expenditures of \$6.2 million. Our investing activities used cash of \$31.4 million in 1996 and consisted primarily of \$22.7 million of net purchases of short-term investments, \$5.5 million used for capital expenditures and \$3.5 million used for the purchase of ACSC.

39

41

Financing activities provided cash of \$7.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 1999, and \$4.3 million in the three months ended March 31, 1998 from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock plans. Financing activities provided cash of \$14.0 million in 1998, also arising primarily from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock plans. Financing activities provided cash of \$102.9 million in 1997, primarily from the net proceeds of \$97.5 million from the issuance of the 5.25% convertible subordinated notes due 2004 and issuance of common stock of \$5.8 million under our employee stock plans, partially offset by the payment against the note payable. In 1996, financing activities provided cash of \$31.0 million that reflects the net proceeds of \$36.4 million from OpenVision's May 1996 initial public stock offering and issuance of common stock of \$2.7 million under our employee stock plans, partially offset by the payments made against notes payable.

In October 1997, we issued \$100.0 million of 5.25% notes, for which we received net proceeds of \$97.5 million. The 5.25% notes provide for semi-annual interest payments each May 1 and November 1, commencing on May 1, 1998. The 5.25% notes are convertible into shares of our common stock at any time prior to the close of business on the maturity date, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, at a conversion price of \$21.50 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events. On or after November 5, 2002, the 5.25% notes will be redeemable over the period of time until maturity at our option at declining premiums to par. The debt issuance costs are being amortized over the term of the 5.25% notes using the interest method.

Following the consummation of the offering of the notes, we will have a ratio of long-term debt to total capitalization at July , 1999 of approximately %. As a result of this additional indebtedness, our principal and interest payment obligations will increase substantially. The degree to which we will be leveraged could materially and adversely affect our ability to obtain financing for working capital, acquisitions or other purposes and could make us more vulnerable to industry downturns and competitive pressures. We will

require substantial amounts of cash to fund scheduled payments of principal and interest on our indebtedness, including the notes, future capital expenditures and any increased working capital requirements. If we are unable to meet our cash requirements out of cash flow from operations, we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain alternative financing.

During the first quarter of 1999, we signed a letter of intent to enter into an agreement to lease real estate to be built by the lessor. In a separate agreement, we were retained by the lessor as its agent for the construction of the facility. The leases for land and improvements will be classified as operating leases. The various agreements provide for minimum lease payments which begin, generally, upon completion of construction, which is expected to be June 2001, as well as certain residual value guarantees. Predevelopment costs incurred by us were approximately \$1.4 million through March 31, 1999, and were subsequently reimbursed by the lessor.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our expected working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. However, we may require additional funds to support our working capital requirements for other purposes and may seek to raise such additional funds through public or private equity financing or from other sources. We cannot assure you that additional financing will be available at all or that if available, we will be able to obtain it on terms favorable to us.

### YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE

#### Background of Year 2000 Issues

We are aware of the issues associated with the programming code in existing computer systems as the millennium approaches. Many currently installed computer systems and software products are unable to distinguish between twentieth century dates and twenty-first century dates because such systems were developed using two digits rather than four to determine the applicable year. For example, computer

40

### 42

programs that have date-sensitive software may recognize a date using "00" as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This error could result in system failures, generation of erroneous data or miscalculations causing disruption of operations, including, among other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, send invoices or engage in similar normal business activities. As a result, many companies' software and computer systems may need to be upgraded or replaced to comply with such Year 2000 requirements. The Year 2000 problem is pervasive and complex. Significant uncertainty exists in the software industry concerning the potential impact of Year 2000 problems. We are assessing the potential overall impact of the impending century change on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

### State of Readiness

Based on our assessment to date, we believe the current versions of our software products and services are "Year 2000 ready" -- that is, they are capable of adequately distinguishing twenty-first century dates from twentieth century dates. New products are being designed and tested to be Year 2000 ready. Although our products have undergone, or will undergo, our normal quality testing procedures, there can, however, be no assurance that our products will contain all necessary date code changes. Furthermore, use of our products in connection with other products which are not Year 2000 ready, including non-compliant hardware, software and firmware may result in the inaccurate exchange of dates and result in performance problems or system failure. In addition, original equipment manufacturer derivative versions of older VERITAS products may not be Year 2000 ready. Any failure of our products to perform, including system malfunctions associated with the onset of year 2000, could result in claims against us. However, success of our Year 2000 compliance efforts may depend on the success of our customers in dealing with the Year 2000 issue, as we have formally notified all customers of the extent of the Year 2000 readiness of our products.

Although we have not been a party to any litigation or arbitration proceeding to date that involves Year 2000 compliance issues with our products or services, there can be no assurance that we will not in the future be required to defend our products or services in such proceedings, or to negotiate resolutions of claims based on Year 2000 issues. The costs of defending and resolving Year 2000 related disputes, regardless of the merits of such disputes, and any liability we have for Year 2000 related damages, including consequential damages, could harm our business.

In addition, we believe that purchasing patterns of customers and potential customers may be affected by Year 2000 compliance issues as organizations expend

significant resources to correct their current software systems for Year 2000 compliance. These expenditures may result in reduced funding available to such entities for other information technology purchases, such as those products and services offered by us. Furthermore, customers and potential customers may defer information technology purchases generally until early in the next millennium to avoid Year 2000 compliance problems. Any such deferral of purchases by our customers or potential customers could harm our business.

Our business depends on numerous systems that could potentially be impacted by Year 2000 related problems. Those systems include, among others: hardware and software systems used by us to deliver products and services to our customers (including software supplied by third parties); communications networks such as the wide area network and local area networks upon which we depend to communicate product orders to our manufacturing and distribution operations and to develop products; the internal systems of our customers and suppliers; software products sold to customers; the hardware and software systems used internally by us in the management of our business; and non-information technology systems and services used by us in the management of our business, such as power, telephone systems and building systems.

We are currently in the process of evaluating our information technology infrastructure in order to identify and modify any products, services or systems, including hardware, software and firmware, that

41

## 43

are not Year 2000 ready. Based on our initial analysis of the systems potentially impacted by conducting business in the twenty-first century, we are applying a phased approach to making such systems, and accordingly, our operations, ready for the year 2000. Beyond awareness of the issues and scope of systems involved, the phases of activities in process include: an assessment of specific underlying computer systems, programs and hardware; renovation or replacement of Year 2000 non-compliant technology; validation and testing of critical systems certified by third-party suppliers to be Year 2000 ready; and implementation of Year 2000 ready systems. The table below describes the status and timing of such phased activities.

## <TABLE> <CAPTION>

IMPACTED SYSTEMS	STATUS	TARGETED COMPLETION
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Software products sold to customers	Software products tested and available for customers	Completed
Communication networks used to carry products and provide services	Assessment inventory completed	Completed
Hardware and software systems used to manage our business	Assessment inventory completed	Completed
Hardware and software systems used to deliver products and services	Assessment completed	Completed
Hardware and software systems used to deliver products and provide services (including desktops)	Validation, testing and remediation in process	Q3 1999
Communication networks used to carry products and provide services	Validation, testing and remediation in process	Q3 1999
Non-information technology systems and services	Systems upgraded or replaced as appropriate, testing and implementation	Q3 1999
Hardware and software systems used to manage our business	Validation, testing and remediation	Q4 1999

</TABLE>

Extensive Year 2000 testing will be conducted on all systems considered critical to us. To date, we have not encountered any material problems in this regard with our computer systems or any other equipment that might be subject to such problems. In the event that any of our significant suppliers or customers does not successfully and timely achieve Year 2000 compliance, our business or operations could be adversely affected. This could result in system failures or generation of erroneous information and could cause significant disruption to business activities. We are reviewing what further actions are required to make all software systems used internally Year 2000 ready as well as actions needed to mitigate vulnerability to problems with suppliers and other third parties' systems.

## Costs To Address Year 2000 Issues

The total cost of our Year 2000 compliance activities has not been, and is not anticipated to be, material to our business, results of operations and financial condition. We estimate specific Year 2000 expenses to date to be not more than \$0.5 million and do not expect total costs of the compliance activities to exceed \$1.0 million. These costs and the timing in which we plan to complete our Year 2000 modification and testing processes are based on our estimates. However, we cannot assure you that we will timely identify and remedy all significant Year 2000 problems, that remediation efforts will not involve significant time and expense, or that such problems will not harm our business.

## Contingency Plans

We do not presently have a contingency plan for handling Year 2000 problems that are not detected and corrected prior to their occurrence. If we fail to address any unforeseen Year 2000 issue our business could be harmed. Full contingency plans are scheduled for completion by September 1, 1999.

42

## 44

NSMG

## OVERVIEW

The NSMG business, sometimes referred to in this prospectus as the Network & Storage Management Group, develops and markets software products and provides related services enabling information technology professionals to manage distributed network resources and to secure and protect enterprise data. The Network & Storage Management Group operates in a single industry segment. Its products offer features such as system backup, disaster recovery, migration, replication, automated client protection, storage resource management, scheduling, event correlation and desktop management.

VERITAS acquired the Network & Storage Management Group on May 28, 1999. Before then, the Network & Storage Management Group was an operating division of Seagate Software, which is a majority-owned and consolidated subsidiary of Seagate Technology. Seagate Technology is a data technology company that provides products for storing, managing and accessing digital information on computer systems. The Network & Storage Management Group was headquartered in Scotts Valley, California and had 17 offices and operations in seven countries worldwide. Neither Seagate Software nor Seagate Technology has updated the following discussion from April 2, 1999 and has no obligation to do so in this prospectus. In accordance with the rules of the SEC, VERITAS has not updated this historical discussion.

The statements of operations discussed below include all revenues and costs attributable to the Network & Storage Management Group, including allocations of certain corporate administration, finance, and management costs. These costs were proportionately allocated to the Network & Storage Management Group based on time studies and detailed inquiries performed with Seagate Software's corporate marketing and general and administrative departmental managers. In addition, some of Seagate Software's operations were shared locations involving activities of the Network & Storage Management Group and to other businesses of Seagate Software. Costs incurred in shared locations are allocated among the Seagate Software businesses based on identification of the costs as relating to the specific businesses. Where specific identification is not possible, the costs are allocated between the Network & Storage Management Group and other businesses of Seagate Software using methodologies that management believes are reasonable. Transactions and balances between entities and locations within the Network & Storage Management Group itself have been eliminated.

From August 1994 to June 1996, Seagate Technology acquired seven software companies that were engaged in developing and marketing network and/or storage management software products. In addition, in February 1996, Seagate Technology merged with Conner Peripherals, Inc. in a transaction accounted for as a pooling of interests. In connection with the merger, Seagate Technology purchased the outstanding minority interests in Conner's storage management software operations under Arcada Software, Inc. for \$85.1 million, which resulted in allocations to goodwill and other intangibles of \$47.4 million, a write-off of in-process research and development of \$43.9 million and a deferred tax liability of \$6.2 million. In June 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group acquired Eastman Software Storage Management Group, Inc., a subsidiary of Eastman Kodak Company, for \$10.0 million in cash, which resulted in allocations to goodwill and other intangibles of \$3.2 million and a write-off of in-process research and development of \$6.8 million. The accompanying financial statements present the combined results of operations of the acquired companies from the dates of acquisition.

The Network & Storage Management Group operated and reported financial results on a fiscal year of 52 or 53 weeks ending on the Friday closest to June 30. Accordingly, fiscal 1998 ended on July 3, 1998, fiscal 1997 ended on June 27, 1997 and fiscal 1996 ended on June 28, 1996. Fiscal 1998 was comprised of 53 weeks and fiscal years 1997 and 1996 were comprised of 52 weeks.

Arcada, which was acquired by the Network & Storage Management Group pursuant to Seagate Technology's merger with Conner, had a fiscal year that

Accordingly, Arcada's statement of operations for the year ended December 30, 1995 has been combined with the Network & Storage Management Group's statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 1995. In order to conform Arcada's fiscal year end to the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal year end, the Network & Storage Management Group's combined statement of operations for the year ended June 28, 1996 includes six months, July 1, 1995 through December 31, 1995, for Arcada which are also included in the Network & Storage Management Group's combined statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 1995. Arcada's duplicated results for the period from July 1, 1995 to December 30, 1995 includes revenues of \$37.7 million, operating expenses of \$29.3 million, and a net loss of \$80,000.

43

## BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

45

## VALUATION METHODOLOGY

In accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 16, all identifiable assets, including identifiable intangible assets, were assigned a portion of the cost of the acquired enterprise (purchase price) on the basis of their respective fair values. This included the portion of the purchase price properly attributed to incomplete research and development projects that should be expensed according to the requirements of Interpretation 4 of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 2.

Intangible assets were identified through:

- analysis of the acquisition agreement;
- consideration of the Network & Storage Management Group's intentions for future use of the acquired assets; and
- analysis of data available concerning the business's products, technologies, markets, historical financial performance, estimates of future performance and the assumptions underlying those estimates.

The economic and competitive environment in which the Network & Storage Management Group and the company to be acquired operate was also considered in the valuation analysis.

Specifically, purchased research and development was identified and valued through extensive interviews and discussions with the Network & Storage Management Group and the company to be acquired's management and the analysis of data provided by the company to be acquired concerning the company to be acquired's developmental products, their respective stage of development, the time and resources needed to complete them, their expected income generating ability, target markets and associated risks. The Income Approach, which includes an analysis of the markets, cash flows, and risks associated with achieving such cash flows, was the primary technique utilized in valuing each purchased research and development project. A portion of the purchase price was allocated to the developmental projects based on the appraised fair values of such projects.

## ARCADA SOFTWARE, INC.

#### Overview

46

As of the acquisition date, Arcada had spent a significant amount of money on research and development related to the re-development efforts to add features and utilities to the Desktop, NetWare and Windows NT products such as disk grooming, hierarchical storage management, upgraded graphical user interfaces, file and server replication, and server mirroring in order to continue to meet increasingly complex user needs.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, paragraph 38, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed," "the cost of software purchased to be integrated with another product or process will be capitalized only if technological feasibility was established for the software component and if all research and development

44

activities for the other components of the product or process were completed at the time of the purchase." Although Seagate Software purchased existing products from Arcada, since the majority of the original underlying code and base technology for the NetWare and Windows NT product families was completed in the 1990 time frame, the technologies, as of the date of valuation, were undergoing significant re-development.

#### Assumptions

Revenue. Future revenue estimates were generated for the following product families:

- Desktop;
- NetWare; and
- Windows NT.

Aggregate revenue for Arcada products was estimated to be approximately \$94 million for the ten and one-half months ending December 31, 1996. Revenues were estimated to increase to approximately \$161 million and \$234 million for calendar years 1997 and 1998 when most of the in-process projects were expected to be complete and shipped. Thereafter, revenue was estimated to increase at rates ranging from 35% to 40% for calendar years 1999 through 2002. Revenue estimates were based on:

- aggregate revenue growth rates for the business as a whole;
- individual product revenues;
- growth rates for the storage management software market;
- the aggregate size of the storage management software market;
- anticipated product development and introduction schedules;
- product sales cycles; and
- the estimated life of a product's underlying technology.

The estimated product development cycle of the new products ranged from 12 to 18 months. Actual revenues for calendar years 1997 and 1998 were less than those estimated.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses used in the valuation analysis of Arcada included:

- cost of goods sold;
- general and administrative expense;
- selling and marketing expense; and
- research and development expense.

In developing future expense estimates, an evaluation of both Seagate Software and Arcada's overall business model, specific product results, including both historical and expected direct expense levels, as appropriate, and an assessment of general industry metrics was conducted.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies ranged from approximately 5% to 30% for Desktop, 10% for NetWare and 5% for Windows NT. The Network & Storage Management Group's cost of goods sold was 23% for fiscal 1996, 23% for fiscal 1997 and 13% for fiscal 1998.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies ranged from 12% in calendar 1996 to 8% in calendar 1998 and beyond.

#### 45

# 47

Selling and marketing expense. Selling and marketing expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be 30% throughout the estimation period.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense consists of the costs associated with activities undertaken to correct errors or keep products updated with current information, also referred to as "maintenance" research and development. Maintenance research and development includes all activities undertaken after a product is available for general release to customers to correct errors or keep the product updated with current information. These activities include routine changes and additions. The maintenance research and development expense was estimated to be 5% of revenue for the developed technologies and 3% of revenue for the in-process technologies

#### throughout the estimation period.

In addition, as of the date of acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group management anticipated the costs to complete the Desktop, NetWare, and Windows NT technologies at approximately \$6.8 million, \$4.5 million and \$7.5 million, respectively. Since the acquisition date, all projects originally acquired from Arcada were commercially released prior to the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997.

Effective tax rate. The effective tax rate utilized in the analysis of developed and in-process technologies was 38%, which reflects Seagate's combined federal and state statutory income tax rates, exclusive of non-recurring charges at the time of the acquisition and estimated for future years.

Discount rate. The discount rates selected for Arcada's developed and in-process technologies were 15% and 17.5%, respectively. In the selection of the appropriate discount rates, consideration was given to (1) the weighted average cost of capital, approximately 13% to 15% at the date of acquisition of its parent, Seagate Technology, Inc. and (2) the weighted average return on assets, approximately 18%. The discount rate utilized for the in-process technology was determined to be higher than Seagate Technology's weighted average cost of capital due to the fact that the technology had not yet reached technological feasibility as of the date of valuation. In utilizing a discount rate greater than Seagate Technology's weighted average cost of capital, management has reflected the risk premium associated with achieving the forecasted cash flows associated with these projects.

#### EASTMAN SOFTWARE STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### Overview

Eastman Software Storage Management Group's two primary products are OPEN/stor for Windows NT and AvailHSM for NetWare. By integrating Eastman's product line, the Network & Storage Management Group will be able to convert their Storage Migrator product into a stand-alone hierarchical storage management application for Windows NT environments. As of the date of acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group abandoned the AvailHSM product and technology due to dated features and functionality; the valuation analysis did not include a fair value for the AvailHSM product.

As for OPEN/stor at the date of acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group planned to phase out the product over the following 12 to 15 months. The Network & Storage Management Group's purpose for the acquisition was for the next generation technologies that were underway at Eastman, referenced by project names Sakkara and Phoenix. These projects were complete re-writes of Eastman's prior generation technology that would allow the product to be sold stand-alone upon completion.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, paragraph 38, "the cost of software purchased to be integrated with another product or process will be capitalized only if technological feasibility was established for the software component and if all research and development

## 46

## 48

activities for the other components of the product or process were completed at the time of the purchase." Although the Network & Storage Management Group purchased existing products from Eastman, the existing products did not operate on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, as mentioned above, all of the original underlying code and base technology for the next generation products were in the process of being completely re-written as date of valuation.

#### Assumptions

Revenue. Future revenue estimates were generated for the following technologies:

- OPEN/stor;
- Sakkara; and
- Phoenix.

Aggregate revenue for existing Eastman products was estimated to be approximately \$167,000 for the one month ending June 30, 1998. Revenues were estimated to increase to approximately \$3.9 million and \$7.1 million for fiscal years 1999 and 2000 when most of the in-process projects were expected to be complete and shipping. Thereafter, revenue was estimated to increase at rates ranging from 20% to 30% for fiscal years 2001 through 2006. Revenue estimates were based on:

- aggregate revenue growth rates for the business as a whole;
- individual product revenues;
- growth rates for the storage management software market;
- the aggregate size of the storage management software market;
- anticipated product development and introduction schedules;
- product sales cycles; and
- the estimated life of a product's underlying technology.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses used in the valuation analysis of Eastman included:

- cost of goods sold;
- general and administrative expenses;
- selling and marketing expense; and
- research and development expense.

In developing future expense estimates, an evaluation of both the Network & Storage Management Group and Eastman's overall business model, specific product results, including both historical and expected direct expense levels as appropriate, and an assessment of general industry metrics was conducted.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be approximately 5% throughout the estimation period. The Network & Storage Management Group's cost of goods sold was 23% for fiscal 1996 and 1997.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be approximately 10% throughout the estimation period.

Selling and marketing expense. Selling and marketing expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be 27% throughout the estimation period.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense consists of the costs associated with activities undertaken to correct errors or keep products updated with current information,

47

### 49

also referred to as "maintenance" research and development. Maintenance research and development includes all activities undertaken after a product is available for general release to customers to correct errors or keep the product updated with current information. These activities include routine changes and additions. The maintenance research and development expense was estimated to be 5% of revenue for the developed and in-process technologies throughout the estimation period.

In addition, as of the date of acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group's management anticipated the costs to complete the in-process technologies at approximately \$1.8 million.

Effective tax rate. The effective tax rate utilized in the analysis of developed and in-process technologies was 38%, which reflects the Network & Storage Management Group's combined federal and state statutory income tax rates, exclusive of non-recurring charges at the time of the acquisition and estimated for future years.

Discount rate. The discount rates selected for Eastman's developed and in-process technologies were 15% and 20%, respectively. In the selection of the appropriate discount rates, consideration was given to (1) the weighted average cost of capital, approximately 15% at the date of acquisition and (2) the weighted average return on assets, approximately 18%. The discount rate utilized for the in-process technology was determined to be higher than the Network & Storage Management Group's weighted average cost of capital due to the fact that the technology had not yet reached technological feasibility as of the date of valuation. In utilizing a discount rate greater than the Network & Storage Management Group's weighted average cost of capital, management has reflected the risk premium associated with achieving the forecasted cash flows associated with these projects.

#### CALYPSO SOFTWARE SYSTEMS, INC.

Calypso was a software developer in the enterprise network/system management market. Calypso provided software which was designed to enable companies to automate the management of their distributed applications. At the date of acquisition, Calypso had two main products: Maestro Vision and Atrium Extendible Management System for Spectrum. Both existing products, as of the acquisition date, were planned to be phased out over the following 24 months. Calypso, at the acquisition date, was in the process of developing the next generation Atrium Extendible Management System product that was to be sold stand-alone. Both Maestro and Atrium Extendible Management System for Spectrum were originally designed for use only on certain system platforms, Cabletron and Spectrum, respectively. However, Atrium Extendible Management System, stand-alone, would allow systems managers on any system platform to distribute software; monitor central processing units, memory, and operating system administration; manage applications, file systems, and print services; and perform UNIX and NT system administration.

As of the date of acquisition, Calypso had undergone or was in the process of undergoing the re-write of code in C++, adding navigator capabilities, developing web server and browser interoperability, developing CORBA interoperability, and developing Network OLE/COM interoperability for Atrium Extendible Management System, stand-alone. The estimated cost to complete, at the date of acquisition, was approximately \$750,000. These in-process research and development projects were successfully completed prior to a restructuring of operations in the third quarter of fiscal 1997. As a result of this restructuring and a change in Seagate Software's strategic direction, in the first quarter of fiscal 1998 Seagate Software disposed of all the developed and in-process technologies originally acquired from Calypso.

48

#### 50

## ONDEMAND SOFTWARE, INC.

OnDemand developed and marketed electronic software distribution products for network management in the client/server environment. OnDemand's flagship product was WinINSTALL. As of the date of acquisition, OnDemand was in the process of developing the next generation of WinINSTALL Version 6.0. A significant feature of Version 6.0 which is not available by any competitive product, was a rollback with clone capability, which would allow the user to selectively return a PC to a previous state upon installation failure or upon user demand. In order for WinINSTALL Version 6.0 to become a commercially viable product, OnDemand, as of the valuation date, had undergone or was in the process of undergoing significant development efforts, including:

- developing rollback facilities, including clone capability;
- expanding global editor to be included in the WinINSTALL registry file;
- improving WinINSTALL Remote to ease package generation and distribution;
- adding a feature that would allow optional electronic mail notification on installation failure and on installation refusals due to license limitations; and
- expanding copy options and interactive install displays, adding substitution variables and allowing version control of backup files.

As of the date of acquisition, Seagate Software management anticipated the costs to complete WinINSTALL Version 6.0 at approximately \$920,000. Since the acquisition date, the acquired in-process research and development from OnDemand has been completed and the related products were released during fiscal 1997.

49

# RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, line items in the Network & Storage Management Group's statements of operations expressed as a percentage of total revenue.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

<S>

51

FISC.	AL YEAR ENDE	NINE MONTHS ENDED		
JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999
<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>

Revenues:					
Licensing	88%	93%	91%	91%	92%
Licensing from Seagate Technology	8	3	3	3	3
Maintenance, support and other	4	4	6	6	5
Total revenues	100	100	100	100	100
Cost of revenues:					
Licensing	11	8	8	9	5
Licensing from Seagate Technology	3	1	*	*	*
Maintenance, support and other Amortization of developed	*	1	1	1	2
technologies	9	12	4	5	1
Total cost of revenues	23	22	13	15	8
Gross profit		78	87	85	92
Operating expenses:	11	70	07	00	92
Sales and marketing	48	48	39	39	37
Research and development	2.8	2.4	18	18	16
General and administrative	17	18	13	13	- 0
In-process research and development	52	*	4		
Amortization of goodwill and other					
intangibles	11	14	7	8	5
Restructuring costs	8	2	*		
Total operating expenses	164	106	81	78	67
Income (loss) from operations	(87)	(28)		7	25
Interest expense	(1)	(20)	(1)	(1)	*
Other, net	(1)	(2)	(1)	(1)	1
Interest and other, net	(1)	(2)	(1)	(1)	1
Income (loss) before income taxes Benefit from (provision for) income	(88)	(30)	5	6	26
taxes	8	7	(3)	(4)	(11)
Net income (loss)	(80)%	(23) %	2%	 28	
	===	===	===	===	===

</TABLE>

------

\* Less than 1%

# RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Network & Storage Management Group had previously allocated a portion of goodwill to developed technology and evaluated the impairment of goodwill based on the revenues from the related software. Using this method, the Network & Storage Management Group recorded write-downs and write-offs of goodwill in fiscal 1997 in the amount of \$10.3 million. The Network & Storage Management Group has re-evaluated its methodology and determined that goodwill should not be allocated to developed technology under Accounting Principles Board Opinion 17, "Intangible Assets." As a result, the Network & Storage Management Group subsequently made adjustments to decrease the amounts of goodwill previously written-down and written-off from \$10.3 million to \$6.2 million in fiscal 1997. The

52

50

additional goodwill of \$4.1 million is being amortized over the remaining estimated useful lives of approximately 5 years.

The effect of this adjustment on previously reported combined financial statements as of and for the years ended July 3, 1998 and June 27, 1997 is as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	AS REE	PORTED	AS RESTATED AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED		
		AND FOR RS ENDED			
	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	
<s> Amortization of goodwill Income (loss) from operations Net income (loss)</s>	(44,945)	<c> \$ 12,456 10,210 3,636</c>	<c> \$ 20,250 (41,208) (33,200)</c>		

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net.... 52,480 38,374 56,217 41,331 Accumulated deficit...... (227,146) (223,510) (223,409) (220,553) </TABLE>

The effect of this adjustment on previously reported combined financial statements as of and for the nine months ended April 3, 1998 is as follows (in thousands):

## <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	AS REPORTED	AS RESTATED	
	AS OF AND FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED	AS OF AND FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED	
	APRIL 3, 1998	APRIL 3, 1998	
	(UNAUDITED)	(UNAUDITED)	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Amortization of goodwill	\$ 10,071	\$ 10,656	
Income from operations	9,833	9,248	
Net income	3,254	2,669	
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net	36,014	39,168	
Accumulated deficit	(223,892)	(220,741)	

NINE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 3, 1998 VERSUS NINE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 2, 1999

#### Revenues

The Network & Storage Management Group's revenues are primarily derived from the sale of product licenses, software maintenance, technical support, training and consulting. The Network & Storage Management Group recognizes license revenues in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition." Revenues from software license agreements are recognized at the time of product delivery. Service revenues from customer maintenance fees for ongoing customer support and product updates are recognized ratably over the maintenance term, which is typically 12 months. Service revenues from training and consulting are recognized when such services are performed.

Total revenues increased 29% from \$131.5 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$170.2 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999.

License revenues, excluding license revenues from Seagate Technology, grew 30% from \$120.1 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$156.1 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 due primarily to increased sales of Seagate Backup Exec, the Network & Storage Management Group's leading storage management product featuring backup and restore solutions for Microsoft's Windows NT Server and Windows NT workstation operating systems.

# 51

## 53

Indirect revenues, which include distribution and original equipment manufacturer sales, increased 33% from \$117.4 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$ 155.8 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1999.

Direct revenues, which include corporate licensing and other direct sales to users, increased 2% from \$14.1 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$14.5 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999.

Revenues increased 21% within the Americas from \$88.2 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$106.9 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. Revenues grew internationally 46% from \$43.4 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$63.3 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 due in part to the Network & Storage Management Group's continued expansion of its European distribution channel.

Revenues from Seagate Technology increased 23% from \$4.2 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$5.1 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 primarily due to increased sales of Backup Exec for Windows NT to Seagate Technology's original equipment manufacturer tape drive operations.

Total maintenance, support and other revenues grew 23% from \$7.3 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$9.0 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 primarily due to increases in the sales of maintenance agreements and training and consulting services resulting from a larger installed customer base.

## Cost of revenues

The cost of revenues consists of amortization of acquired developed technology, royalties, product packaging, documentation, duplication, production and the cost of maintenance, technical support and consulting services. Acquired developed technology is amortized based on the greater of the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, 30 to 48 months or the ratio of current revenues to the total of current and anticipated future revenues.

The total cost of revenues decreased 29% from \$19.2 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$13.5 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999.

Cost of license revenues decreased from 11.0 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to 8.2 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 1.2 and 1.2 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 1.2 million is revenues, respectively.

The cost of license revenues from Seagate Technology decreased from \$402,000 in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$329,000 in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 10% and 6% of related license revenues, respectively. Both declines were due primarily to reductions in product packaging and documentation costs resulting from a shift in mix to CD-ROMs from disks and increased sales of higher-margin server products.

The cost of maintenance, support and other revenues increased from \$1.4 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$2.6 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 19% and 29% of related service revenues, respectively. The increase was primarily due to expansion of the Network & Storage Management Group's professional services workforce necessary to support the growth in training and consulting revenues.

The amortization of developed technology decreased from \$6.4 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$2.4 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 representing 5% and 1% of total revenues, respectively. This decrease was primarily due to decreases in amortization expense based on lower levels of intangible assets because certain assets have become fully amortized.

52

## 54

#### Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, advertising, sales and marketing promotions and customer technical support costs. Sales and marketing expenses increased from \$51.4 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$63.6 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 39% and 37% of total revenues, respectively. The increase in terms of absolute dollars was primarily due to increases in advertising, promotion and technical support costs in Europe and other international regions necessary to support the related revenue growth.

## Research and development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, depreciation of development equipment and facilities and occupancy costs. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, software development costs are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time such costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers. The establishment of technological feasibility of the Network & Storage Management Group's products and general release of such software has substantially coincided. As a result, software development costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant.

Research and development expenses increased from \$24.0 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$26.7 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 18% and 16% of total revenues, respectively. The increase was primarily due to increases in personnel and related expenses and the acquisition of development activities associated with the purchase of Eastman Software Storage Management Group, Inc.

## General and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for finance, legal, information technology, human resources, general management, fixed asset write-downs and outside services. General and administrative expenses decreased from \$17.1 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$15.6 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999 and represented 13% and 9% of total revenues, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to decreased information technology related expenses, partially offset by increases in other general and administrative expenses necessary to support the Network & Storage Management Group's growth.

#### Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired companies over the estimated fair values of the tangible and intangible net assets acquired. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over periods up to seven years. Other intangible assets consist of acquired trademarks, assembled workforces, distribution networks, developed technology, customer base, and covenants not to compete. Amortization of other intangibles, other than acquired developed technology, is provided based on the straight-line method over the respective useful lives of the assets ranging from one to five years.

The amortization of goodwill and other intangibles decreased from \$10.7 million in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to \$7.7 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. This amortization represented 8% of total revenues in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 and 5% of total revenues in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in amortization expense based on lower levels of intangible assets and write-downs and write-offs of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately \$1.9 million during the quarter ended January 2, 1998, based on asset values for the assembled work forces and associated goodwill that had become impaired.

53

# 55

# Interest and other, net

Total interest and other, net increased from a net expense of \$744,000 in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 to a net income of \$1.4 million in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. This total interest and other, net represented 1% of total revenues in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 and 1% of total revenues in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. The increase in interest income and other, net was primarily due to lower interest expense on a lower level of outstanding borrowings from Seagate Technology.

## Income taxes

The Network & Storage Management Group expects its annual effective tax rate on anticipated operating income for the 1999 fiscal year to approximate 43%. The projected effective tax rate exceeds the U.S. statutory rate primarily due to the amortization of goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes, and foreign taxes on certain earnings generated in higher tax rate jurisdictions. This expected annual effective tax rate of 43% has been used to record the provision for income taxes for the nine month period ended April 2, 1999 compared with a 69% effective tax rate used to record the provision for income taxes for the comparable year-ago period. The effective tax rate used to record the provision for the income taxes for the nine month period ended April 3, 1998 was based on the expected annual effective tax rate applicable to anticipated fiscal 1998 operating income as adjusted for amortization of nondeductible goodwill.

Prior to its acquisition by VERITAS, the Network & Storage Management Group was included in the consolidated federal and certain combined and consolidated state and foreign income tax returns of Seagate Technology. Seagate Technology and the Network & Storage Management Group were parties to a tax allocation agreement. Under the tax allocation agreement, Network & Storage Management Group's ability to recognize the tax benefits of certain net operating loss carryforwards and foreign and domestic tax credits was impacted by Seagate Technology's operating income during the periods that NSMG was included in Seagate Technology's consolidated federal and other tax returns.

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 27, 1997 VERSUS FISCAL YEAR ENDED JULY 3, 1998

#### Revenues

Total revenues increased 24% from \$141.5 million in fiscal 1997 to \$175.0 million in fiscal 1998.

License revenues, excluding license revenues from Seagate Technology, grew 23% from \$130.7 million in fiscal 1997 to \$160.2 million in fiscal 1998 due primarily to increased sales of Seagate Backup Exec, the Network & Storage Management Group's leading storage management product featuring backup and restore solutions for Microsoft's Windows NT Server and Windows NT workstation operating systems.

The Network & Storage Management Group continued to expand both its indirect and direct sales channels. Indirect revenues, which include distribution and original equipment manufacturer sales, increased 25% from \$124.8 million in fiscal 1997 to \$156.3 million in fiscal 1998 while direct revenues, which include corporate licensing and other direct sales to users, increased 12% from \$16.7 million in fiscal 1997 to \$18.7 million in fiscal 1998.

Revenues increased within the Americas 13% from \$102.2 million in fiscal 1997 to \$115.3 million in fiscal 1998. Revenues grew internationally 52% from \$39.3 million in fiscal 1997 to \$59.7 million in fiscal 1998 due in part to the Network & Storage Management Group's continued expansion of its European distribution channel.

## 54

56

Revenues from Seagate Technology increased 3% from \$4.9 million in fiscal 1997 to \$5.0 million in fiscal 1998 primarily due to increased sales of Backup Exec for Windows NT to Seagate Technology's original equipment manufacturer tape drive operations.

Total maintenance, support and other revenues grew 66% from \$5.9 million in fiscal 1997 to \$9.8 million in fiscal 1998 primarily due to increases in the sales of maintenance agreements and training and consulting services resulting from a larger installed customer base.

During fiscal 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group generated export revenues from the United States of approximately \$57.8 million. Expenses from the Network & Storage Management Group's sales offices outside of the U.S. were approximately \$20.1 million as remeasured to the U.S. dollar from foreign currencies. The principal currency for the sales offices is the British pound. The Network & Storage Management Group believes that its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is not material and does not engage in foreign currency hedging programs.

## Cost of revenues

The total cost of revenues decreased from \$32.1 million in fiscal 1997 to \$23.3 million in fiscal 1998.

The cost of license revenues increased from \$11.8 million in fiscal 1997 to \$13.7 million in fiscal 1998 and remained consistent at 9% of related license revenues during both fiscal years.

The cost of license revenues from Seagate Technology decreased from \$1.8 million in fiscal 1997 to \$411,000 in fiscal 1998 and represented 37% and 8% of related license revenues, respectively. The decrease was due primarily to reductions in product packaging and documentation costs resulting from a shift in mix to CD-ROMs from disks and increased sales of higher-margin server products.

The cost of maintenance, support and other revenues increased from \$789,000 in fiscal 1997 to \$2.1 million in fiscal 1998 and represented 13% and 21% of related service revenues, respectively. This increase was primarily due to expansion of the Network & Storage Management Group's professional services workforce necessary to support the growth in training and consulting revenues. The lower service revenue margins in 1998 were primarily due to increased spending for additional personnel and new facilities to support higher levels of customer support services, such as training, consulting and preferred technical support.

The amortization of developed technology decreased from \$17.7 million in fiscal 1997 to \$7.1 million in fiscal 1998 and represented 12% and 4% of total revenues, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to higher write-downs in fiscal 1997 of certain developed technologies amounting to approximately \$6.9 million as a result of asset values that had become impaired based on reductions in estimated future cash flows and decreases in amortization expense based on lower levels of intangible assets.

In 1997 the unamortized software costs were reviewed under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86 for potential impairment. The Network & Storage Management Group compared the net realizable value on a product by product basis to the unamortized costs. Impairments were caused by a number of factors including the Network & Storage Management Group's decision to stop selling products or technologies such as DOS, new acquisitions, or new product designs. Additionally in 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group incurred a write-off to expected net realizable value related to the decision to close down and sell one of its acquisitions, Calypso Software Systems, Inc. The Network and Storage Management Group is not currently generating revenue from any products for which the related developed technology has been impaired.

The write-downs of inventory to net realizable value in fiscal 1998 were the result of new product introductions and, in the second quarter of fiscal 1998, the consolidation of the Network & Storage Management Group's fulfillment warehouses to a single outsourcing partner. As a result of the change in strategy to move to a single outsourcing partner, the Network & Storage Management Group was required contractually to purchase components from some of its terminated vendors. This inventory was reviewed in conjunction the new outsourcing partner and the components that were excess or obsolete were written down.

The inventory write-down in fiscal 1997 related to Sytron products for which the decision was made in 1997 to no longer market these products.

## Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased slightly from \$68.2 million in fiscal 1997 to \$68.3 million in fiscal 1998. These expenses represented 48% of total revenues in fiscal 1997 and 39% of total revenues in fiscal 1998. The slight increase was primarily due to increases in advertising, promotion and technical support costs necessary to support revenue growth. These increases were partially offset by reductions in workforce in fiscal 1997 due to facility consolidations.

## Research and development

Research and development expenses decreased from \$33.6 million in fiscal 1997 to \$31.7 million in fiscal 1998. These expenses represented 24% of total revenues in fiscal 1997 and 18% of total revenues in fiscal 1998. The decrease was primarily due to facility consolidations and reductions in workforce in fiscal 1997.

## General and administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased from \$26.0 million in fiscal 1997 to \$22.3 million in fiscal 1998. These expenses represented 18% of total revenues in fiscal 1997 and 13% of total revenues in fiscal 1998. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in personnel-related expenses from facility consolidations and reductions in workforce in fiscal 1997 and decreased legal costs.

## Write-off of in-process research and development

During fiscal 1998, \$6.8 million of in-process research and development was written off in connection with the purchase of Eastman Software Storage Management Group, Inc.

## Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles

The amortization of goodwill and other intangibles decreased from \$20.3 million in fiscal 1997 to \$13.2 million in fiscal 1998. This amortization represented 14% of total revenues in fiscal 1997 and 8% of total revenues in fiscal 1998. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in amortization expense based on lower levels of intangible assets and write-downs and write-offs of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately \$6.2 million in fiscal 1997 versus \$1.9 million in fiscal 1998 as a result of asset values that had become impaired.

Long-lived assets other than developed technology, including associated goodwill, are assessed for impairment under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 121 (SFAS 121), and any write-offs or write-downs are included in amortization of goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill not under the scope of SFAS 121 is assessed for impairment under the guidance of Accounting Principles Board No. 17, and any write-offs or write-downs are also included in amortization of goodwill and other intangibles. Developed technology is assessed for impairment under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 86, and any related write-offs or write-downs are included in costs of revenues. During fiscal 1997 and 1998, the Network & Storage Management

56

58

Group recorded impairment charges for write-offs and write-downs of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, exclusive of amounts relating to developed technology as follows:

In 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group determined that it would abandon and discontinue selling substantially all of the current and future products and technologies obtained in the 1994 acquisition of Palindrome Corporation in favor of selling and supporting the current and future products and technologies obtained in the 1996 acquisition of Arcada Holdings, Inc. Additionally, in 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group decided to close down and sell Calypso Software Systems, Inc. and to abandon and discontinue sales of the developed and future DOS products and technologies acquired from Frye Computer Systems, Inc. In connection with these determinations, the Network & Storage Management Group recorded impairment charges to write-off and write-down goodwill amounting to approximately \$6.2 million.

In 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group assessed the recoverability of long-lived assets and as a result wrote-off assembled workforce and related goodwill amounting to \$1.9 million for Network Computing, Inc., Netlabs, Inc. and Creative Interaction Technologies, Inc.

## Restructuring

Restructuring charges were \$2.5 million in fiscal 1997 and none in fiscal 1998. See management's discussion and analysis of restructuring costs for the fiscal year ended June 28, 1996 versus fiscal year ended June 27, 1997.

## Interest and other, net

Total interest and other, net decreased from a net expense of \$2.6 million in fiscal 1997 to a net expense of \$713,000 in fiscal 1998, representing 2% and 1% of total revenues, respectively. The decrease in interest and other, net was primarily due to lower interest expense on a lower level of average outstanding borrowings from Seagate Technology.

## Income taxes

The Network & Storage Management Group recorded a \$10.6 million benefit from income taxes at an effective rate of 24% for fiscal 1997 compared with a \$5.9 million provision for income taxes at an effective rate of 67% in fiscal 1998. The effective rate used to record the provision for income taxes in fiscal 1998 was greater than the statutory rate primarily due to foreign taxes in excess of the U.S. statutory tax rate, state income taxes, and goodwill amortization for certain acquisitions that was not deductible for tax purposes. The effective rate used to record the benefit from income taxes in fiscal 1997 was less than the statutory rate primarily due to increases in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and goodwill amortization for certain acquisitions that were not deductible for tax purposes.

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 28, 1996 VERSUS FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 27, 1997

#### Revenues

Total revenues increased 21% from \$116.7 million in fiscal 1996 to \$141.5 million in fiscal 1997.

License revenues, excluding license revenues from Seagate Technology, increased 28% from \$102.3 million in fiscal 1996 to \$130.7 million in fiscal 1997. The increase in licensing revenues was due in part to growth in the market for storage management software products and related services, expansion of the Network & Storage Management Group's European distribution channels and increased sales of Seagate Backup Exec for Windows NT.

#### 57

## 59

Total maintenance, support and other revenues increased from \$4.5 million in fiscal 1996 to \$5.9 million in fiscal 1997. The increase in maintenance, support and other revenues was due in part to higher training and consulting revenues resulting from a larger customer base.

Additionally, the fiscal 1997 results included a full year of operations for the fiscal 1996 acquisition of OnDemand Software, Inc., which resulted in increases in licensing revenues of approximately \$6.8 million in fiscal 1997 as compared with fiscal 1996.

During fiscal 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group generated export revenues from the United States of approximately \$40.7 million. Expenses from the Network & Storage Management Group's sales offices outside of the U.S. were approximately \$15.7 million as remeasured in the U.S. dollar from foreign currencies, principally the British Pound. The Network & Storage Management Group believes that its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is not material and does not engage in foreign currency hedging programs.

## Cost of revenues

The total cost of revenues increased from \$27.3 million in fiscal 1996 to \$32.1 million in fiscal 1997 and represented 23% of total revenues in fiscal 1996 and 22% of total revenues in fiscal 1997. The majority of the increase in absolute dollars was due to an increase in the amortization of acquired developed technology due to a higher level of intangible assets. Additionally, in fiscal 1997 the Network & Storage Management Group wrote-off and wrote-down certain developed technologies amounting to approximately \$6.9 million as a result of asset values that had become impaired based on the Network & Storage

## Management Group's phasing out of certain products.

In 1997 the unamortized software costs were reviewed under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86 for potential impairment. The Network & Storage Management Group business compared the net realizable value on a product by product basis to the unamortized costs including goodwill. Impairments were caused by a number of factors including the Network & Storage Management Group's decision to stop selling products or technologies such as DOS, new acquisitions, or new product designs. Additionally in 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group incurred a write-off related to the decision to close down and sell one of its acquisitions, Calypso Software Systems, Inc. The write-off was to the expected net realizable value. The Network and Storage Management Group is not currently generating revenue from any products for which the related developed technology has been impaired.

The inventory write-down in fiscal 1997 related to Sytron products for which the decision was made in 1997 to no longer market these products.

## Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing costs increased from \$55.9 million in fiscal 1996 to \$68.2 million in fiscal 1997 and represented 48% of total revenues in both periods. The increase in absolute dollars was due to increased personnel, advertising and promotion costs necessary to support revenue growth and the expansion of the Network & Storage Management Group's European distribution channel. Additionally, the fiscal 1997 results included a full year of operations for the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal 1996 acquisitions compared with a partial year of operations in fiscal 1996.

## Research and development

Research and development expenses increased from \$32.5 million in fiscal 1996 to \$33.6 million in fiscal 1997. These expenses represented 28% of total revenues in fiscal 1996 and 24% total revenues in fiscal 1997. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to increases in new product development and localization costs, partially offset by facility consolidations and reductions in workforce. Additionally,

58

#### 60

the fiscal 1997 results included a full year of operations for the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal 1996 acquisitions compared with a partial year of operations in fiscal 1996.

## General and administrative

General and administrative expenses increased from \$20.0 million in fiscal 1996 to \$26.0 million in fiscal 1997. These expenses represented 17% of total revenues in fiscal 1996 and 18% of total revenues in fiscal 1997. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to increases in corporate administrative expenses, information systems and legal costs necessary to support the Network & Storage Management Group's growth. Additionally, the fiscal 1997 results included a full year of operations for the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal 1996 acquisitions compared with a partial year of operations in fiscal 1996.

## Write-off of in-process research and development

During fiscal 1996, total write-offs of in-process research and development were 61.1 million as a result of the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal 1996 acquisitions.

## Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles

Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles increased from \$13.0 million in fiscal 1996 to \$20.3 million in fiscal 1997. This amortization represented 11% of total revenues in fiscal 1996 and 14% of total revenues in fiscal 1997. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to increased amortization expense on a higher level of intangible assets and write-downs and write-offs of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately \$6.2 million as a result of asset values that had become impaired.

Long-lived assets other than developed technology, including associated goodwill, are assessed for impairment under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 121 (SFAS 121), and any write-offs or write-downs are included in amortization of goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill not within the scope of SFAS 121 is assessed for impairment under the guidance of Accounting Principals Board No. 17, and any write-downs or write-offs are also included in amortization of goodwill and other intangibles. Developed technology is assessed for impairment under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 86, and any related write-offs or write-downs are included in costs of revenues. During 1997 and 1996, the Network & Storage Management Group recorded impairment charges for write-offs and write-downs of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, exclusive of amounts relating to developed technology as follows:

In 1996, Mr. Frye, the former owner of Frye Computer Systems, Inc., a 1995 acquisition, left the Network & Storage Management Group. With his departure, the Network & Storage Management Group decided to release Mr. Frye from his remaining non-compete period and to not use the Frye name trademark in future periods. As a result, the remaining carrying value of the intangible assets relating to the covenant not to compete and the trademark, and associated goodwill, totaling \$2.2 million were written-off in their entirety.

In 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group determined that it would abandon and discontinue selling substantially all of the current and future products and technologies obtained from the 1994 acquisition of Palindrome Corporation in favor of selling and supporting the current and future products and technologies obtained from the 1996 acquisition of Arcada Holdings, Inc. Additionally, in 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group decided to close down and sell Calypso Software Systems, Inc. and to abandon and discontinue sales of the developed and future products and technologies acquired from Frye Computer Systems, Inc. In connection with these determinations, the Network & Storage Management Group recorded write-offs and write-downs of goodwill amounting to approximately \$6.2 million.

59

#### Restructuring

61

Fiscal 1996 charges. Restructuring charges were \$9.5 million in fiscal 1996 and \$2.5 million in fiscal 1997. The 1996 restructuring charges pertain to the acquisition of Arcada Holdings, Inc. in February 1996. As a result of the acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group business had obtained duplicate technologies and product lines in data protection and storage management software as those assets acquired in the Palindrome Corporation acquisition in fiscal 1995. The Network & Storage Management Group determined that it would be beneficial to consolidate the world-wide sales, marketing, research and development, technical support and other operations and administrative functions of its network and storage management business. A restructuring plan was approved by the Seagate Software board of directors in March 1996 and the plan resulted in facility closures and staff reductions of 43 at the Arcada facilities in Westboro, Massachusetts, the United Kingdom and France, as well as staff reductions of 69 at the former Palindrome facility in Naperville, Illinois. In addition, because Arcada had a better industry reputation and superior products to those of Palindrome, the Network & Storage Management Group's plan and strategy going forward was to focus on the technologies and products acquired from Arcada. The revenue relating to products acquired from Palindrome for fiscal 1996 was \$15.9 million and the net operating loss relating to products acquired from Palindrome for fiscal 1996 was \$2.1 million. For fiscal 1997, the revenue relating to products acquired from Palindrome was \$3.3 million and the net operating loss relating to products acquired from Palindrome for fiscal 1997 was \$3.7 million.

The non-cash restructuring charges included amounts for abandonment of the Palindrome trademarks, impairment of the capitalized workforce intangible assets pertaining to the acquisition of Palindrome because of the planned layoff of personnel, write-off of a duplicate trade show booth, and write-off of obsolete Palindrome marketing materials. Cash restructuring charges included amounts for severance and benefits to terminated Palindrome employees, costs for facilities lease termination, other contract cancellation fees, and merger related costs incurred by Arcada in the acquisition of the Arcada minority pooling of interests by Seagate Technology.

Fiscal 1997 charges. The fiscal 1997 restructuring charges netted to \$2.5 million, comprised of a \$3.4 million restructuring charge that included the closure of the Network & Storage Management Group's facility located in Cupertino, California. This facility closure resulted in cash charges for severance and benefits for 69 employee terminations and non-cash charges for excess facilities and the write-down of equipment. In addition, the \$3.4 million included amounts related to the decision, after concluding a sale was no longer viable, to no longer pursue the technologies acquired in the fiscal 1996 acquisition of Calypso Software Systems, Inc. and to shut down its operations. This decision resulted in cash charges for severance and benefits for 35 employee terminations and non-cash charges for the write off of certain remaining intangible assets of Calypso. The revenue and net operating loss relating to products acquired from Calypso for fiscal 1996 was \$444,000 and \$53,000, respectively. For fiscal 1997, the revenue and net operating loss relating to products acquired from Calypso was \$640,000 and \$47,000, respectively.

The restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 1997 were reduced by \$957,000

for the reversal of amounts pertaining to the fiscal 1996 restructuring charges as a result of a higher than planned number of voluntary employee terminations without severance benefits prior to the facility shutdown and completion of other aspects of the restructuring plan at less than the originally estimated cost, net of an increase in the accrual for facilities lease payments due to changes in estimates of the costs to terminate leases after facilities closure.

# 60

A summary of Network & Storage Management Group business restructuring activities for the past three years is provided below in thousands:  $<\!\textsc{TABLE>}$ 

# <CAPTION>

62

	SEVERANCE AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	FACILITIES	EQUIPMENT	INVENTORY	INTANGIBLES	CONTRACT CANCELLATION FEES	LEGAL AND ACCOUNTING FEES
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>		<c></c>	<c></c>
1996 restructuring							
charges	\$1,554	\$1,571	\$ 1,018	\$ 300	\$ 4,312	\$ 67	\$ 525
Cash charges	(518)						(568)
Non-cash charges		(121)	(116)		(4,052)		
Reserve balances, June 28,							
1996	1,036	1,450	902	300	260	67	(43)
1997 restructuring							
charges	770	505	728		1,378		
Cash charges	(975)	(915)					
Non-cash charges Adjustments and		(72)	(44)		(1,378)		
reclassifications	(351)	267	(172)	(300)	(260)	(67)	4.3
Reserve balances, June 27,							
1997	480	1,235	1,414				
Cash charges	(373)	(519)	(9)				
Non-cash charges			(1,045)				
Adjustments and	(105)		(0.60)				
reclassifications	(107)	467	(360)				
Reserve balances, July 3,							
1998		1,183					
Cash charges (unaudited)		(375)					
Reserve balances, April 2, 1999							
(unaudited)	\$	\$ 808	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
	======	======		=====	======	====	=====

# <CAPTION>

	OTHER EXPENSES	TOTAL
<\$>	 <c></c>	 <c></c>
1996 restructuring		<0>
charges	\$ 155	\$ 9,502
Cash charges	\$ 100 	(1,086)
Non-cash charges	(138)	(4,427)
Non cash charges	(150)	(1,127)
Reserve balances, June 28,		
1996	17	3,989
1997 restructuring		.,
charges	100	3,481
Cash charges		(1,890)
Non-cash charges		(1,494)
Adjustments and		
reclassifications	(117)	(957)
Reserve balances, June 27,		
1997		3,129
Cash charges		(901)
Non-cash charges		(1,045)
Adjustments and		
reclassifications		
Reserve balances, July 3,		1 100
1998		1,183
Cash charges (unaudited)		(375)
Reserve balances, April 2.		

Reserve balances, April 2, 1999

</TABLE>

The Network & Storage Management Group's remaining restructuring reserves at April 2, 1999 pertain to continuing lease payments on facilities that were closed and abandoned as a result of the Palindrome restructuring. The Network & Storage Management Group has been unable to sublease these facilities and anticipates that the remaining restructuring reserves will be utilized over the period through lease termination in fiscal 2002.

The fiscal 1996 restructuring reserve of 9,502,000 was for the following specific items:

Severance and employee benefits (\$1,554,000) -- Severance and employee benefits included amounts for consolidation of operations and termination of employees at the Arcada facilities in Westboro, Massachusetts, the United Kingdom and France, as well as at the former Palindrome facility in Naperville, Illinois.

Excess facilities (\$1,571,000) -- This accrual was designed to provide for rent termination costs and rent expense for facilities located in Naperville, Westboro, the United Kingdom and France that are to be closed as a result of the restructuring actions.

Equipment (\$1,018,000) -- This amount is a reserve for equipment at the Naperville, Westboro, the United Kingdom and France facilities. It consists of computer equipment, furniture and fixtures and software at these facilities that will not be used after the locations are closed. All of the equipment provided for in this reserve has been abandoned.

Inventory (3300,000) -- This consists of obsolete packaging material that will no longer be used and original equipment manufacturer inventory of 80,000 that will no longer be sold.

Intangibles (\$4,312,000) -- This writedown consists of Palindrome intangible assets of \$3,534,000, \$390,000 of developed technology related to Atlas and \$388,000 of goodwill related to the Sytron acquisition. The Palindrome intangible assets were further broken down into trademark of \$1,000,000, workforce of \$1,188,000, distribution network of \$69,000 and goodwill of \$1,277,000. The Network & Storage Management Group decided to pursue the Arcada brand name and trademark and abandon the

61

63

Palindrome trademark. As a result, Network & Storage Management Group business determined that it would lay off substantially all of the 121 employees of Palindrome located at the Naperville facility. At the time of original purchase, Network & Storage Management Group business proportionally allocated goodwill to long-lived intangible assets based upon the original purchase price. The amounts of goodwill included in the restructuring reserve relate to the remaining unamortized goodwill associated with the intangible assets written off.

Contract cancellation (\$67,000) -- This \$67,000 item is a canceled contract for outsourced Technical Support with a vendor used by Palindrome.

Legal/Accounting fees (\$525,000) -- This \$525,000 represents an estimate of the legal and accounting fees that were to be incurred by Arcada from the acquisition of Arcada stock by Seagate Technology.

Other (\$155,000) -- This represents a trade show booth valued at \$100,000 that is redundant and \$55,000 for obsolete marketing materials.

The above assets were not impaired in a prior period because their impairment arose specifically from the restructuring actions taken as a result of the acquisition of the minority interest in Arcada in the third quarter of fiscal 1996. Prior to the acquisition, Palindrome products were marketed and sold as part of the Seagate Software portfolio.

In fiscal 1997, Seagate Software recorded an additional restructuring reserve of \$3.5 million that resulted primarily from the plan to shutdown Manchester operations and the decision to try to sell the Calypso technology and a separate decision to consolidate the Network & Storage Management Group operations which resulted in the shutdown of the NSMG's facility in Cupertino, California which are as follows.

Severance and employee benefits (\$770,000) -- Severance and employee benefits included amounts for the shutdown and termination of employees at the Cupertino, California facility due to a consolidation of operations and the shutdown and termination of employees at the Calypso facility in Manchester, New Hampshire due to a decision to no longer pursue the Calypso products and Excess facilities (\$505,000) -- This accrual was designed to provide for rent termination costs and rent expense for facilities closures in Manchester, New Hampshire and Cupertino, California.

Equipment (\$728,000) -- This reserve is for equipment in the Manchester and Cupertino facilities that would not be used after the shutdowns. It consisted of largely of computer equipment but also included amounts for furniture and fixtures and software. All of the equipment provided for in this reserve has been abandoned.

Intangibles (\$1,378,000) -- This asset consisted of Calypso related intangibles first capitalized upon the acquisition of Calypso in fiscal 1996. The amounts written down included net developed technology of \$1,086,000 and assembled workforce of \$292,000. These assets were written off based on management's plan to sell Calypso and its products and technologies.

Other (\$100,000) -- This represents miscellaneous additional costs related to the Manchester Calypso shutdown.

The above assets were not impaired in a period prior to recording the restructuring reserves because their impairment arose specifically from the business decision and plan in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997 to close the Manchester Calypso facility and abandon that technology and the additional decision to consolidate operations of the company and close the Cupertino facility.

62

## Interest and other, net

Total interest and other, net increased from a net expense of \$705,000 in fiscal 1996 to a net expense of \$2.6 million in fiscal 1997 and represented 1% and 2% of total revenues, respectively. The increase in interest and other, net was primarily due to higher interest expense on a higher level of outstanding borrowings from Seagate Technology.

#### Income taxes

64

The Network & Storage Management Group recorded a \$8.8 million benefit from income taxes at an effective rate of 8% for fiscal 1996 compared with a \$10.6 million benefit from income taxes at an effective rate of 24% in fiscal 1997. The effective rate used to record the benefit from income taxes in each fiscal year was less than the statutory rate primarily from increases in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, goodwill amortization, and charges in fiscal 1996 for in-process research and development for certain acquisitions that were not deductible for tax purposes.

## BALANCE SHEET DISCUSSION

The Network & Storage Management Group's total cash was \$4.9 million as of July 3, 1998 and \$2.0 million as of April 2, 1999. The decrease in cash was primarily due to the Network & Storage Management Group's participation in the consolidated cash management program of Seagate Technology and the differences reflect the timing of the transfer of cash to the parent company. The accounts receivable balance was \$16.0 million on July 3, 1998 and \$23.1 million as of April 2, 1999. The increase in accounts receivable was primarily due to increased sales and an increase in days sales outstanding. The loan receivable from Seagate Technology and affiliates was \$0 as of July 3, 1998 and \$42.1 million as of April 2, 1999. The increase in the loan receivable is due to the Network & Storage Management Group's participation in the consolidated cash management program of Seagate Technology and the difference in the loan balance reflects the timing of the transfer of cash to the parent company. The other current assets balance was \$480,000 as of July 3, 1998 and \$3.3 million as of April 2, 1999. This increase was primarily due to prepaid costs associated with the NSMG combination with VERITAS. The goodwill and other intangibles balance for the Network & Storage Management Group was \$41.3 million as of July 3, 1998 and \$31.6 million as of April 2, 1999. The decrease was due to ongoing goodwill and intangible amortization.

The Network & Storage Management Group's loan payable to Seagate Technology and affiliates was \$10.6 million as of July 3, 1998 and \$0 as of April 2, 1999. The decrease in the loan payable was due primarily to the Network & Storage Management Group's participation in the consolidated cash management program of Seagate Technology and the differences in the loan payable reflects the timing of the transfer of cash to the parent company. Accrued employee compensation was \$8.0 million as of July 3, 1998 and \$10.1 million as of April 2, 1999. The increase is primarily due to increases in payroll costs associated with increased headcount. Headcount increased from 959 employees as of July 3, 1998 to 1,060 employees as of April 2, 1999. Accrued expenses were \$7.1 million as of July 3, 1998 and \$9.5 million as of April 2, 1999. The increase is primarily due to accruals for expenses incurred as a result of the NSMG combination with VERITAS. Accrued income taxes were \$1.3 million as of July 3, 1998 and \$18.8 million as of April 2, 1999, respectively. The increase was primarily due to accrued income taxes on increased domestic and foreign earnings and the timing of the settlement of the intercompany tax liability with Seagate Technology, the parent company.

## LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Network & Storage Management Group's total cash was \$4.9 million and \$2.0 million as of July 3, 1998 and April 2, 1999, respectively. The decrease in cash was primarily due to loan repayments to Seagate Technology of \$161.5 million offset by additional borrowings from Seagate Technology of

63

65

\$108.8 million and purchases of equipment, leasehold improvements and intangible assets, partially offset by cash provided by operating activities. The Network & Storage Management Group's cash is maintained in highly liquid operating accounts and primarily consists of bank deposits.

The Network & Storage Management Group's operations were financed by cash flows from operating activities and borrowings from Seagate Technology. Prior to the NSMG combination, such borrowings were available to Seagate Software under a revolving loan agreement between Seagate Software and Seagate Technology. Under the loan agreement, the Network & Storage Management Group was in a net receivable position of \$42.1 million as of April 2, 1999.

During the nine months ended April 2, 1999, the Network & Storage Management Group made investments totaling approximately \$7.7 million for new office facilities, leasehold improvements, computers, furniture and office equipment.

## YEAR 2000 READINESS

This section on the Year 2000 issue is as of April 2, 1999. It has not been updated by Seagate Software, Seagate Technology or VERITAS.

The Year 2000 issue is the result of computer programs being written using two digits rather than four to define the applicable year. Computer programs that have date-sensitive software may recognize a date using "00" as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This could result in a system failure or miscalculation causing disruptions of operations, including, among other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, send invoices, or engage in normal business activities.

The Network & Storage Management Group considers a product to be Year 2000 ready if the product's performance and functionality are unaffected by processing of dates prior to, during and after the year 2000, but only if all products, for example hardware, firmware, and software used with the products properly exchange accurate date data with it.

## The Network & Storage Management Group's products

The Network & Storage Management Group's products are used in numerous operating environments. The Network & Storage Management Group has assessed its products to determine whether or not they are Year 2000 ready. Although the Network & Storage Management Group believes certain of its software products are Year 2000 ready, it has determined that certain of its software products are not and will not be Year 2000 ready. Products that are not Year 2000 ready are not material to the Network & Storage Management Group's business, financial condition or results of operations. The inability of one or more of its products to properly manage and manipulate dates related to the year 2000 could result in a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations, including increased warranty costs, customer satisfaction issues and potential lawsuits. The Network & Storage Management Group is taking measures to inform customers that those products are not and will not be Year 2000 ready. To assist customers in evaluating their Year 2000 issues, the Network & Storage Management Group has developed a list of those products that are Year 2000 ready as stand-alone products.

The Network & Storage Management Group anticipates that substantial litigation may be brought against vendors, including the Network & Storage Management Group, of all software components of systems in which another vendor's component products are unable to properly manage data related to the Year 2000. The Network & Storage Management Group's customer agreements typically contain provisions designed to limit the Network & Storage Management Group's liability for such claims. As a result of existing or future federal, state or local laws or ordinances or unfavorable judicial decisions, it is possible that these measures will not provide the Network & Storage Management 64

regardless of their merit, the Network & Storage Management Group's business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected from factors that include increased warranty costs, customer satisfaction issues and the costs of potential lawsuits.

## The Network & Storage Management Group's systems

The Network & Storage Management Group has also initiated a comprehensive program to address Year 2000 readiness in its internal systems and in those of its customers and suppliers. The Network & Storage Management Group's program has been designed to address its most critical internal systems first and to gather information regarding the Year 2000 compliance of products supplied to the Network & Storage Management Group and into which its products are integrated. The scope of the Network & Storage Management Group's internal Year 2000 readiness project includes information technology, non-information technology and embedded technology for all critical systems, and includes all offices worldwide, critical vendors, suppliers, customers and partners. The Network & Storage Management Group currently expects to be Year 2000 ready before December 31, 1999.

The Network & Storage Management Group is approaching Year 2000 readiness in five stages: inventory, assessment, testing, remediation and contingency planning. Anticipated dates of completion are as follows:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

66

	ANTICIPATED DATE				
	OF COMPLETION				
	AS OF APRIL 2, 1999				
<\$>	<c></c>				
1. Inventory	Complete				
2. Assessment	Complete				
3. Testing	Complete				
4. Remediation	September 30, 1999				
5. Contingency Planning	September 30, 1999				

  |These activities are intended to encompass all major categories of systems in use by the Network & Storage Management Group, including operations, technical support, engineering, sales, finance and human resources. To date, the Network & Storage Management Group has not incurred material costs related to assessment and remediation of Year 2000 readiness. The Network & Storage Management Group is still in the process of conducting its Year 2000 audit. The Network & Storage Management Group currently estimates the costs of internal Year 2000 issues will be less than \$3.0 million. However, if the costs of the future remediation exceed such amount, then the costs required to address the Year 2000 issue could have a material adverse effect on the Network & Storage Management Group's business, financial condition or results of operations.

The Network & Storage Management Group's material third party relationships include relationships with fulfillment houses, banks, payroll services vendors, utilities, distribution partners and key customers. These relationships have been examined, and the Network & Storage Management Group is now assessing the risks relating to these relationships. The Network & Storage Management Group believes that certain of these relationships are of significant importance to its future operations. The Network & Storage Management Group has contacted its significant suppliers and has received assurances of Year 2000 compliance from a number of those contacted. However, most of the Network & Storage Management Group's suppliers are under no contractual obligation to provide such information to the Network & Storage Management Group. The Network & Storage Management Group does not currently have reason to believe that any such third parties have significant internal Year 2000 problems that will not remediated. However, in the event any such third parties were to have an unremediated Year 2000 problem, it could have a material adverse effect on The Network & Storage Management Group's business, financial condition or results of operations.

65

67

## Customer Purchasing Patterns

The Network & Storage Management Group believes that the purchasing patterns of customers and potential customers may be affected by Year 2000 issues as companies expend significant resources to correct or patch their

current software systems for Year 2000 readiness or defer purchases of new systems to avoid encountering additional unforeseen Year 2000 problems. Additional short-term expenditures for remediation of existing Year 2000 problems may result in reduced funds being available to purchase products such as those offered by the Network & Storage Management Group, which could have a material adverse effect on the Network & Storage Management Group's business, operating results or financial condition.

The Network & Storage Management Group believes that a most likely worst case Year 2000 scenario would result in significant disruptions of its business, including the possible loss of power and disruption of transportation system. The Network & Storage Management Group believes that no effective contingency planning for such disruption is possible. The Network & Storage Management Group also believes that additional elements of the most likely worst case Year 2000 scenario include the loss of fulfillment services, banking services, and/or distribution services. Although discussions of contingency planning for these problems has begun, no contingency plan is yet in place. The Network & Storage Management Group currently expects to complete contingency planning by September 30, 1999. The Network & Storage Management Group could experience material adverse effects on its business if it fails to successfully implement a contingency plan. Those material adverse effects could include delays in the delivery or sale of products.

68

# OLD VERITAS QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

66

## FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE SENSITIVITY

We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. We engage in exchange rate hedging from time to time but such activity has been insignificant to date and we do not hold or issue foreign exchange contracts for trading purposes. Our international sales are generated primarily through our international sales subsidiaries. Most international revenue outside the United States and Canada is collectible in foreign currencies. Since much of our international operating expenses are also incurred in local currencies, the impact of exchange rates on net income or loss is relatively less than the impact on revenues. Although our operating and pricing strategies take into account changes in exchange rates over time, our operating results may be significantly affected in the short term by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Our international subsidiaries purchase licenses from the parent company resulting in intercompany receivables and payables. These receivables and payables are carried on each company's books at the historical local currency that existed at the time of the transaction. Such receivables and payables are eliminated for financial statement reporting purposes. Prior to elimination, the amounts carried in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollars at the then current rate or "marked to market." The marked to market process may give rise to currency gains and losses. Such gains or losses are recognized on our statement of operations as a component of other income, net. To date, any such gains or losses have not been material. We do not believe that our total exposure is significant.

# INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio and long-term debt obligations. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. Our portfolio includes money markets funds, commercial paper, market auction preferreds, government agency notes and medium-term notes. The diversity of our portfolio helps us achieve our investment objective. As of March 31, 1999, approximately 91% of our entire portfolio will mature in one year or less and approximately 41% of our investment portfolio matures less than 90 days from the date of purchase.

Long-term debt of \$100.0 million consists of 5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2004. The interest rate on these notes is fixed and the notes provide for semi-annual interest payments of approximately \$2.6 million each May 1 and November 1. The notes are convertible into our common stock at any time prior to the close of business on the maturity date, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, subject to adjustment in certain events.

The following table presents the amounts of our cash equivalents, investments and debt that may be subject to interest rate risk and the average and fixed interest rates as of March 31, 1999 by year of maturity:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	2000 AND		FAIR VALUE
1999	THEREAFTER	TOTAL	TOTAL

	(	DOLLAR	AMOU	JNTS EX	PRESSE	D IN THOU	JSANDS)	
<\$>	<c></c>		<c></c>		<c< td=""><td>:&gt;</td><td><c></c></td><td></td></c<>	:>	<c></c>	
Cash equivalents and short-term								
investments	\$194,	330			\$1	94,330	\$194	,330
Average interest rate	5	.04%				5.04%		5.04%
Long-term investments	\$	499	\$ 4	17,360	\$	47,859	\$ 47	,859
Average interest rate	5	.86%		5.20%		5.21%		5.21%
Long-term debt			\$10	00,000	\$1	00,000	\$187	,791
Fixed interest rate				5.25%		5.25%		5.25%

  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |69

## BUSINESS

67

This section contains forward-looking statements, including but not limited to statements with respect to future events and our plans and objectives.

#### OVERVIEW

VERITAS is the leading independent supplier of enterprise data storage management solutions, providing advanced storage management software for open system environments. Our products provide performance improvement and reliability enhancement features that are critical for many commercial applications. These products enable protection against data loss and file corruption, rapid recovery after disk or system failure, the ability to process large files efficiently and the ability to manage and back up data distributed on large networks of systems without interrupting users. In addition, our products provide an automated fail over between computer systems organized in clusters sharing disk resources. Our highly scalable products can be used independently, and certain products can be combined to provide interoperable client/server storage management solutions. Some of our products offer centralized administration with a high degree of automation, enabling customers to manage complex, distributed environments cost-effectively by increasing system administrator productivity and system availability. We also provide a comprehensive range of services to assist customers in planning and implementing storage management solutions.

We market our products and associated services to original equipment manufacturers and end-user customers through a combination of direct sales and indirect sales channels such as resellers, value-added resellers, hardware distributors, application software vendors and systems integrators. Our original equipment manufacturer customers include Compaq, Dell, Hewlett-Packard, Sun Microsystems, Microsoft, Sequent Computer Systems and EMC Corporation. Our end-user customers include AT&T, Bank of America, BMW, Boeing, British Telecommunications, Daimler-Chrysler Corporation, Lucent Technologies, Oracle Corporation and Motorola.

The widespread deployment of mission-critical client-server applications, coupled with the explosion of corporate data, is quickly exceeding the ability of current computing architectures to efficiently handle availability, scalability and manageability issues. A new storage-centric architecture, called storage area networking, or SAN, is emerging to address these issues. A variety of other key industry vendors in the platform, storage, communications, switch and applications areas have recognized this emerging trend. In a storage area network computing environment, large centralized data stores, accessible by all attached host computers across a high speed, "storage area" network, extend the "any to any" connectivity of local area network architectures to storage sources. Any data on the network, in any location, is accessible, through multiple paths, to any nodes, applications and users on the network.

The ubiquitous data access provided by the storage area network "any to any" connectivity can offer significant improvements in availability, scalability and manageability over traditional "point to point" storage architectures. The benefits of storage area networking are as follows:

- Lower cost of availability. In storage area networking architecture, all nodes share physical access to all storage. This allows a single node to function as a high availability "failover" server to a much larger number of servers than is possible in traditional networks. When the switch fabric is redundant, which it is in many cases, a storage area network provides a significantly improved environment for clustering that can extend to tens of nodes. Clustering significantly lowers the hardware costs associated with high availability, allowing customers to use high availability for many applications not cost-justifiable in current two to four node cluster configurations. This will lead to significant improvement in the availability of an enterprise's data and applications.
- Easy, modular scalability of server and storage resources. The fibre channel architecture of a storage area network supports ubiquitous access

68

70

the network, even while new servers, disk arrays and tape subsystems are added. Customers can add server and storage resources on-line without disrupting data access.

- Improved administrative productivity through centralized storage management. A centralized pool of storage can be managed much more efficiently from a single management interface. Common administrative tasks such as volume and file system management, backup and restore, hierarchical storage management, replication and off-site data vaulting all can be centrally managed. This lowers the costs of storage management on a per unit basis, and significantly increases the span of control of existing administrators. The ability to leverage the channel speeds offered by a storage area network can dramatically shorten backup and restore windows compared with local area network-based backup and restore.
- High performance data access. There is a much wider access to data at channel speeds rather than SCSI speeds. This allows more nodes to gain at least an order of magnitude faster access to more storage resources. Superior high performance is of particular interest in application environments that depend on bulk data transfer, such as imaging and decision support.

## OLD VERITAS PRODUCTS

Old VERITAS developed and we are integrating a family of innovative solutions for end-to-end management of on-line, near-line and off-line resources for the storage and management of enterprise-wide data. Our product line encompasses products for:

- on-line file and disk management;
- off-line backup and hierarchical storage management;
- centralized and automated data management in heterogeneous computing environments; and
- components that include availability enhancing features such as multiserver failover to achieve fault tolerance and remote site replication to accomplish rapid recovery in the event of a site disaster.

We have also developed application-specific customized packages that provide storage management for major application environments such as the Sun Microsystems NFS, Oracle and SAP, as well as for web servers.

#### Storage Foundation Products

VERITAS File System. This product enables fast system recovery, generally within seconds, from operating system failure or disruption. It also allows on-line performance tuning, file system defragmentation, file system reconfiguration and file system back-up to be conducted without interrupting users' access to files. Through the application of advanced journaling technology, the VERITAS File System is designed to ensure that metadata, or information describing the location, size and attributes of files, is maintained in a consistent and correct state in the event of system failure or disruption. In addition, the VERITAS File System incorporates advanced extent-based file space allocation algorithms that can accelerate file access rates, thereby providing enhanced system performance. Extent-based algorithms are particularly critical in applications that require access to large, clustered or sequentially accessed files.

VERITAS Volume Manager. This product provides protection against data loss due to disk failure, permits the acceleration of system performance by allowing files to be spread across multiple disks and allows the system administrator to reconfigure data locations without interrupting users. The technology incorporated into the VERITAS Volume Manager provides a virtual software layer on top of the

69

71

underlying physical disks connected to the system. Among the features that the VERITAS Volume Manager provides are:

- spanning, which allows segments of user data to span multiple physical disks and thereby overcome physical disk size limitations;

- mirroring, which allows for duplication of data on separate disks for uninterrupted operations after disk failure;
- striping or interleaving data storage across multiple disks to increase performance by providing multiple input/output data access points; and
- Raid-5, or striping with the addition of redundant data for uninterrupted operations after disk failure.

VERITAS Accelerator for NFS. This product is an extension to the VERITAS File System and enhances performance of the Sun Microsystems NFS. The Accelerator takes information that would have been logged in the VERITAS File System intent logs and uses a single log on a separate device. Multiple file system logs can be consolidated and accessed sequentially on one or many of these accelerator volumes, removing the head movement latency costs associated with writing file system intent logs.

VERITAS SmartSync. This product was jointly developed with Oracle and is licensed as a product option of the VERITAS Volume Manager. This product allows Oracle redo logs to drive resynchronization of VERITAS Volume Manager mirrors to cut down mirror resynchronization time to less than a minute as opposed to hours. Resynchronization takes as long as the redo log replay. This functionality works with Oracle 7.3.2 and later versions.

VERITAS Quick I/O Database Accelerator. This product allows databases to run on a VERITAS file system at the same speed as on a raw device. The database views the file system as a raw device and the system administrator sees it as a file system. Therefore, an administrator can get the speed of a raw device with the manageability of a file system.

VERITAS Clustered Volume Manager. Added as an extension to VERITAS Volume Manager for parallel applications such as the Oracle Parallel Server, the VERITAS Clustered Volume Manager offers the same functionality as the VERITAS Volume Manager in a cluster of systems that can all read and update the same data concurrently. The VERITAS Clustered Volume Manager ensures atomic, or all or none, configuration updates and error event notification to all participating servers. This provides consistent data and configuration updates, even in the event of a system failure. For example, in the event of an Oracle Parallel Server mirrored disk failure, all participating servers must automatically "see" the failure. Without the VERITAS Clustered Volume Manager, there is a chance that the error would only be seen by one server, resulting in the Oracle Parallel Server delivering incorrect data.

VERITAS Clustered File System. This product extends VERITAS base File System, and increases disk performance by allowing shared access to file systems residing on a pool of shared disk arrays.

VERITAS Editions. VERITAS Editions, formerly referred to as VERITAS ServerSuite, are integrated suites of products, providing customers with complete data storage management and solutions optimized for specific server environments including the Sun Microsystems NFS, Web servers and database servers. VERITAS Editions include VERITAS Database Edition for Oracle, VERITAS Edition for SAP, VERITAS Edition for NFS and VERITAS Edition for Web. VERITAS Editions provides increased performance and availability on commodity servers.

70

## 72

## Storage Application Products

VERITAS NetBackup. This product reduces the workload for systems administrators of heterogeneous platforms by providing easily configured centralized backup scheduling, user-directed backups and restores, automated distribution and installation of client software over the network, and easy configuration of clients. NetBackup has a database extension that provides comprehensive on-line and hot database backup for Oracle, Sybase and Informix databases that can be acquired and deployed by customers on an as-needed basis.

VERITAS Global Data Manager. This product provides centralized management of multiple and/or distributed NetBackup and Backup Exec storage domains. This facilitates consistent policy management and monitoring of those domains.

VERITAS HSM. This product automatically moves data between file systems and storage devices supporting most disk, tape, optical and robotics devices. VERITAS HSM is a server-based, policy-driven migration tool that works in conjunction with VERITAS NetBackup. VERITAS HSM has an enterprise extension that provides a simple, cost-effective means to transparently migrate, purge and cache files between file systems on various platforms.

VERITAS Media Librarian. This product operates and manages all types of removable media volumes, devices and repositories. It provides a secure way to

share robotic libraries and media among multiple simultaneous applications. VERITAS Media Librarian provides a simple interface to access and monitor removable media in a heterogeneous network of servers and clients that eliminates the need to deal with media types, device drivers and location information. VERITAS Media Librarian provides protection against data loss, enhances data accessibility and availability and reduces storage management costs, in a scalable and cost-effective manner.

VERITAS Volume Optimizer. This product, an add-on product for VERITAS Storage Manager, provides proactive, system-wide configuration analysis and recommends changes to storage layouts for optimizing system performance and reliability. This product can detect performance issues and make recommendations enabling reconfiguration to alleviate such problems.

VERITAS Storage LookOut. This product, a storage application product, identifies and notifies administrators of potential hardware failures before they can cause outages or disrupt operations. Storage LookOut has been designed and tested to deliver highly accurate fault detection and failure prediction. With VERITAS Storage LookOut, administrators proactively manage data availability. In addition, VERITAS Storage LookOut is a much more cost-effective solution than the traditional fault tolerant hardware options.

## High Availability and Clustering Products

VERITAS Storage Replicator for Volume Manager. This product allows synchronous or asynchronous protocols, which support replicated volumes across multiple servers, with all changes reflected and available for use at all participating sites. It allows administrators to tailor replication configurations to meet the requirements of specific sites and data types. VERITAS Storage Replicator for Volume Manager can replicate any data type, providing the flexibility to mirror entire servers or specific application data. Through replication, application data can be sent from one primary site to multiple secondary sites. Or, for more demanding disaster recovery environments data can be replicated from many primary sites to a single secondary location where data could then be warehoused. Although VERITAS Storage Replicator for Volume Manager is targeted primarily for use in disaster recovery configurations, it can also be used to address a wide range of data distribution needs. Those include off-site backups, data vaulting, and data migration.

VERITAS Storage Replicator for File Systems. This product is a robust, flexible, general purpose, data replication tool designed for use in enterprise environments. Through a transport layer independent

71

73

replication mechanism, designated file systems can be replicated to multiple locations, local or remote. Storage Replicator manages file systems in parallel, either locally across several file systems, remotely using standard NFS-mounted file systems, or both. Based on a read-one-write-all replication protocol, Storage Replicator ensures that writes to a replicated file system from any participating server are reliably replicated to all servers. Local concurrency control is managed by the underlying file system. Storage Replicator also tracks the status of participating servers for fault management purposes. Replication is continuous and all updates are immediately reflected and available for use in active file systems across all servers.

VERITAS FirstWatch. This product adds high availability capabilities to open system servers, making it possible to provide highly reliable network services to users of client/server applications, including Sun Microsystems' NFSfile service and databases. VERITAS FirstWatch automates the failover of services to designated backup systems when systems and subsystems fail or become unavailable.

VERITAS Cluster Server. This product, a high availability and clustering product, is a comprehensive storage area networking-ready application availability management solution, designed to minimize planned and unplanned downtime. It is equally applicable in simple shared disk or storage area networking configurations of up to 32 nodes, and compatible with single node, parallel and distributed applications. VERITAS Cluster Server supports cascading and multi-directional application failover. Also, application services can be manually migrated to alternate nodes for maintenance purposes. VERITAS Cluster Server provides continuous availability for the critical application environments required to maintain smooth business operations.

## New Products

We announced a new product that is expected to become available in mid 1999. Together with VERITAS Storage LookOut and VERITAS Cluster Server, this product is part of an integrated suite which utilizes a centralized and automated management interface to bring automated event, performance, configuration and capacity management solutions to enterprise storage VERITAS Storage Planner. This product, a storage application product, another add-on product for VERITAS Storage Manager, is a predictive storage resource analysis tool, which assists system administrators with capacity planning for future storage needs. The product analyzes data gathered by VERITAS Storage Manager to determine how quickly storage objects are reaching capacity, and makes recommendations when additional storage objects are needed.

Our new products may not be released on the anticipated schedule. It is possible that they may not achieve market acceptance or adequately address the changing needs of the marketplace on a timely basis, despite the dedication of significant engineering resources to the development of the products. Any such failure could cause us to receive little or no return on our investment of significant resources which could adversely affect our business.

## NSMG PRODUCTS

As a result of the NSMG combination, we now also offer a breadth of network and storage management products, featuring:

VERITAS Backup Exec Desktop Editions. This product provides complete plug-and-play backup and restore functions for desktop users running Microsoft Windows NT Workstation, Windows 98, Windows 95, Windows 3.x and DOS.

VERITAS Backup Exec Server and Enterprise Editions. This product provides a backup and restore solution for server and network users running Novell NetWare, Microsoft Windows NT LANs and workstations.

72

## 74

VERITAS Backup Exec Storage Migrator. This product facilitates the proactive management of inactive data by migrating it from on-line storage such as disk drives, to near-line devices such as optical drives, or to archival storage resources such as tape devices, over user-defined periods of time through a multi-tier hierarchical storage management application delivering enterprise functionality to client/server environments.

VERITAS Client Exec. This product protects critical client data on workstations and laptops. Users receive automatic, regular and transparent protection of their critical data, and administrators have the flexibility to control which users are protected, what type of data is protected and when the protection should occur.

VERITAS Desktop Management Suite. This product provides a fully integrated suite of software solutions including network inventory, software distribution, remote control, network backup and software metering.

VERITAS ExecView. This product provides an integrated cross-platform storage management console for enterprise networks using Microsoft Windows NT and Novell NetWare. Users can manage both Backup Exec for NetWare and Backup Exec for Windows NT servers from a single console.

VERITAS Manage Exec. This product centralizes enterprise administration by providing information technology professionals with a unique view of servers worldwide and real-time problem analysis through a proactive server health monitoring, alerting and reporting solution.

VERITAS NerveCenter. This product provides an enterprise-event automation solution for Windows NT and UNIX environments.

VERITAS WinINSTALL. This product provides a script-free, automated software distribution tool for 16- and 32-bit applications.

VERITAS also has relationships with Microsoft that include a license that allows Microsoft to bundle NSMG products with selected Microsoft products. Additionally, NSMG developed the backup utility for Microsoft Windows 98 and is developing the system disaster recovery and backup utilities for Windows NT 5.0. NSMG has also licensed to Microsoft the hierarchical storage management technology to be included in Windows NT Server 5.0.

## TELEBACKUP PRODUCTS

As a result of the TeleBackup combination, we now also market software technology that enables the automated backup and recovery of electronic information created and stored on networked, remote and mobile personal computer-based computer systems. The TSInfoPRO technology that we acquired was designed to provide automated online backup, storage and disaster recovery of information on mobile personal computers such as laptops or notebooks, and remote units, such as remote offices and telecommuting work sites, via wide area network, local area network or dial-up communications infrastructure. We market these products through distribution partners, who re-brand the product under their own trade names, as well as through value-added resellers.

TSInfoPRO EDV. This product is licensed to electronic data vaulting service providers such as telephone and cable companies and Internet service providers, who, on an out-sourced service basis, provide remote backup and recovery services to personal computer users. The service provider establishes a safe, offsite storage vault location at which the backup server farm and archived data are stored and managed. Remote and mobile personal computer users subscribe to a service offering and can back up their computer systems to that service provider over their transmission medium of choice, such as telephone lines or the Internet, through the TSInfoPro EDV technology.

TSInfoPRO Corporate. This product was introduced in early 1998 and is targeted for implementation on a wide range of server repository engines, including SunSolaris, Windows NT and SCO Unix,

75

within the data center of enterprise customers. The Corporate product can be used to back up and recover personal computer units on the organization's local area network or wide area network, as well as remote and mobile users connecting by dial-up communications infrastructure. These remote and mobile units can be supported over the Internet or the organization's own intranet.

73

TSInfoPRO also includes security features such as authentication codes for session validation, user personal identification numbers for file or system restoration, a data scrambling process that acts in a similar capacity to a DES or RSA encryption technique, and the storage of files in a compressed, unreadable format.

## SERVICES

Our customer service and support organization provides customers with maintenance, technical support, consulting and training services. We believe that providing a high level of customer service and technical support is critical to customer satisfaction and our success. Most of our customers currently have support agreements with us which typically provide for fixed fee, renewable annual maintenance consisting of technical and emergency support as well as minor product upgrades free of charge. Our service group provides the following services:

## Maintenance and technical support

We offer seven day-a-week, 24-hour telephone support as well as electronic mail and fax customer support. Additional customer support is provided by some of our value-added resellers, system integrators and original equipment manufacturers. Initial product license fees do not cover maintenance.

## Consulting

We believe that most customers need assistance before product selection and not just for the implementation of purchased products. Therefore, we offer strategy and analysis consulting services for planning the management and control of client/server computing in their specific environment. In addition, we offer services to assist customers with product implementation. As part of our broad range of services, we believe we offer particular expertise in analyzing network security threats and security policy integrity.

### Training

We have a worldwide customer education and training organization which offers training that enables the customer to better utilize our products, reduces the need for technical support and provides the customer with a means to optimize their personnel investment by allowing their technical staff access to high quality, comprehensive instruction. The focus of this organization is aligned with our strategy to offer end-to-end storage management solutions by providing instruction from highly-experienced training professionals either at the customer's location or at one of our multi-platform classrooms.

## Porting

We port, or adapt, new and existing storage management products to customer operating systems at the request of a customer. This may involve the development of certain new product versions or features or extensions of existing products to be ported to and embedded in the customer's operating system.

## VERITAS MARKETING, SALES AND DISTRIBUTION

We market our products and associated services through original equipment manufacturers and a combination of other distribution channels such as direct

74

incorporate the products into their operating systems on a bundled basis or license them to third parties as an optional product. In most cases, we receive a user license fee for each copy sublicensed by the original equipment manufacturer to third parties. VERITAS provides its software products to customers under non-exclusive license agreements, including shrink-wrap licenses for certain products. As is customary in the software industry, in order to protect its intellectual property rights, VERITAS does not sell or transfer title to its software products to customers. VERITAS enters into both object-code only and source-code licenses of its products.

# Agreement with Microsoft

76

In August 1996, Old VERITAS entered into a development and license agreement with Microsoft under which Old VERITAS agreed to develop a version of our Volume Manager product, which Microsoft has called Logical Disk Manager, to be ported to and embedded in version 5.0 of Microsoft's Windows NT operating system. We believe that this will establish an installed customer base on the Windows NT platform to which we can offer our products. We will not receive royalties with respect to sales by Microsoft of the embedded product. Our products may not become available for use in, and Microsoft is not required to use our products in, future versions of Windows NT. Therefore it is possible that we will not realize any expected benefits from the inclusion of this embedded product in future versions of Windows NT.

## Agreement with Sun Microsystems

In January 1997, Old VERITAS entered into a development, license and distribution agreement with Sun Microsystems which provided a new distribution channel for our products. Old VERITAS has developed a specialized, integrated version of VERITAS Volume Manager that is bundled with the Solaris operating system. The agreement also provides for the license of full versions of certain VERITAS products and add-on modules to Sun Microsystems for bundling with certain Sun Microsystems products. In connection with the merger with OpenVision, Old VERITAS assumed an OpenVision development, license and distribution agreement with Sun Microsystems, under which Sun Microsystems was granted a limited exclusive license with respect to VERITAS NetBackup and VERITAS HSM and to certain enhancements to and extensions of those products. In August 1998, this development, license and distribution agreement was canceled and replaced with an amendment to our development, license and distribution agreement that granted a non-exclusive, except for several named resellers for which Sun Microsystems retained exclusive distribution rights, license to distribute and sub-license NetBackup, VERITAS HSM and all of the VERITAS Editions. We may not be able to deliver our products to Sun Microsystems in a timely manner despite the dedication of significant resources to the development of the products. Also, simultaneous sales efforts by us and Sun Microsystems with respect to our products could create certain channel conflicts.

## Agreement with Hewlett-Packard

In November 1997, Old VERITAS entered into a marketing, engineering and distribution agreement with Hewlett-Packard under which Hewlett-Packard will offer certain components of the lite versions, or a functional subset of the VERITAS Volume Manager, VERITAS Clustered Volume Manager, VERITAS NetBackup and VERITAS File System with the HP-UX operating system. We will not receive royalties with respect to the lite version of the VERITAS File System embedded in the HP-UX operating system. Hewlett-Packard will become our reseller with respect to certain of our products, including full feature versions of the above named products, and we will offer full feature products and value-added products to the HP-UX installed customer base. We may not be able to deliver our products to Hewlett-Packard in a timely manner. Also, it is possible that our deliverables and Hewlett-Packard deliverables under the agreement may not be synchronized in a timely and successful manner and that Hewlett-Packard may not be an effective reseller of our products. The simultaneous

75

# 77

sales efforts by us and Hewlett-Packard with respect to our products could create certain channel conflicts.

## Sales, Marketing and Support Organization

During 1998, Old VERITAS continued to build our sales, marketing and customer support organization with a focus on delivery of our products to resellers, integrators and end users. As of December 31, 1998, Old VERITAS' U.S.

sales, marketing and consulting force consisted of 360 employees, including 71 pre-sales engineers that provide technical sales assistance. We have sales subsidiaries in Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, France, Sweden, the Netherlands and Australia. As of December 31, 1998, Old VERITAS' international sales force consisted of 112 persons located in Europe and North America and 13 persons located in Asia and the Pacific Rim. Old VERITAS also had approximately 140 resellers as of December 31, 1998 located in North America, Europe, Asia Pacific, South America and the Middle East.

We expect to increase the number of our sales, marketing and customer support employees in the future to expand our direct sales efforts to resellers and end users. We may not have the necessary resources to accomplish this. It is also possible that we will not be able to establish and expand these new distribution channels successfully or complete the integration of our sales and marketing efforts successfully. We expect to hire additional sales employees in all regions in 1999. Competition for qualified sales, technical and other personnel is intense, and we may not be able to attract, assimilate or retain additional highly qualified employees in the future. We also may not be able to manage our growth effectively.

## NSMG SALES AND MARKETING

Prior to the NSMG combination, the NSMG business utilized direct sales forces and indirect sales channels, such as distributors and original equipment manufacturers, for sales of its products to end users.

Revenue from Ingram Micro Inc. accounted for 17% of the NSMG business total revenues in fiscal 1996, 22% in fiscal 1997, 27% in fiscal 1998 and 28% in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. Revenue from Tech Data, Inc. accounted for 12% of total revenues in fiscal 1998. Indirect revenues, which include sales to distributors and original equipment manufacturers, were 79% of total revenues during fiscal 1996, 88% during fiscal 1997, 89% during fiscal 1998 and 92% during the nine months ended April 2, 1999. Revenues outside of the Americas were 10% during fiscal 1996, 28% during fiscal 1997, 34% during fiscal 1998, and 37% during the nine months ended April 2, 1999.

The NSMG business generated export revenues from the United States of approximately \$32.5 million during fiscal 1996, \$40.7 million during fiscal 1997, \$57.8 million during fiscal 1998, and \$50.6 million during the nine months ended April 2, 1999.

## COMPETITION

The markets in which we compete are intensely competitive and rapidly changing. Our principal competition in the storage foundation products area consists of internal development groups of current and prospective original equipment manufacturer customers, which have the resources and capability to develop their own storage management solutions. Among the original equipment manufacturers which have competing storage management products are:

- Sun Microsystems for its Solaris system;
- Compaq Computer for its UNIX system;
- IBM for its AIX system; and
- Microsoft for Windows NT.

76

# 78

We also encounter competition from other third party software vendors and hardware companies offering products that incorporate certain of the features provided by our products, and from disk controller and disk subsystem manufacturers which have included or may include similar features.

Our primary competitors in the storage application products area include:

- the Cheyenne division of Computer Associates, for its ARCserve product;
- EMC, for its Enterprise Data Manager product;
- IBM, for its ADSTAR Distributed Storage Manager product;
- Sterling Software, for its Alexandria Network Librarian product;
- StorageTek, for its REELbackup product;
- Hewlett-Packard, for its Omniback product; and
- Legato Systems, for its BudTool, NetWorker and GEMS products.

Our main competitors in the high availability and clustering product area include Legato Systems, for its FullTime HA Plus and FullTime Clusters, Sun Microsystems, for its Sun Cluster product, and Hewlett-Packard, for its HP-ServiceGuard product.

Our competitors in the areas of remote backup technologies and electronic data vaulting services include Connected Corp. in Framingham, Massachusetts, Atrieva in Seattle, Washington, STAC Inc. in San Diego, California, and Core Data in Phoenix, Arizona. These competitors are Windows NT-centric and differ in the degree of system backup and recovery provided to users, with certain companies offering data file set backup and recovery capability only.

Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, sales, marketing and other resources than we do, as well as greater name recognition and a larger installed customer base. We expect that the market for storage management software, which historically has been large and fragmented, will become more consolidated with larger companies being better positioned to compete in such an environment in the long term. As the storage management software market develops, a number of companies with greater resources than us could attempt to increase their presence in this market by acquiring or forming strategic alliances with our competitors or business partners.

Our success will depend significantly on our ability to adapt to these competing forces, to develop more advanced products more rapidly and less expensively than our competitors, and to educate potential customers as to the benefits of licensing our products rather than developing their own products. Our future and existing competitors could introduce products with superior features, scalability and functionality at lower prices than our products and could also bundle existing or new products with other more established products in order to compete with us. In addition, because there are relatively low barriers to entry for the software market, we expect additional competition from other established and emerging companies. Increased competition is likely to result in price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors, and the failure to do so would harm our business.

## RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Our core storage management and high availability products primarily operate with certain versions of the UNIX operating system as well as Windows NT, offering many features that are critical for commercial applications. Our development efforts have been directed towards developing new products for the UNIX operating system, developing new features and functionality for existing products, integrating products in the existing product line and porting new and existing products to new operating systems such as Windows NT.

77

# 79

Currently, our major research and development initiatives include:

- Additional integration of the full family of storage management products, including further integration of VERITAS Volume Manager, VERITAS File System and NetBackup;
- Development of new intelligent-level storage products;
- Porting of UNIX products to Windows NT; and
- Development of storage area network products.

Each of these initiatives involves technical and competitive challenges and we may not be able to successfully overcome these challenges.

## Development Work under Microsoft and Sun Microsystems Agreements

Our agreement with Microsoft provides for the development by us of a version of our Volume Manager product, which Microsoft has called Logical Disk Manager, to be ported to and embedded in version 5.0 of Windows NT. The agreement also requires us to develop a disk management graphical user interface designed specifically for Windows NT. Microsoft is providing funding for a significant portion of the development expenses for this product payable in quarterly increments. In order to perform under the agreement, we have hired additional personnel with expertise in the Windows NT operating system environment and are devoting substantial capital investment and resources to successfully complete this project.

Our agreements with Sun Microsystems and Hewlett-Packard also impose development obligations on us. We are required to commit significant staffing to our projects with these original equipment manufacturers. We may not have the resources necessary to perform our obligations under these agreements and our development efforts may not be as successful as planned.

# Size and Location of Research and Development Group

As of July 15, 1999, our research and development staff consisted of 664 employees located at our Mountain View, California headquarters and at our facilities in North America. In addition, our subsidiary in Pune, India employed a research and development staff of approximately 141 people.

## Research and Development Expenditures

Old VERITAS had research and development expenses of \$13.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 1999, \$40.2 million in 1998, \$25.2 million in 1997 and \$18.5 million in 1996. These amounts exclude \$0.6 million in 1998 and \$2.2 million in 1996 for in-process research and development charges in connection with acquisitions. We believe that technical leadership is essential to our success and expect to continue to commit substantial resources to research and development. Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to enhance existing products, respond to changing customer requirements and develop and introduce in a timely manner new products that keep pace with technological developments in undisclosed new products, which may or may not be successful. These research and development efforts may not be successfully completed and therefore, future products may not be available on a timely basis or achieve market acceptance.

## Need to Hire Research and Development Personnel

We must hire additional research and development personnel for timely completion of new products, including the adaptation of our products to Windows NT and performance of obligations to key original equipment manufacturer partners. The market for these personnel is very competitive and we cannot assure you that we can hire them on a timely basis. We often consider acquiring and purchasing technology to achieve certain of our objectives. We may not be able to accomplish this successfully.

78

#### 80

#### Effect of Technological Advances

From time to time, we or our competitors may announce new products, capabilities or technologies that have the potential to replace or shorten the life cycles of our existing products. Announcements of currently planned or other new products could cause customers to defer purchasing our existing products. Old VERITAS had from time to time in the past experienced delays of up to several months due to the complex nature of software developed by us and other software developers for whose systems or applications we offer products. We could experience delays in connection with our current or future product development activities. Any such delays could have a material adverse effect on our business.

#### PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

Measures We Take to Protect Our Intellectual Property

We regard certain features of our internal operations, software and documentation as proprietary and rely on contract, copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and other measures to protect our proprietary information. Other than the patents acquired in the NSMG and TeleBackup combination as described below, we currently hold no patents applicable to our current business, although we have filed several applications for patents, and existing copyright and trade secret laws afford only limited protection.

As part of our confidentiality procedures, we generally enter into non-disclosure agreements with our employees, distributors and corporate partners, and license agreements with respect to our software, documentation and other proprietary information. These licenses are generally non-transferable and have a perpetual term.

#### Infringement Risks

We occasionally make source code available for certain of our products. The provision of source code may increase the likelihood of misappropriation or other misuse of our intellectual property. We also license some of our products pursuant to shrink wrap license agreements that are not signed by licensees and therefore may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. Thus, protection of our proprietary rights may not be adequate. Our competitors also could develop technology similar to our independently.

## Litigation Risks

We are not aware that our products, trademarks or other proprietary rights infringe the proprietary rights of third parties. However, from time to time, we receive notices from third parties asserting that we have infringed their patents or other intellectual property rights. We may find it necessary or desirable in the future to obtain licenses from third parties relating to one or more of our products or relating to current or future technologies. Third parties could assert infringement claims against us in the future with respect to current or future products. Any assertion could require us to enter into royalty arrangements or result in costly litigation. As the number of software products in the industry increases and the functionality of these products further overlap, we believe that software developers may become increasingly subject to infringement claims. Any claims, with or without merit, can be time consuming and expensive to defend.

Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products or technology without authorization, or to develop similar technology independently. Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult and, although we are unable to determine the extent to which piracy of our software products exists, software piracy can be expected to be a persistent problem.

79

# 81

## Trademarks

VERITAS, the VERITAS logo and FirstWatch are registered trademarks of VERITAS. VERITAS Volume Manager, VERITAS File System, VERITAS NetBackup, VERITAS HSM, VERITAS Clustered File System, VERITAS Clustered Volume Manager, VERITAS Cluster Server, VERITAS Media Librarian, VERITAS Storage Replicator for Volume Manager, VERITAS Storage Replicator for File Systems, VERITAS Volume Optimizer, VERITAS Storage Planner and VERITAS Storage LookOut are trademarks of VERITAS.

Nerve Center, Ashwin and Backup Exec are registered trademarks of VERITAS. Client Exec, Exec View, Manage Exec and WinINSTALL are trademarks of VERITAS.

TSInfoPRO is a registered trademark of VERITAS. TeleBackup, TSInfoPRO EDV, TSInfoPRO Corporate and TSInfoPRO NT Enterprise are trademarks of VERITAS.

### NSMG PATENTS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

In connection with the NSMG combination, VERITAS acquired three United States patents and other patent applications. Any patents obtained may not provide substantial protection or be of commercial benefit to VERITAS. It is also possible that their validity will be challenged.

In connection with its acquisition of TeleBackup, VERITAS acquired rights in one patent application related to TSInfoPRO technology.

#### EMPLOYEES

As of July 15, 1999, we had 2,379 full-time employees, including 805 in research and development, 1,334 in sales, marketing, consulting and customer support and 240 in finance and administrative services. We have not entered into any collective bargaining agreement with our employees, and believe that our relations with our employees are good. We believe that our future success will depend in part upon the continued service of our key employees and on our continued ability to hire and retain qualified personnel. We may not be able to retain our key employees and may not be successful in attracting and retaining sufficient numbers of qualified personnel to conduct our business in the future.

## FACILITIES

Our executive offices are located in Mountain View, California. Our principal facilities are located in California and Florida. Major portions of our facilities are occupied under leases that expire at various

80

# 82

times through 2012. The table below summarizes the square footage of premises leased by us as of July 15, 1999, excluding approximately 34 executive suites.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

# LOCATION

APPROXIMATE SQUARE FOOTAGE

North America       260,401         California       13,437         Florida       112,397         Georgia       11,364         Illinois       10,027         Maryland       4,685         Massachusetts       39,020         Minnesota       62,420         New Jersey       8,397         New York       4,560         North Carolina       8,836         Virginia       12,441         Washington       20,502         Canada       5,870         Total North America       574,357         Europe       8,264         Germany       31,619         Total Europe       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan       9,462         Australia       4,500         Malaysia       1,760         Total Asia       4,500	<\$>	<c></c>
Colorado.       13,437         Florida.       112,397         Georgia.       11,364         Illinois.       10,027         Maryland.       4,685         Massachusetts.       39,020         Minnesota.       62,420         New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       8,836         Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         —          Total North America.       574,357         Europe       8,264         Germany.       31,619         —          Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	North America	
Florida.       112,397         Georgia.       11,364         Illinois.       10,027         Maryland.       4,685         Massachusetts.       39,020         Minnesota.       62,420         New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       8,836         Virginia.       12,441         Washington       20,502         Canada.       5,870         —       -         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         —       -         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760		
Georgia.       11,364         Illinois.       10,027         Maryland.       4,685         Massachusetts.       39,020         Minnesota.       62,420         New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         Fance.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760		- / -
Illinois.       10,027         Maryland.       4,685         Massachusetts.       39,020         Minnesota.       62,420         New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         Fance.       8,264         Germany.       31,619          104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	Florida	,
Maryland	Georgia	11,364
Massachusetts.       39,020         Minnesota.       62,420         New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       8,836         Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	Illinois	10,027
Minnesota.       62,420         New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       8,836         Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	Maryland	4,685
New Jersey.       8,397         New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       8,836         Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	Massachusetts	39,020
New York.       4,560         North Carolina.       8,836         Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870	Minnesota	62,420
North Carolina.         8,836           Virginia.         12,441           Washington.         20,502           Canada.         5,870           Total North America.         574,357           Europe         65,000           France.         8,264           Germany.         31,619           Total Europe.         104,883           Asia         33,229           Japan.         9,462           Australia.         4,500           Malaysia.         1,760	New Jersey	8,397
Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	New York	4,560
Virginia.       12,441         Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	North Carolina	8,836
Washington.       20,502         Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619          104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760		,
Canada.       5,870         Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       8,264         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760		
Total North America.       574,357         Europe       65,000         France.       65,000         Germany.       31,619         Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760		,
Europe England	ounduit	
England	Total North America	574 <b>,</b> 357
France	Europe	
Germany	England	65,000
Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760	France	8,264
Total Europe.       104,883         Asia       33,229         Japan.       9,462         Australia.       4,500         Malaysia.       1,760		31,619
Asia India	*	
Asia India	Total Europe	104.883
India		201,000
Japan		33.229
Australia		,
Malaysia	*	,
Total Asia 48.951	mataysta	1,700
	Wetel Jeic	40.051
,		,
Total		/20,191

California facilities exclude approximately 44,361 square feet of space subleased to others. Illinois and Florida facilities exclude approximately 17,135 and 5,000 square feet, respectively, of unoccupied space. Facilities in England exclude approximately 8,365 square feet of space subleased to others.

We recently entered into a synthetic lease arrangement for the development of a 425,000 square foot campus facility in Mountain View.

## LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings. We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business.

81

83

## MANAGEMENT

## EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The following table shows the name, age and position of each of our executive officers and directors as of June 30, 1999.

<table></table>
<caption></caption>

CAPIION/		
NAME	AGE	POSITION
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Mark Leslie*	53	Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Terence R. Cunningham		President and Chief Operating Officer, Director (until August 30, 1999)
Geoffrey W. Squire*	52	Executive Vice-President and Vice-Chairman of the Board
Fred van den Bosch*	52	Executive Vice President of Engineering, Director
Peter J. Levine*		Senior Vice President, Strategic Operations
Kenneth Lonchar*		Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Paul A. Sallaberry*		Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales
Jay A. Jones*		Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer and Secretary
Michael Colemere Michael Wentz David Hallmen Steven Brooks*		Vice President, Product Marketing Vice President, Technical Services Vice President, Merger Integration Director

William H. Janeway*	56	Director
Gregory B. Kerfoot	39	Director
Stephen J. Luczo	42	Director
Joseph D. Rizzi*	57	Director

  |  |-----

\* Indicates that this person also holds the stated position or positions in VERITAS Operating Corporation. All other individuals are executive officers and directors of VERITAS Software Corporation, but not of VERITAS Operating Corporation.

Directors hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until their successors have been elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. Executive officers will be chosen by and will serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Mr. Leslie is currently our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. Mr. Leslie has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of VERITAS or its predecessors since 1990, and as a director since 1988. Prior to 1990, he was the principal and owner of Leslie Consulting, a management consulting firm and President and Chief Executive Officer of Rugged Digital Systems, Inc., a computer manufacturer. Mr. Leslie is also Chairman of the Board of Versant Object Technology Corporation, an object-oriented database software company and serves on the board of directors of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.

Mr. Cunningham has served as our President and Chief Operating Officer and as a director since May 28, 1999. Prior to that date, Mr. Cunningham served as Seagate Software's President and Chief Operating Officer and as President of the Seagate Software Network & Storage Management Group. In May 1994, Mr. Cunningham joined Seagate Technology in connection with its acquisition of Crystal Computer Services, a computer services company founded by Mr. Cunningham in 1984.

82

84

Mr. Cunningham served as Crystal's President until May 1996, when he was named President of the Storage Management Group. Later in 1996, he was named Executive Vice President and General Manager of the NSMG business. From July 1997 to May 1999, Mr. Cunningham served as President and Chief Operating Officer for Seagate Software as well as Executive Vice President and General Manager of the NSMG business. In July 1999, we announced that Mr. Cunningham would be leaving us, and that his resignation would become effective on August 30, 1999.

Mr. Squire has served as Executive Vice-President and Vice-Chairman of the Board of VERITAS or its predecessors since April 1997, when VERITAS merged with OpenVision Technologies, Inc. Mr. Squire became a director of OpenVision in January 1994 and was appointed Chief Executive Officer of OpenVision in July 1995. From January 1994 to November 1994, Mr. Squire was Executive Vice President and Chief Executive Officer of International Operations and from November 1994 to June 1995, he was President and Chief Operating Officer of OpenVision. Prior to that time, Mr. Squire worked at Oracle Corporation, most recently as a member of Oracle's Executive Committee as Chief Executive, International Operations. Mr. Squire has sat on the Council of the U.K. Computing Services and Software Association since 1990. In 1995, Mr. Squire was elected as the founding President of the European Information Services Association. Mr. Squire also serves as a director of Industri-Matematik International Corp.

Mr. van den Bosch has served as Executive Vice President, Engineering of VERITAS or its predecessors since July 1997 and was appointed as a director in February 1996. Mr. van den Bosch served as our Senior Vice President, Engineering from 1991 to July 1997. From 1970 until 1990, he served in various positions with Philips Information Systems, including Director of Technology.

Mr. Levine has served as Senior Vice President of Strategic Operations of VERITAS or its predecessors since January 1999, after serving as Senior Vice President, OEM Sales from December 1997 to December 1998. Mr. Levine served as our Vice President, OEM Sales from December 1995 to December 1997. From January 1995 to November 1995, Mr. Levine was our Director of Marketing. From July 1992 to December 1994, Mr. Levine was an original equipment manufacturer sales representative at VERITAS. Prior to 1992, Mr. Levine held several software engineering and consulting positions at MIT's Project Athena, the Open Software Foundation and Apollo Computer.

Mr. Lonchar has served as Chief Financial Officer of VERITAS or its predecessors since April 1997 and as our Senior Vice President, Finance since February 1999. Mr. Lonchar served as our Vice President, Finance from April 1997 until February 1999. Mr. Lonchar was Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of OpenVision Technologies, Inc. from December 1995 until the merger in April 1997. Prior to joining OpenVision, Mr. Lonchar was Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer of Microtec Research, Inc., a publicly-traded software company. Mr. Lonchar is a certified public accountant.

Mr. Sallaberry has served as Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales of VERITAS or its predecessors since July 1997. Mr. Sallaberry served as our Vice President, North American Sales from April 1997 to July 1997. Mr. Sallaberry was OpenVision's Senior Vice President of Sales from October 1992 until June 1994. Mr. Sallaberry rejoined OpenVision in February 1995 as Senior Vice President of North American Operations. From 1989 through 1992, he served in various positions at Oracle Corporation, most recently as Vice President, Vertical Sales Division.

Mr. Jones has served as Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer of VERITAS or its predecessors since January 1999. Mr. Jones served as our Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since April 1997. Mr. Jones joined OpenVision Technologies, Inc. as General Counsel in March 1993 and was appointed Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in July 1994 and served in those capacities until the merger in April 1997. Prior to March 1993, Mr. Jones served in various management

83

85

positions at Oracle Corporation and WordStar International Incorporated, a word-processing software company. Mr. Jones is a member of the California Bar Association.

Mr. Colemere has served as Vice President, Product Marketing of VERITAS or its predecessors since May 28, 1999. From December 1996 until May 28, 1999, Mr. Colemere served as Vice President of Product Management at Seagate Software. Before joining Seagate Software, Mr. Colemere was the Director of Strategic Business Development at Cheyenne from April 1994 to December 1996. Prior to his position with Cheyenne, Mr. Colemere also held a range of product management and development management positions with Novell, including Director of Engineering Program Management for Novell's NetWare Products Division.

Mr. Wentz has served as Vice President, Technical Services of VERITAS since May 28, 1999. From February 1996 until May 28, 1999, Mr. Wentz served as Vice President of Technical Services for the NSMG business of Seagate Software. He joined Seagate Software in February 1996 as part of its acquisition of Arcada Software, Inc. Mr. Wentz joined Arcada in May of 1994 where he served in a similar capacity as Vice President of Technical Support Services. Prior to joining Arcada, Mr. Wentz served as Director of Technical Support Operations at Samna Corporation and then at Lotus Development Corporation after its acquisition of Samna.

Mr. Hallmen has served as Vice President, Merger Integration of VERITAS since May 28, 1999. From February 1996 until May 28, 1999, Mr. Hallmen served as Vice President of business development at Seagate Software. He joined Seagate Software as part of its acquisition of Arcada Software, Inc. Before the acquisition of Arcada Software, Mr. Hallmen was Vice President of marketing for Arcada. Prior to joining Arcada, Mr. Hallmen was Vice President of sales and marketing for Artisoft, Inc., a developer and manufacturer of personal computer network hardware and software.

Mr. Brooks has been a director of VERITAS or its predecessors since April 1996. Since February 1999, Mr. Brooks has been General Partner of Broadview Capital Partners, a private equity firm. From September 1997 to February 1999, Mr. Brooks was a managing director of Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation, an investment banking firm. From 1996 to 1997, Mr. Brooks was a private investor and a consultant to technology companies. From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Brooks served as Managing Director and Head of Global Technology Investment Banking at the Union Bank of Switzerland Securities, LLC. Prior to 1994, Mr. Brooks was a private investor and consultant to high-technology firms, and served as Managing Partner of investment banking at Robertson, Stephens & Co., a San Francisco-based investment bank. Mr. Brooks is a director of Paychex, Inc. a national payroll processing and business services company, and QRS, an electronic commerce company.

Mr. Janeway has been a director of VERITAS or its predecessors since April, 1997. Mr. Janeway has been a Managing Director of E.M. Warburg Pincus & Co., LLC since 1988. Prior to 1988, he served in a management capacity at F. Eberstadt & Co., Inc. Mr. Janeway is a director of ECsoft Group, PLC, BEA Systems, Inc., Indus International, Inc., Inacom Corp. and Industri-Matematik International Corp.

Mr. Kerfoot has been a director of VERITAS since May 28, 1999. In May 1999, Mr. Kerfoot became President and a director of Seagate Software. From May 1996 until May 1999, Mr. Kerfoot served as Seagate Software's Chief Strategic Officer and as President of the Information Management Group. In May 1994, he joined Seagate Technology in connection with its acquisition of Crystal Computer Services, where he had previously served as Director of Research and Development and Chief Architect of Crystal Reports, and continued as Crystal's Director of Research and Development until May 1996, when he was named President of the Information Management Group.

Mr. Luczo has been a director of VERITAS since May 28, 1999. Mr. Luczo serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Seagate Software and as Chief Executive Officer, President and Director of Seagate Technology. From March 1995 to July 1997, Mr. Luczo served as Seagate Software's Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Luczo joined Seagate Technology in October 1993 as Senior Vice President,

84

86

Corporate Development and was promoted to Executive Vice President, Corporate Development in March 1995, where he served until September 1997. He was promoted to President and Chief Operating Officer of Seagate Technology in September 1997, and served in the latter capacity until August 1998. In July 1998, Mr. Luczo was promoted to Chief Executive Officer and appointed to the Board of Directors. Before joining Seagate Technology in 1993, Mr. Luczo was Senior Managing Director and co-head of the Bear Stearns and Co. Global Technology Group. Mr. Luczo also serves on the boards of directors of Gadzoox Microsystems, Inc. and Dragon Systems, Inc.

Mr. Rizzi has been a director of VERITAS or its predecessors since 1987. Prior to that date, he served as a general partner of Matrix Partners, a venture capital firm and as Chief Executive Officer of Elxsi, a computer company.

## COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our board of directors has the following committees:

#### Audit Committee

The audit committee reviews with our independent public accountants and with our internal accounting staff the scope and results of the independent accountants' audit work, our annual financial statements, and our internal accounting and control systems. The audit committee also recommends to the Board the firm of independent public accountants to be selected to audit our accounts and makes further inquiries as it deems necessary or desirable to inform itself as to the conduct of our affairs.

Mr. Brooks and Mr. Rizzi are the members of the audit committee.

#### Compensation Committee

The compensation committee reviews and makes recommendations to the board regarding the compensation for officers and compensation guidelines for our employees and administers our stock purchase and stock option plans.

Mr. Rizzi and Mr. Brooks are the members of the compensation committee.

#### COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

#### How Board Members Are Compensated

Non-employee directors of VERITAS receive a specified number of stock options under our directors' plan. None of the members of our board of directors has received or will receive any fees for attending board or board committee meetings, other than reimbursement of actual expenses they incur to attend meetings.

## Grant of Options to Directors

The VERITAS 1993 Directors' Stock Option Plan provides that each non-employee director who is first elected or reelected to the board, is granted an option to purchase 54,000 shares of our common stock on the later to occur of (1) the date he or she is first elected or reelected to the board or (2) the date his or her most recent prior option becomes fully vested as to all shares.

Each non-employee director will receive a succeeding grant of an option to purchase 13,500 shares of our common stock each year on the anniversary date of the most recent prior option granted to him or her provided the individual is still a member of the board. A non-employee director shall not receive a succeeding grant earlier than the first anniversary of his or her initial grant.

87

Options granted under the directors' plan are immediately exercisable. Once exercised, we will have a right to repurchase unvested shares. This repurchase right lapses as the shares vest. Initial grants vest as to 3,375, and succeeding grants vest as to 844, of the shares on the last day of each calendar quarter, provided that the non-employee director attends at least one board meeting during the quarter. If the non-employee director attends a meeting that occurs prior to the date the option was granted, he or she will not receive vesting credit with respect to that particular option as a result of attending the meeting.

## Terms of Options

Options have a ten year term and will fully vest as to any shares that remain unvested on the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the date the option is granted. Options cease vesting but remain exercisable if the non-employee director ceases to be a member of the board, so long as he or she continues to provide services to VERITAS as a consultant.

## Effect of Mergers, Consolidations, Dissolutions or Liquidations

In the event of a merger, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation of VERITAS, the sale of substantially all of the assets of VERITAS or any other similar corporate transaction, the vesting of all options granted pursuant to the directors' plan will accelerate and the options will become exercisable in full and will terminate in accordance with termination provisions of the directors' plan.

#### Number of Shares Reserved for Issuance under the Plan

An aggregate of 1,125,000 shares of our common stock is reserved for issuance under the directors' plan. In the event that any outstanding option under the directors' plan expires or terminates for any reason, the shares of common stock allocable to the unexercised portion of the option shall be available again for the grant. As of July 15, 1999 options to purchase 347,872 shares were outstanding, 183,692 had been exercised and 593,436 shares were eligible for future grant.

## Amendment to the Plan

On April 15, 1999, the VERITAS board of directors approved an amendment to the directors' plan to provide that, if the number of outstanding shares of common stock is changed as a result of a stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, combination or other similar capital change, the board of directors will have discretion to determine whether the number of shares available under the directors' plan, the maximum number of shares that can be granted to a director, the number of shares subject to outstanding options or the other terms of such outstanding options, will be adjusted to reflect the capital change.

#### COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth all compensation awarded to, earned by or paid for services rendered to VERITAS in all capacities during 1996, 1997 and 1998 by our chief executive officer and four other most highly compensated executive officers. This information includes the dollar value of base salaries, commissions and bonus awards, the number of shares subject to stock options granted and certain other

86

88

compensation, whether paid or deferred. We do not grant stock appreciation rights and provide no long-term compensation benefits other than stock options.

#### SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

			ANNUAL	COMPENSATION	COMPENSATION AWARDS SECURITIES
NAME AND PRINCIPAL POSITION	YEAR	SALARY	BONUS	OTHER ANNUAL COMPENSATION	UNDERLYING OPTIONS
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Mark Leslie	1998	\$300 <b>,</b> 000	\$398 <b>,</b> 765	\$ 1,200	247,500
President, Chief	1997	250,000	326,400	1,200	382,496
Executive Officer	1996	230,000	170,800	0	337,500
Geoffrey W. Squire	1998	240,213	236,867	0	82,500
Executive Vice President	1997	169,689	208,875	18,444	0
	1996	0	0	0	0
Fred van den Bosch	1998	220,000	219,321	1,200	165,000

LONG TERM

Executive Vice President	1997	160,000	140,598	1,200	224,996
of Engineering	1996	145,000	78,082	0	101,250
Paul A. Sallaberry	1998	300,350	99,691	1,200	75,000
Senior Vice President,	1997	284,170	58,485	1,200	157,496
Worldwide Sales	1996	0	0	0	0
Kenneth Lonchar	1998	191,200	179,444	0	45,000
Chief Financial Officer	1997	114,667	133,680	0	44,996
Sr. Vice President, Finance	1996	0	0	0	0

</TABLE>

Portions of bonuses for services rendered in fiscal year 1996, 1997 and 1998 were each paid in the following year. Share data has been restated to give retroactive effect to a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend to be effected on July 8, 1999. Mr. Lonchar, Mr. Sallaberry and Mr. Squire joined VERITAS in April 1997 when we merged with OpenVision Technologies, Inc. The compensation amounts include sales commissions paid to Mr. Sallaberry by us in the amount of \$118,965 in 1997 and \$170,837 in 1998.

## OPTION GRANTS IN 1998

The following table sets forth further information regarding the individual grants of stock options pursuant to our stock option plans during fiscal 1998 to each of our named officers. The table illustrates the hypothetical gains or "option spreads" that would exist for the options at the end of the ten-year term of the option based on assumed annualized rates of compound stock price appreciation of 5% and 10% from the dates the options were granted to the end of the term. The 5% and 10% assumed rates of annual compound stock price appreciation are mandated by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and do not represent our estimate or projection of future common stock prices. Actual gains,

87

89

if any, on option exercises will depend on the future performance of our common stock and overall market conditions. The potential realizable values shown in this table may never be achieved.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

					IOIDNIIAD I	
					VALUE AT	ASSUMED
		PERCENT OF			ANNUAL 1	RATES OF
	NUMBER OF	TOTAL			STOCK	PRICE
	SECURITIES	OPTIONS			APPREC	IATION
	UNDERLYING	GRANTED TO			FOR OPT	ION TERM
	OPTIONS	EMPLOYEES IN	EXERCISE PRICE	EXPIRATION		
NAME	GRANTED	FISCAL YEAR	(US\$/SHR)	DATE	5%	10%
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Mark Leslie	247,500	5.4	19.59	4/14/08	3,048,176	7,724,677
Geoffrey W. Squire	82,500	1.8	19.59	4/14/08	1,016,059	2,574,892
Fred van den Bosch	165,000	3.6	19.59	4/14/08	2,032,117	5,149,785
Kenneth Lonchar	45,000	1.0	19.59	4/14/08	554,214	1,404,487
Paul A. Sallaberry	75,000	1.6	19.59	4/14/08	923,690	2,340,811

  |  |  |  |  |  |POTENTIAL REALTZABLE

The exercise price of all stock options was equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Stock options vest over four years at the rate of 1/48 per month, such vesting to accelerate in the event of an acquisition or merger. The options were granted for a term of ten years, subject to earlier termination upon termination of employment. Share and per share data has been restated to give retroactive effect to a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend to be effected in July 1999.

## AGGREGATE OPTION EXERCISES IN 1998 AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the exercise of stock options during 1998 by each of the named officers, including the aggregate amount of gains on the date of exercise. In addition, the table includes the number of shares covered by both vested and unvested stock options held on December 31, 1998 by each of the named officers. Also reported are values for "in the money" stock options that represent the positive spread between the respective exercise prices of outstanding stock options and the fair market value of the our common stock as of December 31, 1998. The fair market value is determined by the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 1998, which was \$29.97 per share.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

NUMBER OF SECURITIES UNDERLYING

			UNEXERCISED OPTIONS AT FISCAL YEAR-END		VALUE OF U	NEXERCISED Y OPTIONS AT
	SHARES ACQUIRED ON	VALUE REALIZED			FISCAL YEAR-END(\$US)	
NAME	EXERCISE	(US\$)	VESTED	UNVESTED	VESTED	UNVESTED
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Mark Leslie	59,998	940,623	757,502	674,998	19,043,997	12,459,417
Geoffrey W. Squire	172,800	1,948,165	213,790	318,710	5,094,057	6,791,675
Fred van den Bosch	0	0	581,602	362,624	15,290,591	6,194,667
Kenneth Lonchar	27,412	667 <b>,</b> 551	23,790	83,074	413,934	1,330,341
Paul A. Sallaberry 						

 89,998 | 1,710,374 | 167,234 | 277,322 | 3,634,233 | 5,306,142 |Share data has been restated to give retroactive effect to a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend to be effected in July 1999. The value realized for option exercises is the aggregate fair market value of our common stock on the date of exercise less the exercise price. The valuations shown above for unexercised in-the-money options are based on the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the stock on December 31, 1998. These values have not been, and may never be, realized.

88

# 90

## EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

All of the executive officers of VERITAS entered into employment agreements with VERITAS effective May 1999.

## Terms of the Agreements

Under the employment agreements, these officers will be paid a base salary and will be entitled to receive a performance bonus as determined by the board of directors or the compensation committee. All these employment agreements provide for a term of one year, except for Mark Leslie and Terence Cunningham, which provide for a term of two years. In addition, each employment agreement provides that at the end of its term, the employee shall continue on a month-to-month basis on the terms and conditions in the employment agreement.

#### Severance Provisions

Generally, if we terminate one of these employment agreements as a result of an involuntary termination described below, then the affected employee shall be entitled to six months of the employee's base compensation, plus any unpaid quarterly bonuses, and 50% of the employee's target bonus for the fiscal year. In addition, the employee will be entitled to the continued vesting of all stock options and restricted stock held by the employee through the consulting period described below, and the continued exercisability of all stock options for three months following the end of the consulting period. The employee shall also be entitled to continue to receive health, dental and life insurance coverage and shall be retained as a consultant as set forth in the applicable agreement.

The employee shall not be entitled to receive severance benefits if the employee's employment terminates by reason of the employee's voluntary resignation, if we terminate the employee's employment after the last day of the employment term or if the termination is for cause as described below, except those under our severance and benefits plans.

"Involuntary termination" means:

- without employee's consent, the reduction of employee's duties, authority or responsibilities, or the assignment to employee of reduced duties, authority or responsibilities;
- a reduction in the employee's base salary;
- a reduction in the employee's target bonus opportunity with the result that employee's overall cash compensation package is significantly reduced;
- the relocation of employee to a facility or a location more than 30 miles away, without employee's consent;
- any termination of employee not for cause; and
- any act or set of acts that would, under California case law or statute, constitute a constructive termination of employee.

The "consulting period" is a period of twelve months after the date of involuntary termination if the involuntary termination occurs within six months after the effective date of the NSMG combination or nine months after the date

of involuntary termination if the involuntary termination is more than six months after the effective date of the NSMG combination.

#### Noncompetition Provisions

91

The employment agreements provide that until the end of the consulting period, the employee will not be owner, consultant, director, or employee of any business which has products which compete

80

directly with our products, or without our authorization. In addition, until one year after employee's termination for any reason, employee shall not take away any of our employees or cause an employee to leave.

## RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

From January 1, 1998 to the present, there have not been any and there are currently no proposed transactions in which the amount involved exceeded \$60,000 to which we or any of our subsidiaries were or are to be a party and in which any executive officer, director, 5% beneficial owner of our common stock or member of the immediate family of them had or will have a direct or indirect material interest and there are no business relationships between us and any entity, of which a director of VERITAS is an executive officer or of which a director of VERITAS owns equity interest in excess of 10%, involving payments for property or services in excess of five percent of our consolidated gross revenues for 1998, except as already reported, as described above under "Management" and as described below.

On May 28, 1999, VERITAS acquired the Network & Storage Management Group business of Seagate Software, Inc. As a result of this transaction, Seagate Software owns approximately 40% of the outstanding common stock of VERITAS and Stephen J. Luczo, who is a director of VERITAS, is Chairman of the board of directors of Seagate Software, and President, Chief Executive Officer and member of the board of directors of Seagate Technology, Inc., and Gregory B. Kerfoot, President and a director of Seagate Software, joined our board of directors. To implement the transaction, VERITAS entered into the agreements described below with Seagate Software and its parent, Seagate Technology.

VERITAS, VERITAS Operating Corporation and Seagate Software entered into a Stockholder Agreement on May 28, 1999 that gives Seagate Software the right to (1) nominate up to two members of the VERITAS board, (2) sell up to 4,000,000 shares of VERITAS common stock in each of the first three full quarters after May 28, 1999 and up to 6,000,000 shares of VERITAS common stock in the fourth full quarter after May 28, 1999 and the right to require VERITAS to register up to 12,000,000 shares of VERITAS common stock during the first four full quarters after May 28, 1999, and (3) for five years maintain its ownership percentage if VERITAS issues stock to third parties in certain transactions. Pursuant to the board nomination rights of Seagate Software, Gregory B. Kerfoot and Stephen J. Luczo are members of the VERITAS board of directors.

VERITAS and Seagate Software entered into a registration rights agreement on May 28, 1999 that gives Seagate Software the right to require, once in any nine-month period, VERITAS to register for public resale the shares of the VERITAS stock owned by Seagate Software.

VERITAS, VERITAS Operating Corporation and Seagate Software Information Management Group, Inc., a subsidiary of Seagate Software, entered into a three-year Cross-License and OEM Agreement on October 5, 1998 and, on April 16, 1999, amended the agreement. VERITAS, VERITAS Operating Corporation and Seagate Technology entered into a ten-year Development and License Agreement on October 5, 1998. These agreements provide for the development and/or licensing of certain products among the parties and restrictions on the parties' ability to compete with each other or to enter into relationships with competitors of the other party. The royalty fees under these agreements, if any, are to be determined at a later date.

VERITAS, VERITAS Operating Corporation, Seagate Technology and Seagate Software entered into a Transition Services and Facilities Use Agreement on May 28, 1999. This agreement sets forth the terms by which VERITAS, Seagate Technology and Seagate Software will continue to share certain facilities and services. The term and payment for the services which VERITAS is receiving are as follows: (1) \$56,500 per month for the cost of transitional warehousing, distribution, billing and collection services from Seagate Technology Netherlands, the Netherlands division of Seagate Technology International, a Cayman Islands corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Seagate Technology, which VERITAS expects to cease using within twelve months; (2) \$6,300 per month for the cost of information technology services from Seagate Software, which VERITAS expects to cease using by February 2000; and (3) for various shared facilities, between \$775 to \$1,375 per employee per month for shared facilities in Singapore, Australia and Hong Kong, which facilities VERITAS expects to vacate no later than September 1999, 2,439,423 yen per month for a shared facility in Japan, which VERITAS expects to vacate no later than February 2000, and \$15,500 per month for a shared facility in France, which VERITAS expects to vacate no later than September 2003. The term and payment for the services which VERITAS is providing are as follows: \$32,100 per month for shared facilities in Florida, California and South Africa, which facilities VERITAS expects to be vacated by Seagate Software no later than March 2000.

On July 13, 1999, Terence Cunningham announced his resignation as President, Chief Operating Officer and as a director of VERITAS, effective as of August 30, 1999. Under a resignation letter agreement between VERITAS and Mr. Cunningham, VERITAS has agreed, in addition to the terms and conditions of the employment agreement by and between us and Mr. Cunningham effective as of May 1999, to transfer to Mr. Cunningham rights and title to an automobile and specified items of his office equipment.

93

## PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

91

The table below reflects beneficial ownership as of July 15, 1999, determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. To our knowledge, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them subject to community property laws where applicable, unless we indicate otherwise below. We have included in each person's beneficial ownership that person's options to purchase common stock that he or she can exercise within 60 days after July 15, 1999. However, we have not included any other person's options for the purpose of computing percentage ownership.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

(0111 1 1 011)

#### AMOUNT AND NATURE OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP

	BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP				
BENEFICIAL OWNER	SHARES			PERCENT OF CLASS	
 <s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Seagate Technology, Inc	69,148,208		69,148,008	41.23%	
Seagate Software, Inc	69,148,208		69,148,208	41.23%	
Gregory Kerfoot	69,148,208		69,148,208	41.23%	
Stephen Luczo	69,148,208		69,148,208	41.23%	
Janus Capital Corporation	10,816,800		10,816,800	6.45%	
William H. Janeway	4,923,590		4,923,590	2.94%	
Mark Leslie	1,218,416	902,082	2,120,498	1.26%	
Geoffrey Squire	560,000	333 <b>,</b> 505	895 <b>,</b> 505	*	
Fred van den Bosch	6,348	694 <b>,</b> 168	700,516	*	
Peter Levine	234,950	54,754	289,704	*	
Joseph Rizzi	110,166	129,936	240,102	*	
Paul Sallaberry	58,052	197 <b>,</b> 630	255,682	*	
Terence Cunningham		254,476	254,476	*	
Kenneth Lonchar	87,044	36,333	123,377	*	
Michael Colemere		78 <b>,</b> 958	78,958	*	
Steven Brooks	9,000	67,754	76,754	*	
Jay Jones	30,788	32,241	63,029	*	
Michael Wentz		59,425	59,425	*	
David Hallmen		29,992	29,992	*	
All executive officers and directors as a					
<pre>group (16 persons)</pre>	76,386,562	2,873,254	79,259,816	46.46%	

\_\_\_\_\_

#### \* Less than one percent.

Unless otherwise noted, each holder has an address of c/o VERITAS Software Corporation, 1600 Plymouth Street, Mountain View, CA, 94043.

Seagate Software is a majority-owned subsidiary of Seagate Technology. Mr. Luczo, a director of VERITAS, is President, Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of Seagate Technology and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Seagate Software. Mr. Kerfoot, a director of VERITAS, is the President and a director of Seagate Software. As such, Mr. Luczo and Mr. Kerfoot may be deemed to have an indirect pecuniary interest within the meaning of Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act in an indeterminate portion of the shares beneficially owned by Seagate Software. Mr. Luczo and Mr. Kerfoot each disclaim beneficial ownership of these shares for the purposes of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise. Seagate Technology may be deemed to beneficially own the shares held by Seagate Software.

The business address of Mr. Kerfoot and Seagate Software is 915 Disc Drive, Scotts Valley, CA 95066. The business address of Mr. Luczo and Seagate Technology is 920 Disc Drive, Scotts Valley, CA 95067.

92

94

Janus Capital Corporation, an institutional investment manager, holds shares on behalf of various client accounts, and shares voting power and holds sole dispositive power. This information is current as of June 10, 1999.

Mr. Janeway, a director of VERITAS, is a managing director and member of E.M. Warburg, Pincus & Co., LLC, or EMW LLC, and a general partner of Warburg, Pincus & Co., or WP. As such, Mr. Janeway may be deemed to have an indirect pecuniary interest within the meaning of Rule 16a-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in an indeterminate portion of the 4,817,590 shares beneficially owned by WP and EMW LLC. Mr. Janeway disclaims beneficial ownership of those shares for the purposes of Section 16 of the Exchange Act or otherwise.

The business address of Mr. Janeway and of each Warburg, Pincus entity is 466 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY 10017.

93

95

## DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Our authorized capital stock consists of 500,000,000 shares of common stock, 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock and one share of special voting stock. As of July 15, 1999 there were outstanding 167,725,406 shares of common stock held of record by approximately 398 stockholders, options to purchase 24,469,866 shares of common stock and no warrants to purchase shares of common stock.

#### COMMON STOCK

The holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally available at the times and amounts that the board of directors determines, subject to preferences that apply to any outstanding preferred stock at the time. Each stockholder is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights. This means that the holders of a majority of the shares voted can elect all of the directors in an election. Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights and is not subject to conversion or redemption. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of VERITAS, the assets legally available for distribution to stockholders are distributable ratably among the holders of common stock and any participating preferred stock after payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding preferred stock and payment of other claims of creditors. Each outstanding share of common stock is, and all shares of common stock to be issued upon conversion of the notes and upon exchange of the Exchangeco exchangeable shares will be upon payment for those shares, duly and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

#### SPECIAL VOTING STOCK

A single share of special voting stock is authorized for issuance and outstanding. The holder of the voting share is not entitled to receive dividends. The voting share possesses a number of votes equal to the number of outstanding Exchangeco exchangeable shares not owned by us or any entity controlled by us for the election of directors and on all other matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except as otherwise required by law or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. The holders of common stock and the holder of the voting share will vote together as a single class on all matters, except as required by law. The voting share is not entitled to preemptive rights and is not convertible into other securities. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of VERITAS, the holder of the voting share will not be entitled to receive any assets available for distribution to its stockholders. The voting share will be canceled when the voting share has no votes attached to it because there are no Exchangeco exchangeable shares outstanding not owned by us or an entity controlled by us, and there are no shares of stock, debt, options or other agreements of TeleBackup that could give rise to the issuance of any exchangeable shares to any person. Other than the cancellation described above, the voting share is not subject to any right of redemption.

#### ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS

#### Charter and bylaw provisions

Staggered board. Our board of directors is divided into three classes as nearly equal in size as possible with staggered three-year terms. The classification of the board of directors could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, control of VERITAS because a majority of the board of directors cannot be elected in any one year.

Stockholder Actions. Stockholder actions must be taken at meetings. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of VERITAS at an annual meeting or a special meeting of the stockholders may be taken only if it is properly brought before the meeting and may not be taken by written action in lieu of a meeting.

94

96

Limits on ability to call special meetings. The bylaws also provide that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer or by a majority of the members of the board of directors.

Indemnification. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and its bylaws provide that we will indemnify officers and directors against losses that they may incur in investigations and legal proceedings resulting from their services to us. These may include services in connection with takeover defense measures. These provisions may have the effect of preventing changes in our management.

#### Delaware anti-takeover law

We are subject to the provisions of Delaware's anti-takeover law regulating corporate takeovers. The anti-takeover law prevents certain Delaware corporations, including those whose securities are listed on the Nasdaq National Market, from engaging, under certain circumstances, in a "business combination," which includes a merger or sale of more than 10% of the corporation's assets with any "interested stockholder" for three years following the date that such stockholder became an "interested stockholder." An interested stockholder is a stockholder who owns 15% or more of the corporation's outstanding voting stock. A Delaware corporation may "opt out" of the anti-takeover law with an express provision in its original certificate of incorporation or an express provision in its certificate of incorporation or bylaws resulting from a stockholders' amendment approved by at least a majority of the outstanding voting shares. We have not "opted out" of the provisions of the anti-takeover law.

#### Stockholder rights plan

Our board of directors has declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of common stock. The dividend was paid to stockholders of record on June 25, 1999. We will issue one right with each share of common stock that we issue between the record date and the earliest of the distribution date described below, the date the rights are redeemed or the date the rights expire. After the distribution date, we will issue one right with each common share we issue upon the exercise of stock options or under any employee plan or arrangement or upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities (including the TeleBackup exchangeable shares) that were outstanding before the distribution date, until the date the rights are either redeemed or expire. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series A junior participating preferred stock at a price of \$550.00 per one one-hundredth of a preferred share. The description and terms of the rights are set forth in a rights agreement between us and ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C., as rights agent.

## Exercisability and duration of rights

The rights are not exercisable until the distribution date described below. The rights will expire on June 16, 2009, unless the expiration date is extended or unless the rights are earlier redeemed or exchanged, in each case, as described below.

#### Evidence and transfer of rights

The rights will be evidenced, with respect to any of the common stock share certificates outstanding as of the record date, by the common stock share certificates with a copy of the summary of rights distributed to stockholders of record on June 25, 1999 attached. Common stock share certificates issued after the record date will contain a notation incorporating the rights agreement by reference, until the distribution date or earlier redemption or expiration of the rights. Until the distribution date, the rights can be transferred only with VERITAS common stock and the transfer of any VERITAS common stock certificates will constitute the transfer of the rights associated with the common stock (even without notation or a copy of the summary of rights). After the distribution date, separate certificates

95

97

representing the rights will be mailed to record holders of VERITAS common stock on the distribution date and the separate certificates alone will evidence the rights.

Triggering of rights

The rights became exercisable after the lapse of either:

- 10 days following a public announcement or disclosure that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons, or an acquiring person, has acquired beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock; or
- 10 business days, or later date as may be determined by the board prior to the time a person or group becomes an acquiring person, following the announcement of an intention to make a tender offer or exchange offer the consummation of which would result in a person or group becoming an acquiring person.

The earlier of those dates is called the distribution date. Seagate Technology, Inc., Seagate Software, Inc. and their subsidiaries are not "acquiring persons" as a result of the NSMG combination, unless Seagate Technology or Seagate Software acquires shares in addition to the 69,148,208 shares of VERITAS common stock issued to Seagate Software in the NSMG combination unless all other stockholders of VERITAS also acquire additional shares through the event, such as the July 1999 stock dividend. No person or group will be an acquiring person if the board determines in good faith that the person or group who would otherwise be an acquiring person has become one inadvertently, and that person or group promptly takes the actions necessary so that it would no longer be considered an acquiring person.

## Adjustments for stock splits or other transactions

The purchase price payable and the number of preferred shares or other securities or property issuable upon exercise of the rights will be adjusted from time to time to prevent dilution:

- in the event of a stock dividend on, or a subdivision, combination or reclassification of, the preferred shares;
- upon the grant to holders of the preferred shares of certain rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase preferred shares at a price, or securities convertible into preferred shares with a conversion price, less than the then current market price of the preferred shares;
- upon the distribution to holders of the preferred shares of evidences of indebtedness or assets excluding regular periodic cash dividends, if any, or dividends payable in preferred shares or of subscription rights or warrants other than those referred to above;
- in the event of a stock dividend on our common stock payable in shares of common stock prior to the distribution date; or
- subdivisions, consolidations or combinations of the shares of common stock occurring, prior to the distribution date.

#### Terms of preferred shares

The preferred shares will have the terms described under "-- Preferred stock."

Because of the nature of the preferred shares' dividend, liquidation and voting rights, the value of the one one-hundredth interest in a preferred share purchasable upon exercise of each right should approximate the value of one share of common stock.

96

98

Rights could purchase shares of common stock at a discount

If any person or group becomes an acquiring person, each holder of a right, other than the acquiring person, will have the right to receive upon exercise that number of shares of common stock having a market value of two times the

exercise price of the right unless the event causing the person or group to become an acquiring person is a merger, acquisition or other business combination described in the next paragraph. If we do not have a sufficient amount of authorized common stock to satisfy the obligation to issue shares of common stock, we must deliver upon payment of the exercise price of a right an amount of cash or other securities equivalent in value to the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of a right.

In the event that any person or group becomes an acquiring person and (1) we merge into or engage in certain other business combination transactions with an acquiring person, or (2) 50% or more of our consolidated assets or earning power are sold to an acquiring person, each holder of a right, other than the acquiring person, will have the right to receive that number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company which will have a market value of two times the exercise price of the right.

At any time after any person becomes an acquiring person and prior to that person or group acquiring 50% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock, the board may exchange the rights, other than rights owned by the acquiring person, at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock, or one one-hundredth of a preferred share per right.

#### Adjustments to the purchase price

With certain exceptions, no adjustment in the purchase price will be required until cumulative adjustments require an adjustment of at least 1% in the purchase price. No fractional preferred shares will be issued. However, fractions which are integral multiples of one one-hundredth of a preferred share may, at our election, be evidenced by depositary receipts. In lieu of fractional shares, an adjustment in cash will be made based on the market price of the preferred shares on the last trading day prior to the date of exercise.

#### The board may redeem the rights

At any time prior to such time as a person or group becomes an acquiring person, the board of directors may redeem all, but not some, of the rights at a price of \$0.001 per right. The redemption of the rights may be made effective at the time, on the basis and with any conditions as the board of directors in its sole discretion may establish. After the period for redemption of the rights has expired, the board may not amend the rights agreement to extend the period for redemption of the rights. The right to exercise the rights terminates immediately when they are redeemed and the only right of the holders of rights after that time will be to receive the redemption price.

## The board may amend the rights

The terms of the rights may be amended by a resolution of the board of directors without the consent of the holders of the rights. However, from and after such time as any person or group becomes an acquiring person, no amendment may adversely affect the interests of the holders of the rights other than an acquiring person.

## Holders of unexercised rights do not have privileges of a stockholder

Until a right is exercised, the holder will have no rights as a stockholder of VERITAS, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive dividends.

97

## 99

## Reasons for stockholder rights plan

The rights in the stockholder rights plan are designed to protect and maximize the value of the outstanding equity interests in VERITAS in the event of an unsolicited attempt by an acquirer to take over VERITAS, in a manner or on terms not approved by the board of directors. Takeover attempts frequently include coercive tactics to deprive a company's board of directors and its stockholders of any real opportunity to determine the destiny of the company. The rights will be declared in order to deter these types of coercive tactics, which, include a gradual accumulation of shares in the open market of a 15% or greater position to be followed by a merger or a partial or two-tier tender offer that does not treat all stockholders equally. These tactics unfairly pressure stockholders, squeeze them out of their investment without giving them any real choice and deprive them of the full value of their shares. The rights are not intended to prevent a takeover of VERITAS and will not do so. Rather, they are intended to provide the protections of the VERITAS stockholders rights plan. Because the rights may be redeemed by VERITAS, they should not interfere with any merger or business combination approved by the board of directors.

Issuance of the rights does not in any way weaken our financial strength or interfere with our business plans. The issuance of the rights themselves has no

dilutive effect, will not affect reported earnings per share, should not be taxable to us or to our stockholders and will not change the way in which our shares are presently traded. Our board of directors believes that the rights will represent a sound and reasonable means of addressing the complex issues of corporate policy created by the current takeover environment. However, the rights may have the effect of rendering more difficult or discouraging an acquisition of VERITAS deemed undesirable by the board of directors. The rights may cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire VERITAS on terms or in a manner not approved by our board of directors.

## PREFERRED STOCK

The board is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue up to 10,000,000 additional shares of preferred stock. This preferred stock may be issued in one or more series and the board may determine the number of shares to be included in each series. The board may fix the powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each series and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions on any series of preferred stock. The board may also increase or decrease the number of shares of any series but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding. All of these actions may be taken without vote or action by the stockholders. Of these shares, 2,000,000 shares are designated as the Series A junior participating preferred shares that are reserved for issuance under the rights plan. The rights of the Series A junior participating preferred shares are described below.

Terms of preferred shares subject to the stockholder rights plan

Dividends. Each preferred share will be entitled to a quarterly dividend payment of 100 times the dividend declared per share of common stock.

Voting. Each preferred share will have 100 votes, voting together with the shares of common stock. In the event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in which shares of common stock are exchanged, each preferred share will be entitled to receive 100 times the amount received per share of common stock.

Liquidation or dissolution. In the event of liquidation, each preferred share will be entitled to a \$1.00 preference, and after the holders of the preferred shares will be entitled to an aggregate payment of 100 times the aggregate payment made per share of common stock.

Redemption. The preferred shares purchasable upon exercise of the rights, described above, will not be redeemable.

98

100

#### Anti-takeover effect of undesignated preferred stock

With respect to the remaining authorized but undesignated shares of preferred stock, the board of directors may authorize and issue preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of common stock. This is because the terms of the preferred stock could conceivably prohibit consummation of any merger, reorganization, sale of substantially all of our assets or other extraordinary corporate transaction without approval of the outstanding shares of preferred stock. Thus, the issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of VERITAS.

#### THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Number of directors. The number of directors on the board of directors shall be fixed exclusively by the board of directors, subject to the rights of the holders of preferred stock. We currently have ten directors.

Adding directors. Newly created directorships or any vacancies in the board of directors may be filled only by a majority vote of the directors then in office or by a sole remaining director, subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding preferred stock.

Removal of directors. Any director may be removed from office at any time, but only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all outstanding shares entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that either the board of directors or the stockholders may adopt, amend or repeal the bylaws. Any adoption, amendment or repeal of the bylaws by the board of directors requires the approval of a majority of the total number of authorized directors regardless of vacancies, or by the whole board. Any adoption, amendment or repeal of the bylaws by the stockholders requires the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the affirmative voting power of all outstanding shares entitled to vote generally, voting as a single class.

Provisions of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation may be amended or repealed by the stockholders in the manner prescribed by Delaware law. However, the amendment, adoption, or repeal of any provision inconsistent with the provisions relating to the following require the approval of at least two-thirds of the affirmative voting power of all outstanding shares entitled to vote generally, voting as a single class:

- the composition of the board of directors;
- the amendment of bylaws;
- the prohibition of actions of the stockholders written consent; or
- the amendment of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation.

## REGISTRATION RIGHTS

#### WARBURG PINCUS' REGISTRATION RIGHTS

Warburg Pincus has the right, on up to two occasions, to require us to register for public resale the securities held by it. The securities to be sold must have an aggregate offering price of at least \$5.0 million. We have the right to delay any registration for up to 60 days under various circumstances.

In addition, Warburg Pincus has certain "piggyback" registration rights. If we propose to register any of our securities under the Securities Act, Warburg Pincus may require us to include all or a portion of its shares in the registration. This right does not apply to registrations in connection with the issuance

99

#### 101

of debt securities, its employee benefit plans or a merger or reorganization transaction. This piggyback right is subject to the right of the managing underwriter, if any, to limit the number of shares to be included by Warburg Pincus in the registration.

#### Expiration

These registration rights will expire at the time that all shares of VERITAS received by Warburg Pincus in the NSMG combination may be resold in a three month period under Rule 144 of the Securities Act.

#### Expenses

We will pay all expenses incurred in connection with the above registration, other than the underwriters' and brokers' discounts and commissions and the fees of counsel for Warburg Pincus.

#### SEAGATE SOFTWARE REGISTRATION RIGHTS

In connection with the NSMG combination, VERITAS and Seagate Software and Seagate Technology entered into a stockholder agreement limiting the rights of Seagate Software and Seagate Technology to resell and acquire additional shares of VERITAS common stock. VERITAS and Seagate Software also entered into a registration rights agreement pursuant to which VERITAS granted SSI rights to have the resale of the shares of VERITAS common stock it holds registered under the Securities Act. Under the Registration Rights Agreement, until all of the registrable shares could be resold under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, VERITAS will permit Seagate Software to "piggyback" on other registration statements, and to request registration of resales once in any nine-month period.

So long as Seagate Software and Seagate Technology collectively own at least 5.0% of VERITAS' outstanding common stock, Seagate Software and Seagate Technology may only sell shares of VERITAS common stock as follows:

- no shares in the quarter ending in June, 1999;
- 4,000,000 shares in the quarter ending in September, 1999;
- 4,000,000 shares in the quarter ending in December, 1999;
- 4,000,000 shares in the quarter ending in March, 2000; and

- 6,000,000 shares in the quarter ending in June, 2000.

They will also have the right to sell up to 12,000,000 shares in an underwritten public offering once in the first year after completion of the NSMG combination, but if they exercise this right, they will be prohibited from selling other shares in the quarter that the offering is completed. They may not transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise dispose of any VERITAS securities for one year after the closing of the NSMG combination except in the manner noted above.

After that date, they may not sell their VERITAS stock except:

- to VERITAS or to a person or persons that VERITAS has previously approved in writing;
- in a bona fide underwritten public offering;
- under Rule 144 under the Securities Act;

100

102

- in other private transactions so long as such private transactions do not result in any single person or group owning 5% or more of the total outstanding voting stock of VERITAS;
- in response to a tender offer not opposed by the VERITAS board;
- in a merger or consolidation approved by the VERITAS board in which VERITAS is acquired; or
- in a plan of liquidation that is authorized by the VERITAS board.

#### TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is ChaseMellon Shareholder Services LLC.

#### LISTING

Our common stock is quoted on Nasdaq under the trading symbol VRTS.

101

103

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

VERITAS will issue the notes under an indenture to be dated as of , 1999, among VERITAS, VERITAS Operating Corporation and State Street Bank and Trust Company of California, N.A., as trustee. You may request a copy of the indenture from the trustee.

The following description is a summary of the material provisions of the notes and the indenture. It does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the notes and the indenture, including the definitions of certain terms which are not otherwise defined in this prospectus. Wherever particular provisions or defined terms of the indenture (or of the form of note which is a part of the indenture) are referred to, those provisions or defined terms are incorporated in this prospectus by reference.

#### GENERAL

The notes represent unsecured general obligations of VERITAS subordinate in right of payment to certain other obligations of VERITAS as described under "-- Subordination of Notes" and convertible into common stock as described under "-- Conversion of Notes." VERITAS Operating Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS, is the co-obligor of the notes and also the 5.25% convertible subordinated notes due 2004. If the 5.25% notes are no longer outstanding, VERITAS Operating Corporation will be released from its obligations under the notes offered hereby. The notes will be limited to \$ (\$ if the underwriters' over-allotment option is exercised in full) aggregate principal amount at maturity, will be issued only in denominations of \$1,000 or any multiple thereof and will mature on , 2006 unless earlier redeemed at the option of VERITAS or at the option of the holder upon a Fundamental Change (as defined below) or converted prior thereto.

The indenture does not contain any financial covenants or restrictions on the payment of dividends, the incurrence of Senior Debt (as defined below) or the issuance or repurchase of securities of VERITAS. The indenture contains no covenants or other provisions to afford protection to holders of the notes in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or a change in control of VERITAS except to the extent described under "-- Redemption at Option of the Holder."

The notes will bear interest at the annual rate set forth on the cover page hereof from , 1999, payable semi-annually in arrears on and , commencing on , to holders of record at the close of business on the preceding and , respectively, except:

- the interest payment upon redemption (unless the date of redemption is an interest payment date) will be payable to the person to whom principal is payable, as set forth in the next sentence.

In the case of any note (or portion thereof) which is converted into common stock of VERITAS during the period from (but excluding) a record date to (but excluding) the next succeeding interest payment date either:

- if such note (or portion thereof) has been called for redemption on a redemption date which occurs during such period, or is to be redeemed in connection with a Fundamental Change on a Fundamental Change Redemption Date (as defined below) which occurs during such period, VERITAS shall not be required to pay interest on such interest payment date in respect of any such note (or portion thereof), or
- if otherwise, any note (or portion thereof) submitted for conversion during such period shall be accompanied by funds equal to the interest payable on such succeeding interest payment date on the principal amount at maturity so converted unless at the time of conversion there exists a default in the payment of interest on the notes (see "-- Conversion of Notes" below).

102

104

Interest may, at VERITAS's option, be paid either:

- by check mailed to the address of the person entitled thereto as it appears in the note register, or
- by transfer to an account maintained by such person located in the United States.

However, payments to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, which we refer to as DTC, will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of DTC or its nominee. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months.

The notes are being offered at a substantial discount from their principal amount at maturity. For further discussion, see "Certain Federal Income Tax Considerations." The calculation of the accrual of original issue discount (the difference between the issue price and the principal amount at maturity of a note) in the period during which a note remains outstanding will be on a semi-annual basis using a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months; such accrual will commence on the first date of issuance of any of the notes. Maturity, conversion or redemption of a note will cause original issue discount and interest, if any, to cease to accrue on such note under the terms and subject to the conditions of the indenture. VERITAS may not reissue a note that has matured or been converted, redeemed or otherwise canceled (except for registration of transfer, exchange or replacement thereof).

## FORM, DENOMINATION AND REGISTRATION

The notes will be issued in fully registered form, without coupons, in denominations of 1,000 principal amount and multiples thereof.

## Global note, book-entry form

The notes will be evidenced by one or more global notes, which will be deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as DTC's nominee. Except as set forth below, a global note may be transferred, in whole or in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee.

Holders of the notes may hold their interests in the global notes directly through DTC or indirectly through organizations which are participants in DTC, whom we also refer to as Participants. Transfers between Participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC's rules and will be settled in clearing house funds. The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interest in the global notes to such persons may be limited.

Holders of the notes may beneficially own interests in the global notes

held by DTC only through Participants or certain banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and other parties that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Participant, either directly or indirectly, whom we also refer to as Indirect Participants. So long as Cede & Co., as the nominee of DTC, is the registered owner of a global note, Cede & Co. for all purposes will be considered the sole holder of the global note. Except as provided below, owners of beneficial interests in the global notes will not be entitled to have certificates registered in their names, will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificates in definitive form, and will not be considered the holders thereof.

Payment of interest on, and the redemption price of, the global notes will be made to Cede & Co., as the registered owner of the global notes by wire transfer of immediately available funds on each interest payment date or the redemption date, as the case may be. Neither VERITAS, the trustee nor any paying agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the global notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

103

105

VERITAS has been informed by DTC that, with respect to any payment of interest on, or the redemption price of, the global notes, DTC's practice is to credit Participants' accounts on the payment date therefor with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount represented by the global notes as shown on the records of DTC, unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on the payment date. Payments by Participants to owners of beneficial interests in the principal amount represented by the global notes held through the Participants will be the responsibility of the Participants, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in "street name."

Because DTC can only act on behalf of Participants, who in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants, the ability of a person having a beneficial interest in the principal amount represented by a global note to pledge that interest to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of that interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing that interest.

Neither VERITAS nor the trustee (or any registrar, paying agent or conversion agent under the indenture) will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its Participants or Indirect Participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations. DTC has advised VERITAS that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes (including, without limitation, the presentation of notes for exchange as described below), only at the direction of one or more Participants to whose account with DTC interests in the global notes are credited, and only in respect of the principal amount of the notes represented by the global notes as to which the Participant or Participants has or have given such direction.

DTC has advised VERITAS as follows: DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold securities for its Participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Participants through electronic book-entry changes to the accounts of its Participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and may include certain other organizations such as the initial purchasers. Some of the Participants (or their representatives), together with other entities, own DTC. Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through, or maintain a custodial relationship with, a Participant, either directly or indirectly.

Although DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the global notes among Participants, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. If DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as depositary and a successor depositary is not appointed by VERITAS within 90 days, VERITAS will cause notes to be issued in definitive form in exchange for the global notes.

## CONVERSION OF NOTES

A holder may convert a note into common stock of VERITAS at any time through the close of business on the final maturity date of the notes; provided that if a note is called for redemption, the holder may convert such note only until the close of business on the day prior to the Redemption Date. A note in respect of which a holder is exercising its option to require redemption upon a Fundamental Change may be converted only if such holder withdraws its election to exercise its option in accordance with the terms of the indenture. A holder may convert such holder's notes in part so long as such part is \$1,000 principal amount at maturity or an integral multiple thereof. If notes not called for redemption are converted after a record date for the payment of interest and prior to the next succeeding interest

104

106

payment date, such notes must be accompanied by funds equal to the interest payable on such succeeding interest payment date on the principal amount at maturity so converted; provided that no such payment will be required if VERITAS exercises its rights to redeem the notes on a Redemption Date which occurs during such period, holders exercise their rights to require VERITAS to redeem the notes in connection with a Fundamental Change on a Fundamental Change Redemption Date which occurs during such period or there shall exist at the time of conversion a default in the payment of interest on the notes.

The initial conversion rate is shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount at maturity of notes, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. A holder who would otherwise be entitled to a fractional share of common stock shall receive cash equal to the then current market value of such fractional share. On conversion of a note, a holder will not receive any cash payment representing accrued original issue discount or accrued interest thereon. VERITAS's delivery to the holder of the fixed number of shares of common stock into which the note is convertible (together with the cash payment in lieu of any fractional share of common stock) will be deemed to satisfy VERITAS's obligation to pay the principal amount of the note including the accrued original issue discount attributable to the period from the first date of issuance of any of the notes to the date of surrender for conversion and accrued interest thereon. Thus, the accrued original issue discount and accrued interest are deemed to be paid in full rather than canceled, extinguished or forfeited. The conversion rate will not be adjusted at any time during the term of the notes for such accrued original issue discount or accrued interest.

To convert a note into shares of common stock, the holder of a note must:

- complete and manually sign the conversion notice on the back of the note (or complete and manually sign a facsimile thereof) and deliver such notice to the conversion agent,
- surrender the note to the conversion agent,
- if required, furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents,
- if required, pay all transfer or similar taxes, and
- if required, pay funds equal to interest payable on the next interest payment date.

Pursuant to the indenture, the date on which all of the foregoing requirements have been satisfied is the date of surrender for conversion.

The initial conversion rate is subject to adjustment under formulae as set forth in the indenture in certain events, including:

 the issuance of common stock of VERITAS as a dividend or distribution on the common stock;

(2) certain subdivisions and combinations of the common stock;

(3) the issuance to all holders of common stock of certain rights or warrants to purchase common stock;

(4) the distribution to all holders of common stock of capital stock (other than common stock), of evidences of indebtedness of VERITAS or of assets (including securities, but excluding those rights, warrants, dividends and distributions referred to in clause (3) above or paid in cash);

(5) distributions consisting of cash, excluding any quarterly cash dividend on the common stock to the extent that the aggregate cash dividend per share of common stock in any quarter does not exceed the greater of (x) the amount per share of common stock of the next preceding quarterly cash dividend on the common stock to the extent that such preceding quarterly dividend did not require an adjustment of the conversion rate pursuant to this clause (5) (as adjusted to reflect

subdivisions or combinations of the common stock), and (y) 3.75% of the average of the last reported sales price of the common stock during the ten trading days immediately prior to the date of declaration of such dividend, and excluding any dividend or distribution in connection with the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of VERITAS. If an adjustment is required to be made as set forth in this clause (5) as a result of a distribution that is a quarterly dividend, such adjustment would be based upon the amount by which such distribution exceeds the amount of the quarterly cash dividend permitted to be excluded pursuant to this clause (5) as a result of a distribution that is not a quarterly dividend, such adjustment would be based upon the full amount of the distribution;

(6) payment in respect of a tender offer or exchange offer by VERITAS or any subsidiary of VERITAS for the common stock to the extent that the cash and value of any other consideration included in such payment per share of common stock exceeds the Current Market Price (as defined in the indenture) per share of common stock on the trading day next succeeding the last date on which tenders or exchanges may be made pursuant to such tender or exchange offer; and

(7) payment in respect of a tender offer or exchange offer by a person other than VERITAS or any subsidiary of VERITAS in which, as of the closing date of the offer, the Board of Directors is not recommending rejection of the offer. The adjustment referred to in this clause (7) will only be made if the tender offer or exchange offer is for an amount which increases the offeror's ownership of common stock to more than 25% of the total shares of common stock outstanding, and if the cash and value of any other consideration included in such payment per share of common stock exceeds the Current Market Price per share of common stock on the trading day next succeeding the last date on which tenders or exchanges may be made pursuant to such tender or exchange offer. The adjustment referred to in this clause (7) will not be made, however, if, as of the closing of the offer, the offering documents with respect to such offer disclose a plan or an intention to cause VERITAS to engage in a consolidation or merger of VERITAS or a sale of all or substantially all of VERITAS's assets.

In the event that the preferred share rights are separated from the common stock in accordance with the provisions of VERITAS's stockholder rights plan (see "Description of Capital Stock -- Anti-takeover provisions -- Stockholder rights plan") such that the holders of notes would thereafter not be entitled to receive any such rights in respect to the common stock issuable upon conversion of such notes, the conversion rate will be adjusted as provided in clause (4) of the preceding paragraph (subject to readjustment in the event of the expiration, termination or redemption of the rights). In lieu of any such adjustment, VERITAS may amend the stockholder rights plan to provide that upon conversion of the notes the holders will receive, in addition to the common stock issuable upon such conversion, the rights which would have attached to such shares of common stock if the rights had not become separated from the common stock pursuant to the provisions of the stockholder rights plan.

In the case of:

- any reclassification of the common stock, or
- a consolidation, merger or combination involving VERITAS or a sale or conveyance to another person of the property and assets of VERITAS as an entirety or substantially as an entirety,

in each case as a result of which holders of common stock shall be entitled to receive stock, other securities, other property or assets (including cash) with respect to or in exchange for such common stock, the holders of the notes then outstanding will generally be entitled thereafter to convert such notes into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities or other property or assets which they would have owned or been entitled to receive upon such reclassification, change, consolidation, merger, combination, sale or conveyance had such notes been converted into common stock immediately prior to such reclassification, change, consolidation, merger, combination, sale or conveyance assuming that a

106

108

holder of notes would not have exercised any rights of election as to the stock, other securities or other property or assets receivable in connection therewith.

In the event of a taxable distribution to holders of common stock or in certain other circumstances requiring conversion rate adjustments, the holders of notes may, in certain circumstances, be deemed to have received a distribution subject to United States federal income tax as a dividend; in

certain other circumstances, the absence of such an adjustment may result in a taxable dividend to the holders of common stock.

VERITAS from time to time may, to the extent permitted by law, increase the conversion rate by any amount for any period of at least 20 days, in which case VERITAS shall give at least 15 days' notice of such increase if VERITAS's board of directors has made a determination that such increase would be in the best interests of VERITAS, which determination shall be conclusive. VERITAS may, at its option, make such increases in the conversion rate, in addition to those set forth above, as the board of directors deems advisable to avoid or diminish any income tax to holders of common stock resulting from any dividend or distribution of stock (or rights to acquire stock) or from any event treated as such for income tax purposes.

No adjustment in the conversion rate will be required unless such adjustment would require a change of at least one percent in the conversion rate then in effect; provided that any adjustment that would otherwise be required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. Except as stated above, the conversion rate will not be adjusted for the issuance of common stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for common stock or carrying the right to purchase any of the foregoing.

#### OPTIONAL REDEMPTION BY VERITAS

No sinking fund is provided for the notes. Prior to , 2002, the notes will not be redeemable at the option of VERITAS. At any time on or after such date, VERITAS may redeem the notes for cash as a whole at any time, or from time to time in part at the applicable Redemption Price together with accrued interest to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemptions; provided that any semi-annual payment of interest becoming due on the date fixed for redemption shall be payable to the holders of such notes registered on the relevant record date. Not less than 20 days' nor more than 60 days' notice of redemption shall be given by mail to holders of notes. In addition, the indenture will provide that notice of the redemption will be published in each of Blomberg Business News, Dow Jones News (DJN) and Reuter Financial Report in the City of New York. The notes will be redeemable in integral multiples of \$1,000 principal amount at maturity.

107

109

The table below shows Redemption Prices of a note per \$1,000 principal amount at maturity, at , 2002, at each thereafter prior to maturity and at maturity on , 2006, which prices reflect the accrued original issue discount calculated to each such date. The Redemption Price of a note redeemed between such dates would include an additional amount reflecting the additional original issue discount accrued since the next preceding date in the table to the actual Redemption Date.

## <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

			(2)	
		(1)	ACCRUED	(3)
		NOTE	ORIGINAL	REDEMPTION
		ISSUE	ISSUE	PRICE
	REDEMPTION DATE	PRICE	DISCOUNT	(1) + (2)
<s></s>		<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
	, 2002	Ş	\$	\$
	, 2003			
	, 2004			
	, 2005			
	, 2006			

  |  |  |  |If less than all of the outstanding notes are to be redeemed, the trustee shall select the notes to be redeemed in principal amounts of \$1,000 or multiples thereof by lot, pro rata or by another method the trustee considers fair and appropriate. If a portion of a holder's notes is selected for partial redemption and such holder converts a portion of such notes, such converted portion shall be deemed to be of the portion selected for redemption.

## REDEMPTION AT OPTION OF THE HOLDER

If a Fundamental Change (as defined below) occurs at any time prior to , 2006, each holder shall have the right, at the holder's option, to require VERITAS to redeem any or all of such holder's notes on the date (the "Fundamental Change Redemption Date") that is 45 days after the date of VERITAS's notice of such Fundamental Change. The notes will be redeemable in multiples of \$1,000 principal amount at maturity at their accreted value on the Fundamental Change Redemption Date.

(2)

VERITAS shall redeem such notes at a price (the "Fundamental Change Redemption Price") equal to the accreted value of the note to, but excluding, the Fundamental Change Redemption Date. The Fundamental Change Redemption Price is equal to:

-	- \$ 1999	if	the	Fundamental	Change	Redemption	Date	is	'
-	- \$ 2000	if	the	Fundamental	Change	Redemption	Date	is	,
-	- \$ 2001	if	the	Fundamental	Change	Redemption	Date	is	,
-	- \$ 2002	if	the	Fundamental	Change	Redemption	Date	is	,

- thereafter at the redemption price set forth under "-- Optional Redemption by VERITAS" which would be applicable to a redemption at the option of VERITAS on a Redemption Date.

However, if the Fundamental Change Redemption Date falls between two of these dates, the Fundamental Change Redemption Price will include an additional amount reflecting the additional original issue discount accrued since the preceding to the actual Fundamental Change Redemption Date. In each case, VERITAS shall also pay accrued interest on the redeemed notes to, but excluding, the Fundamental Change Redemption Date; provided that, if such Fundamental Change Redemption Date is an interest payment date, then the interest payable on such date shall be paid to the holder of record of the notes on the relevant record date.

108

110

VERITAS is required to mail to all holders of record of the notes a notice of the occurrence of a Fundamental Change and of the redemption right arising as a result thereof on or before the 30th day after the occurrence of such Fundamental Change. VERITAS is also required to deliver to the trustee a copy of such notice. To exercise the redemption right, a holder of notes must deliver, on or before the 30th day after the date of VERITAS's notice of a Fundamental Change, written notice of the holder's exercise of such right, together with the notes to be so redeemed, duly endorsed for transfer, to VERITAS (or an agent designated by VERITAS for such purpose).

The term "Fundamental Change" means the occurrence of any transaction or event in connection with which all or substantially all of VERITAS' common stock shall be exchanged for, converted into, acquired for or constitute solely the right to receive, consideration (whether by means of an exchange offer, liquidation, tender offer, consolidation, merger, combination, reclassification, recapitalization or otherwise) which is not all or substantially all common stock or shares which are (or, upon consummation of or immediately following such transaction or event, will be) listed on a United States national securities exchange or approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market or any similar United States system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities prices.

VERITAS will comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4 and any other tender offer rules under the Exchange Act which may then be applicable in connection with the redemption rights of note holders in the event of a Fundamental Change. The redemption rights of the holders of notes could discourage a potential acquiror of VERITAS. The Fundamental Change redemption feature, however, is not the result of management's knowledge of any specific effort to obtain control of VERITAS by means of a merger, tender offer, solicitation, or otherwise, or part of a plan by management to adopt a series of antitakeover provisions.

VERITAS may, in the future, enter into certain transactions, including certain recapitalizations of VERITAS, that would not constitute a Fundamental Change, but that would increase the amount of indebtedness, including Senior Debt, outstanding at such time. Further, payment of the Fundamental Change Redemption Price on the notes may be subordinated to the prior payment of Senior Debt as described under "-- Subordination of Notes" below. There are no restrictions in the indenture on the creation of additional Senior Debt or other indebtedness. Under certain circumstances, the incurrence of additional indebtedness could have an adverse effect on VERITAS's ability to service its indebtedness, including the notes. If a Fundamental Change were to occur, there can be no assurance that VERITAS would have sufficient funds to pay the Fundamental Change Redemption Price for all notes tendered by the holders thereof. A default by VERITAS on its obligations to pay the Fundamental Change Redemption Price could result in acceleration of the payment of other indebtedness of VERITAS at the time outstanding pursuant to cross-default provisions.

#### SUBORDINATION OF NOTES

The payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the notes will, to the extent set forth in the indenture, be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all Senior Debt (as defined below). Upon any payment or distribution of assets to creditors upon any liquidation, dissolution, winding up, reorganization, assignment for the benefit of creditors, marshalling of assets or any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings, the holders of all Senior Debt will first be entitled to receive payment in full of all amounts due or to become due thereon before the holders of the notes will be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the notes. In the event of the acceleration of the maturity of any notes, the holders of all Senior Debt will first be entitled to receive payment in full of all amounts due or to become due thereon before the holders of the notes will be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the notes.

109

111

VERITAS also may not make any payment upon or in respect of the notes, including upon redemption at the option of the holder of any note or at VERITAS's option, if:

- a default in the payment of the principal, premium, if any, interest, rent or other payment obligations in respect of Senior Debt occurs and is continuing (a "Payment Default") or
- any other default occurs and is continuing with respect to Designated Senior Debt (as defined below) that permits a holder of the Designated Senior Debt to which such default relates to accelerate its maturity and the trustee receives a written notice of such default (a "Payment Blockage Notice") from VERITAS or any other person permitted to give such notice under the indenture (a "Non-Payment Default").

Payments on the notes may and shall be resumed:

a. in the case of a Payment Default, upon the date on which a Payment Default is cured or waived or ceases to exist and

b. in the case of a Non-Payment Default, on the earlier of the date on which such Non-Payment Default is cured or waived or ceases to exist or 179 days after the date on which the applicable Payment Blockage Notice is received by the trustee if the maturity of such Designated Senior Debt has not been accelerated and no Payment Default with respect to any Designated Senior Debt has occurred which has not been cured or waived (in which case clause (a) shall instead be applicable).

No new period of payment blockage may be commenced pursuant to a Payment Blockage Notice until 365 days have elapsed since the initial effectiveness of the immediately prior Payment Blockage Notice and all scheduled payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the notes that have come due have been paid in full in cash. No Non-Payment Default that existed on the date of delivery of any Payment Blockage Notice to the trustee shall be the basis for a subsequent Payment Blockage Notice, unless such Non-Payment Default is based upon facts or events arising after the date of such Payment Blockage Notice.

By reason of such subordination, in the event of insolvency, creditors of VERITAS who are not holders of Senior Debt or of the notes may recover less, ratably, than holders of Senior Debt and may recover more, ratably, than holders of the notes. The notes are also subordinated by operation of law to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables and lease obligations) of VERITAS' subsidiaries.

The term "Senior Debt" is defined to mean the principal of, premium, if any, interest and rent payable in connection with, and all fees, costs, expenses and other amounts accrued or due on or in connection with, indebtedness of VERITAS, whether outstanding on the date of execution of the indenture or thereafter created or incurred and whether contingent or otherwise, including,

(a) indebtedness of VERITAS for borrowed money, including indebtedness in respect of overdrafts, foreign exchange contracts, currency exchange agreements, interest rate protection agreements, and loans or advances from banks, or evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, or for the deferred and unpaid purchase price of any assets or property;

(b) all obligations and other liabilities of VERITAS with respect to letters of credit, bank guarantees or bankers' acceptances;

(c) all obligations and liabilities in respect of leases of VERITAS required to be accounted for as capitalized lease obligations on the balance sheet of VERITAS, leases for facilities, equipment or related

assets (whether or not capitalized) entered into or leased for financing purposes (as determined by VERITAS, and leases and purchase agreements for real property which provide that

110

#### 112

VERITAS is contractually obligated to purchase or cause a third party to purchase the leased property and thereby guarantee a minimum residual value of the leased property to the lessor;

(d) all obligations of VERITAS with respect to interest rate or other swap, cap or collar agreements or foreign currency hedge, exchange, or purchase agreements;

(e) indebtedness of others of the kinds described in the preceding clauses (a) through (d) that VERITAS have assumed, guaranteed or otherwise assured the payment of, directly or indirectly;

(f) any indebtedness and obligations of VERITAS described in the preceding clauses (a) through (e) secured by any lien on property which is owned or held by VERITAS; and

(g) deferrals, renewals, extensions, refinancings and refundings of, or amendments, modifications or supplements to, any indebtedness, obligation or liability of the kind described in the preceding clauses (a) through (f).

Senior Debt does not include (1) for compensation to employees, or for goods, services or materials purchased in the ordinary course of business, (2) indebtedness of VERITAS to any subsidiary, a majority of the voting stock of which is owned directly or indirectly by VERITAS, and (3) any particular indebtedness, deferral, renewal, extension or refunding if it is expressly stated in the governing terms or in the assumption or guarantee, thereof that the indebtedness involved is not Senior Debt.

The term "Designated Senior Debt" is defined to mean any Senior Debt in which the governing instrument, agreements or documents to which VERITAS is a party expressly provides that such Senior Debt shall be "Designated Senior Debt" for purposes of the indenture. Such instrument, agreement or other document may place limitations and conditions on the right of such Senior Debt to exercise the rights of Designated Senior Debt.

As of June 30, 1999, VERITAS had Senior Debt outstanding in the principal amount of \$37.8 million. VERITAS expects from time to time to incur additional indebtedness constituting Senior Debt. The indenture does not prohibit or limit the incurrence of additional Senior Debt.

The notes shall be pari passu, or equal in right of priority of payment, to VERITAS' 5.25% convertible subordinated notes due 2004.

## EVENTS OF DEFAULT; NOTICE AND WAIVER

The indenture will provide that if any Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount at maturity of the notes then outstanding may declare due and payable immediately the sum of the issue price plus accrued original issue discount from the date of issue of the notes to the date of declaration and accrued interest, but if VERITAS shall cure all defaults (except the nonpayment of principal amount at maturity, issue price and accrued original issue discount, Redemption Price, Fundamental Change Redemption Price and interest which shall have become due by acceleration) and certain other conditions are met, such declaration may be annulled and past defaults may be waived by the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount at maturity of the notes then outstanding. In the case of certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, the issue price of the notes plus the original issue discount and any interest accrued thereon to the occurrence of such event shall automatically become and be immediately due and payable. Prior to any declaration accelerating the maturity of the notes, under some circumstances, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount at maturity of the outstanding notes may waive any past default and its consequences. If the trustee so demands, interest shall accrue and be payable upon a default in the payment of the principal amount at maturity, issue price, accrued original issue discount, any Redemption Price or Fundamental Change Redemption Price and any interest to the extent that payment of such interest shall be legally enforceable.

113

Under the indenture, Events of Default are defined as:

- default in payment of the principal amount at maturity, issue price, accrued original issue discount, Redemption Price or Fundamental Change Redemption Price with respect to any note when such becomes due and payable (whether or not payment is prohibited by the provisions of the indenture)
- default for 30 days in payment of any installment of interest on the notes,
- failure by VERITAS to comply with any of its other agreements in the notes or the indenture upon the receipt by VERITAS of notice of such default by the trustee or by holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount at maturity of the notes then outstanding and VERITAS's failure to cure such default within 60 days after receipt by VERITAS of such notice, or
- certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency.

The indenture will provide that the trustee may withhold notice to the holders of notes of any default (except in payment of the principal amount at maturity, issue price, accrued original issue discount, Redemption Price, Fundamental Change Redemption Price or interest on, the notes) if the trustee considers it in the interest of the holders of the notes to do so.

#### MODIFICATION

The indenture contains provisions permitting VERITAS and the trustee, with the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount at maturity of the notes at the time outstanding, to modify the indenture or any supplemental indenture or the rights of the holders of the notes, except that no such modification shall:

- extend the fixed maturity of any note, reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, change the rate of accrual or extend the time of payment in connection with original issue discount, reduce the principal amount at maturity thereof, reduce any amount payable upon redemption thereof, change the obligation of VERITAS to make redemption of any note upon the happening of any Fundamental Change, impair or affect the right of a holder to institute suit for the payment thereof, change the currency in which the notes are payable, impair the right to convert the notes into common stock subject to the terms set forth in the indenture or modify the provisions of the indenture with respect to the subordination of the notes in a manner adverse to the holders of the notes in any material respect, without the consent of the holder of each note so affected, or
- reduce the aforesaid percentage of notes the holders of which are required to consent to any such modification, without the consent of the holders of all the notes then outstanding.

#### LIMITATIONS OF CLAIMS IN BANKRUPTCY

If a bankruptcy proceeding is commenced in respect of VERITAS or VERITAS Operating Corporation, the claim of the holder of a note is, under Title 11 of the United States Code, limited to the issue price of the note plus that portion of the original issue discount and interest that has accrued from the date of issue to the commencement of the proceeding. In addition, the holders of the notes will be subordinated in right of payment to Senior Debt and effectively subordinated to the indebtedness and other obligations of VERITAS' subsidiaries.

#### TAXATION OF NOTES

See "Certain Federal Income Tax Considerations" for a discussion of certain federal tax aspects which will apply to holders of notes.

#### 112

## 114

#### INFORMATION CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE

, as the trustee under the indenture, has been appointed by VERITAS as paying agent, conversion agent, registrar and custodian with regard to the notes. The indenture provides that in case an Event of Default has occurred, the trustee thereunder will exercise such rights and powers vested in it under the indenture and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent person would exercise under the circumstances in the conduct of such person's own affairs.

The indenture and provisions of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, incorporated by reference therein contain limitations on the rights of the trustee thereunder, should it become a creditor of VERITAS, to obtain payment of certain claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received by it in respect of any such claims, as security or otherwise. The trustee is permitted to engage in other transactions; provided, however, that if it acquires any conflicting interest (within the meaning of the Trust Indenture Act) it must eliminate such conflicting interest or resign.

## CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of certain United States federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes and the conversion of the notes into common stock, but does not purport to be a complete analysis of all the potential tax considerations relating thereto. This summary is based on laws, regulations, rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change. This summary deals only with holders that will hold the notes and common stock as capital assets and does not address tax considerations applicable to investors that may be subject to special tax rules such as banks, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or currencies, persons that will hold notes or common stock as part of an integrated investment (including a "straddle") comprised of notes or shares of common stock and one or more other positions, persons that have a "functional currency" other than the U.S. dollar or holders of notes that did not acquire the notes in the initial distribution thereof at their original issue price. Investors considering the purchase of notes should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the application of the federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, the term "United States Holder" means the beneficial owner of a note or common stock that is, for United States federal income tax purposes, (1) a citizen or resident of the United States, (2) a United States domestic corporation or (3) otherwise subject to United States federal income taxation on a net income basis.

#### INTEREST AND ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT

Payments of interest on the notes will constitute "qualified stated interest" (as defined below) and will generally be taxable to a United States Holder as ordinary interest income at the time such interest is received or accrued, in accordance with such holder's method of accounting for federal income tax purposes.

The notes will be treated as original issue discount obligations under United States federal income tax law, and United States Holders of notes generally will be subject to the special tax accounting rules for original issue discount obligations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and certain regulations promulgated thereunder. Accordingly, as described in more detail below, United States Holders of the notes will be required to include original issue discount in gross income as ordinary income as it accrues, in advance of the receipt of cash attributable to that income.

The aggregate amount of original issue discount on each note will be the amount by which the note's stated redemption price at maturity exceeds its issue price. Generally, a note's issue price is the first price at which a substantial amount of notes included in the issue of which the note is a part is sold to persons

113

## 115

other than bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers. A note's stated redemption price at maturity is the total of all payments provided by the note that are not payments of qualified stated interest (as defined below).

Each United States Holder of a note, whether such holder uses the cash or the accrual method of tax accounting, will be required to include in gross income the sum of the "daily portions" of original issue discount on that note for all days during the taxable year that the United States Holder owns the note. The daily portions of original issue discount on a Note are determined by allocating to each day in any accrual period (each successive period that ends on an interest payment date) a ratable portion of the original issue discount allocable to that accrual period. The amount of original issue discount allocable to each accrual period is determined by (i) multiplying the "adjusted issue price" (as defined below) at the beginning of the accrual period by the annual yield to maturity of the note (adjusted to account for the length of the accrual period) and (ii) subtracting from that product the amount of qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period. The "adjusted issue price" of a note at the beginning of any accrual period will be the sum of its issue price and the amount of original issue discount allocable to all prior accrual periods, reduced by the amount of all payments previously made on the notes that were not qualified stated interest payments. The term "qualified stated interest" generally means stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of VERITAS) at least annually

during the entire term of the notes at a single fixed rate of interest or, subject to certain conditions, based on one or more interest indices. As a result of this "constant yield" method of including original issue discount in income, the amounts includable in income by a United States Holder in respect of a note are generally lesser in the early years and greater in the later years than the amounts that would be includable on a straight-line basis.

#### SALE, EXCHANGE OR RETIREMENT OF THE NOTES

Upon the sale, exchange or retirement (including a redemption by VERITAS) of a note, a United States Holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, exchange or retirement (except to the extent such amount is attributable to accrued interest income, which will be treated as such) and such holder's adjusted tax basis in the note. A holder's adjusted tax basis in a note will generally be equal to the amount paid for the note by such holder increased by any original issue discount included in income by the holder, and reduced by any payments received, other than payments of qualified stated interest. Such capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the United States Holder's holding period in the Note is more than one year at the time of disposition. The distinction between capital gain or loss and ordinary income or loss is important for purposes of the limitations on a United States Holder's ability to offset capital losses against ordinary income and because United States Holders that are individuals may be entitled to a preferential rate on long-term capital gains.

## CONVERSION OF THE NOTES

A United States Holder generally will not recognize any income (other than accrued interest income, which will be treated as such), gain, or loss upon conversion of a note into common stock except with respect to cash received in lieu of a fractional share of common stock. Such holder's basis in the common stock received on conversion of a note will be the same as such holder's tax basis in the note at the time of conversion (reduced by any basis allocable to a fractional share interest as described below and increased by the income recognized with respect to accrued interest), and the holding period for the common stock received on conversion will include the holding period of the note converted, except that the holding period of the common stock allocable to accrued interest may commence with the conversion.

114

#### 116

Cash received in lieu of a fractional share of common stock upon conversion will be treated as a payment in exchange for the fractional share interest in the common stock. Accordingly, the receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share of common stock will generally result in capital gain or loss (measured by the difference between the cash received for the fractional share and the United States Holder's basis in the fractional share).

#### CONSTRUCTIVE DIVIDENDS

If at any time (a) VERITAS makes a distribution to its shareholders or purchases common stock in a tender offer and such distribution or purchase would be taxable to such stockholders as a dividend for United States federal income tax purposes (e.g., distributions of evidences of indebtedness or assets of the Company, but generally not stock dividends or rights to subscribe for common stock) and, pursuant to the antidilution provisions of the indenture, the conversion rate of the notes is increased, or (b) the conversion rate of the notes is increased at the discretion of VERITAS, such increase may be deemed to be the payment of a taxable dividend to holders or beneficial owners of notes (pursuant to Section 305 of the Code). Holders of notes therefore could have taxable income as a result of an event in which they receive no cash or property.

## INFORMATION REPORTING AND BACKUP WITHHOLDING TAX

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest on a note, payments of dividends on common stock, and payment of the proceeds of the sale of a note or common stock to certain non-corporate United States Holders, and a 31% backup withholding tax may apply to such payments if the United States Holder (i) fails to furnish or certify its correct taxpayer identification number to the payor in the manner required, (ii) is notified by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") that it has failed to report payments of interest and dividends properly, or (iii) under certain circumstances, fails to certify that it has not been notified by the IRS that it is subject to backup withholding for failure to report interest and dividend payments. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a United States Holder will be allowed as a credit against such holder's United States federal income tax liability and may entitle the United States Holder to a refund.

#### NON-UNITED STATES HOLDERS

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding below, payments of interest (including original issue discount) on the notes to, or on behalf of, any beneficial owner of a Note that is, with respect to the United States, a nonresident alien or a foreign corporation and that is not subject to United States federal income tax as a result of any direct or indirect connection to the United States other than its ownership of a Note or common stock (a "Non-United States Holder") will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding taxes, provided that the Non-United States Holder provides an appropriate statement (generally on IRS Form W-8 or a successor form thereto), signed under penalties of perjury, identifying the holder and stating that the holder is not a U.S. person and provided that the Non-United States Holder is not a "10% shareholder" or "related controlled foreign corporation" with respect to the Company. If these conditions are not met, a 30% withholding tax will apply to interest income from the notes, unless an income tax treaty reduces or eliminates such tax. A 30% withholding tax will apply to dividends paid on shares of common stock (or deemed paid, on a note as described under "Constructive Dividends") held by a Non-United States Holder, unless an income tax treaty reduces or eliminates such tax.

Any capital gain realized on the sale, exchange, redemption or other disposition of a note or shares of common stock (including the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares upon conversion of a note into shares of common stock) by a Non-United States Holder will not be subject to United States federal income or withholding taxes unless, in the case of an individual, such holder is present in the United

115

117

States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the sale, exchange, redemption, or other disposition and certain other conditions are met.

Except as described above with respect to the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares by certain Non-United States Holders upon conversion of notes or the receipt of common stock attributable to accrued interest, no United States federal income or withholding taxes will be imposed upon the conversion of notes into shares of common stock.

If interest with respect to the notes, dividends on common stock or capital gain on the sale, exchange or other disposition of the notes or common stock is "effectively connected" with the conduct of a trade or business by a nonresident alien or foreign corporation in the United States, such income will be subject to United States federal income tax at the same rate that applies for United States Holders and may also be subject to a United States "branch profits tax" at a 30% rate (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty).

## U.S. INFORMATION REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND BACKUP WITHHOLDING TAX

U.S. information reporting requirements and backup withholding tax will not apply to payments made on notes or shares of common stock to a Non-United States Holder at an address outside the United States, except that with respect to payments made after December 31, 2000, a Non-United States Holder will be entitled to such exemption only if it provides a Form W-8 (or satisfies certain documentary evidence requirements for establishing that it is a non-United States person) or otherwise establishes an exemption. Information reporting and backup withholding also generally will not apply to a payment of the proceeds of a sale of notes or common stock effected outside the United States by a foreign office of a foreign broker. However, information reporting requirements (but not backup withholding) will apply to a payment of the proceeds of a sale of notes or common stock effected outside the United States by a foreign office of a broker if the broker (i) is a United States person, (ii) derives 50 percent or more of its gross income for certain periods from the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, (iii) is a "controlled foreign corporation" as to the United States, or (iv) with respect to payments made after December 31, 2000, is a foreign partnership that, at any time during its taxable year is 50 percent or more (by income or capital interest) owned by United States persons or is engaged in the conduct of a U.S. trade or business, unless in any such case the broker has documentary evidence in its records that the holder is a and certain conditions are met, or the holder otherwise establishes an exemption. Payment by a United States office of a broker of the proceeds of a sale of common stock will be subject to both backup withholding and information reporting unless the holder certifies its non-United States status under penalties of perjury or otherwise establishes an exemption.

UNDERWRITERS

Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in an underwriting agreement dated , 1999, the underwriters named below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, SG Cowen Securities Corporation and Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation are acting as representatives, have severally agreed to purchase, and VERITAS has agreed to sell to them, the aggregate principal amount at maturity of the notes set forth opposite the name of such underwriters below at a purchase price of % of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest, if any, from , 1999 to the date of payment and delivery. After the initial offering of the notes, the offering price and other selling terms may from time to time be varied by the representatives.

#### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

NAME	PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AT MATURITY
<s> Morgan Stanley &amp; Co. Incorporated Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation SG Cowen Securities Corporation Donaldson, Lufkin &amp; Jenrette Securities Corporation</s>	<c></c>
Total	

</TABLE>

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the several underwriters to pay for and accept delivery of the notes are subject to the approval of certain legal matters by their counsel and to certain other conditions. The underwriters are obligated to take and pay for all of the notes offered hereby (other than the notes covered by the underwriters' over-allotment option described below) if any are taken.

VERITAS has granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days from the date of the underwriting agreement, to purchase up to an additional principal amount at maturity of the notes solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any. The underwriters may exercise such option solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, made in connection with the offering of the notes. To the extent such option is exercised, each underwriter will become obligated, subject to certain conditions, to purchase approximately the same percentage of such additional principal amount at maturity of notes as the number set forth next to such underwriter's name in the preceding table bears to the total principal amount at maturity of notes set forth next to the names of all underwriters in the preceding table.

The underwriting agreement provides that VERITAS and VERITAS Operating Corporation will indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities under the Securities Act.

The notes are expected to be eligible for trading in the PORTAL Market. The underwriters have advised VERITAS that they presently intend to make a market in the notes as permitted by applicable laws and regulations. The underwriters are not obligated, however, to make a market in the notes and any such market making may be discontinued at any time at the sole discretion of the initial purchasers. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or trading markets for, the notes.

VERITAS, certain of its executive officers (except as to 600,000 shares of common stock in the aggregate) and directors and certain significant shareholders (who, as of , 1999, owned an aggregate of

shares of common stock) have agreed that they will not (a) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for common stock, or (b) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another person, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the common stock, whether any such transaction

117

## 119

described in clause (a) or (b) above is to be settled by delivery of common stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, for a 90-day period after the date of the final prospectus related to this offering, without the prior written consent of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, except that VERITAS may, without such consent, (1) issue the notes or the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes on other notes outstanding on the date hereof and (2) grant options or issue stock upon the exercise of outstanding stock options pursuant to VERITAS' stock option plans.

In order to facilitate the offering of the notes and the common stock, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the notes or the common stock. Specifically, the underwriters may over-allot in connection with the offering, creating a short position in the notes for their own account. In addition, to cover over-allotments or to stabilize the price of the notes and common stock, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, the notes or shares of common stock in the open market. Finally, the underwriters may reclaim selling concessions allowed to an underwriter or a dealer for distributing the notes in the offering, if the underwriters repurchase previously distributed notes in transactions to cover underwriter short positions, in stabilization transactions or otherwise. Any of these activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of the notes and the common stock above independent market levels. The underwriters are not required to engage in these activities, and may end any of these activities at any time.

Some of the underwriters have engaged in transactions with and performed various investment banking and other services for VERITAS in the past, and may do so from time to time in the future.

118

120

## LEGAL MATTERS

Fenwick & West LLP, Palo Alto, California, will provide VERITAS with an opinion as to legal matters in connection with the notes and common stock offered by this prospectus. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the underwriters by Davis Polk & Wardwell, New York, New York.

#### EXPERTS

Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, have audited our consolidated financial statements and schedule at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, as set forth in their report. We have included our financial statements and schedule in the prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP's report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, have audited the combined financial statements of the Network & Storage Management Group at July 3, 1998 and June 27, 1997, and for each of the three years in the period ended July 3, 1998, as set forth in their report. We have included the Network & Storage Management Group's financial statements in the prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP's report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

The financial statements of TeleBackup at December 31, 1997 and 1998 and for the years in the three year period ended December 31, 1998 have been included in this document in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP, independent chartered accountants, appearing elsewhere in this document, and upon the authority of that firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

## WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 with respect to the notes and common stock offered by us. This prospectus, which constitutes a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information in the registration statement or the exhibits and schedules that are part of the registration statement. For further information with respect to VERITAS and the common stock, please see the registration statement. You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC's public reference rooms in Washington, D.C., New York, New York and Chicago, Illinois. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference rooms. Our SEC filings are also available to the public from the SEC's Web site at http://www.sec.gov.

We are subject to the information and periodic reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act. As required by the Securities Exchange Act, we will file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These periodic reports, proxy statements and other information will be available for inspection and copying at the SEC's public reference rooms and the Web site of the SEC referred to above.

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

<TABLE> <C> <S> VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION -- CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors..... F-2 Consolidated Balance Sheets As of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and March 31, 1999 F-3 (unaudited)..... Consolidated Statements of Operations Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 and Three Months Ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 (unaudited) ..... F-4 Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 and F-5 Three Months Ended March 31, 1999 (unaudited)..... Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 and Three Months Ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 (unaudited)..... F-6 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements..... F-7 VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION -- UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Overview..... F-26 Pro Forma Combined Condensed Statements of Operations..... F-28 Year Ended December 31, 1998 and Three Months Ended March 31, 1999 Pro Forma Combined Condensed Balance Sheet..... F-30 As of March 31, 1999 Notes to Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements..... F-31 NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors..... F-41 Combined Balance Sheets..... F-42 As of June 27, 1997, July 3, 1998 and April 2, 1999 (unaudited) Combined Statements of Operations..... F-43 Years Ended June 28, 1996, June 27, 1997, July 3, 1998, and Nine Months Ended April 3, 1998, and April 2. 1999 (unaudited) Combined Statements of Cash Flows..... F-44 Years Ended June 28, 1996, June 27, 1997, July 3, 1998, and Nine Months Ended April 3, 1998, and April 2, 1999 (unaudited) Combined Statements of Group Equity..... F-45 Years Ended June 28, 1996, June 27, 1997, July 3, 1998 and Nine Months Ended April 2, 1999 (unaudited) Notes to Combined Financial Statements..... F-46 TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC. Auditors' Report to the Directors..... F-73 Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and March 31, 1999 (unaudited)..... F-74 Statements of Operations and Deficit Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 and Three Months Ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 (unaudited)..... F-75 Statements of Changes in Financial Position Years Ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 and Three Months Ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 (unaudited) ..... F-76 Notes to Financial Statements..... F-77 </TABLE>

122

## REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

F-1

The Stockholders and Board of Directors VERITAS Software Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of VERITAS Software Corporation as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 16(b). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of VERITAS Software Corporation at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

## /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Jose, California January 27, 1999

F-2

123

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

## ASSETS

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

NORE I LONZ	DECEMBER 31,		MADOT 01	
	1997	1998	MARCH 31, 1999	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	(UNAUDITED) <c></c>	
Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents Short-term investments Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$1,597, \$2,572 and \$2,800 at December	\$ 75,629 115,131	\$139,086 72,040	\$111,324 97,225	
31, 1997, 1998 and March 31, 1999, respectively Prepaid expenses	30,296 4,298	52,697 13,509	50,210 21,309	
Total current assets Long-term investments Property and equipment, net Other assets	225,354  10,109 6,417	277,332 31,925 26,518 13,342	280,068 47,859 32,528 14,421	
	\$241,880	\$349,117 ======	\$374,876	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued compensation and benefits Other accrued liabilities Income taxes payable Deferred revenue.	EQUITY \$ 1,552 6,595 8,407 2,773 17,449	\$ 4,958 11,267 11,196 13,424 37,645	\$ 4,390 7,473 11,488 17,388 43,149	
Total current liabilities Deferred rent Convertible subordinated notes Commitments and contingencies Stockholders' equity: Preferred stock, \$.001 par value: 10,000 shares authorized: none issued and	36,776 911 100,000	78,490 773 100,000	83,888 733 100,000	
outstanding Common stock, \$.001 par value: 500,000 shares authorized; 92,255, 95,257 and 96,185 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 1997				
and 1998 and March 31, 1999 respectively Additional paid-in capital Accumulated deficit. Deferred compensation Accumulated other comprehensive loss	46 185,841 (81,064) (64) (566)	48 199,810 (29,416) (32) (556)	48 206,863 (15,833) (24) (799)	
Total stockholders' equity	104,193	169,854	190,255	

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### F-3

## 124

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

<caption></caption>		ENDED DECEME	MARC	THS ENDED H 31,	
		1997	1998	1998	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>		 DITED) <c></c>
Net revenue: User license fees Services	\$59,223 13,523	\$ 95,714 25,411	\$167,703 43,162	\$30,689 8,393	\$55,786 16,118
Total net revenue Cost of revenue:	72,746	121,125	210,865		71,904
User license fees Services	3,020 4,442	4,731 11,714		4,500	1,955 6,527
Total cost of revenue		16,445	29,461	6,466	8,482
Gross profit Operating expenses:		104,680	181,404	32,616	63,422
Selling and marketing Research and development General and administrative	25,998 18,480 6,748	42,868 25,219 8,027	76,392 40,239 10,505		26,823 13,816 3,289
Merger-related costs In-process research and		8,490			
development	2,200		600		
Total operating expenses	53,426	84,604	127,736		43,928
Income from operations Interest and other income, net Interest expense	11,858 2,785 (343)	20,076 4,889 (1,206)	53,668 11,821 (5,700)	2,685	19,494 3,031 (1,433)
Income before income taxes Provision for income taxes	14,300 2,171	23,759 1,010	59,789 8,141	11,103 2,048	21,092 7,509
Net income	\$12,129 ======	\$ 22,749 ======	\$ 51,648	\$ 9,055 ======	\$13,583
Net income per share basic	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.55	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.14 ======
Net income per share diluted	\$ 0.13 ======	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.50 ======	\$ 0.09 ======	\$ 0.13 ======
Number of shares used in computing per share amounts basic	86,052	91,244		92,868 ======	95,644 ======
Number of shares used in computing per share amounts diluted	92,992	98,986 ======	103,342	101,900	106,272

</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

125

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

F-4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (IN THOUSANDS)

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

> CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK COMMON STOCK ADDITIONAL

NOTES RECEIVABLE FROM

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

	SHARES	AMOUNT	SHARES	AMOUNT	CAPITAL	DEFICIT	STOCKHOLDERS
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1995	9,384	\$ 120	64,608	\$32	\$140,153	\$(115,942)	\$ (527)
Comprehensive income							
Net income Foreign currency translation						12,129	
adjustment							
Comprehensive income							
Conversion of preferred stock to common	(0, 20.4)	(100)	10 7 60	0	117		
stock Issuance of common stock	(9,384)	(120)	18,768 4,534	9 2	117 36,437		
Exercise of stock options and							
warrants Issuance of common stock under employee			1,326	1	1,091		
stock purchase plan Payments on notes receivable from			842	1	1,567		
stockholders Amortization of deferred							245
compensation							
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1996 Comprehensive income			90,078	45	179,365	(103,813)	(282)
Net income Foreign currency translation						22,749	
adjustment							
Comprehensive income							
Exercise of stock options Issuance of common stock under employee			1,666	1	3,269		
stock purchase plan Payments on notes receivable from			510		2,507		
stockholders Amortization of deferred							282
compensation							
Tax benefit related to stock options					700		
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1997 Comprehensive income			92,254	46	185,841	(81,064)	
Net income						51,648	
Foreign currency translation adjustment							
Comprehensive income							
Exercise of stock options Issuance of common stock under employee			2,466	1	10,402		
stock purchase plan Amortization of deferred			538	1	3,567		
compensation							
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1998 Comprehensive income			95 <b>,</b> 258	48	199,810	(29,416)	
Net income (unaudited) Foreign currency translation						13,583	
adjustment (unaudited)							
Comprehensive income (unaudited) Exercise of stock options							
(unaudited) Issuance of common stock under employee			760		4,515		
stock purchase plan (unaudited) Amortization of deferred compensation			166		2,538		
(unaudited)							
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 1999 (UNAUDITED)		s	96,184	 \$48	\$206,863	\$ (15,833)	\$
LILLOU MI MINON SI, 1999 (ONADDITED)		=====	======	===	======	=======	=====

<CAPTION>

	DEFERRED COMPENSATION	ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)	TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1995 Comprehensive income	\$(129)	\$(105)	\$ 23,602
Net income Foreign currency translation			12,129
adjustment		(158)	(158)
Comprehensive income Conversion of preferred stock to common			11,971
stock			6
Issuance of common stock Exercise of stock options and			36,439

warrants			1,092
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan			1,568
Payments on notes receivable from stockholders			245
Amortization of deferred compensation	32		32
<u>-</u>			
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1996 Comprehensive income	(97)	(263)	74,955
Net income Foreign currency translation			22,749
adjustment		(303)	(303)
Comprehensive income			22,446
Exercise of stock options Issuance of common stock under employee			3,270
stock purchase plan Payments on notes receivable from			2,507
stockholders Amortization of deferred			282
compensation	33		33
Tax benefit related to stock options			700
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1997 Comprehensive income	(64)	(566)	104,193
Net income Foreign currency translation			51,648
adjustment		10	10
Comprehensive income			51,658
Exercise of stock options Issuance of common stock under employee			10,403
stock purchase plan Amortization of deferred			3,568
compensation	32		32
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 1998 Comprehensive income	(32)	(556)	169,854
Net income (unaudited) Foreign currency translation			13,583
adjustment (unaudited)		(243)	(243)
Comprehensive income (unaudited) Exercise of stock options			13,340
(unaudited) Issuance of common stock under employee			4,515
stock purchase plan (unaudited) Amortization of deferred compensation			2,538
(unaudited)	8		8
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 1999 (UNAUDITED)	\$ (24) =====	\$ (799)	\$190,255

## </TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

## F-5

126

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (IN THOUSANDS)

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	YEARS	ENDED DECEME	THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,		
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999
	(UNAUDITED)				ITED)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net income	\$ 12,129	\$ 22,749	\$ 51,648	\$ 9,055	\$ 13,583
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net					
cash provided by operating activities:					
Depreciation and amortization	3,672	3,116	7,056	1,171	2,718
Amortization of bond issuance costs		91	428	107	107
Deferred rent	411	(94)	(138)	(39)	(40)
In-process research and development	2,200		600		

Benefit from deferred income taxes		(4,200)	(8,000)		
Non-cash merger-related costs Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		1,218			
Accounts receivable	(5,966)	(14,601)	(22,127)	463	2,487
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(1,001)	(267)	(8,136)	781	(9,071)
Accounts payable and accrued	(1,001)	(207)	(0,100)	101	(), (), 1)
liabilities	1,840	9,438	21,299	2,717	(106)
Deferred revenue	1,084	9,370	20,167	1,072	5,504
Net cash provided by operating activities Cash flows from investing activities:	14,369	26,820	62,797	15,327	15,182
Purchases of investments	(69,761)	(144,907)	(284,819)	(105,748)	(83,409)
Investment maturities	47,025	79,921	296,048	82,474	42,290
Payment received on note	282	108			
Purchase of property and equipment	(5,469)	(6,181)	(23,424)	(4,691)	(8,635)
Purchase of Windward Technologies, Inc			(1,250)		
Purchase of ACSC	(3,450)				
Net cash used for investing activities Financing activities:	(31,373)	(71,059)	(13,445)	(27,965)	(49,754)
Repayment of short-term borrowings	(2,061)				
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	39,105	5,777	13,971	4,309	7,053
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible					
debt Principal payments under capital lease		97,500			
obligations	(116)				
Payments of notes payable	(6,153)	(612)			
Payments on notes receivable from					
stockholders	245	282			
Net cash provided by financing activities	31,020	102,947	13,971	4,309	7,053
Effect of exchange rate changes	(132)	(490)	134	3	(243)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash	12 004	F0 010	C2 457	(0, 220)	(07 7(0)
equivalents	13,884	58,218	63,457	(8,326)	(27,762)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of	2 5 2 7	17 411	75 600	75 600	120 006
period	3,527	17,411	75,629	75,629	139,086
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period		\$ 75,629	\$ 139,086	\$ 67,303	\$111,324
cash and cash equivarenes at end of period	÷ 17,411	÷ 73,029	÷ 135,000	÷ 07,505	========
Supplemental disclosures:					
Cash paid for interest	\$ 1,289	\$	\$ 5,521	\$	\$
	=======	· =========	=========	÷ =========	÷ ========
Cash paid for income taxes	\$ 1,341	\$ 1,703	\$ 6,245	\$ 513	\$ 3,217
	=======	=========		========	=======
Conversion of preferred stock to common					
stock	\$ 71,806	\$	\$	\$	\$
	=======				

#### </TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-6

127

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

## NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

VERITAS Software Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the Company) develops, markets and supports enterprise data storage management solutions, providing advanced storage management software for open system environments. The Company's products provide performance improvement and reliability enhancement features that are critical for many commercial applications. These products provide protection against data loss and file corruption, rapid recovery after disk or system failure, the ability to process large files efficiently and the ability to manage and backup large networks of systems without interrupting users. In addition, the Company's products provide an automated failover between computer systems organized in clusters sharing disk resources. The Company's highly scalable products can be used independently, and certain products can be combined to provide interoperable client/server storage management solutions. The Company's products offer centralized administration with a high degree of automation, enabling customers to manage complex, distributed environments cost effectively by increasing system administrator productivity and system availability. The Company also provides a comprehensive range of services to assist customers in planning and implementing storage management solutions. The Company markets its products and associated services to OEM and end-user

customers through a combination of direct sales and indirect sales channels. These indirect sales channels include resellers, VARs, hardware distributors, application software vendors and systems integrators.

## Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. As more fully described in Note 2, the Company merged with OpenVision Technologies, Inc. (OpenVision) in April 1997 in a pooling of interests transaction.

### Interim Financial Information

The interim financial information at March 31, 1999 and for the three months ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 is unaudited but, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which the Company considers necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and results of operations for the interim periods. The results for the three months ended March 31, 1999 are not necessarily indicative of results for the full year.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

## Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with maturities of less than ninety days when purchased. The Company invests its excess cash in diversified instruments maintained primarily in U.S. financial institutions in an effort to preserve principal and to maintain safety and liquidity.

128

#### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

F-7

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) The Company has determined its short-term investments are held to maturity under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities", (SFAS No. 115) and accordingly such amounts are recorded at amortized cost. At December 31, 1998, amortized cost approximated fair value for all cash equivalents and short-term investments. To date, there have been no significant realized or unrealized gains or losses on the short-term investments. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

## Long-Term Investments

Investments with original maturities greater than one year from date of purchase are classified as long-term. The Company accounts for its long-term investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115 and these investments are classified as held to maturity as of the balance sheet date. At December 31, 1998, amortized cost approximated fair value for all long-term investments and, to date, there have been no significant realized or unrealized gains or losses on the Company's long-term investments.

### Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the term of the related lease, if shorter. The estimated useful lives of furniture and equipment and computer equipment is generally three to five years. The Company also depreciates a building located in India over fifteen years. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment charged to costs and expenses was approximately \$3.3 million, \$3.1 million and \$6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

#### Revenue Recognition

In October of 1997 the Accounting Standards Executive Committee issued Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, "Software

Revenue Recognition". These statements provide guidance on applying generally accepted accounting principles in recognizing revenue on software transactions. SOP 97-2, as amended by SOP 98-4 was effective for revenue recognized under software license and service arrangements beginning January 1, 1998.

The Company derives revenue from software licenses and customer support and other services. Service revenue includes contracts for software maintenance and technical support, consulting, training, and porting fees. In software arrangements that include rights to multiple software products and/or services, the Company allocates the total arrangement fee among each of the deliverables based on the relative fair value of each of the deliverables, determined based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value.

The Company recognizes revenue from licensing of software products to an end user upon delivery of the software product to the customer, unless the fee is not fixed or determinable, or collectibility is not considered probable. For licensing of the Company's software to OEMs, revenue is not recognized until the software is sold by the OEM to an end-user customer. The Company considers all arrangements with payment terms extending beyond twelve months and other arrangements with payment terms longer than

F-8

#### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) normal not to be fixed or determinable. If collectibility is not considered probable, revenue is recognized when the fee is collected.

Customer support revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period that the support is provided. Other software service arrangements are evaluated to determine whether those services are essential to the functionality of the other elements of the arrangement. When software services are considered essential, revenue under the arrangement is recognized using contract accounting. When software services are not considered essential, the revenue allocable to the software services is recognized as the services are performed. The Company generally considers software services essential unless the software is paid for before the services commence and the services are limited to training or nominal installation.

Revenue is recognized using contract accounting for arrangements involving customization or modification of the software or where software services are considered essential to the functionality of the software. Revenue from these software arrangements is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method with progress-to-completion measured using labor cost inputs.

#### Software Development Costs

129

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86 "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed," certain software development costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility are capitalized and amortized over the estimated lives of the related products. Technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model, which is typically demonstrated by initial beta shipment. The period between the achievement of technological feasibility and the general release of the Company's products has been of short duration. As of December 31, 1998 such capitalizable software development costs were insignificant and all software development costs have been charged to research and development expense in the accompanying consolidated financial statements of operations.

## Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of investments in debt securities and trade receivables. The Company primarily invests its excess cash in commercial paper rated A-1/P-1, market auction preferreds, government agency notes, medium-term notes, certificates of deposit with approved financial institutions, and other specific money market instruments of similar liquidity and credit quality. The Company is exposed to credit risks in the event of default by the financial institutions or issuers of investments to the extent recorded on the balance sheet. The Company generally does not require collateral. The Company maintains allowances for credit losses, and such losses have been within management's expectations. For the year ended December 31, 1998, one customer accounted for approximately 12% or \$25.8 million of the Company's revenue. For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1997 no customer accounted for greater than 10% of revenues.

#### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) Net Income Per Share

The Company calculates net income per share in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per Share" (SFAS No. 128). Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive common shares consist of employee stock options using the treasury stock method.

#### Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for employee stock based compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25 "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and related interpretations. Pro forma net income and net income per share disclosures required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation", are included in Note 8.

#### Translation of Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities of certain foreign subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the local currency, are translated at year-end exchange rates. Income and expense items are translated at the average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. The adjustment resulting from translating the financial statements of such foreign subsidiaries is reflected as a separate component of stockholder's equity. Certain other transaction gains or losses, which have not been material, are reported in results of operations.

## Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

When an event or change in circumstance indicates that the carrying amount of property and equipment or other long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the Company reviews the asset for impairment. The Company determines recoverability by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to net future discounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. The impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair market value of the asset.

#### Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS No. 133). SFAS No. 133 establishes methods of accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities related to those instruments as well as other hedging activities. The Company will be required to implement SFAS No. 133 for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2001. The Company's exchange rate hedging activities have been insignificant to date and the Company does not believe the impact of SFAS No. 133 will be material to its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) issued Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use". SOP 98-1 requires that entities capitalize certain costs related to internal-use software once certain criteria have been met. The Company implemented SOP 98-1 effective January 1, 1999.

## F-10

## 131

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) The adoption of SOP 98-1 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements, and the Company does not believe that the impact of SOP 98-1 will have material effect to the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In December 1998, the AICPA issued SOP 98-9, "Modification of SOP 97-2,

Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain Transactions". SOP 98-9 amends SOP 97-2 "Software Revenue Recognition" to require recognition of revenue using the "residual method" when certain criteria are met. The Company will be required to implement these provisions of SOP 98-9 for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2000. Effective in December 1998, SOP 98-9 also amended SOP 98-4 (an earlier amendment to SOP 97-2) to extend the deferral of the application of certain passages of SOP 97-2 provided by SOP 98-4. The Company does not believe the impact of SOP 98-9 will be material to the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

## NOTE 2. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On February 8, 1999, VERITAS completed the acquisition of the Pune, India operations of Frontier Software Development (India) Private Limited, a company principally engaged in the development of customized software, for a total cost of approximately \$2.4 million. Of this amount, VERITAS paid \$1.3 million in cash and agreed to pay Frontier certain earn-out payments totaling \$1.1 million over the next two years. The business combination has been accounted for as a purchase and the purchase price, including the \$1.1 million of earn-out payments, allocated to the fair value of specific tangible and intangible assets acquired.

On February 3, 1999, VERITAS completed the acquisition of OpenVision Australia Pty. Ltd., a company principally engaged in reselling VERITAS software products and services throughout Australia and New Zealand, for a total cost of approximately \$300,000 in cash. The business combination has been accounted for as a purchase and the purchase price allocated to the fair value of specific tangible and intangible assets acquired.

On May 15, 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Windward for a total cost of \$2.5 million. The transaction was accounted for using purchase accounting. Of the total cost, \$0.6 million was allocated to in-process research and development and \$1.9 million was allocated to acquired intangibles, which will be amortized over a five year period. Total cash outflows related to this purchase through December 31, 1998, were \$1.3 million. The Company has agreed to pay the sole shareholder of Windward certain earn-out payments of up to an aggregate of \$1.2 million over a two year period, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions (which it was probable would be met) and the amount was accrued at the acquisition date. VERITAS also agreed to pay that shareholder a royalty on certain future product revenue derived from the products acquired over a five year period, up to a maximum of \$2.5 million. The Consolidated Statements of Operations include the results of operations of Windward subsequent to the acquisition date. The results of operations of Windward were not material to the Company's results of operations for 1998 or 1997. Accordingly, pro forma information has not been presented.

Effective April 25, 1997, the Company merged with OpenVision, a publicly-held company that provided storage management applications and services for client/server computing environments. This transaction was accounted for as a pooling of interests. Approximately 29.2 million shares of the Company's common stock were issued in the OpenVision merger and the Company reserved approxi-

F-11

## 132

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 2. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) mately 4.4 million shares of its common stock for issuance pursuant to the assumption of outstanding options, warrants and other rights to purchase OpenVision common stock.

The following information shows revenue and net income of the separate companies during the periods preceding the merger (in thousands):

	1996	1997
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Net revenue:		
VERITAS	\$36,090	\$ 12,454
OpenVision	36,656	13,156
Combined company		95,515
	\$72,746	\$121 <b>,</b> 125

VERITAS OpenVision Combined company	2,361	1,665
	\$12,129	\$ 22,749

Note: April 1, 1997 was used as an approximation of the effective date of the Merger.

As a result of the OpenVision merger, the Company incurred charges to operations of \$8.5 million during the second quarter of 1997, consisting of approximately \$4.2 million for transaction fees and professional services, \$1.9 million for contract terminations and asset write-offs and \$2.4 million for other costs incident to the merger. Of the total charge, \$1.2 million resulted from the write-down of redundant assets and facilities, primarily consisting of intangible assets related to a prior acquisition which became redundant as a result of OpenVision having a similar product line, and \$7.3 million involved cash outflows for banking, legal and accounting fees and other direct costs and payments in connection with the elimination of duplicative facilities. The remaining unpaid amount of \$0.2 million at December 31, 1998 related primarily to ongoing lease payments for vacated facilities through the termination of the lease or the estimated date when such facilities will be subleased.

On April 1, 1996, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of ACSC for a total cost of approximately \$3.5 million. Of the total charge, \$2.2 million was allocated to in-process research and development which was expensed in the second quarter of 1996 and approximately \$1.3 million was allocated to acquired intangibles that were originally amortized and then fully written off in the second quarter of 1997. The write-off was part of the OpenVision merger-related costs, as the ACSC product line became redundant upon consummation of the OpenVision merger.

F-12

133

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

#### NOTE 3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,		
	1997	1998	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Cash and cash equivalents:			
Cash	\$ 7,817	\$ 6,893	
Money market funds	2,717	172	
Commercial paper	65,095	132,021	
Cash and cash equivalents	75,629	139,086	
Short-term investments:			
Commercial paper	50,640	1,357	
Market auction preferreds	19,061	20,659	
Government agency notes	19,748		
Short-term corporate notes	25,682	50,024	
Short-term investments	115,131	72,040	
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term			
investments	\$190 760	\$211,126	
	=======	=======	

### </TABLE>

Long-term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

> YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

\_\_\_\_\_

	1997	1998
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Long-term investments:		
Government agency notes	\$	\$ 9 <b>,</b> 497
Medium-term corporate notes		22,428
Long-term investments	\$	\$ 31,925

  |  |

#### NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EOUIPMENT

Property and equipment is stated at cost and consisted of the following (in thousands):

## <TABLE> <CAPTION>

NATION/	YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,		
	1997		
<s> Furniture and equipment Computer equipment Building Leasehold improvements</s>	<c> \$ 2,758 18,624  1,384</c>	<c> \$ 6,962 34,251 1,008 3,765</c>	
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	22,766 (12,657)	45,986 (19,468)	
Property and equipment, net	\$ 10,109	\$ 26,518 ======	

</TABLE>

134

F-13

#### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

## NOTE 5. CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES

In October 1997, the Company issued \$100.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2004 (the Notes), for which the Company received net proceeds of \$97.5 million. The Notes provide for semi-annual interest payments of approximately \$2.6 million each May 1 and November 1, commencing on May 1, 1998. The Notes are convertible into the Company's Common Stock at any time prior to the close of business on the maturity date, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, at a conversion price of \$21.50 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events. On or after November 5, 2002, the Notes will be redeemable over the period of time until maturity at the option of the Company at declining premiums to par. The debt issuance costs are being amortized as interest expense ratably over the term of the Notes. The fair value of the notes as of December 31, 1998 was \$139.1 million, and is calculated using the conversion price of \$21.50 per share on the principal amount of the notes and the closing price of the Company's stock.

## NOTE 6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company currently has operating leases for its facilities through October 31, 2012. Rental expense under operating leases was approximately \$3.0 million, \$4.3 million and \$6.1 million for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997, and 1998, respectively. In addition to the basic rent, the Company is responsible for all taxes, insurance and utilities related to the facilities. The approximate minimum lease payments as of December 31, 1998 are as follows (in thousands):

## <TABLE>

<s></s>	<c></c>
1999	\$10,019
2000	9,644
2001	8,324
2002	5,785
2003	5,136
Thereafter	17,318
Minimum lease payments	\$56 <b>,</b> 226

In the ordinary course of business, various lawsuits and claims have been filed against the Company. While the outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

## NOTE 7. BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has adopted a retirement savings plan (the VERITAS Software 401(k) Plan), qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, which is a pretax savings plan covering substantially all United States employees. Under the plan employees may contribute up to 20% of their pretax salary, subject to certain limitations. Employees are eligible to participate beginning the first day of the calendar quarter following their date of hire. The Company matches approximately 25% of the employee contributions up to \$1,200 per year and contributed approximately \$0.1 million in 1996, \$0.3 million in 1997 and \$0.6 million in 1998. The Company also has a retirement savings plan that was assumed under the merger with OpenVision (the OpenVision Employee Investment Plan), which will terminate in 1999. Employees no longer contribute to the OpenVision plan and the remaining balances will be transferred to the Company's plan upon termination.

F-14

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

## NOTE 8. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

At December 31, 1998, the Company had three stock-based compensation plans, which are described below. The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its plans. Since the exercise price of options granted under such plans is generally equal to the market value on the date of grant, no compensation cost has been recognized for grants under its stock option plans and stock purchase plans. If compensation cost for the Company's stock-based compensation plans had been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company's net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below (in thousands, except per share amounts):

## <TABLE> <CAPTION>

135

	1996	1997	1998
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Net income			
As reported	\$12,129	\$22,749	\$51,648
Pro forma	\$ 7 <b>,</b> 669	\$12,358	\$32,102
Basic earnings per share			
As reported	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.55
Pro forma	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.34
Diluted earnings per share			
As reported	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.50
Pro forma	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.32

  |  |  |Because the method of accounting prescribed by SFAS No. 123 has not been applied to options granted prior to January 1, 1995, the resulting pro forma compensation cost may not be representative of that to be expected in future years.

#### Stock Option Plans

The Company has two stock option plans. The Company's 1993 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1993 Plan) provides for the issuance of either incentive or nonstatutory stock options to employees and consultants of the Company. The options generally are granted at the fair market value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant, expire ten years from the date of grant, vest over a four-year period and are exercisable immediately upon vesting. The Company has reserved 32,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 1993 Plan. The Company has also reserved 1,125,000 shares for issuance under the Company's 1993 Director's Stock Option Plan (the Director's Plan). Generally options expire ten years from date of grant, vest over the term of each directors board membership and are exercisable immediately upon vesting. As of December 31, 1998, 20,956,938 shares were available for future grant under the plans.

The Company's 1991 Executive Stock Option Plan and 1985 Employee Stock

Option Plan were terminated, and no further options may be granted under these plans. Options previously granted under the 1991 and 1985 plans will continue to be administered under such plans, and any options that expire or become unexercisable for any reason without having been exercised in full shall be available for issuance under the 1993 Plan.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 1996, 1997 and 1998: risk-free interest rates averaging 5.99% in 1996, 6.19% in 1997 and 5.15% in 1998; a dividend yield of

#### F-15

#### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 8. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED) 0.0% for all years; a weighted-average expected life of 5 years for all years; and a volatility factor of the expected market price of the Company's common stock of 0.65 for 1996, 0.60 for 1997 and 0.65 for 1998.

A summary of the status of the Company's stock option plans (including the options assumed in the Merger) as of December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 and changes during the years ended on those dates is presented below (number of shares in thousands):

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

136

	1996 1997		1998			
	NUMBER OF SHARES	WEIGHTED- AVERAGE EXERCISE PRICE	NUMBER OF SHARES	WEIGHTED- AVERAGE EXERCISE PRICE	NUMBER OF SHARES	WEIGHTED- AVERAGE EXERCISE PRICE
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Outstanding at						
beginning of year	7,172	\$ 1.49	11,474	\$ 3.57	15,378	\$ 6.43
Granted	6,038	\$ 5.63	6,386	\$10.53	4,654	\$21.95
Exercised	(888)	\$ 1.15	(1,544)	\$ 2.08	(2,466)	\$ 4.23
Forfeited	(848)	\$ 3.21	(938)	\$ 6.61	(1,144)	\$ 9.07
Outstanding at end of						
year	11,474	\$ 3.57	15,378	\$ 6.43	16,422	\$10.97
		======	======		======	
Options exercisable at year end	3,414		5,118		6,756	
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the						
year 						

 \$ 3.53 |  | \$ 6.06 |  | \$12.94 |  |The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 1998 (number of shares in thousands):

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING \_\_\_\_\_ OPTIONS EXERCISABLE WEIGHTED------NUMBER AVERAGE WEIGHTED- NUMBER WEIGHTED-OUTSTANDING AT REMAINING AVERAGE EXERCISABLE AT AVERAGE NUMBER WEIGHTED-DECEMBER 31, EXERCISE DECEMBER 31, CONTRACTUAL EXERCISE RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES 1998 LIFE PRICE 1998 PRICE \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ 
 <C>
 <C>
 <C>
 <C>

 1,520
 5.17
 \$ 0.47
 1,438

 1,358
 6.28
 \$ 3.00
 1,104

 4,618
 7.41
 \$ 5.42
 2,296

 4,234
 8.46
 \$11.37
 1,428

 2,860
 9.28
 \$18.98
 408

 1,832
 9.67
 \$26.19
 82
 <C> \$ 0.48 \$ 2.90 <S> \$ 0.03 - \$ 0.67 \$ 0.71 - \$ 3.74 \$ 5.37 \$11.19 \$ 3.78 - \$ 6.82 \$ 6.89 - \$14.84 408 82 \$14.92 - \$24.85 \$18.35 \$25.51 \$25.06 - \$31.19 \_\_\_\_\_ 7.96 \$10.97 6,756 \$ 6.19 \$ 0.03 - \$31.19 16,422 \_\_\_\_\_ ==== \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_

</TABLE>

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

Under the terms of the Merger with OpenVision, the Company assumed the OpenVision Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 1996 Purchase Plan). Upon consummation of the Merger, each 1996 Purchase

F-16

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

## NOTE 8. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED)

137

Plan option was converted into a right to purchase shares of the Company's common stock. No new offering periods will be commenced under the 1996 Purchase Plan, and the 1996 Purchase Plan was terminated on October 31, 1998. Under the Company's 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 1993 Purchase Plan), the Company is authorized to issue up to 4,000,000 shares of common stock to its full-time employees, nearly all of whom are eligible to participate. Under the terms of the 1993 Purchase Plan, employees can choose to have up to 10% of their wages withheld to purchase the Company's common stock. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lower of the subscription date fair market value and the purchase date fair market value. Substantially all of the eligible employees have participated in the either the 1993 Purchase Plan or the 1996 Purchase Plan in 1996, 1997 and 1998. Under the 1993 Purchase Plan, the Company issued 458,890, 199,228, and 339,810 shares to employees in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. Under the 1996 Purchase Plan, the Company issued 102,446, 140,978 and 197,834 shares to employees in 1996, 1997 and 1998.

In accordance with APB 25, the Company does not recognize compensation cost related to employee purchase rights under the Plan. To comply with the pro forma reporting requirements of SFAS No. 123, compensation cost is estimated for the fair value of the employees' purchase rights using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions for these rights granted in 1996, 1997 and 1998: a dividend yield of 0.0% for all years; an expected life ranging up to 2 years for all years; an expected volatility factor of 0.65 in 1996, 0.60 in 1997 and 0.65 in 1998; and risk-free interest rates ranging from 4.81% to 6.01% in 1996, from 5.27% to 5.84% in 1997 and from 5.14% to 5.39% in 1998. The weighted average fair value of the purchase rights granted in 1996, 1997 and 1998 was \$6.88, \$13.90 and \$14.16, respectively.

## NOTE 9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

On October 4, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan, declaring a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a Right) for each outstanding share of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of VERITAS. The rights are initially attached to the Company's common stock and will not trade separately. If a person or group acquires 20 percent or more of the Company's common stock, or announces an intention to make a tender offer for the Company's common stock the consummation of which would result in acquiring 20 percent or more of the Company's common stock, then the rights will be distributed and will then trade separately from the common stock. Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Company. The rights are earlier redeemed or exchanged by the Company.

Share and per share amounts applicable to prior periods in the consolidated financial statements have been restated to reflect a 3-for-2 stock split in the form of a stock dividend executed by the Company in May 1998.

The Company is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. No such preferred shares have been issued to date.

Total common shares reserved for issuance at December 31, 1998 under all stock compensation plans are 37,125,000 shares (see Note 8).

F-17

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 10. INCOME TAXES

138

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

	YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,			
	1996	1997	1998	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Federal current deferred	\$ 366	\$ 539	\$11,858 (8,075)	
State current	1,119	1,939	2,514	
deferred	686	(700) (732	2,314 75 1,769	
Foreign				
Total	\$2,171 =====	\$ 1,010	\$ 8,141	

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory rate as follows:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	YEARS	BER 31,	
	1996	1997	1998
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Federal tax at statutory rate	35.0%	35.0%	35.0%
Benefit of loss carryforwards	(35.0)	(35.9)	(9.3)
State taxes	5.3	5.4	4.2
Foreign taxes	3.0	9.4	3.0
Change in valuation allowance		(17.7)	(13.4)
Merger-related costs		6.5	
In-process research and development charge	5.2		
Alternative minimum tax, net	2.7	2.3	
Tax credits			(7.1)
Other	(1.0)	(0.7)	1.2
Total	15.2%	4.3%	13.6%
		=====	

</TABLE>

F-18

## 139

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 10. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,			
	1996	1997	1998	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Net operating loss carryforwards	\$28,566	\$ 22,499	\$ 23 <b>,</b> 276	
Reserves and accruals not currently				
deductible	2,984	2,205	6,146	
Acquired intangibles	5,400	2,114	1,895	
Tax credit carryforwards	1,385	2,246		
Other	994	887	1,655	
Total	39,329	29,951	32,972	
Valuation allowance	(39,329)	(25,751)	(20,772)	
Net deferred tax assets	\$	\$ 4,200	\$ 12,200	
	=======		=======	

</TABLE>

The valuation allowance decreased by approximately \$3.9, \$13.6 and \$5.0 million in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. As of December 31, 1998 approximately \$11.6 million of the valuation allowance reflected above relates to the tax benefits of stock option deductions which will be credited to equity when realized.

As of December 31, 1998, the Company had federal tax loss carryforwards of approximately \$63.0 million which will expire in 2007 through 2011, if not utilized. Because of the change in ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, a substantial portion of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating loss carryforwards before utilization.

Management has determined based on the Company's history of prior earnings, its expectations for the future and the extended period over which the benefits of certain deferred tax assets will be realized, as well as the limitations on its ability to utilize certain net operating loss carryforwards, that a substantial valuation allowance continues to be necessary.

The realization of the Company's net deferred tax assets, which relate primarily to net operating loss carryforwards and temporary differences is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income in future periods. Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized.

F-19

140

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

## NOTE 11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

CAPITON/	YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,			THREE MON MARC	н 31,
		1997		1998	1999
<s></s>	<c></c>			<c></c>	
Numerator: Net income	\$12,129 ======	\$22,749 ======		\$ 9,055 ======	
Denominator: Weighted average shares Shares related to Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 Convertible	81,360	91,244	94,026	92,868	95 <b>,</b> 644
preferred stock	4,692				
Denominator for basic earnings per share Common stock equivalents	,	,	9,316	92,868 9,032	
Denominator for diluted earnings per share	92,992	98,986	103,342	101,900	106,272
Basic earnings per share	\$ 0.14	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.55	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.14
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.23	======= \$ 0.50 =======	======= \$ 0.09 =======	\$ 0.13

</TABLE>

Common stock equivalents used in the determination of the denominator of diluted earnings per share does not include 4,651,163 shares issuable upon conversion of the 5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes, as their effect would be anti-dilutive for all periods presented (see Note 5).

## NOTE 12. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As of January 1, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income" (SFAS No. 130). SFAS No. 130 establishes new rules for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components; however, the adoption of this Statement had no significant impact on the Company's net income or stockholders' equity. SFAS No. 130 requires foreign currency translation adjustments, which prior to adoption were reported separately in stockholders' equity, to be included in other comprehensive income.

The following are the components of comprehensive income:

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	YEARS EN	IDED DECEME	THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,		
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Net income Foreign currency translation	\$12,129	\$22,749	\$51,648	\$ 9,055	\$13,583
adjustments	(158)	(303)	10	(83)	(243)
Comprehensive income	\$11,971	\$22,446	\$51,658	\$ 8,972	\$13,340

----

</TABLE>

## NOTE 13. SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENT AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS

In August of 1996 the Company entered into a development and license agreement with Microsoft pursuant to which Microsoft would pay the Company up to \$5.0 million to develop a version of its

F-20

## 141

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 13. SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENT AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS (CONTINUED) Volume Manager product to be ported and embedded in Windows NT 5.0. The Company's development efforts under this agreement are on a "best efforts" basis, and there is no obligation for the Company to repay amounts received under the agreement if the development effort is not successful. Accordingly, Microsoft bears the risk of the development effort and will own the resulting technology and/or products developed under the agreement. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is allowed to market any developed add-on products to the Windows NT installed customer base in exchange for paying Microsoft a royalty fee, the aggregate of which is not to exceed \$5.0 million. Such royalties become payable if the Company is successful in its development effort. The Company is accounting for this arrangement in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 68, "Research and Development Arrangements" (SFAS No. 68) using the percentage of completion method. Amounts earned by the Company under the agreement are recorded as service revenue while costs incurred to complete the development efforts are recorded as cost of service revenue in the accompanying Statements of Operations. The Company recognized revenue under this agreement of approximately \$0.5 million in 1996, \$3.7 million in 1997 and \$0.8 million in 1998, and incurred costs of \$0.2 million in 1996, \$2.4 million in 1997, and \$0.7 million in 1998. Payments received from Microsoft during 1996, 1997 and 1998 were \$0.2 million, \$2.8 million and \$2.0 million, respectively.

In January 1997 the Company entered into a cross-license and development arrangement with Sun Microsystems whereby each party granted the other a royalty-based license to bundle or resell substantially all then-available products of both companies. Under this arrangement, 5% of each royalty dollar received by the Company is to be set aside to fund future "best efforts", non-recurring engineering services to be performed by the Company at the direction of Sun. Under these NRE projects, the scope of which is mutually agreed to by both parties, Sun bears the risk of the development effort. In accordance with SFAS No. 68 the Company has recognized a liability equal to 5% of each royalty dollar received from Sun under this arrangement. The liability to Sun as of December 31, 1997 was \$174,000. As of December 31, 1998 there was no liability to Sun.

## NOTE 14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information" (SFAS No. 131), in fiscal 1998. SFAS No. 131 supersedes Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 14, "Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise" and establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company operates in one segment, storage management solutions. The Company's products and services are sold throughout the world, through direct, OEM, reseller and distributor channels. The Company's chief operating decision maker, the chief executive officer, evaluates the performance of the Company based upon stand-alone revenue of product channels and the geographic regions of the segment and does not receive discrete financial information about asset F-21

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

## NOTE 14. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) Geographic information (in thousands):

<TABLE>

142

<CAPTION>

CAPITONS	YEARS 1	ENDED DECEMI	BER 31,		DED H 31,
	1996	1997	1998		
				(UNAUI	DITED)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
User license fees(1):					
United States	\$44,286	\$ 67,888	\$121,910	\$22,447	\$43,228
Europe(2)	10,696	12,971	33,172	5,416	8,917
Other(3)	,		12,621		
Total	\$59,223	\$ 95,714	\$167,703	\$30,689	\$55,786
Services(1):					
United States	\$10,195	\$ 20,463	\$ 34,759	\$ 6,606	\$12,578
Europe(2)	3,186	4,865	7,869	1,663	2,679
Other (3)	142	83	534	124	861
Total	\$13 <b>,</b> 523	\$ 25,411	\$ 43,162	\$ 8,393	\$16,118
			=======	======	======
Total net revenue	\$72 <b>,</b> 746	\$121 <b>,</b> 125	\$210,865	\$39,082	\$71 <b>,</b> 904

</TABLE>

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	DI	ECEMBER 31		
	1996	1996 1997		MARCH 31, 1999
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	(UNAUDITED) <c></c>
Long-lived assets(4):				
United States	\$ 6,268	\$ 9,412	\$25 <b>,</b> 202	\$31 <b>,</b> 625
Europe(2)	633	1,114	3,644	4,184
Other(3)	96	67	380	578
Total	\$ 6,997	\$10 <b>,</b> 593	\$29,226	\$36,387
				======

</TABLE>

143

-----

(1) License and Service revenues are attributed to geographic regions based on location of customers.

(2) Europe includes the Middle East and Africa.

- (3) Other includes Canada and the Asia Pacific region.
- (4) Long-lived assets include all long-term assets except those specifically excluded under SFAS No. 131, such as deferred income taxes and financial instruments. Reconciliation to total assets reported:

F-22

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

	1996	1997	1998	MARCH 31, 1999
<s> Total long-lived assets Other assets, including current</s>	<c> \$ 6,997 87,527</c>	<c> \$ 10,593 231,287</c>	<c> \$ 29,226 319,891</c>	(UNAUDITED) <c> \$ 36,387 338,489</c>
Total consolidated assets	\$94,524 ======	\$241,880	\$349,117 ======	\$374,876

One customer represents approximately 12% or \$25.8 million of the Company's net revenues in 1998.

## NOTE 15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In fiscal 1998 the Company paid \$0.8 million in service fees relating to the potential acquisition of NSMG to Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette (DLJ), a company affiliated with a director of the Company during 1998. The Company had no outstanding receivable or payable balance with DLJ at December 31, 1998.

## NOTE 16. POTENTIAL ACQUISITIONS

On October 5, 1998, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization pursuant to which the Company will acquire the Network and Storage Management Group business (NSMG) of Seagate Software, Inc. (SSI), a subsidiary of Seagate Technology, Inc. As part of the Agreement, SSI and certain holders of options to purchase common stock of SSI will receive common stock and rights to acquire common stock representing approximately 40% of the combined company's fully-diluted equity securities.

On September 1, 1998, the Company entered into a Combination Agreement to acquire TeleBackup Systems Inc., a Canadian corporation. Upon completion, TeleBackup will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of VERITAS in exchange for the issuance, to the holders of TeleBackup common shares and TeleBackup options, of 3,110,000 shares of our common stock. The acquisition will be structured to qualify as a tax-free stock transaction in Canada.

The NSMG and TeleBackup acquisitions will be accounted for by the Company using the purchase method of accounting. Following consummation of the NSMG and TeleBackup transactions, the Company currently expects to incur a charge of approximately \$227.5 million per fiscal quarter primarily related to the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets over a four-year period. The Company also expects to incur charges to operations for a one-time write-off related to in-process research and development costs in the fiscal quarter in which these transactions are consummated. These charges are currently estimated to be approximately \$103.1 million. Such amounts are preliminary and are subject to change upon the final determination of the purchase price of both NSMG and TeleBackup at the time of closing of each transaction. In addition, as a result of the NSMG acquisition, the Company expects to incur a restructuring charge in the same fiscal quarter that these transactions are consummated. This one-time restructuring charge relates primarily to exit costs with respect to duplicate facilities of the Company, which the Company plans to vacate. The Company estimates this restructuring charge to be in the range of \$8.0 to \$11.0 million. Such costs are in addition to the liability for the estimated costs to

#### F-23

144

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

NOTE 16. POTENTIAL ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED) vacate facilities of NSMG, which will become duplicative upon the closing of the NSMG transaction, which liability will be assumed by the Company and included as a part of the purchase price.

NOTE 17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

FIRST	SEC	COND	THIRD		FOURTH	
QUARTE	r quaf	RTER	QUAF	RTER	QUARTER	
						-
(in th	ousands,	except	per	share	amounts)	
<c></c>	<c></c>		<c></c>		<c></c>	

FISCAL 1998				
Total net revenue	\$ 39,082	\$ 48,113	\$ 56 <b>,</b> 545	\$ 67 <b>,</b> 125
Gross profit	32,616	40,191	48,702	59 <b>,</b> 895
Income before income taxes	11,103	11,239	16,355	21,092
Net income	9,055	8,541	12,593	21,459
Net income per share basic	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.13	\$ 0.23
Net income per share diluted	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.12	\$ 0.21
Number of shares used in computing per share				
amounts basic	92,868	93,724	94,458	95,034
Number of shares used in computing per share				
amounts diluted	101,900	102,709	104,652	104,084
FISCAL 1997				
Total net revenue	\$ 25,610	\$ 28,934	\$ 30,821	\$ 35 <b>,</b> 760
Gross profit	22,840	25,590	26,442	29,808
Income (loss) before income taxes	6,484	(1,013)	8,315	9,973
Net income (loss)	5,417	(1,682)	6,736	12,278
Net income (loss) per share basic	\$ 0.06	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.14
Net income (loss) per share diluted	\$ 0.05	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.12
Number of shares used in computing per share				
amounts basic	90,440	90,984	91,490	91,948
Number of shares used in computing per share				
amounts diluted	97,218	90,984	100,304	101,002

  |  |  |  |

#### NOTE 18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED)

The acquisition of NSMG was completed on May 28, 1999. Based on the capitalization of VERITAS and Seagate Software as of May 28, 1999 and the average closing price of VERITAS common stock of \$45.57 per share for the 5 days before and after June 7, 1999, the measurement date for the transaction, the total purchase price for NSMG was approximately \$3.5 billion. The actual purchase price will depend on the capitalization of Seagate Software as of June 7, 1999.

F-24

145

## VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED)

#### NOTE 18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

The acquisition of TeleBackup was completed on June 1, 1999. Based upon the average of the closing price of VERITAS common stock for a few days before and after June 1, 1999 of \$44.09, the total purchase price for TeleBackup was approximately \$143.1 million.

During the first quarter of 1999, VERITAS signed a letter of intent to enter into an agreement to lease real estate to be built by the lessor. In a separate agreement, VERITAS was retained by the lessor as its agent for the construction of the facility. The leases for land and improvements are anticipated to be classified as operating leases. The various agreements provide for minimum lease payments which begin, generally, upon completion of construction, which is expected to be June 2001, as well as certain residual value guarantees. Pre development costs incurred by VERITAS were approximately \$1.4 million through March 31, 1999, and were subsequently reimbursed by the lessor.

Share and per share amounts applicable to prior periods in the consolidated financial statements have been restated to reflect a 2-for-1 stock split to be effected in the form of a stock dividend to be distributed on July 8, 1999 to shareholders of record as of June 18, 1999.

Share amounts reflected in this document have also been adjusted to reflect the following proposals that were approved at the May 27, 1999 special meeting of the Company's stockholders:

- To increase the authorized number of shares of common stock from 75,000,000 to 500,000,000.
- To amend the 1993 Employee Stock Purchase plan to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance from 2,250,000 to 4,000,000.
- To amend the 1993 Equity Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance from 9,225,000 to 16,000,000.

F-25

146

OVERVIEW OF VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements consist of the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 and three months ended March 31, 1999 and the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet as of March 31, 1999.

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements give effect to the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 and three months ended March 31, 1999 assumes the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination took place on January 1, 1998. The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet assumes the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination took place on March 31, 1999.

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 combine VERITAS' and TeleBackup's historical results of operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 with the Network & Storage Management Group's twelve months ended January 1, 1999. The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 1999 combine VERITAS' and TeleBackup's historical results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 1999 with the Network & Storage Management Group's three months ended March 31, 1999.

## Basis of presentation

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements reflect the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and have been prepared on the basis of assumptions described in the notes including assumptions relating to the allocation of the amount of consideration paid, to the assets and liabilities of the Network & Storage Management Group and TeleBackup based upon preliminary estimates of their fair value. The actual allocation of the consideration paid may differ from those assumptions reflected in the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements after valuations and other procedures to be performed after the closing of the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination closed during the second quarter of 1999.

#### Charges for in-process research and development

VERITAS recorded charges to income in the second quarter of 1999 related to in-process research and development of 101.2 million as a result of the NSMG combination and 1.9 million as a result of the TeleBackup combination.

#### Restructuring charges

In addition, as a result of the NSMG combination, VERITAS recorded a restructuring charge of \$11.0 million during the second quarter of 1999, primarily related to exit costs with respect to duplicate facilities of Old VERITAS which VERITAS plans to vacate. These costs are in addition to the liability for the estimated costs to vacate facilities of the Network & Storage Management Group business which will become duplicative upon the closing of the NSMG combination, which liability will be assumed by VERITAS and included as a part of the purchase price. The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet includes the effect of these charges; however, the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations do not reflect these charges since they are non-recurring. These charges will be reflected in VERITAS' consolidated financial statements during the

F-26

147

second quarter of 1999, the period in which the NSMG combination and TeleBackup combination were consummated.

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the related notes included in this document and the audited financial statements of VERITAS, the Network & Storage Management Group and TeleBackup, including the notes to each, that are included elsewhere in this document. The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements do not necessarily indicate what the actual operating results or financial position would have been had the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination taken place on January 1, 1998 or March 31, 1999. They also do not purport to indicate VERITAS' future results of operations or financial position.

## VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998	NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP TWELVE MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 1, 1999	TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC. YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998	PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS	VERITAS PRO FORMA COMBINED YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998
<\$>		 <c></c>			
Net revenue:					
User license fees	\$167 <b>,</b> 703	\$188,072	\$ 934	\$ (934)(15)	\$ 355 <b>,</b> 775
Services	43,162	11,061	1,376	(1,376)(15)	54,223
Total net revenue Cost of revenue:	210,865	199,133	2,310	(2,310)	409,998
User license fees	8,798	11,981	211		20,990
Services	20,663	2,917	345		23,925
Amortization of developed technology		3,985		58,425(6) 1,650(12)	64,060
Total cost of revenue	29,461	18,883	556	60,075	108,975
Gross profit Operating expenses:	181,404	180,250	1,754	(62,385)	301,023
Selling and marketing	76,392	75,905	994		153,291
Research and development	40,239	33,677	824		74,740
General and administrative	10,505	21,121	930		32,556
In-process research and development Amortization of goodwill and other	600	6,800			7,400
intangibles		10,380		815,893(6) 33,713(12)	859,986
Total operating expenses	127,736	147,883	2,748	849,606	1,127,973
Income (loss) from operations	53,668	32,367	(994)	(911,991)	(826,950)
Interest and other income, net	11,821	423			12,244
Interest expense	(5,700)	(240)	(65)		(6,005)
Income (loss) before income taxes	59,789	32,550	(1,059)	(911,991)	(820,711)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	8,141	15,121		(43,576)(14)	(20,314)
Net income (loss)	\$ 51,648	\$ 17,429	\$(1,059)	\$ (868,415)	\$ (800,397)
Net income (loss) per share basic	\$ 0.55 =======				\$ (4.82)
Net income (loss) per share diluted	\$ 0.50 ======				\$ (4.82)
Number of shares used in computing per share amounts basic	94,026			72,190	166,216
Number of shares used in computing per share amounts diluted	103,342			62,874	166,216
					=

</TABLE>

See accompanying Notes to VERITAS Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements.

## F-28

149

VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

VERITAS NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT TELEBACKUP GROUP SYSTEMS INC. CORPORATION THREE MONTHS THREE MONTHS THREE MONTHS ENDED ENDED MARCH 31, APRIL 2, 1999 1999

ENDED MARCH 31, PRO FORMA 1999

ADJUSTMENTS

VERITAS PRO FORMA COMBINED THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1999

<s> Net revenue:</s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
User license fees	\$55,786	\$59,780	\$ 382	\$ (382)(15)	\$ 115,566
Services	16,118	3,045	436	(436) (15)	19,163
561 1 1 663				(450)(15)	
Total net revenue	71,904	62,825	818	(818)	134,729
Cost of revenue: User license fees	1,955	2 272	140		5,377
Services	1,955 6,527	3,273 865	149 97		7,489
Amortization of developed technology	0, 527	780	97	14,606(6)	15,799
Amortization of developed technology				413 (12)	
Total cost of revenue	8,482	4,918	246	15,019	28,665
Iotal cost of revenue	0,402	4,910	240	15,019	20,000
Gross profit	63,422	57,907	572	(15,837)	106,064
Operating expenses:	00,122	01,001	0,2	(20)001)	200,001
Selling and marketing	26,823	22,674	304		49,801
Research and development	13,816	8,815	253		22,884
General and administrative	3,289	5,111	267		8,667
Amortization of goodwill and other	0,200	0,111	207		0,00,
intangibles		2,545		203,973(6) 8,428(12)	214,946
Total operating expenses	43,928	39,145	824	212,401	296,298
Income (loss) from operations	19,494	18,762	(252)	(228,238)	(190,234)
Interest and other income, net	3,031	1,173	38		4,242
Interest expense	(1,433)		(5)		(1,438)
Income (loss) before income taxes	21,092	19,935	(219)	(228,238)	(187,430)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	7,509	7,974		(8,260)(14)	7,223
Net income (loss)	\$13,583	\$11,961	\$(219)	\$(219 <b>,</b> 978)	\$(194,653)
		======		========	
Net income (loss) per share basic	\$ 0.14				\$ (1.16)
Net income (loss) per share diluted	\$ 0.13				\$ (1.16)
Number of change and in complete and change					
Number of shares used in computing per share	05 644			70 100	1 67 004
amounts basic	95,644			72,190	167,834
Number of shares used in computing per share	100 070			C1 E C0	167 004
amounts diluted	106,272			61,562	167,834

 ====== |  |  |  |  |See accompanying Notes to VERITAS Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements.

F-29

150

## VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET (IN THOUSANDS)

	VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION MARCH 31, 1999	NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP APRIL 2, 1999	TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC. MARCH 31, 1999	PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS	VERITAS PRO FORMA COMBINED MARCH 31, 1999
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
ASSETS					
Current assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$111,324	\$ 2,024	\$ 3,534	\$ 42,111(1)	\$ 158,993
Short-term investments	97,225				97,225
Loan receivable affiliate		42,111		(42,111)(1)	
Accounts receivable	50,210	23,090	906		74,206
Other current assets	21,309	3,748	125	(532)(7)	22,650
				(2,000)(15)	
Total current assets	280,068	70,973	4,565	(2,532)	353,074
Long-term investments	47,859				47,859
Property and equipment, net	32,528	12,733	536		45,797
Goodwill and other intangibles, net		31,564		(31,564)(1)	3,638,719
				3,497,271(1)	
				141,448(8)	
Other assets	14,421				14,421

Total assets	\$374,876	\$ 115,270	\$ 5,101	\$3,604,623	\$4,099,870
		=======	======		
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Current liabilities:					
Accounts payable	\$ 4,390	\$ 4,754	\$ 180	\$	\$ 9,324
Accrued compensation and benefits	7,473	10,107			17,580
Other accrued liabilities	11,488	9,533	83		21,104
Income taxes payable	17,388	18,828			36,216
Accrued acquisition and restructuring costs				31,700(3) 6,200(9) 11,000(16)	48,900
Deferred revenue	43,149	7,740	1,912	(4,102) (1) (1,400) (15)	47,299
Total current liabilities Non-current liabilities:	83,888	50,962	2,175	43,398	180,423
Convertible subordinated notes	100,000				100,000
Other non-current liabilities	733		180		913
Deferred income taxes		697		181,297(7) 3,032(13)	185,026
Total non-current liabilities	100,733	697	180	184,329	285,939
Stockholders' equity:	100,755	097	100	104,329	200,959
Common stock	206,911	258,884	6,349	3,162,207(4) 130,513(10)	3,764,864
Accumulated deficit	(15,833)	(195,273)	(3,510)	94,073(5) 1,610(11) (600)(15) (11,000)(16)	(130,533)
Deferred compensationAccumulated other comprehensive income	(24)			(11,000,(10)	(24)
(loss)	(799)		(93)	93(8)	(799)
Total stockholders' equity	190,255	63,611	2,746	3,376,896	3,633,508
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$374 <b>,</b> 876	\$ 115,270	\$ 5,101	\$3,604,623	\$4,099,870
		=======			

See accompanying Notes to VERITAS Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements.

F-30

151

NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION

NSMG combination

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements reflect the contribution of assets and liabilities of the Network & Storage Management Group and the issuance of 69,148,208 shares of VERITAS common stock which was based on the average closing price of VERITAS common stock of \$45.57 per share for 5 days before and after June 7, 1999, the measurement date for the transaction. In addition, VERITAS issued options to purchase VERITAS shares, of which 2,942,640 options were vested and 4,002,408 options were unvested. The value of the options to be issued by VERITAS in exchange for the Seagate Software options was determined by estimating their fair value as of May 28, 1999 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

- risk free interest rate of 5.15%;
- dividend yield of 0.0%;
- expected option life of 0.5 years for vested options;
- expected option life of 3.0 years for unvested options; and
- volatility factor of the expected market price of VERITAS common stock of 0.65.

The NSMG combination will be accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.

TeleBackup combination

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements also reflect the issuance of 3,041,242 shares for the outstanding equity interest of TeleBackup based on the capitalization of VERITAS and TeleBackup as of June 1, 1999 and the average closing price of VERITAS common stock of \$44.09 per share for 5 days before and after June 1, 1999, the closing date of the transaction. In addition, TeleBackup's outstanding options at the closing date were exchanged for options to purchase VERITAS shares. As of June 1, 1999, outstanding options to purchase 259,800 shares of TeleBackup common stock were exchanged for options to purchase 68,759 shares of VERITAS common stock, of which all the options are vested. The value of the options issued by VERITAS in the exchange for the TeleBackup options, was determined by estimating their fair value as of June 1, 1999 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

- risk-free interest rate of 5.15%;
- dividend yield of 0.0%;
- expected option life of 0.5 years; and
- volatility factor of the expected market price of VERITAS common stock of 0.65.

The TeleBackup combination will be accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements have been prepared on the basis of assumptions relating to the allocation of the amount of consideration paid, to the assets and liabilities of the Network & Storage Management Group business and TeleBackup based on preliminary estimates of their fair value. The actual allocation of the amount such consideration may differ from that reflected in the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements after valuations and other procedures to be performed after the closing of the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination have been completed. Below is a table of the estimated

F-31

## NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) acquisition cost, purchase price allocation and annual amortization of the intangible assets acquired, in thousands:

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP BUSINESS

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

152

	AMORTIZATION LIFE	ANNUAL AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLES
<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
3,151,350		
269,741		
31,700		
\$3,452,791 ========		
\$ 36,149		
257,200	4	\$ 64,300
233,700	4	58,425
37,110	4	9,278
101,200		
2,969,261	4	742,315
(181,829)		
\$3,452,791		\$874,318
	3,151,350 269,741 31,700  \$3,452,791  \$ 36,149 257,200 233,700 37,110 101,200 2,969,261 (181,829)	LIFE 

</TABLE>

## 1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) TELEBACKUP

## <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	AMORTIZATION LIFE	ANNUAL AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLES
<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
\$134,100		
2,762		
6,200		
\$143,062 ======		
\$ 2,746		
3,100	4	\$ 775
6,600	4	1,650
1,630	4	408
1,900		
130,118 (3,032)	4	32,530
\$143,062		\$35,363 =======
	\$134,100 2,762 6,200 \$143,062 \$2,746 3,100 6,600 1,630 1,900 130,118 (3,032)  \$143,062	LIFE <c> <c> \$134,100 2,762 6,200  \$143,062  \$ 2,746 3,100 4 6,600 4 1,630 4 1,900 130,118 4 (3,032)  \$143,062</c></c>

#### </TABLE>

154

Tangible net assets of the Network & Storage Management Group business acquired principally include cash, accounts receivable, fixed assets and other current assets. Liabilities assumed principally include accounts payable, accrued compensation and other current liabilities.

The tangible net assets of TeleBackup acquired principally include cash and fixed assets. Liabilities assumed principally include convertible debentures and other non-current liabilities.

To determine the value of the developed technology, the expected future cash flows attributable to all existing technology was discounted, taking into account risks related to the characteristics and applications of the technology, existing and future markets, and assessments of the life cycle stage of the technology. The analysis resulted in a valuation for developed technology which had reached technological feasibility and therefore was capitalizable. The developed technology is being amortized on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of four years which is expected to exceed the ratio of current revenues to the total of current and anticipated revenues.

The value of the distribution channels and original equipment manufacturer agreements was determined by considering, among other factors, the size of the current and potential future customer bases, the quality of existing relationships with customers, the historical costs to develop customer relationships, the expected income and associated risks. Associated risks included the inherent difficulties and uncertainties in transitioning the business relationships from the acquired entity to VERITAS and risks related to the viability of and potential changes to future target markets.

The value of trademarks was determined by considering, among other factors, the assumption that in lieu of ownership of a trademark, a company would be willing to pay a royalty in order to exploit the related benefits of such trademark.

F-33

## NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The value of the assembled workforce was derived by estimating the costs to replace the existing employees, including recruiting, hiring, and training costs for each category of employee.

The value allocated to projects identified as in-process research and development of the Network & Storage Management Group business and TeleBackup

was charged to expense during the second quarter of 1999 but has not been reflected in the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations as it is non-recurring in nature. However, this charge has been reflected in the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet.

The write-offs were necessary because the acquired in-process research and development had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no future alternative uses. VERITAS expects that the acquired in-process research and development will be successfully developed, but these products may not achieve commercial viability.

The nature of the efforts required to develop the purchased in-process research and development into commercially viable products principally relate to the completion of all planning, designing, prototyping, verification and testing activities that are necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet its design specifications, including functions, features and technical performance requirements.

The value of the purchased in-process research and development was determined by estimating the projected net cash flows related to the products, including costs to complete the development of the technology and the future revenues to be earned upon commercialization of the products. These cash flows were then discounted back to their net present value. The projected net cash flows from the projects were based on management's estimates of revenues and operating profits related to the projects.

Management's overview of the in-process projects and the estimates for the remaining development efforts are described below:

Network & Storage Management Group business products

- Seagate Backup Exec for NT -- Backup Exec(TM) for Windows NT offers a compatible backup solution for Windows NT environments. Integrated wizards provide steps through routine operations and a new graphical user interface simplifies management tasks. Intelligent Disaster Recovery(TM) automates data recovery with the only point-in-time rapid recovery system. With its Microsoft common object model-based scaleable architecture, virus detection and cleaning, and agent accelerator technology, total cost of ownership is minimized, performance is maximized and data is secured. Management estimates the completion and release of version 8.0 of this product in November 1999.
- Backup Exec for Netware -- Backup Exec for NetWare is the first NetWare 5 compatible data protection solution that offers reliability, high performance and full Netware directory services integration for enterprise-wide data sharing. To minimize total cost of ownership and administration overhead, ExecView provides centralized monitoring and management. Intelligent disaster recovery combined with "working set" backup delivers fast and reliable disaster recovery for every server protected by Backup Exec. Advanced barcode reader and media portal support provides ease-of-use and complete automation to further simplify network administration. Management estimates the completion and release of version 8.1 of this product in September 1999.

F-34

NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

155

- Storage Migrator(TM) -- Storage Migrator is a multi-tier hierarchical storage management application for Windows NT that delivers enterprise functionality to client/server environments. The product reduces the total cost of ownership by proactively managing inactive data, migrating it from on-line storage, such as disc drives, to near-line devices, such as optical drives, then finally to archival storage resources, such as tape devices over user defined periods of time. Management estimates the completion and release of this product in June 1999.
- Desktop Management Suite(TM) -- Desktop Management Suite is a fully integrated suite of software solutions including network inventory, WinLand, software installation, or WinInstall, and software metering, or WinSmart or Desktop Management Suite centralizes the management of distributed network desktops by automating tasks such as inventory, software distribution, application metering, backup and remote control. Desktop Management Suite reduces the total cost of managing network desktops and standardizes the administration of desktops across the enterprise. Seagate has begun development to create a more complete personal computer client management solution with WinInstall and WinLand. Management estimates the completion and release of Desktop Management Suite version 4.0 and WinInstall version 7.0 in December 1999.

- Manage Exec(TM) -- Manage Exec is a proactive server health monitoring, alerting and reporting solution that centralizes enterprise administration by providing information technology professionals with a unique view of servers worldwide and real-time problem analysis. Manage Exec is a powerful, simple, scaleable solution for managing the behavior of heterogeneous networks worldwide from one central location. Manage Exec automatically monitors, analyzes and reports on Windows NT and Novell NetWare systems health, establishes profiles of normal server and application behavior and proactively sends alerts when these policies are broken. As a result, problems that once may have resulted in catastrophic failure are now effectively resolved before network users are impacted. To make this product suitable for enterprise sales, Seagate began "enterprization." Management estimates the completion and release of version 6.0 of this product in September 1999.
- NerveCenter(TM) -- NerveCenter is a market leading, rules-based event management application designed to ensure high levels of network and application availability. NerveCenter uses graphical network behavior models to filter through voluminous network messages, identify critical problems and automatically launch appropriate corrective actions. NerveCenter is the first end-to-end event management solution across network devices, applications and UNIX, Windows NT systems. Version 4.0 was under development at the Network & Storage Management Group which would provide a basis for a storage area network management solution. Management estimates the completion and release of version 4.0 in June 1999.
- Policy Exec(TM) version 1.0 -- Policy Exec is a policy management system that creates policies according to goals, completely automates storage management tasks, and provides fault isolation and automated corrective action. Management estimates the completion and release of this product in October 1999.
- Replication Exec(TM) -- Replication Exec provides real time data protection for NT servers, back-up staging, rapid recovery, disaster protection bandwidth throttling, and intelligent data distribution. Replication Exec delivers the most flexible and intelligent data replication for Windows NT environments. It can efficiently and automatically duplicate files or file systems at any number of locations for complete data protection or information distribution. Replication

F-35

## NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

## 1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

156

Exec offers centralized management, high replication performance, minimal system overhead, both real-time and schedule-based replication, and selectable bandwidth usage. Replicate remote data to a central site for centralized backup, offload backup from production servers for 24x7 operations, or distribute information to any number of servers on the local area network or wide area network from a central site. In August 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group business released the first version of this product. However, this version does not have sufficient features to serve the enterprise customer. A next release version 2.0 was under development at the Network & Storage Management Group business to add these required features. Management estimates the completion and release of version 2.0 of this product in December 1999.

TeleBackup was founded in 1995 to further the development of remote backup technology. TeleBackup is an information technology company that is developing dynamic software that allows corporations and end-users to backup their data remotely. TeleBackup's software initiates all backups automatically with no required intervention by the user. It also safeguards against disaster by storing the data at an offsite location. TeleBackup's unique features make the process of backing up large amounts of data significantly faster than any other known technology using standard modems.

TeleBackup products

- TSInfoPro 2.05 -- TSInfoPro is a new system for eliminating data loss designed to support Microsoft Windows 98. Features include enhanced compact disc disaster recovery, improved querying, open file manger, and encryption. Management estimates the completion and release of this product in June 1999.
- TSInfoPro 3.00 -- An improved system for eliminating data loss with a graphical user interface. Features include increased bandwidth, redesigned client and server interfaces, file processing, and administrative applications. Significant development efforts were begun and TeleBackup including, creating a larger bandwith, a major redesign of

the graphical user interface and changing 90% of the server to be available for NT. Management estimates the completion and release of this product in April 2000.

Some of the potential risks involved in completing the development for the TeleBackup releases include, but are not limited to the following. The user interface development could be expensive due to the options and technologies needed in identifying the target customer. In addition, the hierarchical storage management and NetBackup will likely need some more modification to run or work well together.

The server product is not quite available for NT, but is expected to be soon, and the admin. station for NT is in the beginning phase of several phases.

#### Research and development effort

The Network & Storage Management Group business estimates approximately \$6.0 million to complete the development of the identified in-process projects that are being acquired by VERITAS. TeleBackup estimates approximately \$630,000 to complete the development of the identified in-process

157

## NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

F-36

1. BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

projects that are being acquired. The Network & Storage Management Group's and TeleBackup's research and development expenditure forecasts include, but are not limited to:

- technology coding;
- feasibility tests;
- platform integration; and
- alpha and beta testing.

Due to the fact that the transactions have only recently been consummated, the calculations are preliminary. Therefore, more information will be forthcoming as the analysis is completed of the in-process research and development acquired at the Network & Storage Management Group and TeleBackup.

Factors that could affect analysis.

The following factors have the potential to affect analysis:

- the effect of the uncertainty surrounding the successful development of the in-process research and development products is one of the many factors that comprise the selected discount rate;
- there is risk associated with the revenue of all of the identified in-process research and development projects. The expected benefit from the in-process research and development projects is expected to occur at the release dates for each of the projects discussed previously; and
- if any of the estimates for release dates, product life cycle, or product revenue are different, then there may be an impact on the future results of the company.

Goodwill is determined based on the residual difference between the amount paid and the values assigned to identified tangible and intangible assets.

## 2. PRO FORMA NET LOSS PER SHARE

158

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations have been prepared as if the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. The pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share are based on the weighted average number of shares of VERITAS common stock outstanding during each period and the number of shares of VERITAS common stock to be issued in connection with the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination. The following options and other potential common securities, based upon the options outstanding as of the periods presented and closing price of VERITAS common stock as of the

F-37

NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 2. PRO FORMA NET LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) effective time, have not been included in the computation of pro forma diluted net loss per share because their effect would be antidilutive.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

POTENTIAL COMMON SECURITIES	AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1998	AS OF MARCH 31, 1999
	(IN THO	USANDS)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
VERITAS options outstanding Options to be issued in connection with the NSMG	16,422	16,254
combination Options to be issued in connection with the TeleBackup	6,864	6,856
combination Common stock issuable upon conversion of VERITAS' 5.25%	156	103
convertible notes	4,651	4,651
	28,093	27,864
	======	

## </TABLE>

3. CONVERSION OF TELEBACKUP TO U.S. GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND US $\$ 

The financial statements for TeleBackup which were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles have been conformed to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for purposes of including them in the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements. None of the adjustments necessary to conform the TeleBackup financial statements to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles were material to either the historical financial statements of TeleBackup or the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements. The balance sheet and statements of operations for TeleBackup were translated to U.S. dollars using average exchange rates for the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations and period-end and historical exchange rates for the VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet, as applicable.

#### 4. PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

The VERITAS unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements give effect to the following pro forma adjustments:

(1) To state the assets and liabilities of the Network Storage & Management Group business at their fair values.

(2) To reclassify certain customer support costs of the Network & Storage Management Group business to cost of revenues to conform to VERITAS' presentation.

(3) To reflect the accrual of acquisition costs arising from the NSMG combination, estimated to be approximately \$31.7 million consisting of:

- \$20.0 million of direct transaction costs, consisting primarily of financial advisory services, legal, accounting and government filing fees;
- \$8.2 million for operating lease commitments on sales and administrative facilities of the Network & Storage Management Group business that become duplicative and will be vacated. The costs accrued represent operating lease obligations from the date the facilities are expected to be vacated through the end of the lease term, net of any anticipated sublease payments. VERITAS expects that all duplicate facilities will be vacated within

F-38

159

## NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)

- one year after consummation of the NSMG combination. The operating leases on these duplicate facilities have various termination dates through 2012; and
- \$3.5 million for liabilities related to involuntary employee termination benefits to be paid to Network & Storage Management Group business employees whose positions are redundant with current VERITAS positions and relocations of Network & Storage Management Group business employees whose function is being relocated to support a

centralized infrastructure. The involuntary terminations and relocation benefits relate to employees across all functional organizations.

VERITAS expects that a plan will be finalized in the quarter following the consummation of the NSMG combination and initial execution of this plan will begin in the second quarter of 1999. VERITAS also expects the plan to be fully implemented within one year from the consummation of the NSMG combination.

(4) To reflect the elimination of the Network & Storage Management Group's contributed capital of \$258.9 million and the issuance of VERITAS common stock and stock options of \$3,421.1 million in connection with the NSMG combination.

(5) To reflect the elimination of the Network & Storage Management Group's accumulated deficit of \$195.3 million and the write-off of in-process research and development \$101.2 million.

(6) To reflect amortization of goodwill, distribution channel/original equipment manufacturer agreements, developed technology and trademark/assembled workforce/other intangibles related to the NSMG combination.

(7) To reflect the net tax effect of book/tax basis differences in the acquired intangibles, excluding goodwill and in-process research and development. Deferred tax assets have been recognized based on the projected reversal of taxable temporary differences and have been netted against deferred tax liabilities for purposes of allocating the purchase price related to the NSMG combination.

 $\ensuremath{(8)}$  To state the assets and liabilities of TeleBackup at their fair values.

(9) To reflect the accrual of acquisition costs arising from the TeleBackup combination, estimated to be approximately 6.2 million consisting of:

- \$5.5 million of direct transaction costs, consisting primarily of financial advisory services, legal, accounting and government filing fees;
- \$600,000 for liabilities related to involuntary employee termination benefits to be paid to TeleBackup employees whose positions are redundant with current VERITAS employee positions and relocations of TeleBackup employees whose function is being relocated to support a centralized infrastructure. The involuntary terminations and relocation benefits relate to engineering and administrative employees; and
- \$100,000 for operating lease commitments on facilities of TeleBackup that will be vacated. The costs accrued represent operating lease obligations from the date the facilities are expected to be vacated through the end of the lease term in 2000, net of any anticipated sublease payments. VERITAS expects that all duplicate facilities will be vacated within one year after consummation of the Telebackup combination.

#### F-39

## 160

## NOTES TO VERITAS UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)

VERITAS expects that the plan will be finalized in the quarter following the consummation of the TeleBackup combination and initial execution of the plan will begin in the second quarter of 1999. VERITAS also expects that the plan will be fully implemented within one year from the consummation of the TeleBackup combination.

(10) To reflect the elimination of the TeleBackup's common stock of 6.3 million and the issuance of New VERITAS common stock and stock options of 136.9 million in connection with the TeleBackup combination.

(11) To reflect the elimination of the TeleBackup's accumulated deficit of 3.5 million and the write-off of in-process research and development of 1.9 million.

(12) To reflect amortization of goodwill, distribution channel/original equipment manufacturer agreements, developed technology, and trademark/assembled workforce related to the TeleBackup combination.

(13) To reflect the net tax effect of book/tax basis differences in the acquired intangibles, excluding goodwill and in-process research and development. Deferred tax assets have been recognized based on the projected

reversal of taxable temporary differences have been netted against deferred tax liabilities for purposes of allocating the purchase price related to the TeleBackup combination.

 $(14)\ \mbox{To reflect tax}$  benefits for VERITAS based upon pro forma losses incurred.

(15) To eliminate the effect of the intercompany transactions between VERITAS and TeleBackup.

(16) To reflect the accrual for restructuring costs to be incurred as a result of the NSMG combination of \$11.0 million. The \$11.0 million includes \$10.0 million for costs to exit duplicate facilities of VERITAS which VERITAS plans to vacate and \$1.0 million for liabilities related to involuntary employee termination benefits to be paid to VERITAS employees.

F - 40

161

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders Seagate Software, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying combined balance sheets of the Network & Storage Management Group, a division of Seagate Software, Inc., as of July 3, 1998 and June 27, 1997, and the related combined statements of operations, group equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 3, 1998. These combined financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the combined financial position of the Network & Storage Management Group at July 3, 1998 and June 27, 1997, and the combined results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 3, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed more fully in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote, the Network & Storage Management Group has modified the methods used to assess impairment of goodwill and, accordingly, has restated the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended July 3, 1998 and June 27, 1997 to reflect this change.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Jose, California September 21, 1998, except for the second paragraph of the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote, as to which the date is April 8, 1999

F-41

162

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS (IN THOUSANDS) ASSETS

	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	
<\$>		<c></c>	(UNAUDITED)
<57	<u></u>	<u></u>	<0>
Cash	\$ 921	\$ 4,879	\$ 2,024
Accounts receivable, net	14,387	15,982	23,090

Inventories Loan receivable from Seagate Technology and	2,907	711	399
affiliates			42,111
Other current assets	2,589	480	3,349
Other current assets	2,309	400	
Total current assets	20,804	22,052	70,973
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net	17,066	11,338	12,733
Goodwill and other intangibles, net	56,217	41,331	31,564
Goodwill and other intangibles, net		41,331	51,504
Total assets		\$ 74,721	\$ 115,270
LIABILITIES			
Loan payable to Seagate Technology and affiliates	\$ 25,616	\$ 10,636	\$
Accounts payable	5,674	3,782	4,754
Accrued employee compensation	8,304	8,011	10,107
Accrued expenses	9,785	7,143	9,533
Accrued income taxes		1,290	18,828
Deferred revenue	3,573	3,880	7,740
Total current liabilities	52,952	34,742	50,962
Deferred income taxes	6,233	1,691	697
Other liabilities	301	255	
Other Habilities			
Total liabilities	59,486	36,688	51,659
Commitments and contingencies	00,100	30,000	31,000
commitmentes and contringeneres			
GROUP EQUITY			
Contributed capital	258,010	258,586	258,884
Accumulated deficit	(223,409)	(220,553)	(195,273)
	(2237103)		
Total group equity	34,601	38,033	63,611
Total liabilities and group equity	\$ 94,087	\$ 74,721	\$ 115,270
		========	==========

See notes to combined financial statements.

F-42

163

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (IN THOUSANDS)

<caption></caption>	FOR	THE YEARS E	NDED	NINE MON	THS ENDED
		1997	JULY 3, 1998	1998	1999
					DITED)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Revenues:					
Licensing	\$ 102,869	\$130,661	\$160,192	\$120,102	\$156,118
Licensing from Seagate Technology	9,374	4,920	5,048	4,167	5,135
Maintenance, support and other	4,499	5,921	9,806		8,972
Total revenues Cost of revenues:	116,742				
Licensing	13,211	11,834	13,714	10,991	8,241
Licensing from Seagate Technology	,		411		
Maintenance, support and other Amortization of developed	194	789	2,067	1,379	2,598
technologies	9,941		7,143	6,394	2,360
Total cost of revenues	27,345	32,112	23,335	19,166	13,528
Gross profit Operating expenses:					
Sales and marketing	55 <b>,</b> 875	68,238	68,314	51,365	63,649
Research and development		33 <b>,</b> 565		24,015	26,718
General and administrative	20,031	26,021	22,254	17,089	15,557
In-process research and development Amortization of goodwill and other	61,066		6,800		
intangibles	13,035	20,250	13,236	10,656	7,697
Restructuring costs	9,502	2,524			
Total operating expenses	192,052				113,621

Income (loss) from operations	(102,655)	(41,208)	9,430	9,248	43,076
Interest expense	(1,013)	(2,733)	(768)	(768)	(74)
Other, net	308	155	55	24	1,472
Interest and other, net	(705)	(2,578)	(713)	(744)	1,398
Income (loss) before income taxes Benefit from (provision for) income	(103,360)	(43,786)	8,717	8,504	44,474
taxes	8,764	10,586	(5,861)	(5,835)	(19,194)
Net income (loss)	\$ (94,596)	\$(33,200)	\$ 2,856	\$ 2,669	\$ 25,280
		=======			=======

See notes to combined financial statements.

F-43

164

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

# COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (IN THOUSANDS)

<caption></caption>	FOR	THE YEARS EN	IDED	NINE MONTHS ENDED			
	JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999		
				UNAUI)	DITED)		
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>		
OPERATING ACTIVITIES							
Net income (loss) Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:	\$ (94,596)	\$ (33,200)	\$ 2,856	\$ 2,669	\$ 25,280		
Depreciation and amortization	24,274	32,642	28,018	23,783	16,314		
Deferred income taxes Write-off of in-process research and	(1,700)	(7,505)	(4,542)	(3,508)	(994)		
development Write-off or write-down of goodwill and	61,066		6,800				
intangibles	2,157	13,106	1,900	1,900			
Write-offs due to restructure	4,427	1,494					
Other Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	400						
Accounts receivable	(8,420)	7,432	(1,360)	(3,050)	(7,108)		
Inventories	117	(1,588)	2,206	2,358	312		
Other current assets	848	(419)	2,118	768	(2,869)		
Accounts payable	2,636	(1,581)	(2,218)	(1,757)	972		
Accrued employee compensation	1,211	1,738	(371)	1,146	2,096		
Accrued expenses	5,899		(2,671)	(1,342)	2,390		
Accrued income taxes	(950)	3,486	1,866	7,598	17,836		
Deferred revenue	88	(81)	232	(101)	3,860		
Other liabilities	(3,130)	(399)	(46)	(40)	(255)		
Net cash provided by (used in) operating							
activities INVESTING ACTIVITIES	(5,673)	15,125	34,788	30,424	57,834		
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired Acquisition of equipment and leasehold	(31,102)		(10,000)				
improvements, net	(9,380)	(12,625)	(3,530)	(4,034)	(7,652)		
Acquisition of intangibles			(2,320)		(290)		
Other, net	4						
Net cash used in investing activities FINANCING ACTIVITIES	(40,478)	(12,625)	(15,850)	(4,034)	(7,942)		
Funding by Seagate Technology for acquisitions of							
businesses	27,143						
Borrowings from Seagate Technology	131,287	144,427	160,347	104,202	108,784		
Repayments to Seagate Technology	(113,665)	(150,398)	(175,327)	(129,938)	(161,531)		
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	44,765	(5,971)	(14,980)	(25,736)	(52,747)		
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(2)						
Increase (decrease) in cash Elimination of Arcada's net cash activity for the duplicated six months ended December 30,	(1,388)	(3,471)	3,958	654	(2,855)		
1995	1,768						
Cash at the beginning of the period	4,012	4,392	921	921	4,879		

Cash at the end of the period	\$	4,392	\$	921	\$	4,879	\$	1,575	\$	2,024
	===		====		===		===		==:	
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION										
Cash paid for interest	\$	32	\$	156	\$		\$		\$	
Cash paid for income taxes		1,694		304		1,814	\$	451	\$	1,055

  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |See notes to combined financial statements.

F-44

165

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## COMBINED STATEMENTS OF GROUP EQUITY (IN THOUSANDS)

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 2, 1999, AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JULY 3, 1998, JUNE 27, 1997 AND JUNE 28, 1996,	THE YEARS ENDED JULY 3, 1998, JUNE 27, CONTRIBUTED COMPR			
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 1995 Acquisition by Seagate Technology of OnDemand Software, Inc. and minority interest of	\$140,610	\$ 2	\$ (95,693)	\$ 44,919
Arcada Holdings, Inc Acquisition by Seagate Technology of Calypso	98,249			98,249
Software Systems, Inc Income tax benefit from Seagate Technology	13,799			13,799
stock option exercises	1,866			1,866
Foreign currency translation adjustment		(2)		(2)
Net loss			(94,596)	(94,596)
Elimination of Arcada Holdings, Inc. activity for the duplicated six months ended December				
30, 1995			80	80
BALANCE AT JUNE 28, 1996	254,524		(190,209)	64,315
Income tax benefit from Seagate Technology				
stock option exercises	3,486			3,486
Net loss			(33,200)	(33,200)
BALANCE AT JUNE 27, 1997 Income tax benefit from Seagate Technology	258,010		(223,409)	34,601
stock option exercises	576			576
Net income			2,856	2,856
BALANCE AT JULY 3, 1998 Income tax benefit from Seagate Technology	258,586		(220,553)	38,033
stock option exercises (unaudited)	298			298
Net income (unaudited)			25,280	25,280
DATANCE AM ADDIT 2 1000				
BALANCE AT APRIL 2, 1999 (unaudited)	\$258,884		\$(195,273)	\$ 63,611
(unauarcea)	\$238,884 =======		\$(195,273) ========	\$ 63,611 ======

</TABLE>

See notes to combined financial statements.

F-45

166

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of business. The Network & Storage Management Group ("NSMG" or the "Network & Storage Management Group") develops and markets software products and provides related services enabling information technology ("IT") professionals to manage distributed network resources and to secure and protect enterprise data. The Network & Storage Management Group operates in a single industry segment, and its products offer features such as system backup, disaster recovery, migration, replication, automated client protection, storage resource management, scheduling, event correlation and desktop management.

The Network & Storage Management Group is an operating division of Seagate

Software, Inc. ("Seagate Software"), which is a majority-owned and consolidated subsidiary of Seagate Technology, Inc. ("Seagate Technology"), a data technology company that provides products for storing, managing and accessing digital information on computer systems. Seagate Software is headquartered in Scotts Valley, California and has 49 offices and operations in 18 countries worldwide.

Restatement of Financial Statements. The Network & Storage Management Group had previously allocated a portion of goodwill to developed technology and evaluated the impairment of goodwill based on the revenues from the related software. Using this method, the Network & Storage Management Group recorded write-downs and write-offs of goodwill in fiscal 1997 in the amount of \$10,259,000. The Network & Storage Management Group has re-evaluated its methodology and determined that goodwill should not be allocated to developed technology under Accounting Principles Board Opinion 17, "Intangible Assets." As a result, the Network & Storage Management Group has made adjustments to decrease the amounts of goodwill previously written-down and written-off from \$10,259,000 to \$6,173,000 in fiscal 1997. The additional goodwill of \$4,086,000 is being amortized over the remaining estimated useful lives of approximately 5 years.

The effect of this adjustment on previously reported combined financial statements as of and for the years ended July 3, 1998 and June 27, 1997 is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

## <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	AS REP AS OF A THE YEAR	ND FOR	AS RESTATED AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED		
	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Amortization of goodwill	\$ 23 <b>,</b> 987	\$ 12,456	\$ 20,250	\$ 13,236	
Income (loss) from operations	(44,945)	10,210	(41,208)	9,430	
Net income (loss) Goodwill and other intangible assets,	(36,937)	3,636	(33,200)	2,856	
net	52,480	38,374	56,217	41,331	
Accumulated deficit	(227,146)	(223,510)	(223,409)	(220,553)	

167

## F-46

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The effect of this adjustment on previously reported combined financial statements as of and for the nine months ended April 3, 1998 is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

CAPITON/	AS REPORTED	AS RESTATED		
	AS OF AND FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 3, 1998	AS OF AND FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 3, 1998		
	(UNAUDITED)	(UNAUDITED)		
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>		
Amortization of goodwill	\$ 10,071	\$ 10,656		
Income from operations	9,833	9,248		
Net income	3,254	2,669		
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net	36,014	39,168		
Accumulated deficit	(223,892)	(220,741)		

Basis of presentation. These financial statements have been prepared using the historical basis of accounting and are presented as if the Network & Storage Management Group had existed as an entity separate from Seagate Software and Seagate Technology during the periods presented. These financial statements include the historical assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses that are directly related to the Network & Storage Management Group's operations. For certain assets and liabilities of Seagate Software that are not specifically identifiable with the Network & Storage Management Group, estimates have been used to allocate such assets and liabilities to the Network & Storage Management Group by applying methodologies management believes are appropriate.

The unaudited quarterly consolidated financial statements presented have

been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The statements of operations include all revenues and costs attributable to the Network & Storage Management Group, including allocations of certain corporate administration, finance, and management costs. Such costs were proportionately allocated to the Network & Storage Management Group based on detailed inquiries and estimates of time incurred by Seagate Software's corporate marketing and general and administrative departmental managers. In addition, certain of Seagate Software's operations are shared locations involving activities that pertain to the Network & Storage Management Group as well as to other businesses of Seagate Software. Costs incurred in shared locations are allocated based on specific identification, or where specific identification is not possible, such costs are allocated between the Network & Storage Management Group and other businesses of Seagate Software using methodologies that management believes are reasonable. Transactions and balances between entities and locations within the Network & Storage Management Group have been eliminated.

From August 1994 to June 1996, Seagate Technology acquired seven software companies that were engaged in developing and marketing network and/or storage management software products. In addition, in February 1996, Seagate Technology merged with Conner Peripherals, Inc. ("Conner") in a transaction accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. In connection with the merger, Seagate Technology purchased the outstanding minority interests in Conner's storage management software operations under Arcada Holdings, Inc. ("Arcada"). Also, in June 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group acquired Eastman Software for \$10,000,000 in cash. The amount of capital contributed by Seagate Technology for acquisitions is determined by the amounts paid for such acquisitions by Seagate Technology acquired Eastman Group. The accompanying financial

F-47

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

168

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

statements present the combined results of operations of the acquired companies from the dates of acquisition.

The Network & Storage Management Group operates and reports financial results on a fiscal year of 52 or 53 weeks ending on the Friday closest to June 30. Accordingly, fiscal 1996 ended on June 28, 1996, fiscal 1997 ended on June 27, 1997, and fiscal 1998 ended on July 3, 1998. Fiscal years 1996 and 1997 were comprised of 52 weeks, and fiscal 1998 was comprised of 53 weeks. Fiscal 1999 will be a 52-week year and will end on July 2, 1999. All references to years in the notes to combined financial statements represent fiscal years unless otherwise noted.

Arcada, which was acquired by the Network & Storage Management Group pursuant to Seagate Technology's merger with Conner, had a fiscal year that ended on the Saturday closest to December 31. Accordingly, Arcada's statement of operations for the year ended December 30, 1995 has been combined with the Network & Storage Management Group's statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 1995. In order to conform Arcada's fiscal year end to the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal year end, the Network & Storage Management Group's combined statement of operations for the year ended June 28, 1996 includes six months (July 1, 1995 through December 30, 1995) for Arcada which are also included in the Network & Storage Management Group's combined statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 1995.

Economic dependence on Seagate Technology. The Network & Storage Management Group incurred net losses of \$94,596,000 and \$33,200,000 during 1996 and 1997, respectively, and had a working capital deficit of \$12,690,000 at July 3, 1998. On July 4, 1998, Seagate Software and Seagate Technology renewed the Revolving Loan Agreement on substantially the same terms and conditions as the prior agreement that was dated June 28, 1996. Under the Revolving Loan Agreement, Seagate Technology finances certain of Seagate Software's working capital needs. The Revolving Loan Agreement provides for maximum outstanding borrowings of up to \$60,000,000 and is renewable every two years. Outstanding borrowings by the Network & Storage Management Group from Seagate Technology and affiliates were \$25,616,000 and \$10,636,000 at June 27, 1997 and July 3, 1998, respectively and a net receivable of \$42,111,000 (unaudited) at April 2, 1999. Borrowings from Seagate Technology consist primarily of amounts used to fund the Network & Storage Management Group's operating activities. A net receivable position existed as of April 2, 1999 primarily due to an increase in loan repayments to Seagate Technology resulting from an increase in cash generated from operations. The loan balance is offset and presented on the balance sheet as a net receivable or net payable in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement. Beginning in fiscal 1999, the Network & Storage Management Group will pay

interest at the LIBOR rate plus 2% per annum on such borrowings; the Network & Storage Management Group previously paid interest at 6%. Interest expense as presented in the statement of operations primarily relates to interest incurred under the Revolving Loan Agreement.

The Network & Storage Management Group and Seagate Software are economically dependent on Seagate Technology and believe that to the extent future cash flows from operations and borrowings under the existing loan agreement with Seagate Technology are not sufficient to fund the Network & Storage Management Group's working capital deficit and planned activities during the next 12 months, that additional funding will be available at a reasonable cost from Seagate Technology.

Accounting estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

F - 48

169

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Concentration of credit risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Network & Storage Management Group to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and accounts receivable. The Network & Storage Management Group places its cash and cash equivalents in high credit quality financial institutions. Accounts receivable are derived from revenues earned from customers primarily located in North America. The Network & Storage Management Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral. The Network & Storage Management Group maintains reserves for potential credit losses and historically such losses have been immaterial. Revenue from one third-party customer, Ingram Micro, accounted for 17%, 22% and 27% of the Network & Storage Management Group's total revenues in 1996, 1997 and 1998, and 28% (unaudited) in the nine months ended April 3, 1998 and 28% (unaudited) in the nine months ended April 2, 1999. Revenue from another third-party customer, Tech Data, accounted for 12% of the Network & Storage Management Group's total revenues in 1998.

Foreign currency translation. The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for all of the Network & Storage Management Group's foreign operations. Gains and losses on the remeasurement into U.S. dollars of amounts denominated in foreign currencies are included in net income.

Earnings per share. The Network & Storage Management Group is a division of Seagate Software and has no formal capital structure. Accordingly, earnings per share information is not presented.

Cash management. Seagate Technology uses a centralized cash management function for all of its domestic operations, including domestic operations of the Network & Storage Management Group.

Cash and cash equivalents. The Network & Storage Management Group considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. The Network & Storage Management Group typically uses available cash in excess of amounts required for operating activities to pay amounts due under the Revolving Loan Agreement. Accordingly, the Network & Storage Management Group has not had significant cash equivalents to date.

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first in, first out method) or market, and consist primarily of materials used in software products, related supplies and packaging materials.

Equipment and leasehold improvements. Equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from two to five years. Assets under capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the remaining lease term.

Goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired companies over the estimated fair values of tangible and intangible net assets acquired. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over five to seven years. The carrying values of long-term assets and intangibles other than developed technology ("other intangibles") are reviewed if facts and circumstances suggest that they may be impaired. If this review indicates that carrying values of long-term assets and other intangibles and associated goodwill will not be recoverable based on projected undiscounted future cash flows, carrying values are reduced to estimated fair values by first reducing goodwill and second by reducing long-term assets and other intangibles.

Other intangible assets consist of trademarks, assembled workforces, distribution networks, developed technology, customer bases, and covenants not to compete related to acquisitions accounted for by the purchase method. See Note on Business Combinations and Acquisitions. Amortization of purchased intangibles, other than acquired developed technology, is provided on the straight-line basis over the

#### F-49

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

respective useful lives of the assets ranging from 36 to 60 months for trademarks, 24 to 48 months for assembled workforces and distribution networks, 12 to 36 months for customer bases and 18 to 24 months for covenants not to compete. In-process research and development without alternative future use is expensed when acquired.

Developed technology and capitalized software development costs. The Network & Storage Management Group applies Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86 ("SFAS 86"), "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed", to software technologies developed internally, acquired in business acquisitions, and purchased.

Internal development costs are included in research and development and are expensed as incurred. SFAS 86 requires the capitalization of certain internal development costs once technological feasibility is established, which based on the Network & Storage Management Group's development process generally occurs upon the completion of a working model. As the time period between the completion of a working model and the general availability of software has been short, capitalization of internal development costs has not been material to date. Capitalized costs are amortized based on the greater of the straight-line basis over the estimated product life (generally 30 to 48 months) or the ratio of current revenues to the total of current and anticipated future revenues.

Purchased developed technology, including developed technology acquired in business acquisitions, is amortized based on the greater of the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life (30 to 48 months) or the ratio of current revenues to the total of current and anticipated future revenues. The recoverability of the carrying value of purchased developed technology and associated goodwill is reviewed periodically. The carrying value of developed technology is compared to the estimated future gross revenues from that product reduced by the estimated future costs of completing and disposing of that product, including the costs of performing maintenance and customer support (net undiscounted cash flows) and to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows the difference is written off. If the developed technology was acquired in a business combination the carrying value of any related goodwill is also compared to the estimated net discounted cash flows less the carrying value of the developed technology and if the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the net undiscounted cash flows the difference is written off.

Fair value disclosures. The Network & Storage Management Group maintains its cash principally with major banks in interest- and non-interest-bearing bank accounts. There are no realized or unrealized gains or losses and fair value approximates carrying value for all cash balances.

Pushdown and carveout accounting. Seagate Technology has provided substantial services to Seagate Software, including general management, treasury, tax, financial reporting, benefits administration, insurance, information technology, legal, accounts payable and receivable and credit functions. Seagate Technology has charged Seagate Software for these services through corporate expense allocations, and such expenses in turn have been reallocated by Seagate Software to the Network & Storage Management Group and to the other businesses of Seagate Software. The amount of corporate expense allocations is dependent upon the total amount of allocable costs incurred by Seagate Technology on behalf of Seagate Software and the Network & Storage Management Group less amounts charged as a specific cost or expense rather than by allocation. Included in the Network & Storage Management Group's general and administrative expenses are Seagate Technology allocation charges of \$1,771,000, \$1,462,000 and \$730,000 for 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively and \$525,000 (unaudited) and \$387,000 (unaudited) for the nine months ended April 3, 1998 and April 2, 1999, respectively. Included in sales and marketing expenses are Seagate Technology allocation charges of

F-50

170

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

\$14,000, \$12,000 and \$462,000 for 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively and \$459,000 (unaudited) and \$216,000 (unaudited) for the nine months ended April 3, 1998 and April 2, 1999, respectively. The increase in sales and marketing expenses in 1998 was due to proportional cost allocations from Seagate Technology's corporate branding program, which consisted of television and newspaper advertisements.

The Network & Storage Management Group's employees participated in Seagate Technology's profit sharing plan through the first quarter of fiscal 1998 and in Seagate Technology's management bonus plan during 1997. The Network & Storage Management Group has since adopted its own bonus plan. Compensation expenses recorded by the Network & Storage Management Group under Seagate Technology's plans totaled \$700,000, \$2,664,000 and \$0 for 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

The employees of the Network & Storage Management Group also participate in Seagate Technology Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan"). The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees who have completed thirty days of employment prior to the inception of the offering period to purchase common stock of Seagate Technology through payroll deductions at the lower of 85% of the fair market value of the common stock at the beginning or at the end of each six-month offering period. Under the plan, approximately 34,500, 71,200 and 75,700 shares of common stock of Seagate Technology were issued to the Network & Storage Management Group's employees in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

The U.S. employees of the Network & Storage Management Group also participate in the Seagate Technology tax-deferred savings plan, the Seagate Technology, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan (the "401(k) plan"). The 401(k) plan is designed to provide qualified employees with an accumulation of funds at retirement. Qualified employees may elect to make contributions to the 401(k) plan on a monthly basis. The Network & Storage Management Group may make annual contributions to the 401(k) plan at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Network & Storage Management Group contributions were immaterial in fiscal years 1996 and 1997 and were \$560,000 in fiscal year 1998.

Revenue recognition. During fiscal 1998 and prior, the Network & Storage Management Group recognized revenue in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 91-1, "Software Revenue Recognition". The Network & Storage Management Group's total revenues are derived from license revenues for its various software products as well as maintenance, support, training and consulting. Revenues for maintenance, support services, training and consulting are recognized separately from software licenses. License revenues are recognized upon delivery of the product if no significant vendor obligations remain and collection of the resulting receivable is probable. Allowances for estimated future returns are provided upon shipment. Maintenance and support revenues consist of ongoing support and product updates and are recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is typically twelve months. Revenues from training and consulting are recognized when the services are performed.

Revenues from resellers, including VARs, OEMs, distributors and Seagate Technology, are primarily recognized at the time of product delivery to the reseller. The Company's policy is to defer such revenues if resale contingencies exist. Factors considered in the determination of whether such contingencies exist include, but are not limited to, payment terms, collectibility and past history with the customer.

Product returns are reserved for in accordance with SFAS 48. Such returns are estimated based on historical return rates. The Company considers other factors such as fixed and determinable fees, resale contingencies, arms length contract terms and the ability to reasonably estimate returns to ensure compliance with SFAS 48. Additionally, the Network and Storage Management Group continually

## F-51

## 172

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

reviews its estimated product return provisions to ensure that they are reasonable in relation to actual product returns, which are quantified based on approved return authorization forms received prior to fiscal cutoff dates. Historically, the Network and Storage Management Group's estimated product return rates have not varied materially from actual product return rates.

In October 1997 and March 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statements of Position 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition" ("SOP 97-2") and 98-4, "Deferral of the Effective Date of a Provision of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition" ("SOP 98-4"). SOP 97-2 and SOP 98-4 provide

guidance on recognizing revenue on software transactions and supersede SOP 91-1. The Network & Storage Management Group has assessed the impact of the requirements of SOP 97-2 and SOP 98-4 and has changed certain of its policies and procedures. The Network & Storage Management Group's adoption of SOP 97-2 and SOP 98-4 for transactions entered into after July 3, 1998 did not have a significant impact on revenues or results of operations for the first nine months of fiscal 1999.

Advertising expense. The cost of advertising is expensed as incurred. The Network & Storage Management Group does not incur any direct response advertising costs. Advertising costs totaled \$13,914,000, \$18,571,000 and \$12,358,000 in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

Accounts receivable. Accounts receivable are summarized below, in thousands:

## <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	JUNE 27,	JULY 3,	APRIL 2,
	1997	1998	1999
<s></s>			(UNAUDITED) <c></c>
Accounts receivable	\$15,340	\$16,780	\$ 33,165
Less allowance for non-collection	(953)	(798)	(10,075)
	\$14,387 ======	\$15,982 ======	\$ 23,090

## </TABLE>

Inventory. The write-downs of inventory to the lower of cost or market were \$800,000, \$531,000 and \$3,674,000 in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. The write-down in fiscal 1998 was a result of consolidating Seagate Software's fulfillment warehouses and changing their strategy to have fulfillment activities handled by an outsourcing partner. As a result of this consolidation excess and obsolete components and finished goods were written down. The write-down in fiscal 1997 and 1996 related to excess and obsolete components and finished goods inventory.

Equipment and leasehold improvements. Equipment and leasehold improvements consisted of the following, in thousands:

## <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999
			(UNAUDITED)
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Equipment	\$ 24,063	\$ 21,366	\$ 24,616
Leasehold improvements	5,274	5,783	8,276
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	29,337 (12,271)	27,149 (15,811)	32,892 (20,159)
	\$ 17,066	\$ 11,338	\$ 12,733

</TABLE>

Depreciation is recognized on the straight-line basis over the respective useful lives of the assets, ranging from two to five years for equipment and the life of the lease for building and leasehold

F-52

## 173

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

improvements. Depreciation expense was \$3,455,000, \$7,393,000 and \$9,111,000 in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

Goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill and other intangibles consisted of the following, in thousands:

JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998	APRIL 2, 1999			
		(UNAUDITED)			
<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>			

Goodwill	\$ 50,286	\$ 49,039	\$ 49,139
Developed technology	28,486	28,449	28,638
Trademarks	3,653	3,653	3,653
Assembled workforce.	4,638	2,568	2,568
Distribution network.	2,925	2,925	2,925
Other intangibles	8,604	9,743	9,743
Accumulated amortization	98,592	96,377	96,666
	(42,375)	(55,046)	(65,102)
	\$ 56,217	\$ 41,331	\$ 31,564

Amortization of developed technologies is included in costs of revenues. In 1996, 1997 and 1998 amortization expense for goodwill and other intangibles includes write-offs and write-downs to the estimated fair value of \$2,157,000, \$6,173,000 and \$1,900,000, respectively. In 1997 the amortization of acquired developed technologies included in cost of revenues includes write-downs and write-offs to net realizable value of \$6,918,000.

Periodically, the Network & Storage Management Group reviews the carrying value of its intangibles other than developed technology to ascertain if there has been any impairment. In 1996, the former owner of Frye Computer Systems, Inc. (a 1995 acquisition) and its original founder, Mr. Frye, left the Network & Storage Management Group. With his departure, the Network & Storage Management of his covenant not to compete and to not use the Frye name trademark in future products. As a result, the remaining carrying value of the covenant not to compete and tassociated goodwill totalling \$2,157,000 were written off.

The Network & Storage Management Group also periodically reviews the net realizable value of developed technology under the guidance of SFAS No. 86. The Network & Storage Management Group compares the estimated undiscounted future cash flows on a product by product basis to the unamortized cost of developed technology. Unamortized costs in excess of the estimated undiscounted cash flows are written off. The impairment write-offs for developed technology recorded in 1997 were caused by a number of factors including the Network & Storage Management Group's decision to stop selling products or technologies such as DOS, new acquisitions, or new product designs. The Network & Storage Management Group is not currently generating revenue from any products for which the related developed technology has been impaired.

In addition, the Network & Storage Management Group assesses the impairment of goodwill not within the scope of SFAS 121 under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 17, "Intangible Assets" (APB 17). During 1997, the Network & Storage Management Group wrote-off and wrote-down goodwill amounting to \$6,173,000. The write-offs and write-downs related to the decision to abandon and stop selling all current and future products acquired from Frye Computer Systems, Inc., the decision to

F-53

#### 174

## NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

abandon and stop selling virtually all current and future products acquired in the acquisition of Palindrome Corporation, and the decision to close down and sell Calypso Software Systems, Inc.

The Network & Storage Management Group has capitalized the assembled workforce in most of its acquisitions. When the Network & Storage Management Group reviews the carrying value of its intangibles, if there remains less than 5% of the original workforce the related intangible is deemed impaired. In 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group wrote off the workforces and associated goodwill for three previous acquisitions, Network Computing, Inc., Netlabs, Inc., and Creative Interaction Technologies, Inc. because less than 5% of the original workforce remained.

The following table provides quantitative information about the write-offs and write-downs of goodwill and other intangibles, in thousands:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

1996		1997		1998			
INTANGIBLE	GOODWILL	DEVELOPED TECHNOLOGY	GOODWILL	INTANGIBLE	GOODWILL		
<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>		

<S> COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE

#### Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Frye Computer Systems, Inc	\$1,188	\$744				
TRADEMARK						
Frye Computer Systems, Inc	225					
DEVELOPED TECHNOLOGY						
Netlabs, Inc			\$ 780			
Palindrome Corporation			2,740	\$2,930		
Calypso Software Systems,						
Inc			1,627	2,573		
Creative Interaction						
Technologies, Inc			1,176			
Frye Computer Systems, Inc			463	670		
Network Computing, Inc			132			
ASSEMBLED WORKFORCE						
Network Computing, Inc					\$120	\$ 155
Netlabs, Inc					431	1,045
Creative Interaction						
Technologies, Inc					82	67
Total	\$1,413	\$744	\$6,918	\$6,173	\$633	\$1,267
	======	====	======	======	====	======

175

#### NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Network & Storage Management Group intends to adopt Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income" ("SFAS 130"), and No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information" ("SFAS 131") during fiscal 1999. Both standards will require additional disclosure, but will not have a material effect on the Network & Storage Management Group's financial position or results of operations. SFAS 130 establishes standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive income, including net income and items that are currently reported directly as a component of stockholders' equity such as changes in foreign currency translation adjustments and changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial instruments. SFAS 131 changes the way companies report segment information and requires segments to be determined based on how management measures performance and makes decisions about allocating resources. The Network &

## F-54

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Storage Management Group has not provided the disclosures related to SFAS 130 for the nine month periods ended April 3, 1998 and April 2, 1999, as these amounts are immaterial.

In April 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use" ("SOP 98-1"). SOP 98-1 provides guidance on capitalization of the costs incurred for computer software developed or obtained for internal use. It also provides guidance for determining whether computer software is internal-use software and on accounting for the proceeds of computer software originally developed or obtained for internal use and then subsequently sold to the public. The Network & Storage Management Group has not yet determined the impact, if any, of adopting this statement. The disclosures prescribed by SOP 98-1 will be effective for the Network & Storage Management Group's combined financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2000.

In June 1998, the FASE issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SFAS 133"). This statement establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and for hedging activities. It requires that derivatives be recognized in the balance sheet at fair value and specifies the accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities -- Deferral of the Effective Date of FASE Statement No. 133" to defer the effective date of SFAS 133 until fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Network & Storage Management Group generally does not use derivative financial instruments and the impact of SFAS 133 is not anticipated to be material when adopted.

## BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ACQUISITIONS

The Network & Storage Management Group has a history of acquisitions and during the three most recent fiscal years acquired Arcada Holdings, Inc., Calypso Software Systems, Inc., OnDemand Software, Inc. and Sytron Corporation in 1996, made no acquisitions in 1997, and acquired Eastman Software Storage Management Group, Inc. in 1998.

In accordance with the provisions of APB Opinion 16, all identifiable

assets, including identifiable intangible assets, were assigned a portion of the cost of the acquired enterprise (purchase price) on the basis of their respective fair values. This included the portion of the purchase price properly attributed to incomplete research and development projects that should be expensed according to the requirements of Interpretation 4 of SFAS No. 2.

Valuation of acquired intangible assets. To determine the value of developed technologies, the expected future cash flows of existing product and core technologies were evaluated, taking into account risks related to the characteristics and applications of each product, existing and future markets and assessments of the life cycle stage of each product. Based on this analysis, the existing technologies that had reached technological feasibility were capitalized.

To determine the value of in-process research and development, the Network & Storage Management Group considered, among other factors, the state of development of each project, the time and cost needed to complete each project, expected income, associated risks which included the inherent difficulties and uncertainties in completing each project and thereby achieving technological feasibility and risks related to the viability of and potential changes to future target markets. This analysis resulted in amounts assigned to in-process research and development for projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and which did not have alternative future uses. The Income Approach, which includes analysis of markets, cash flows, and risks associated with achieving such cash flows, was the primary technique utilized in valuing each in-process research and development project. The underlying

F-55

#### 176

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

## NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

in-process projects acquired were the most significant and uncertain assumptions utilized in the valuation analysis of in-process research & development projects.

To determine the value of developed technologies, the expected future cash flows of existing product technologies were evaluated, taking into account risks related to the characteristics and applications of each product, existing and future markets and assessments of the life cycle stage of each product. Based on this analysis, the existing technologies that had reached technological feasibility were capitalized.

To determine the value of the distribution networks and customer bases, the Network & Storage Management Group considered, among other factors, the size of the current and potential future customer bases, the quality of existing relationships with customers, the historical costs to develop customer relationships, the expected income and associated risks. Associated risks included the inherent difficulties and uncertainties in transitioning the business relationships from the acquired entity to the Network & Storage Management Group and risks related to the viability of and potential changes to future target markets.

To determine the value of trademarks, the Network & Storage Management Group considered, among other factors, the assumption that in lieu of ownership of a trademark, the Network & Storage Management Group would be willing to pay a royalty in order to exploit the related benefits of such trademark.

To determine the value of assembled workforces, the Network & Storage Management Group considered, among other factors, the costs to replace existing employees including search costs, interview costs and training costs.

Goodwill is determined based on the residual difference between the amount paid and the values assigned to identified tangible and intangible assets. If the values assigned to identified tangible and intangible assets exceed the amounts paid, including the effect of deferred taxes, the values assigned to long-term assets were reduced proportionally.

Acquisition of Sytron Corporation. In July 1995, Arcada Software, Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary of Arcada, acquired the assets and liabilities of Sytron Corporation, a company that developed, produced and marketed software products for data storage management. The purchase price of approximately \$5,017,000 was paid in cash. Arcada accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method, and the results of operations of Sytron are only included in the Network & Storage Management Group's operations since the acquisition was completed. The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation, in thousands:

<TABLE> <S> <C> Current assets and other tangible assets...... \$ 848

Liabilities assumed Developed technology In-process research and development Goodwill.	1,487 2,817
	\$5,017
	======

# </TABLE>

Acquisition of minority interest of Arcada Holdings, Inc. The combination of Seagate Software with Arcada Holdings, Inc. ("Arcada"), a company which developed, marketed and supported data protection and storage management software products that operated across multiple desktop and client/server environments, was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests and, accordingly, all prior periods presented in the accompanying combined financial statements include the accounts and operations of

# F-56

# 177

NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Arcada. Arcada's results of operations for the duplicated six months ended December 30, 1995 were as follows, in thousands:

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

CHI I ION

	SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 30, 1995
<\$>	<c></c>
Net revenues	\$37,700
Operating expenses	29,320
Other income	588
Net loss	(80)

  |In connection with the pooling-of-interests, the Network & Storage Management Group acquired the then outstanding minority interest of Arcada. The minority interest was approximately 31% on a fully diluted basis. The acquisition of the minority interest was accounted for as a purchase and in connection with the acquisition, Seagate Technology issued 2,553,000 shares of common stock with a fair market value of approximately \$52,009,000 and 1,817,000 options to purchase common stock with a fair market value of approximately \$33,065,000 (aggregate fair value of  $\$85,074,000)\,.$  The value of the shares of Seagate Technology common stock issued to shareholders of Arcada was determined based on the average market price of Seagate Technology's common stock five days before and five days after October 3, 1995, the date that the terms of the acquisition were agreed to. The options were issued to employees of Arcada and Conner, Arcada's parent, in exchange for options of Arcada. The options have a term of 10 years and vest 1/16 per quarter over 4 years. The value of the options were based on the intrinsic value of the options, which approximates the fair value. The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of the minority interest, in thousands:

# <TABLE>

<\$>	<c></c>
Assembled workforce	\$ 1 <b>,</b> 355
Distribution network	94
Corporate accounts	375
Strategic alliances	1,437
OEM agreements	3,217
Value added resellers	2,030
Trademarks	2,811
Developed technology	4,623
In-process research and development	43,949
Deferred tax liability	(6,254)
Goodwill	31,437
	\$85 <b>,</b> 074

# </TABLE>

Intangible assets were identified through (i) analysis of the acquisition agreement, (ii) consideration of the Network & Storage Management Group's intentions for future use of the acquired assets, and (iii) analysis of data available concerning Arcada's products, technologies, markets, historical financial performance, estimates of future performance and the assumptions underlying those estimates. The economic and competitive environment in which the Network & Storage Management Group and Arcada operate was also considered in the valuation analysis.

Specifically, purchased research and development ("purchased R&D") was identified and valued through extensive interviews and discussions with the Network & Storage Management Group and Arcada management and the analysis of data provided by Arcada concerning Arcada's developmental products their respective stage of development, the time and resources needed to complete them, their expected income generating ability, target markets and associated risks. The Income Approach, which

#### F-57

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

includes an analysis of the markets, cash flows, and risks associated with achieving such cash flows, was the primary technique utilized in valuing each purchased R&D project. A portion of the purchase price was allocated to the developmental projects based on the appraised fair values of such projects.

DISCUSSION OF IN-PROCESS RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT ONE TIME WRITE-OFF

#### OVERVIEW

178

As of the acquisition date, Arcada had spent a significant amount of money on research and development related to the re-development efforts to add features and utilities to the Desktop, NetWare and Windows NT products such as disk grooming, hierarchical storage management, upgraded graphical user interfaces, file and server replication, and server mirroring in order to continue to meet increasingly complex user needs.

In accordance with SFAS 86, paragraph 38 ("Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed"), "the cost of software purchased to be integrated with another product or process will be capitalized only if technological feasibility was established for the software component and if all research and development activities for the other components of the product or process were completed at the time of the purchase." Although Seagate purchased existing products from Arcada, since the majority of the original underlying code and base technology for the NetWare and Windows NT product families was completed in the 1990 time frame, the technologies, as of the date of valuation, were undergoing significant re-development.

#### ASSUMPTIONS

#### Revenue

Future revenue estimates were generated for the following product families: (i) Desktop, (ii) NetWare, and (iii) Windows NT. Aggregate revenue for Arcada products was estimated to be approximately \$94 million for the ten and one-half months ending December 31, 1996. Revenues were estimated to increase to approximately \$161 million and \$234 million for calendar years 1997 and 1998 when most of the in-process projects were expected to be complete and shipping. Thereafter, revenue was estimated to increase at rates ranging from 35% to 40% for calendar years 1999 through 2002. Revenue estimates were based on (i) aggregate revenue growth rates for the business as a whole, (ii) individual product revenues, (iii) growth rates for the storage management software market, (iv) the aggregate size of the storage management software market, (v) anticipated product development and introduction schedules, (vi) product sales cycles, and (vii) the estimated life of a product's underlying technology. The estimated product development cycle for the new products ranged from 12 to 18 months.

#### Operating expenses

Operating expenses used in the valuation analysis of Arcada included (i) cost of goods sold, (ii) general and administrative expense, (iii) selling and marketing expense, and (iv) research and development expense. In developing future expense estimates, an evaluation of both Seagate Software and Arcada's overall business model, specific product results, including both historical and expected direct expense levels (as appropriate), and an assessment of general industry metrics was conducted.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies ranged from approximately 5% to 30% (30% for Desktop, 10% for NetWare, and 5% for Windows NT). The Network & Storage Management Group's cost of goods sold was 23% for fiscal 1996, 23% for fiscal 1997, and 13% for fiscal 1998.

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

General and administrative ("G&A") expense. G&A expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies ranged from 12% in calendar 1996 to 8% in calendar 1998 and beyond.

Selling and marketing ("S&M") expense. S&M expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be 30% throughout the estimation period.

Research and development ("R&D") expense. R&D expense consists of the costs associated with activities undertaken to correct errors or keep products updated with current information (also referred to as "maintenance" R&D). Maintenance R&D includes all activities undertaken after a product is available for general release to customers to correct errors or keep the product updated with current information. These activities include routine changes and additions. The maintenance R&D expense was estimated to be 5% of revenue for the developed technologies and 3% of revenue for the in-process technologies throughout the estimation period.

In addition, as of the date of acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group management anticipated the costs to complete the Desktop, NetWare, and Windows NT technologies at approximately \$6.8 million, \$4.5 million, and \$7.5 million, respectively. Since the acquisition date, all projects originally acquired from Arcada were commercially released prior to the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997.

# Effective tax rate

The effective tax rate utilized in the analysis of developed and in-process technologies was 38%, which reflects Seagate's combined federal and state statutory income tax rates, exclusive of non-recurring charges at the time of the acquisition and estimated for future years.

#### Discount rate

The discount rates selected for Arcada's developed and in-process technologies were 15% and 17.5% respectively. In the selection of the appropriate discount rates, consideration was given to (i) the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (approximately 13% to 15% at the date of acquisition) of its parent, Seagate Technology, Inc. and (ii) the Weighted Average Return on Assets (approximately 18%). The discount rate utilized for the in-process technology was determined to be higher than Seagate's WACC due to the fact that the technology had not yet reached technological feasibility as of the date of valuation. In utilizing a discount rate greater than Seagate's WACC, management has reflected the risk premium associated with achieving the forecasted cash flows associated with these projects.

Acquisition of OnDemand Software, Inc. In March 1996, the Network & Storage Management Group acquired all of the outstanding shares and stock options of OnDemand Software, Inc. ("OnDemand"), a company engaged in developing, producing and marketing WinINSTALL, a product which automates installation, upgrades and uninstalls of network applications throughout the enterprise. The purchase price of approximately \$13,425,000 was paid in cash. The Network & Storage Management Group accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method, and the results of operations of

#### F-59

#### 180

# NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

# NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OnDemand are only included in the Network & Storage Management Group's operations since the date the acquisition was completed. The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation, in thousands:

# <TABLE>

<\$>	<c></c>
Current assets and other tangible assets	\$ 832
Liabilities assumed	(227)
Assembled workforce	270
Developed technology	2,000
Covenant not to compete	50
In-process research and development	8,900
Goodwill	1,600
	\$13,425

<sup>=======</sup> 

#### </TABLE>

OnDemand develops and markets electronic software distribution products involved in network management in the client/server environment. OnDemand's flagship product is WinINSTALL. As of the date of acquisition, OnDemand was in the process of developing the next generation of WinINSTALL Version 6.0. A significant feature of Version 6.0 (not available by any competitive product) was a rollback with clone capability, which would allow the user to selectively return a PC to a previous state upon installation failure or upon user demand. In order for WinINSTALL Version 6.0 to become a commercially viable product, OnDemand, as of the valuation date, had undergone or was in the process of undergoing significant development efforts, including (i) developing rollback facilities, including clone capability, (ii) expanding global editor to be included in the WinINSTALL registry file, (iii) improving WinINSTALL Remote to ease package generation and distribution, (iv) adding a feature that would allow optional electronic mail notification on installation failure and on installation refusals due to reaching license limitations, and (v) expanding copy options and interactive install displays, adding substitution variables, and allowing version control of backup files.

As of the date of acquisition, Company management anticipated the costs to complete WinINSTALL Version 6.0 at approximately \$920,000. Since the acquisition date, the acquired in-process research and development from OnDemand has been completed and the related products have been released prior to the end of fiscal 1997.

Acquisition of Calypso Software Systems, Inc. In May 1996, the Network & Storage Management Group acquired all of the outstanding shares of Calypso Software Systems, Inc. ("Calypso"), a company engaged in developing, producing and marketing software for managing systems and applications in complex, distributed client/server computer networks. The purchase price of approximately \$13,865,000 was paid in cash. The Network & Storage Management Group accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method, and the results of operations of Calypso are only included in the Network & Storage Management Group's operations since the date the acquisition was completed. The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation, in thousands:

<table></table>	
<s></s>	<c></c>
Current assets and other tangible assets	\$ 1,209
Liabilities assumed	(245)
Assembled workforce	400
Developed technology	3,600
Customer base	540
In-process research and development	5,400
Goodwill	2,961
	\$13,865

</TABLE>

181

F-60

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Calypso is a software developer in the enterprise network/system management market. Calypso provides software which is designed to enable companies to automate the management of their distributed applications. At the date of acquisition, Calypso had two main products: Maestro Vision ("Maestro") and Atrium Extendible Management System ("EMS") for Spectrum. Both existing products, as of the acquisition date, were planned to be phased out over the following 24 months. Calypso, at the acquisition date, was in the process of developing the next generation Atrium EMS product that can be sold stand-alone. Both Maestro and Atrium EMS for Spectrum were originally designed for use only on certain system platforms, Cabletron and Spectrum, respectively. However, Atrium EMS (stand-alone) would allow systems managers on any system platform to distribute software; monitor CPU, memory, and operating system administration; manage applications, file systems, and print services; and perform UNIX and NT system administration.

As of the date of acquisition, Calypso had undergone or was in the process of undergoing the re-write of code in C+, adding navigator capabilities, developing web server and browser interoperability, developing CORBA interoperability, and developing Network OLE/COM interoperability for Atrium EMS (stand-alone). The estimated cost to complete, at the date of acquisition, was approximately \$750,000. These in process research and development projects were successfully completed prior to a restructuring of operations in the third quarter of fiscal 1997. As a result of this restructuring and a change in the Company's strategic direction, in the first quarter of fiscal 1998 the Company disposed of all the developed and in process technologies originally acquired

#### from Calvpso.

Acquisition of Eastman Software Storage Management Group, Inc. In June 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Eastman Software Storage Management Group, Inc. ("Eastman"), a company engaged in developing, producing and marketing hierarchical storage management products for the Windows NT platform. The purchase price of approximately \$10,000,000 was paid in cash. Approximately \$6,800,000 of the total purchase price represented the value of in-process technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility, had no alternative future uses and was charged to the Network & Storage Management Group's operations in the guarter ended July 3, 1998. The Network & Storage Management Group accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method, and the results of operations of Eastman are only included in the Network & Storage Management Group's operations since the date the acquisition was completed. Pro forma financial information is not presented as such amounts are not material. The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation, in thousands:

# <TABLE>

<	S	>	

<\$>	<c></c>
Current assets and other tangible assets	\$ 535
Liabilities assumed	(508)
Assembled workforce	340
Developed technology	500
In-process research and development	6,800
Microsoft agreement	1,500
Goodwill	833
	\$10,000

</TABLE>

#### OVERVIEW

182

Eastman Software Storage Management Group's two primary products are OPEN/stor for Windows NT and AvailHSM for NetWare. By integrating Eastman's product line, the Network & Storage Management Group will be able to convert their Storage Migrator product into a stand-alone

#### F-61

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HSM application for Windows NT environments. As of the date of acquisition the Network & Storage Management Group abandoned the AvailHSM product and technology due to dated features and functionality; the valuation analysis did not include a fair value for the AvailHSM product.

As for OPEN/stor at the date of acquisition the Network & Storage Management Group planned to phase out the product over the following 12 to 15 months. NSMG's purpose for the acquisition was for the next generation technologies that were underway at Eastman referenced by project names Sakkara and Phoenix. These projects were complete re-writes of Eastman's prior generation technology that would allow the product to be sold stand-alone upon completion.

In accordance with SFAS 86, paragraph 38 ("Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed"), "the cost of software purchased to be integrated with another product or process will be capitalized only if technological feasibility was established for the software component and if all research and development activities for the other components of the product or process were completed at the time of the purchase." Although the Network & Storage Management Group purchased existing products from Eastman, the existing products did not operate on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, as mentioned above, all of the original underlying code and base technology for the next generation products were in the process of being completely re-written as date of valuation.

# ASSUMPTIONS

#### Revenue

Future revenue estimates were generated for the following technologies: (i) OPEN/stor, (ii) Sakkara, and (iii) Phoenix. Aggregate revenue for existing Eastman products was estimated to be approximately \$167,000 for the one month ending June 30, 1998. Revenues were estimated to increase to approximately \$3.9 million and \$7.1 million for fiscal years 1999 and 2000 when most of the in-process projects were expected to be complete and shipping. Thereafter, revenue was estimated to increase at rates ranging from 20% to 30% for fiscal years 2001 through 2006. Revenue estimates were based on (i) aggregate revenue

growth rates for the business as a whole, (ii) individual product revenues, (iii) growth rates for the storage management software market, (iv) the aggregate size of the storage management software market, (v) anticipated product development and introduction schedules, (vi) product sales, cycles, and (vii) the estimated life of a product's underlying technology.

#### Operating expenses

Operating expenses used in the valuation analysis of Eastman included (i) cost of goods sold, (ii) general and administrative expense, (iii) selling and marketing expense, and (iv) research and development expense. In developing future expense estimates, an evaluation of both the Network & Storage Management Group's and Eastman's overall business model, specific product results, including both historical and expected direct expense levels (as appropriate), and an assessment of general industry metrics was conducted.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold expressed as a percentage of revenue for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be approximately 5% throughout the estimation period. The Network & Storage Management Group's cost of goods sold was 23% for fiscal 1996 and 23% for fiscal 1997.

General and administrative ("G&A") expenses. G&A expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be approximately 10% throughout the estimation period.

F-62

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Selling and marketing ("S&M") expense. S&M expense, expressed as a percentage of revenue, for the developed and in-process technologies was estimated to be 27% throughout the estimation period.

Research and development ("R&D") expense. R&D expense consists of the costs associated with activities undertaken to correct errors or keep products updated with current information (also referred to as "maintenance" R&D). Maintenance R&D includes all activities undertaken after a product is available for general release to customers to correct errors or keep the product updated with current information. These activities include routine changes and additions. The maintenance R&D expense was estimated to be 5% of revenue for the developed and in-process technologies throughout the estimation period.

In addition, as of the date of acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group's management anticipated the costs to complete the in-process technologies at approximately \$1.8 million.

#### EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

183

The effective tax rate utilized in the analysis of developed and in-process technologies was 38%, which reflects Seagate Software's combined federal and state statutory income tax rates, exclusive of non-recurring charges at the time of the acquisition and estimated for future years.

#### DISCOUNT RATE

The discount rates selected for Eastman's developed and in-process technologies were 15% and 20%, respectively. In the selection of the appropriate discount rates, consideration was given to (i) the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (approximately 15% at the date of acquisition) and (ii) the Weighted Average Return on Assets (approximately 18%). The discount rate utilized for the in-process technology was determined to be higher than Seagate Software's WACC due to the fact that the technology had not yet reached technological feasibility as of the date of valuation. In utilizing a discount rate greater than Seagate Software's WACC, management has reflected the risk premium associated with achieving the forecasted cash flows associated with these projects.

#### STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Seagate Software option plan provides for the issuance of either incentive or nonstatutory stock options to employees and consultants of Seagate Software and Seagate Technology. Seagate Software has reserved a total of 12,600,000 shares under the Plan. Options granted under Seagate Software's Plan are granted at fair market value, expire ten years from the date of the grant and vest over four years; 20% at the end of years one and two and 30% at the end of years three and four.

The following table summarizes information about Seagate Software options outstanding as of July 3, 1998 for employees of the Network & Storage Management Group. Certain of Seagate Software's operations are shared locations involving

F-63

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Group as well as to other businesses of Seagate Software. Options outstanding for employees in shared locations have been allocated based on specific identification for each employee.

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

184

	0	PTIONS OUTSTANDING		EXERCISABL	E OPTIONS
		WEIGHTED			
		AVERAGE	WEIGHTED		WEIGHTED
		REMAINING	AVERAGE		AVERAGE
EXERCISE	NUMBER OF	CONTRACTUAL	EXERCISE	NUMBER	EXERCISE
PRICES	SHARES	LIFE (IN YEARS)	PRICE	OF SHARES	PRICE
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
\$ 4.	00 1,293,677	7.9	\$ 4.00	495,911	\$4.00
\$ 6.	00 1,875,278	9.0	6.00	132,420	6.00
\$ 7.50 11.	00 879,597	9.6	8.86	4,780	8.08
\$ 12.	75 1,467,378	10.0	12.75		
Tot	al 5,515,930	9.1	7.78	633,111	4.45
				=======	

</TABLE>

Pro forma information. In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board released Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" ("SFAS 123"). SFAS 123 provides an alternative to Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" ("APBO 25") and requires additional disclosures. Seagate Software and the Network & Storage Management Group have elected to follow APBO 25 in accounting for stock options granted. Under APBO 25, Seagate Software and the Network & Storage Management Group generally have not recognized compensation expense with respect to such options.

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123 for stock options granted after June 30, 1995, as if the Network & Storage Management Group had accounted for Seagate Software stock options under the fair value method of SFAS 123. The fair value of Seagate Software options granted to Network & Storage Management Group employees was estimated using a Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, the Black-Scholes model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Seagate Software stock options granted to the Network & Storage Management Group's employees have characteristics significantly different from those of exchange-traded options (and are not fully transferable) and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management's opinion, the Black-Scholes model does not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock options granted to employees.

The fair value of Seagate Software stock options granted to the Network & Storage Management Group's employees was estimated assuming no expected dividends and the following weighted average assumptions:

# <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	SEAGATE SOFTWARE INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN SHARES		EMF	ATE TECHN PLOYEE ST PURCHASE AN SHARE	OCK	
	1996	1997	1998	1996	1997	1998
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Expected life (in years)	3.65	3.65	3.67	.50	.50	.56
Risk-free interest rate	5.6%	6.2%	5.7%	5.4%	5.4%	5.5%
Volatility 						

 .55 | .55 | .55 | .46 | .46 | .63 |

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The weighted average exercise price and weighted average fair value of Seagate Software stock options granted to Network & Storage Management Group employees in 1998 under Seagate Software's Plan were \$9.04 and \$4.20 per share, respectively. The weighted average purchase price and weighted average fair value of shares granted to Networ & Storage Management Group employees in 1998 under Seagate Technology Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan") were \$26.99 and \$12.03, respectively.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of options granted to the Network & Storage Management Group's employees is amortized over the options' vesting period for Seagate Software stock options and over the six-month purchase period for stock purchases under the Purchase Plan. For purposes of the determination of pro forma net loss, pro forma expense relating to stock options under FAS 123 was allocated based on Network & Storage Management Group headcount as a percentage of total Seagate Software headcount. The pro forma net loss was \$94,846,000, \$35,406,000 and \$844,000 in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. Because the Network & Storage Management Group does not have a formal capital structure, pro forma net loss per share is not presented.

The effects on pro forma disclosures of applying SFAS 123 are not likely to be representative of the effects on pro forma disclosures of future years. Because SFAS 123 is applicable only to options granted subsequent to June 30, 1995, and Seagate Software did not commence granting stock options for the purchase of Seagate Software common stock until June 1996, the pro forma effect will not be fully reflected until 2000.

# INCOME TAXES

The Network & Storage Management Group is included in the consolidated federal and certain combined and consolidated foreign and state income tax returns of Seagate Technology. Seagate Technology and Seagate Software have entered into a tax sharing agreement (the "Tax Allocation Agreement") pursuant to which the Network & Storage Management Group computes hypothetical tax returns (with certain modifications) as if the Network & Storage Management Group was not joined in consolidated or combined returns with Seagate Technology. The Network & Storage Management Group must pay Seagate Technology the positive amount of any such hypothetical taxes. If the hypothetical tax returns show entitlement to refunds, including any refunds attributable to a carryback, then Seagate Technology will pay the Network & Storage Management Group the amount of such refunds. At the end of fiscal 1996 and 1997, there were no intercompany tax-related balances outstanding between the Network & Storage Management Group and Seagate Technology. At the end of fiscal 1998, a \$6,958,000 intercompany tax-related balance was due from the Network & Storage Management Group to Seagate Technology.

# F-65

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes consisted of the following, in thousands:

<TABLE>

186

<CAPTION>

	JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998
<\$>	 <c></c>	 <c></c>	
Current tax expense			
Federal	\$(6,035)	\$ (2,991)	\$ 8,282
State	(1,171)	(563)	908
Foreign	228	473	1,213
Total current tax expense	(6,978)	(3,081)	10,403
Deferred tax expense			
Federal	(1,506)	(6,330)	(3,831)
State	(280)	(1,175)	(711)
Total deferred tax expense	(1,/86)	(7,505)	(4,542)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes	\$(8,764)	\$(10,586)	\$ 5,861

<sup>&</sup>lt;/TABLE>

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes has been computed on a

separate return basis subject to the following modifications as required by the Tax Allocation Agreement: (i) profitable members of the consolidated return group are prohibited from applying tax net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards to reduce their separately computed tax liabilities to the extent that current year tax losses or tax credits of other members are available to reduce a profitable member's separate tax liability; and (ii) members must reimburse other members to the extent they use another member's tax attributes to reduce their separately computed tax liabilities. Pursuant to the terms of the Tax Allocation Agreement, the tax benefits of certain of the Network & Storage Management Group's fiscal 1996 and 1997 tax losses and credits are recognized in the year such losses and credits are utilized by Seagate Technology in its tax returns.

The pro forma information assuming a tax provision based on a separate filing basis is as follows, in thousands:

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	YEAR ENDED
	JULY 3, 1998
<s></s>	<c></c>
Income before provision for income taxes	
Provision for income taxes	3,064
Net income	\$5 <b>,</b> 653

#### </TABLE>

The income tax benefits related to the exercise of employee stock options reduced amounts due to or increased amounts due from Seagate Technology pursuant to the Tax Allocation Agreement and were credited to additional paid-in capital. Such amounts approximated \$1,866,000, \$3,486,000 and \$576,000 in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

#### F-66

#### 187

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The significant components of the Network & Storage Management Group's deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows, in thousands:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	JUNE 27, 1997	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS		
Reserves and accruals not currently deductible	\$ 5,001	\$ 5 <b>,</b> 526
Depreciation	819	(980)
Acquisition-related items	8,445	8,534
Domestic and foreign net operating loss carryforwards	12,779	12,788
Tax credit carryforwards	1,155	1,155
Other	1,170	1,535
Total deferred tax assets	29,369	28,558
Valuation allowance	(29,369)	(28,558)
Net deferred tax assets		
		=======
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES		
Acquisition-related items	(6,233)	(1,691)
Total deferred tax liabilities	(6,233)	(1,691)
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$ (6,233)	\$ (1,691)

#### </TABLE>

A valuation allowance has been provided for the deferred tax assets as of the end of fiscal 1997 and 1998. Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. In addition, the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards of acquired subsidiaries are subject to further limitations on utilization due to the "change in ownership" provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and the "separate return limitation year" rules of the federal consolidated return regulations. Approximately \$5,416,000 of the valuation allowance as of July 3, 1998, is attributable to deferred tax assets that when realized will reduce unamortized goodwill or other intangible assets of the acquired subsidiaries. The valuation allowance increased by \$12,197,000 and \$2,942,000 in 1996 and 1997, respectively and decreased by \$811,000 in 1998.

As of July 3, 1998, the Network & Storage Management Group has domestic and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$36,538,000 expiring in 2003 through 2010, if not used to offset future taxable income. In addition, the Network & Storage Management Group, as of July 3, 1998, has research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately \$1,155,000 expiring in 2005 through 2011, if not used to offset future tax liabilities.

# F-67

# 188

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The reconciliation between the (benefit from) provision for income taxes at the U.S. statutory rate and the effective rate is summarized as follows, in thousands:

# <TABLE>

	JUNE 28, 1996	JUNE 27, 1997	JULY 3, 1998
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
(Benefit) provision at U.S. statutory rate	\$(36,176)	\$(15,325)	\$3,051
State income taxes (benefit), net	(761)	(563)	909
Foreign taxes in excess of the U.S. statutory rate	18	75	153
In-process research and development	15,382		
Goodwill and other acquisition-related items	2,833	4,307	2,894
Valuation allowance	9,936	1,395	(811)
Other	4	(475)	(335)
	\$ (8,764)	\$(10 <b>,</b> 586)	\$5,861
			======

#### </TABLE>

Cumulative undistributed earnings of certain foreign operations of the Network & Storage Management Group, of \$2,276,000 are considered to be permanently invested in non-U.S. operations. No income tax has been provided on these amounts. Additional state and federal taxes that would have to be provided if these earnings were repatriated to the U.S. cannot be determined at this time.

#### COMMITMENTS

Leases. The Network & Storage Management Group leases certain property, facilities and equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements. Facility leases expire at various dates through 2008 and contain various provisions for rental adjustments. The leases require the Network & Storage Management Group to pay property taxes, insurance and normal maintenance costs. The Network & Storage Management Group also occupies certain facilities owned by Seagate Technology. Future minimum payments for operating leases were as follows at July 3, 1998, in thousands:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	OPERATING LEASES
<\$>	<c></c>
1999	\$ 5 <b>,</b> 137
2000	4,605
2001	2,995
2002	2,603
2003	2,471
After 2003	34,287
	\$52 <b>,</b> 098
	=======

# </TABLE>

Total rent expense for all facility and equipment operating leases was approximately \$2,743,000, \$4,094,000 and \$4,781,000 for 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

# LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On December 22, 1998, a former employee commenced an action in the Superior Court of Santa Cruz County against Seagate Software, Inc. claiming promissory fraud and fraudulent inducement to enter a contract, breach of a contract, constructive wrongful discharge and related claims, seeking monetary and injunctive relief. Specifically, the former employee alleges that a Seagate Software officer

F-68

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

agreed to sell him a division of the Network & Storage Management Group business. On May 10, 1999 the plaintiff filed a dismissal with prejudice of all claims with the Superior Court.

The Network & Storage Management Group business is engaged in various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business and believes that the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the Network & Storage Management Group business' financial position, liquidity or results of operations.

#### RESTRUCTURING COSTS

189

Restructuring charges were \$9.5 million in fiscal 1996 and \$2.5 million in fiscal 1997. The 1996 restructuring charges pertain to the acquisition of Arcada Holdings, Inc. in February 1996. As a result of the acquisition, the Network & Storage Management Group business had obtained duplicate technologies and product lines in data protection and storage management software as those assets acquired in the Palindrome Corporation ("Palindrome") acquisition in fiscal 1995. The Network & Storage Management Group determined that it would be beneficial to consolidate the world-wide sales, marketing, research and development, technical support and other operations and administrative functions of its network and storage management business. A restructuring plan was approved by the Seagate Software Board of Directors in March 1996 and the plan resulted in facility closures and staff reductions of 43 at the Arcada facilities in Westboro, Massachusetts, the United Kingdom and France, as well as staff reductions of 69 at the former Palindrome facility in Naperville, Illinois. In addition, because Arcada had a better industry reputation and superior products to those of Palindrome, the Network & Storage Management Group's plan and strategy going forward was to focus on the technologies and products acquired from Arcada. The revenue and net operating loss relating to products acquired from Palindrome for fiscal 1996 was \$15.9 million and \$2.1 million, respectively. For fiscal 1997, the revenue and net operating loss relating to products acquired from Palindrome was \$3.3 million and \$3.7 million, respectively.

The non-cash restructuring charges included amounts for abandonment of the Palindrome trademarks, impairment of the capitalized workforce intangible assets pertaining to the acquisition of Palindrome because of the planned layoff of personnel, write-off of a duplicate trade show booth, and write-off of obsolete Palindrome marketing materials. Cash restructuring charges included amounts for severance and benefits to terminated Palindrome employees, costs for facilities lease termination, other contract cancellation fees, and merger related costs incurred by Arcada in the acquisition of the Arcada minority pooling of interests by Seagate Technology.

The fiscal 1997 restructuring charges netted to \$2.5 million, comprised of a \$3.4 million restructuring charge that included the closure of the Network & Storage Management Group's facility located in Cupertino, California. This facility closure resulted in cash charges for severance and benefits for 69 employee terminations and non-cash charges for excess facilities and the write down of equipment. In addition, the \$3.4 million included amounts related to the decision, after concluding a sale was no longer viable, to no longer pursue the technologies acquired in the fiscal 1996 acquisition of Calypso Software Systems, Inc. and to shut down its operations. This decision resulted in cash charges for severance and benefits for 35 employee terminations and non-cash charges for the write off of certain remaining intangible assets of Calypso. The revenue and net operating loss relating to products acquired from Calypso for fiscal 1996 was \$444,000 and \$53,000, respectively. For fiscal 1997, the revenue and net operating loss relating to products acquired from Calypso was \$640,000 and \$47,000, respectively.

The restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 1997 were reduced by 957,000 for the reversal of amounts pertaining to the fiscal 1996 restructuring charges as a result of a higher than planned number of

F-69

NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

#### NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

voluntary employee terminations without severance benefits prior to the facility shutdown and completion of other aspects of the restructuring plan at less than the originally estimated cost, net of an increase in the accrual for facilities lease payments due to changes in estimates of the costs to terminate leases after facilities closure.

A summary of Network & Storage Management Group business restructuring activities is provided below (in thousands): <TABLE>

#### <CAPTION>

	SEVERANCE AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	FACILITIES	EQUIPMENT	INVENTORY	INTANGIBLES	CONTRACT CANCELLATION FEES	LEGAL AND ACCOUNTING FEES
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
1996 restructuring charges	\$1,554	\$1,571	\$1,018	\$300	\$4,312	\$67	\$525
Cash charges	(518)						(568)
Non-cash charges		(121)	(116)		(4,052)		
Reserve balances, June 28, 1996	1,036	1,450	902	300	260	67	(43)
1997 restructuring charges	770	505	728		1,378		
Cash charges	(975)	(915)					
Non-cash charges Adjustments and		(72)	(44)		(1,378)		
reclassifications	(351)	267	(172)	(300)	(260)	(67)	43
Reserve balances, June 27, 1997	480	1,235	1,414				
Cash charges	(373)	(519)	(9)				
Non-cash charges Adjustments and			(1,045)				
reclassifications	(107)	467	(360)				
Reserve balances, July 3, 1998		1,183					
Cash charges (unaudited)		(375)					
Reserve balances, April 2, 1999 (unaudited)	\$	\$ 808	\$	\$	\$		\$
	======		======	====	======	===	====

#### <CAPTION>

	OTHER EXPENSES	TOTAL
<s> 1996 restructuring charges Cash charges Non-cash charges</s>	<c> \$155  (138) </c>	<c> \$9,502 (1,086) (4,427)</c>
Reserve balances, June 28, 1996 1997 restructuring charges Cash charges Non-cash charges Adjustments and reclassifications	17 100  (117)	3,989 3,481 (1,890) (1,494) (957)
Reserve balances, June 27, 1997 Cash charges Non-cash charges Adjustments and		(937) 3,129 (901) (1,045)
reclassifications		
Reserve balances, July 3, 1998 Cash charges (unaudited)		1,183 (375)
Reserve balances, April 2, 1999 (unaudited)	\$ ====	\$ 808 ======

#### </TABLE>

The Network & Storage Management Group's remaining restructuring reserves at April 2, 1999 pertain to continuing lease payments on facilities that were closed and abandoned as a result of the Palindrome restructuring. The Network & Storage Management Group has been unable to sublease these facilities and anticipates that the remaining restructuring reserves will be utilized over the period through lease termination in fiscal 2002.

The fiscal 1996 restructuring reserve of \$9,502,000 was for the following specific items:

Severance and employee benefits (\$1,554,000) -- Severance and employee

benefits included amounts for consolidation of operations and termination of employees at the Arcada facilities in Westboro, Massachusetts, the United Kingdom and France, as well as at the former Palindrome facility in Naperville, Illinois.

Excess facilities (\$1,571,000) -- This accrual was designed to provide for rent termination costs and rent expense for facilities located in Naperville, Westboro, the United Kingdom and France that are to be closed as a result of the restructuring actions.

Equipment (\$1,018,000) -- This amount is a reserve for equipment at the Naperville, Westboro, the United Kingdom and France facilities. It consists of computer equipment, furniture and fixtures and software at these facilities that will not be used after the locations are closed. All the equipment provided for in this reserve has been abandoned.

Inventory (3300,000) -- This consists of obsolete packaging material that will no longer be used and OEM inventory of 800,000 that will no longer be sold.

F-70

191

# NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

# NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Intangibles (\$4,312,000) -- This write-off consists of Palindrome intangible assets of \$3,534,000, \$390,000 of developed technology related to Atlas and \$388,000 of goodwill related to the Sytron acquisition. The Palindrome intangible assets were further broken down into trademark of \$1,000,000, workforce of \$1,188,000, distribution network of \$69,000 and goodwill of \$1,277,000. The Company decided to pursue the Arcada brand name and trade mark and abandon the Palindrome trademark. As a result, Network & Storage Management Group business determined that it would lay off substantially all employees (121 employees) of Palindrome located at the Naperville facility. At the time of original purchase, Network & Storage Management Group business proportionally allocated goodwill to long-lived intangible assets based upon the original purchase price. The amounts of goodwill included in the restructuring reserve relate to the remaining unamortized goodwill associated with the intangible assets written off.

Contract cancellation (\$67,000) -- This \$67,000 item is a canceled contract for outsourced Technical Support with a vendor used by Palindrome.

Legal/Accounting fees (\$525,000) -- This \$525,000 represents an estimate of the legal and accounting fees that were to be incurred by Arcada from the acquisition of Arcada stock by Seagate Technology.

Other (\$155,000) -- This represents a trade show booth valued at \$100,000 that is redundant and \$55,000 for obsolete marketing materials.

The above assets were not impaired in a prior period because their impairment arose specifically from the restructuring actions taken as a result of the acquisition of the minority interest in Arcada in the third quarter of fiscal 1996. Prior to the acquisition, Palindrome products were marketed and sold as part of the Seagate Software portfolio.

In fiscal 1997, Seagate Software recorded an additional restructuring reserve of \$3,481,000 that resulted primarily from the plan to shutdown Manchester operations and the decision to try to sell the Calypso technology and a separate decision to consolidate NSMG operations which resulted in the shutdown of the Company's facility in Cupertino, California.

Severance and employee benefits (\$770,000) -- Severance and employee benefits included amounts for the shutdown and termination of employees at the Cupertino, California facility due to a consolidation of operations and the shutdown and termination of employees at the Calypso facility in Manchester, New Hampshire due to a decision to no longer pursue the Calypso products and technologies.

Excess facilities (\$505,000) -- This accrual was designed to provide for rent termination costs and rent expense for facilities closures in Manchester, New Hampshire and Cupertino, California.

Equipment (\$728,000) -- This reserve is for equipment in the Manchester and Cupertino facilities that would not be used after the shutdowns. It consisted of largely of computer equipment but also included amounts for furniture and fixtures and software. All the equipment provided for in this reserve has been abandoned.

Intangibles (\$1,378,000) -- This asset consisted of Calypso related intangibles first capitalized upon the acquisition of Calypso in fiscal 1996. The amounts written down included Net Developed Technology of \$1,086,000 and

Assembled Workforce of \$292,000. These assets were written off based on management's plan to sell Calypso and its products and technologies.

Other (100,000) -- This represents miscellaneous additional costs related to the Manchester (Calypso) shutdown.

F-71

#### NETWORK & STORAGE MANAGEMENT GROUP

# NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The above assets were not impaired in a period prior to recording the restructuring reserves because their impairment arose specifically from the business decision and plan in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997 to close the Manchester (Calypso) facility and abandon that technology and the additional decision to consolidate operations of the company and close the Cupertino facility.

### EXPORT SALES

192

Export sales were \$32,468,000, \$40,748,000 and \$57,752,000 in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

#### SUBSEQUENT EVENT (UNAUDITED)

The Network & Storage Management Group, its parent company, Seagate Software, Inc. and Seagate Software's parent company, Seagate Technology, Inc. ("STI") announced on October 5, 1998 that they had entered into an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the "Plan") as of such date with Veritas Holding Corporation ("New VERITAS") and VERITAS Software Corporation ("VERITAS"). The Plan was amended and restated on April 15, 1999. VERITAS provides end-to-end storage management software solutions.

The Plan provided for the contribution by Seagate Software, STI and certain of their respective subsidiaries to New VERITAS of (a) the outstanding stock of the Network & Storage Management Group and certain other subsidiaries of Seagate Software and (b) those assets used primarily in the network storage management business of Seagate Software (the "NSMG Business"), in consideration for the issuance of shares of common stock of New VERITAS to Seagate Software and the offer by New VERITAS to grant options to purchase common stock of New VERITAS to certain of Seagate Software's employees who become employees of New VERITAS or its subsidiaries. As part of the Plan, New VERITAS also assumed certain liabilities of the NSMG Business.

As a result of the closing in May 1999, New VERITAS issued approximately 69.1 million shares (on a post split basis) of its common stock to Seagate Software and 6.9 million options to purchase the common stock of New VERITAS were granted to NSMG business employees. The aggregate number of shares and options of New VERITAS received by Seagate Software and NSMG business employees equals approximately 40% of the fully diluted capitalization of New VERITAS (assuming conversion of all convertible securities, including the VERITAS convertible debentures, and exercise of assumed options and warrants) at the effective time of the closing.

In connection with the contribution of the NSMG Business to New VERITAS, VERITAS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of New VERITAS through a merger with a subsidiary of New VERITAS of which VERITAS is the surviving entity. Upon consummation of the merger, the former security holders of VERITAS were issued New VERITAS securities representing approximately 60% of the fully diluted capitalization of New VERITAS as of the closing.

F-72

193

#### AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS

We have audited the balance sheets of Telebackup Systems Inc. as at December 31, 1997 and 1998 and the statements of operations and deficit and changes in financial position for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the company as at December 31, 1997 and 1998 and the results of its operations and the changes in its financial position for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 1998 in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada.

Generally accepted accounting principles in Canada differ in some respects from those applicable in the United States (note 13).

Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Canada February 5, 1999

F-73

194

TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# BALANCE SHEETS (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

ASSETS

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

CAPITON>	DECEMB		
	1997		MARCH 31, 1999
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	(UNAUDITED) <c></c>
Current assets: Cash and temporary investments	\$ 1,236,453	\$ 6,151,624	\$ 5,347,597
Restricted cash (note 2)	124,123		
Accounts receivable	332,597	656,197	1,465,829
Investment tax credit receivable	50,000		
Inventory Prepaid expenses	83,994 8,278	30,515	 55,531
	1,835,445	6,838,336	6,868,957
Capital assets (note 3) Debt issuance costs (net of amortization	1,003,132	860,925	808,848
\$17,641)	431,590		
	\$ 3,270,167	\$ 7,699,261	\$ 7,677,805
Current liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued liabilities Deferred revenue Current portion of long-term debt (note 4)	\$ 111,574 31,174 	\$ 262,815 46,936 2,710,805 124,800	\$ 345,714 90,665 2,824,579 124,800
Long-term debt (note 4)	267,548 3,004,260	3,145,356 302,260	3,385,758 271,020
Share capital (note 5) Warrants Deficit	2,982,155 80,000 (3,063,796)	8,885,247  (4,633,602)	(5,150,845)
Combination agreement (note 12) Commitments (note 7) Canadian and United States accounting policy differences (note 13)	(1,641)	4,251,645	4,021,027
	\$ 3,270,167	\$ 7,699,261 ======	

</TABLE>

195

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

# TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

F-74

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND DEFICIT

# <TABLE> <CAPTION>

CAFIION/	YEARS	ENDED DECEMBEF	THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,			
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	(UNAUI	DITED)	
Revenue:						
Product sales Maintenance and support Custom software		\$ 347,235 23,112	\$ 1,384,411 200,000	\$ 657,697 50,000	\$    577,798 	
development		115,700	1,838,565		659,385	
	251,884	486,047		707,697	1,237,183	
Cost of sales: Product sales Maintenance, support and custom software	106,058	123,930	311,369	154,171	162,421	
development	43,359	61,444	512,347			
				154 <b>,</b> 171		
Gross profit Expenses: General and	102,467	300,673	2,599,260	553,526	927,773	
administrative		808,256		143,392	620,958	
Selling and marketing Marketing and royalty	306,870	495,538	1,090,763	234,568	361,737	
agreement Research and	100,000	100,000	200,000	25,000	50,000	
development Interest and bank charges,	302,650	576,475	1,045,717	197,526	336,638	
net Depreciation and	13,514	81,937	97,754	9,278	(64,074)	
amortization	24,117	108,073	553,851	143,963	139,757	
	1,243,904		4,169,066	753,727	1,445,016	
Net loss Deficit, beginning of		(1,869,606)	(1,569,806)	(200,201)	(517,243)	
period	(52,753)	(1,194,190)	(3,063,796)	(3,063,796)	(4,633,602)	
Deficit, end of period	\$(1,194,190)	\$(3,063,796)	\$(4,633,602)	\$(3,263,997)	\$(5,150,845)	
Net loss per share	\$ (0.18)	\$ (0.25)	\$ (0.17)		\$ (0.05)	
(						

</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

F-75

196

# TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

	YEARS	ENDED DECEMBER	R 31,	THREE M ENDED MA	
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999
				(UNAUI	 DITED)
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Cash provided by (used in):					
Dperations:					
Net loss	\$(1,141,437)	\$(1,869,606)	\$(1,569,806)	\$ (200,201)	\$ (517,243
Items not involving cash:					
Depreciation and amortization	24,117	108,073	553,851	143,963	139,757
Software development costs	37 <b>,</b> 673				
Changes in non-cash working capital:					
Accounts receivable	918	(328,141)	(323,600)	(605,713)	(809 <b>,</b> 632
Investment tax credit receivable	(30,000)		50,000	50,000	
Inventory	(121,623)	37,629	83,994		
Prepaid expenses	12,218	(4,436)	(22,237)	4,016	(25,016
Accounts payable	19,420	21,418	151,241	(52,457)	82,899

Accrued liabilities Deferred revenue Due from shareholder	32,349  31,600	(5,175)  	15,762 2,710,805		43,729 113,774
Investing: Net additions to capital assets			1,650,010 (350,580)		(- <b>,</b> - <b>,</b>
Financing: Issue of share capital, net Warrants Increase (decrease) in long-term	1,856,401	953,446 80,000	6,273,618	275,140	286,625 
debt, net Debt issuance costs Conversion of debentures Issue of promissory notes Repayment of promissory notes	350,000	(449,231)	150,360 (2,932,360) 		
	2,206,401	3,363,275	3,491,618	99,674	255,385
<pre>Increase (decrease) in cash and temporary investments Cash and temporary investments,</pre>	888,000	435,448	4,791,048	(572,257)	(804,027)
beginning of year	37,128	925,128	1,360,576	1,360,576	6,151,624
Cash and temporary investments, end of year	\$ 925,128	\$ 1,360,576	\$ 6,151,624	\$ 788,319	\$5,347,597 ======

</TABLE>

Cash and temporary investments are defined to include restricted cash.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

F-76

197

#### TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

#### CORPORATE PROFILE

The Company develops and markets computer software designed to allow data backup via a modem or network.

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada.

#### 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

# (a) Revenue recognition:

In the third quarter of 1998, the Company adopted the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2 with respect to software revenue recognition. Pursuant to SOP 97-2, four specific criteria must be met prior to recognizing revenue for a single-element arrangement or for amounts allocated to individual elements in a multiple-element arrangement. These four criteria are (a) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (b) delivery has occurred; (c) the vendor's fee is fixed or determinable; and (d) collectibility is probable. This change in revenue recognition has been applied on a retroactive basis which did not affect revenue for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996.

The Company sells its software and any related hardware by way of a direct sale or on a revenue sharing basis.

The Company previously recognized direct sales revenues from software licenses and hardware upon delivery and installation of the software and hardware products. Sales made on a revenue sharing basis may have required the purchaser to make an initial payment, as well as additional payments based upon a percentage of the future revenues generated by the purchaser. The initial payment was recorded as revenue at the time of delivery and installation of the software and hardware products. Future revenue sharing payments were recorded as revenue if and when earned.

#### (b) Capital assets:

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided using the

following methods and rates:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

ASSETS	METHOD	RATE
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Computer equipment	Declining balance	30%
Furniture and fixtures	Declining balance	30%
World rights	Straight-line	20%
Software technology	Straight-line	50%
Royalty reduction	Straight-line	50%

  |  |(c) Debt issuance costs:

Debt issuance costs are amortized to income over the term of the related debt financing.

F-77

198

# TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (d) Software research and development costs:

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs related to internal development of software are expensed as incurred unless criteria for deferral and subsequent amortization are met. Specifically, internal software development costs are deferred once technological feasibility for a product is established. As at December 31, 1997, December 31, 1998, and March 31, 1999, the Company has not deferred internal software development costs, as completed development has coincided with technological feasibility.

#### (e) Investment tax credits:

Scientific Research and Experimental Development ("SRED") investment tax credits are accrued when qualifying expenditures are made and there is reasonable assurance that the credits will be realized. The Company accounts for investment tax credits using the cost reduction method.

# (f) Inventory:

Inventory, consisting primarily of turnkey computer systems assembled for demonstration purposes and ultimate sale, is recorded at the lesser of cost determined on a first-in first-out basis and market value.

#### (g) Per share data:

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Fully diluted per share data has not been disclosed as the effect of the exercise of share options is not dilutive.

#### 2. RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash consists of cash held in trust in connection with the payment of interest on certain debt.

#### 3. CAPITAL ASSETS

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

DECEMBER 31, 1997	COST	ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION	NET BOOK VALUE
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Computer equipment Furniture and fixtures World rights Software technology Royalty reduction	\$ 312,560 16,101 50,000 300,000 440,000	\$ 73,630 4,399 12,500 25,000	\$ 238,930 11,702 37,500 275,000 440,000

 \$1,118,661 | \$115,529 | \$1,003,132 |

#### TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

3. CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

DECEMBER 31, 1998	COST	ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION	NET BOOK VALUE
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Computer equipment	\$ 629,185	\$174,305	\$ 454,880
Furniture and fixtures	50,056	11,736	38,320
World rights	50,000	22,500	27,500
Software technology	300,000	179,775	120,225
Royalty reduction	440,000	220,000	220,000
	\$1,469,241	\$608,316	\$ 860,925

# </TABLE>

<TABLE>

# <CAPTION>

MARCH 31, 1999	COST	ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION	NET BOOK VALUE
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Computer equipment	\$ 716,865	\$216,259	\$ 500,606
Furniture and fixtures	50,056	14,539	35,517
World rights	50,000	25,000	25,000
Software technology	300,000	217,275	82,725
Royalty reduction	440,000	275,000	165,000
	\$1,556,921	\$748,073	\$ 808,848

## </TABLE>

In October 1997, the Company entered into an agreement to license, on a permanent, unlimited and fully paid basis, a third party's patented data reduction process technology. In exchange for the license, the Company had agreed to issue 200,000 Common Shares at \$1.50 per share, the market value of the shares.

In November 1997, the Company renegotiated its royalty commitment whereby the royalty was converted from a 10% royalty to a 200,000 fixed annual royalty with a 2 million buyout option. The Company had agreed to issue 200,000 Common Shares at 2.20 per share, the market value of the shares, in exchange for the new royalty agreement.

#### 4. LONG-TERM DEBT

#### <TABLE> <CAPTION>

	DECEMBER 31		MARCH 31	
	1997	1998	1999	
<s> Debentures Operating line of credit</s>	<c> \$2,705,060 500,000</c>	<c> \$ 427,060</c>	<c> \$ 395,820</c>	
Less:	3,205,060	427,060	395,820	
Current portion of operating line Unamortized allocation to warrants of debenture proceeds	(124,800)	(124,800)	(124,800)	
	(76,000)			
	\$3,004,260	\$ 302,260	\$ 271,020	

</TABLE>

F-79

# 200

# TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS

# ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

#### 4. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

#### (a) Debentures:

On September 30, 1997, the Company sold 27,500 Units, each consisting of a \$100 principal amount debenture and warrants to purchase 33 Common shares of the Company. The debentures are unsecured, redeemable, convertible and due September 30, 2002 with interest at 6% payable semi-annually. The debentures are convertible at \$1.50 per share. In conjunction with the debenture offering, the Company granted to the Agent, an option to purchase up to 2,751 Units at \$100 per unit. During 1998, the Agent purchased all 2,751 Units and was issued debentures and warrants in accordance with the terms of the Units.

The Debentures were redeemable by the Company:

(i) anytime after September 30, 1999 following a period of twenty consecutive trading days during which the weighted average market price of the Common Shares equals or exceeds \$3.00; or

(ii) anytime following any period of twenty consecutive trading days during the weighted average market price of the Common Shares equals or exceeds \$6.00.

During 1997 \$45,300 of debentures were converted into 30,198 common shares. In 1998, an additional \$275,100 of debentures were issued to the Agent, and \$2,932,360 of debentures were converted into 1,979,054 common shares and \$11,800 of debentures where redeemed for cash. Unamortized debt issuance costs related to the convertible debentures were charged to share capital upon conversion of the related debentures.

#### (b) Credit facilities:

At March 31, 1999 the Company has drawn \$395,820 (December 31, 1998 -- \$427,060, December 31, 1997 -- \$500,000) on its operating line of credit due on demand. Borrowings bear interest at the bank's prime rate plus 3%. Notwithstanding the demand feature of the facility, it is classified as long-term as monthly payments of \$10,420 plus interest are required to maturity on June 30, 2002. The operating line is renewable annually, however no principal payments were required prior to January 31, 1998 providing that certain conditions were satisfied. Annual principal repayments are approximately \$124,800 (December 31, 1998 -- \$124,800, December 31, 1997 -- \$124,800) plus accrued interest.

In addition, the Company has a revolving line of credit authorized to a limit of \$150,000 which bears interest at the bank's prime rate plus 2%.

Both credit facilities are secured by a general security agreement and an assignment of life insurance on an officer of the Company.

#### (c) Interest expense:

Interest on long-term debt amounted to \$20,566 and \$7,242 for the three months ended March 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. Interest on long-term debt amounted to \$13,126, \$73,912 and \$168,410 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

#### F-80

#### TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

- 5. SHARE CAPITAL
- (a) Authorized:

Unlimited number of Common shares.

(b) Issued and to be issued:

<TABLE>

201

<CAPTION>

	NUMBER	AMOUNT
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
December 31, 1995	2,737,500	\$ 172,308
Share split 2:1 basis	2,737,500	

Issued for cash, net of issue costs of \$338,599 Issued pursuant to private placement for cash	1,600,000 195,000	1,661,401 195,000
December 31, 1996 Issued on exercise of stock options Issued on conversion of debenture To be issued, net of issue costs of \$48,104 (note 3)	7,270,000 173,000 30,198 400,000	2,028,709 216,250 45,300 691,896
December 31, 1997 Issued on exercise of stock options Issued on conversion of debentures, net of costs of	7,873,198 312,000	2,982,155 417,990
\$406,526 Issued on exercise of warrants, net of costs of	1,979,054	2,561,834
\$140,211Allocation to warrants of debenture proceeds	994,493	2,843,268 80,000
December 31, 1998 Issued on exercise of stock options	11,158,745 204,700	\$8,885,247 286,625
March 31, 1999	11,363,445 ======	\$9,171,872

</TABLE>

The 400,000 common shares which were to be issued at December 31, 1997, were subject to relevant regulatory approval, which was received during 1998.

On January 31, 1996, the shareholders of the Company approved a two for one Common share split which became effective February 16, 1996.

(c) Stock options and warrants:

At December 31, the Company had issued options to employees and directors which will allow for the purchase of 755,000, 839,500 and 592,000 common shares for the years 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively, at prices \$1.25, \$1.25 to \$2.20 and \$1.25 to \$2.85 per share for the years 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. These options expire on various dates during 2001 and 2003.

At March 31, 1999, the Company had issued 387,300 options to employees and directors exercisable at prices of \$1.25 and \$2.85 per share and expiring on various dates during 2001 and 2003.

The Company issued 907,698 warrants in conjunction with the convertible debentures. Each warrant entitled the holder to purchase one additional Common Share at a price of \$3.00 on or before September 30, 1999. The Company had the right upon 30 days written notice to redeem the warrants for \$0.001 at any time following a period of 20 consecutive trading days during which the weighted average market price of the Company's common shares equaled or exceeded \$4.00 per share. At December 31,

202

# TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

F-81

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

# 5. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 1998, 903,710 warrants had been exercised, and 3,988 warrants had been redeemed for aggregate consideration of \$3.99.

6. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense differs from the amount which would be computed by applying the federal and provincial combined statutory income tax rate to income before income taxes. The reasons for the difference are as follows:

# <TABLE>

	DECEMBER 31,			MARCH 31,		
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Income tax rate Computed expected tax	44.6%	44.6%	44.6%	44.6%	44.6%	
recovery Unrecognized benefit	\$(509 <b>,</b> 081)	\$(833,844)	\$(700,133)	(89,290)	(230,690)	
of tax losses	509,081	833,844	700,133	89,290	230,690	
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	

The Company has available deductions for income tax purposes of approximately \$4,400,000 at March 31, 1999 (December 31, 1998 -- \$4,000,000, December 31, 1997 -- \$2,400,000) consisting of SRED expenditures and operating losses. The operating losses begin expiring in 2002. The Company also estimates that it has available SRED investment tax credits to reduce future income tax payable of approximately \$200,000 at March 31, 1999 (December 31, 1998 -- \$175,000, (December 31, 1997 -- \$100,000).

The Company earned refundable SRED investment tax credits prior to becoming a public company. These credits are shown as current assets, and along with the credits above, are subject to technical and financial audit by Revenue Canada. At December 31, 1998, the refundable credits had been received.

#### 7. COMMITMENTS

(a) On December 29, 1994, the Company entered into an agreement which allowed the Company utilization of certain technology rights in exchange for a royalty commitment. On November 19, 1997, the royalty commitment was renegotiated, whereby the royalty was converted from a percentage-based royalty to a flat-fee royalty with a buy-out option, which provides the Company the right to call the buy-out option at any time (note 3)

(b) The Company is committed to minimum rentals under premises leases of approximately \$341,600 per year to 2002 and \$231,600 per year to 2004.

8. RELATED PARTIES

(a) During the periods ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 and during the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, the Company purchased computer equipment totalling nil, nil, \$278,975, \$42,820 and nil, respectively, from a shareholder.

F-82

203

#### TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

8. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) During the year ended December 31, 1997, interest of \$15,000 was paid to two directors of the Company on account of \$150,000 in promissory notes which were issued and repaid.

(c) The Company leases office space from a shareholder for  $33,600\ {\rm per}$  month.

#### 9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The carrying value of cash and temporary investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments. The fair value of the debentures was approximately \$2,141,000 at December 31, 1997. The fair value of the Company's operating line approximates its carrying value due to its variable interest rate.

During 1998, two customers of the Company individually represented 49% and 48% respectively, of the Company's revenues. In 1997, five customers of the Company individually represented 24%, 21%, 20%, 17% and 10%, respectively, of the Company's revenues. During 1996, three customers of the Company individually represented 42%, 35%, and 20%, respectively, of the Company's revenues.

#### 10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company's method for determining what information to report about operating segments is based on the way that management organizes the operating segments within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance.

The Company's chief operating decision maker is considered to be the Company's President and CEO. The President and CEO reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. The financial information reviewed by the President and CEO is identical to the information presented in the accompanying Statements of Operations. Therefore, the Company operates in a single operating segment: developing and marketing computer software designed to allow data backup via a modem or network. The Company does not have significant international operations.

#### 11. UNCERTAINTY DUE TO THE YEAR 2000 ISSUE

The Year 2000 Issue arises because many computerized systems use two digits rather than four to identify a year. Date-sensitive systems may recognize the year 2000 as 1900 or some other date, resulting in errors when information using year 2000 dates is processed. In addition, similar problems may arise in some systems which use certain dates in 1999 to represent something other than a date. The effects of the Year 2000 Issue may be experienced before, on, or after January 1, 2000, and, if not addressed, the impact on operations and financial reporting may range from minor errors to significant systems failure which could affect an entity's ability to conduct normal business operations. It is not possible to be certain that all aspects of the Year 2000 Issue affecting the entity, including those related to the efforts of customers, suppliers, or other third parties, will be fully resolved.

F-83

TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

#### 12. COMBINATION AGREEMENT

2.04

On September 1, 1998 the Company signed a Combination Agreement (the "Agreement") with VERITAS Software Corporation (VERITAS). Consummation of the Agreement is subject to a number of conditions, including regulatory clearances in Canada and the United States, judicial clearance in Canada and formal approval by the shareholders of both companies.

Under the terms of the Agreement, at the effective time the Company will issue to its shareholders, exchangeable shares which are exchangeable into common shares of VERITAS. The number of exchangeable shares to be issued to the Company's shareholders will be based on a sliding scale which is tied to an average of the VERITAS common share price for the 10 days prior to the closing of the transaction. In general terms, the total number of exchangeable shares to be issued shall equal (a) in the event that the average price is between U.S.\$33.81 per share and U.S.\$41.32 per share, 1,710,000 common shares of VERITAS (b) in the event that the average price is less than \$33.81 per share, the number of common shares of VERITAS determined by dividing \$57,808,000 (U.S.) by such average price, provided however, that, in such case, in no event shall the total exceed 1,900,000 common shares of VERITAS, (c) in the event that the average price is more than \$41.32 per common share, the number of common shares of VERITAS determined by dividing \$70,654,000 (U.S.) by such average price, provided however, that, in such case, in no event shall the total be less than 1,555,000 common shares of VERITAS.

In the event that the Company's shareholders do not approve the terms of the Agreement, the Company shall pay to VERITAS a fee of U.S. \$3 million and grant a worldwide, perpetual, royalty-free and fully-paid license to certain Company software. Also, should the Company be acquired within 12 months after the termination of the Agreement as described above a further U.S. \$10 million amount becomes payable to VERITAS.

In the event that the VERITAS shareholders do not approve the terms of the Agreement, VERITAS shall pay the Company a fee of U.S. \$2 million and upon such payment, shall have a worldwide, perpetual, royalty-free and fully-paid license to use, modify, create derivative works of, copy and distribute certain Company software.

On May 26, 1999 the shareholders of the Company voted to approve the combination agreement with VERITAS.

13. RECONCILIATION TO ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES  $% \left( {{{\left( {{{{{\rm{C}}}}} \right)}_{{{\rm{C}}}}}} \right)$ 

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted ("GAAP") in Canada which, in the case of the Company, conform in all material respects with those in the United States, except as outlined below:

F-84

# 205

#### TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

# 13. RECONCILIATION TO ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES (CONTINUED)

(a) Statement of Operations:

The application of U.S. GAAP would have the effect of including in compensation expense the value of common share purchase options granted to certain officers and employees by the Company's founding shareholders, as follows:

# <TABLE>

	YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,			MARCH 31,	
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999
<s> Net loss as</s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
reported Increase in compensation	\$(1,141,437)	\$(1,869,606)	\$(1,569,806)	(200,201)	(517,243)
expense			132,000	79,000	18,000
Net loss, U.S. GAAP	\$(1,141,437)	\$(1,869,606)	\$(1,701,806)	(279,201)	(535,243)
Net loss per share U.S. GAAP	\$ (0.18) ======	\$ (0.25)	\$ (0.18)	(0.03)	(0.05)

</TABLE>

The Company retroactively adopted SOP 97-2 (see note 1(a)) for Canadian GAAP purposes in the third quarter of 1998. For US GAAP purposes SOP 97-2 requires prospective adoption beginning in the Company's first quarter of 1998. In the case of the Company's 1996 and 1997 revenue as recorded in accordance with Canadian GAAP, the application of SOP 97-2 would not have had any effect. As a result the Company's revenues as recorded in the Statement of Operations are the same under both Canadian an US GAAP.

# (b) Balance Sheet:

The application of U.S. GAAP would have the following effect on the Balance Sheet as at December 31, 1997 from reclassifying shares issued which required regulatory approval from shareholders' deficit to liabilities. At December 31, 1998 the application of U.S. GAAP would not have an effect on assets or on the Balance Sheet captions presented below.

# <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

206

	DECEMBER 31, 1997		
	AS REPORTED	INCREASE (DECREASE)	U.S. GAAP
<s> Liabilities Shareholders' deficiency </s>			

 \$3,271,808 (1,641) | \$ 740,000 (740,000) | \$4,011,808 (741,641) |In addition, under Canadian GAAP, at March 31, 1999 the Company classified \$271,020 (December 31, 1998 -- \$302,260, December 31, 1997 -- \$375,200) of a demand loan as a long-term

F-85

#### TELEBACKUP SYSTEMS INC.

# NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) (INFORMATION AS OF MARCH 31, 1999 AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1998 AND 1999 IS UNAUDITED) (AMOUNTS IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

13. RECONCILIATION TO ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED STATES (CONTINUED)

liability because that portion of the scheduled installment payments are due beyond one year. Under U.S. GAAP, the entire note would be considered a current liability.

(c) Statement of Changes in Financial Position:

The application of U.S. GAAP would have the effect of eliminating non-cash items and excluding restricted cash from the definition of cash as follows:

	DECEMBER 31, MARC			MARCH 3	31,	
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Investing:						
Net additions of capital assets						
acquired with shares	\$	\$ 740,000	\$	\$	\$	
Restricted cash		(124,123)	124,123			
Financing:						
Issue of shares for non-cash consideration and non-cash						
charges		(785,300)	(2,561,834)	(163,265)		
Conversion of debentures		45,300	2,932,360	163,265		
Debt issue costs			(370,526)			
	==				==	

  |  |  |  |  |The Statement of Changes in Financial Position major categories would be presented under U.S. GAAP as follows:

#### <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

CAPIION/		DECEMBER 31,		MARCH	I 31 <b>,</b>
	1996	1997	1998	1998	1999
<s> Operating</s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
activities	\$(1,134,765)	\$(2,040,238)	\$1,650,010	\$ (658,952)	\$ (971,732)
activities	(183,636)	(271,712)	(226,457)	(12,979)	(87,680)
activities	2,206,401	2,623,275	3,491,618	99,674	255,385
<b>.</b>	888,000	311,325	4,915,171	(572,257)	(804,027)
Cash position at beginning of year	37,128	925,128	1,236,453	1,360,576	6,151,624
Cash position at end of year		\$ 1,236,453	\$6,151,624	\$ 788,319	\$5,347,597
(					

</TABLE>

#### (d) Comprehensive income (loss):

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for reporting and disclosure of comprehensive income and its components (revenues, expenses, gains and losses) in a full set of general purpose financial statements. SFAS No. 130 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1997 and requires reclassification of financial statements for earlier periods to be provided for comparative purposes. The Company adopted SFAS No. 130 on January 1, 1998, however, no incremental disclosures are required as the Company does not have any elements of comprehensive income (loss) except for the net loss reported in the Statements of Operations.

F-86

207

[VERITAS LOGO]

208

# PART II

# INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

ITEM 13. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.

The expenses to be paid by the Registrant in connection with this offering are as follows. All amounts other than the Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee, the NASD filing fee and the Nasdaq National Market application fee are estimates.

<TABLE> <S> <C> Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee...... \$ Nasdaq listing fee.....

NASD filing fee	
Printing and engraving expenses	
Legal fees and expenses	
Blue Sky fees	
Accounting fees and expenses	
Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses	
Miscellaneous	
Total	\$

# </TABLE>

ITEM 14. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law authorizes a court to award, or a corporation's board of directors to grant, indemnity to directors and officers in terms sufficiently broad to permit such indemnification under certain circumstances for liabilities (including reimbursement for expenses incurred) arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the certificate of incorporation of each Co-registrant includes a provision that eliminates the personal liability of its directors for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (i) for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (regarding unlawful dividends and stock purchases) or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the bylaws of each Co-registrant, provide that (i) the corporation is required to indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to certain very limited exceptions, (ii) the corporation may indemnify its other employees and agents as set forth in the Delaware General Corporation Law, (iii) the corporation is required to advance expenses, as incurred, to its directors and officers in connection with a legal proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to certain very limited exceptions and (iv) the rights conferred in the bylaws are not exclusive.

Each Co-registrant has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its current directors and executive officers to give such directors and officers additional contractual assurances regarding the scope of the indemnification set forth in the corporation's certificate of incorporation and to provide additional procedural protections. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving a director, officer or employee of either Co-registrant regarding which indemnification is sought, nor are the Co-registrants aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for indemnification.

The NSMG combination agreement and the TeleBackup combination agreement contain covenants on the part of the Co-registrants to maintain indemnification provisions in the charter documents of the

II-1

209

surviving corporation of the NSMG combination and the TeleBackup combination which are identical to such provisions contained in the charter documents of VERITAS prior to the combinations. The Co-registrants shall also honor, in all respects, all of the indemnity agreements entered into prior to the combinations, with VERITAS officers and directors, whether or not such persons continue in their positions with either Co-registrant following the effective time. In addition, pursuant to the NSMG combination agreement, the Co-registrants must use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain director and officer liability insurance with coverages, which are similar to the coverages VERITAS maintained prior to the combinations for a period from and after the effective time until at least six years after the effective time. These covenants are contained in the NSMG combination agreement attached as Appendix A to the Registration Statement on Form S-4, as amended, filed with the Commission on April 21, 1999 under the heading "Indemnification and Insurance -- VERITAS" and in the TeleBackup combination agreement attached as Appendix G to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-76531), as amended, filed with the Commission on April 21, 1999 under the heading "Indemnification."

The indemnification provisions in the bylaws and the indemnification agreements entered into between each Co-registrant and its respective officers and directors, may be sufficiently broad to permit indemnification of the officers and directors for liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

ITEM 15. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES.

Not Applicable.

# ITEM 16. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated by reference herein:

<table> <caption> EXHIBIT</caption></table>	
NUMBER	EXHIBIT TITLE
	<\$>
1.01+2.01	Form of Underwriting Agreement Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Reorganization among VERITAS Software Corporation, VERITAS Software Corporation ("Old VERITAS"), Seagate Technology, Inc., Seagate Software, Inc. ("Seagate Software") and Seagate Software NSMG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.01 of the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-4, as amended, filed with the SEC on April 19, 1999 (the "April 1999 Form S-4"))
2.02	Amended and Restated Combination Agreement by and among Old VERITAS and TeleBackup Systems Inc. ("TeleBackup") (incorporated by reference to the April 21, 1999 Form S-4)
3.01	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of VERITAS Software Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.01 of the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 8-A as amended, filed with the SEC on June 2, 1999) (the "June 1999 Form 8-A")
3.02	Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certification of VERITAS Software Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.02 of the June 1999 Form 8-A)
3.03	Amended and Restated Bylaws of VERITAS Software Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.03 of the June 1999 Form 8-A)
3.04+	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of VERITAS Operating Corporation
3.05+ 	

 Bylaws of VERITAS Operating Corporation ||  | II-2 |
210	
	EXHIBIT TITLE
	<\$>
4.01	Registration Rights Agreement between Old VERITAS and Warburg, Pincus Investors, L.P. dated April 25, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of Old VERITAS' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997 (the "June 1997 Form 10-Q"))
4.02	Nomination Agreement between Old VERITAS and Warburg, Pincus Investors, L.P. dated April 25, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.02 to the June 1997 Form 10-Q).
4.03	Indenture dated as of October 1, 1997 between Old VERITAS and State Street Bank and Trust Company of California, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.06 of Old VERITAS' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1997 (the "September 1997 Form 10-Q"))
4.04	Form of Supplemental Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.04 of the April 1999 Form S-4)
4.05	Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 1, 1997 between Old VERITAS and UBS Securities LLC (incorporated by
4.06	reference to Exhibit 4.07 to the September 1997 Form 10-Q) Form of Rights Agreement between VERITAS Software Corporation and the Right Agent, which includes as Exhibit A the form of Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior

- Purchase Preferred Shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.06 of the April 1999 Form S-4)
  4.07 Form of Registration Rights Agreement between VERITAS Software Corporation and Seagate Software (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.07 of the April 1999 Form S-4)
- 4.08 Form of Stockholder Agreement between VERITAS Software

Corporation, Old VERITAS, Seagate Software and Seagate Technology (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.08 of the April 1999 Form S-4

- 4.09 Form of Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of Old VERITAS' Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-70726) dated October 22, 1993, as amended)
- Form of Indenture among VERITAS Software Corporation, 4.10+ VERITAS Operating Corporation and , as Trustee
- 4.11+ Form of note (included in Exhibit 4.10)
- Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP 5.01+
- 5.02+ Opinion of Winthrop, Stimson, Putnam & Roberts
- Form of Voting, Support and Exchange Trust Agreement by and 9.01 among VERITAS Software Corporation, Old VERITAS, TeleBackup and Montreal Trust Company of Canada (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.01 of the Registrant's April 1999 Form S-4)
- 10.01\* Development and License Agreement between Seagate Technology, Inc. and VERITAS Software Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 of the April 1999 Form S-4)
- 10.02\* Cross License Agreement and OEM Agreement between Seagate Software Information Management Group, Inc. and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 of the April 1999 Form S-4
- 10.03 VERITAS 1993 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 of the April 1999 Form S-4).
- 10.04 VERITAS 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 of the April 1999 Form S-4)

</TABLE>

II-3

211	
<table> <caption> EXHIBIT NUMBER</caption></table>	EXHIBIT TITLE
<c></c>	<\$>
10.05	VERITAS 1993 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 to Old VERITAS' Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 24, 1997 (the "March 1997 Form S-4"))
10.06	OpenVision Technologies, Inc. 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the March 1997 Form S-4)
10.07	Office building sublease dated February 27, 1998, by and between Old VERITAS and Space Systems/Loral, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Old VERITAS' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998 (the "September 1998 Form 10-Q"))
10.08	Office building lease dated April 30, 1998, by and between Old VERITAS and Ryan Companies US, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the September 1998 Form 10-Q)
10.09	VERITAS' 1997 Chief Executive Officer Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.05 of Old VERITAS' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997 filed with the SEC on March 2, 1998 (the "1997 Form 10-K"))
10.10	VERITAS' 1997 Executive Officer Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.06 of the 1997 Form 10-K)
10.11	Form of Key Employee Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the April 1999 Form S-4)
10.12	Office Building Lease, dated September 2, 1994, as amended, by and between Old VERITAS and John Arriliaga and Richard T. Peery regarding property located in Mountain View, California (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.09 of Old VERITAS' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994 filed with the SEC on March 29, 1995)
10.13	Amendment No 1. to Office Building Lease dated May 28, 1997 by and between Old VERITAS and John Arriliaga and Richard T. Perry (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the 1997 Form 10-K)
10.14	Agreement dated November 7, 1996 between VERITAS Software India Pvt. Ltd. and Talwalkar & Talwalkar and Mr. Rajendra Dattatraya Pathak, Mrs. Kamal Trimbak Nighojkar, Mrs. Bakul Prabhakar Pathak, Mrs. Nalini Manohar Saraf, Mr. Narhar Vaman Pandit, Mr. Madhav Narhar Pandit, Ms. Madhavi Damodar

Thite, and Ms. Medha Narhar Pandit relating to the development of certain premises in Pune, India (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March 1997 Form S-4)

- 10.15 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between VERITAS Software Corporation and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the April 1999 Form S-4)
- 10.16 Amendment No. 1 to Cross-License and OEM Agreement between Seagate Software Information Management Group, Inc. and VERITAS Software Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the April 1999 Form S-4) 12.01
- Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 21.01 Subsidiaries of VERITAS Software Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.01 of the April 1999 Form S-4) 21.02+ Subsidiaries of VERITAS Operating Corporation 23.01 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors 23.02 23.03 Consent of Independent Accountants
- </TABLE>

212

II-4

<table> <caption> EXHIBIT NUMBER</caption></table>	EXHIBIT TITLE
<c></c>	<s></s>
23.04+	Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibit 5.01)
23.05+	Consent of Winthrop, Stimson, Putnam & Roberts (included in
	Exhibit 5.01)
24.01	Power of Attorney
25.01	Statement of Eligibility and Qualifications Under the Trust
	Indenture Act of 1939 of a Corporation Designated to Act as
	Trustee on Form T-1

  ||  |  |
|  |  |
\* Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this document.

+ To be filed by amendment.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.

The following financial statement schedule for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of VERITAS Software Corporation filed as part of this Registration Statement:

- Schedule II -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Schedules other than that listed above have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or because the information required is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

ITEM 17. UNDERTAKINGS.

The undersigned VERITAS Software Corporation and VERITAS Operating Corporation, as Co-registrants, each hereby undertakes:

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the provisions described under Item 14 above, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this

Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time it was declared effective.

(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

II-5

213

# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, VERITAS Software Corporation has duly caused this Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Mountain View, County of Santa Clara, State of California, on the 27th day of July, 1999.

# VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

By: /s/ MARK LESLIE

Mark Leslie Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Mark Leslie and Jay Jones, and each of them his attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the power of substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement, and to sign any registration statement for the same offering covered by this Registration Statement that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, and all post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith, with the Shares and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<TABLE> <CAPTION> DATE SIGNATURE TITLE \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ <C> <S> <C> PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER: Chief Executive Officer and /s/ MARK LESLIE July 27, 1999 \_\_\_\_\_ Chairman of the Board Mark Leslie PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER: Senior Vice President, Finance July 27, 1999 /s/ KENNETH LONCHAR ----and Chief Financial Officer Kenneth Lonchar </TABLE> TT-6 214 <TABLE> <CAPTION> SIGNATURE TITLE DATE <C> <S> <C>

#### ADDITIONAL DIRECTORS:

/s/ fred van den bosch	Director	July 27, 1999
Fred van den Bosch		
/s/ STEVEN BROOKS	Director	July 27, 1999
Steven Brooks		
/s/ TERRENCE R. CUNNINGHAM	Director	July 27, 1999
Terrence R. Cunningham		
/s/ WILLIAM H. JANEWAY	Director	July 27, 1999
William H. Janeway		
/s/ gregory b. kerfoot	Director	July 27, 1999
Gregory B. Kerfoot		
/s/ STEPHEN J. LUCZO	Director	July 27, 1999
Stephen J. Luczo		
/s/ JOSEPH D. RIZZI	Director	July 27, 1999
Joseph D. Rizzi		
/s/ GEOFFREY W. SQUIRE	Director	July 27, 1999
Geoffrey W. Squire		

</TABLE>

II-7

215

# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, VERITAS Operating Corporation has duly caused this Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Mountain View, County of Santa Clara, State of California, on the 27th day of July, 1999.

### VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION

By: /s/ MARK LESLIE

Mark Leslie Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Mark Leslie and Jay Jones, and each of them his attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the power of substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement, and to sign any registration statement for the same offering covered by this Registration Statement that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, and all post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith, with the Shares and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

SIGNATURE	TITLE	DATE

		<c></c>	<c></c>
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER:		Chief Turnutium Officer and	Teles 07 1000
		Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board	July 27, 1999
Mark Leslie			
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER:			
/s/ KENNETH LONCHAR		Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer	-
Kenneth Lonchar			

and Chief Financial Officer			II	-8		
216						
SIGNATURE		TITLE	DATE			
~~ADDITIONAL DIRECTORS:~~						
		Dimenter	July 27, 1999			
/s/ FRED VAN DEN BOSCH		Director	JULY 27, 1999			
Fred van den Bosch			7 1 07 1000			
/s/ STEVEN BROOKS		Director	July 27, 1999			
Steven Brooks						
/s/ WILLIAM H. JANEWAY		Director	July 27, 1999			
William H. Janeway						
/s/ JOSEPH D. RIZZI		Director	July 27, 1999			
Joseph D. Rizzi						
/s/ GEOFFREY W. SQUIRE		Director	July 27, 1999			
Geoffrey W. Squire						
II	-9					
217						
VERITAS SOFTWA	RE CORPORATIO	N				
SCHEDULE II VALUATION	I AND QUALIFYI	NG ACCOUNTS				
	BALANCE AT BEGINNING	CHARGED TO OPERATING	BALANCE AT END			
	OF YEAR	EXPENSES DEDUCTIONS(1)	OF YEAR			
		(IN THOUSANDS)				
Allowance for doubtful accounts: Year ended December 31, 1998 Year ended December 31, 1997 Year ended December 31, 1996	\$ 697	\$1,032 \$57 \$ 900 \$ \$ (75) \$35	\$2,572 \$1,597 \$ 697			
-----

 Deductions related to the allowance for doubtful accounts represent amounts written off against the allowance.

S-1

218

<TABLE> <CAPTION> EXHIBIT NUMBER

EXHIBIT TITLE

<c></c>	<s></s>
1.01+	Form of Underwriting Agreement
3.04+	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of VERITAS
	Operating Corporation
3.05+	Bylaws of VERITAS Operating Corporation
4.10+	Form of Indenture
4.11+	Form of note (included in Exhibit 4.10)
5.01+	Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP
5.02+	Opinion of Winthrop, Stimson, Putnam & Roberts
12.01	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Costs
21.02+	Subsidiaries of VERITAS Operating Corporation
23.01	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
23.02	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
23.03	Consent of Independent Accountants
23.04+	Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibit 5.01)
23.05+	Consent of Winthrop, Stimson, Putnam & Roberts (included in
	Exhibit 5.02)
25.01	Statement of Eligibility and Qualifications Under the Trust
	Indenture Act of 1939 of a Corporation Designated to Act as
	Trustee on Form T-1

  |

# RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,				THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,	
	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999
	(ALI	AMOUNTS,	EXCEPT RAT	IO DATA, IN	THOUSANDS	5) 5)
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Earnings(1):						
Net income (loss) before						
income taxes	\$(15,060)	\$3,136	\$14,300	\$23 <b>,</b> 759	\$59 <b>,</b> 789	\$21,092
Fixed charges	1,981	2,411	1,180	1,978	6,746	1,695
Total earnings, as adjusted	(13,079)	5,549	15,480	25,737	66 <b>,</b> 535	22,787
Divided by fixed charges:	\$ 1,981	\$2,411	\$ 1,180	\$ 1,978	\$ 6,746	\$ 1,695
Ratio of earnings to fixed		2 2	 13.1x	12 0	0.04	12 4
charges(2) 						

 n/a | 2.3X | 13.1X | 13.0x | 9.9x | 13.4x |

- (1) Earnings consist of income (loss) before provision for income taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest charges, amortization of bond issuance costs related to indebtedness, and that portion or rental expense we believe to be representative of interest.
- (2) During the year ended December 31, 1994, there was a deficiency of earnings to cover fixed charges of approximately \$15.1 million.

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" and to the use of our report dated January 27, 1999 in the Registration Statement (Form S-1) and related Prospectus of Veritas Software Corporation for the registration of \_\_\_\_\_\_ Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2006 and shares of common stock issuable upon conversion thereof.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California July 23, 1999 CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" and to the use of our report dated September 21, 1998 (except for the second paragraph of the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies footnote, as to which the date is April 8, 1999), with respect to the combined financial statements of the Network & Storage Management Group included in the Registration Statement (Form S-1) and related Prospectus of Veritas Software Corporation for the registration of Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2006 and shares of common stock issuable upon conversion thereof.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California July 23, 1999 The Board of Directors TeleBackup Systems Inc.

We consent to the use of our report dated February 5, 1999 with respect to the balance sheets of TeleBackup Systems Inc. as at December 31, 1997 and 1998, and the related statements of operations and deficit and changes in financial position for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 1998, which report appears in the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 23, 1999, and to the reference to our firm under the heading "Experts" in the Registration Statement.

KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants Calgary, Canada July 23, 1999 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM T-1

STATEMENT OF ELIGIBILITY UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939 OF A CORPORATION DESIGNATED TO ACT AS TRUSTEE

Check if an Application to Determine Eligibility of a Trustee Pursuant to Section 305(b)(2)

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY OF CALIFORNIA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (Exact name of trustee as specified in its charter)

United States 06-1143380 (Jurisdiction of incorporation or (I.R.S. Employer organization if not a U.S. national bank) Identification No.)

633 West 5th Street, 12th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90071 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Lynda A. Vogel, Senior Vice President and Managing Director 633 West 5th Street, 12th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90071 (213) 362-7399 (Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

VERITAS SOFTWARE CORPORATION VERITAS OPERATING CORPORATION (Exact name of co-obligors as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE

77-0507675 (VERITAS Software Corporation)

DELAWARE

94-2823068 (VERITAS Operating Corporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

1600 PLYMOUTH STREET MOUNTAIN VIEW, CALIFORNIA 94043 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

> CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES DUE 2006 (TYPE OF SECURITIES)

ITEM 1. GENERAL INFORMATION.

FURNISH THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION AS TO THE TRUSTEE:

(a) NAME AND ADDRESS OF EACH EXAMINING OR SUPERVISORY AUTHORITY TO WHICH IT IS SUBJECT.

Comptroller of the Currency, Western District Office, 50 Fremont Street, Suite 3900, San Francisco, California, 94105-2292

(b) WHETHER IT IS AUTHORIZED TO EXERCISE CORPORATE TRUST POWERS. Trustee is authorized to exercise corporate trust powers.

ITEM 2. AFFILIATIONS WITH OBLIGOR.

IF THE OBLIGOR IS AN AFFILIATE OF THE TRUSTEE, DESCRIBE EACH SUCH AFFILIATION.

The obligor is not an affiliate of the trustee or of its parent, State Street Bank and Trust Company.

(See note on page 2.)

ITEM 3. THROUGH ITEM 15. NOT APPLICABLE.

ITEM 16. LIST OF EXHIBITS.

LIST BELOW ALL EXHIBITS FILED AS PART OF THIS STATEMENT OF ELIGIBILITY.

1. A COPY OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE TRUSTEE AS NOW IN EFFECT.

A copy of the Articles of Association of the trustee, as now in effect, is on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as Exhibits with corresponding exhibit numbers to the Form T-1 of Western Digital Corporation, filed pursuant to Section 305(b)(2) of the Act, on May 12, 1998 (Registration No. 333-52463), and are incorporated herein by reference.

2. A COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY OF THE TRUSTEE TO COMMENCE BUSINESS, IF NOT CONTAINED IN THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION.

A Certificate of Corporate Existence (with fiduciary powers) from the Comptroller of the Currency, Administrator of National Banks is on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as Exhibits with corresponding exhibit numbers to the Form T-1 of Western Digital Corporation, filed pursuant to Section 305(b)(2) of the Act, on May 12, 1998 (Registration No. 333-52463), and are incorporated herein by reference.

3. A COPY OF THE AUTHORIZATION OF THE TRUSTEE TO EXERCISE CORPORATE TRUST POWERS, IF SUCH AUTHORIZATION IS NOT CONTAINED IN THE DOCUMENTS SPECIFIED IN PARAGRAPH (1) OR (2), ABOVE.

Authorization of the Trustee to exercise fiduciary powers (included in Exhibits 1 and 2; no separate instrument).

4. A COPY OF THE EXISTING BY-LAWS OF THE TRUSTEE, OR INSTRUMENTS

A copy of the by-laws of the trustee, as now in effect, is on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as Exhibits with corresponding exhibit numbers to the Form T-1 of Western Digital Corporation, filed pursuant to Section 305(b)(2) of the Act, on May 12, 1998 (Registration No. 333-52463), and are incorporated herein by reference.

1

3

5. A COPY OF EACH INDENTURE REFERRED TO IN ITEM 4. IF THE OBLIGOR IS IN DEFAULT.

Not applicable.

6. THE CONSENTS OF UNITED STATES INSTITUTIONAL TRUSTEES REQUIRED BY SECTION 321(b) OF THE ACT.

The consent of the trustee required by Section 321(b) of the Act is annexed hereto as Exhibit 6 and made a part hereof.

7. A COPY OF THE LATEST REPORT OF CONDITION OF THE TRUSTEE PUBLISHED PURSUANT TO LAW OR THE REQUIREMENTS OF ITS SUPERVISING OR EXAMINING AUTHORITY.

A copy of the latest report of condition of the trustee published pursuant to law or the requirements of its supervising or examining authority is annexed hereto as Exhibit 7 and made a part hereof.

# NOTES

In answering any item of this Statement of Eligibility which relates to matters peculiarly within the knowledge of the obligor or any underwriter for the obligor, the trustee has relied upon information furnished to it by the obligor and the underwriters, and the trustee disclaims responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of such information.

The answer furnished to Item 2. of this statement will be amended, if necessary, to reflect any facts which differ from those stated and which would have been required to be stated if known at the date hereof.

# SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the trustee, State Street Bank and Trust Company of California, National Association, organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, has duly caused this statement of eligibility to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, all in the City of Los Angeles, and State of California, on the 26th day of July, 1999. STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY OF CALIFORNIA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /S/ Scott C. Emmons

SCOTT C. EMMONS ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT

2

4

# EXHIBIT 6

# CONSENT OF THE TRUSTEE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 321(b) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, in connection with the proposed issuance by VERITAS Software Corporation and VERITAS Operating Corporation of their Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006, we hereby consent that reports of examination by Federal, State, Territorial or District authorities may be furnished by such authorities to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request therefor.

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY OF CALIFORNIA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ Scott C. Emmons SCOTT C. EMMONS ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT

DATED: JULY 26, 1999

3

5

# EXHIBIT 7

Consolidated Report of Condition and Income for A Bank With Domestic Offices Only and Total Assets of Less Than \$100 Million of State Street Bank and Trust Company of California, a national banking association duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the United States of America, at the close of business March 31, 1999, published in accordance with a call made by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation pursuant to the required law: 12 U.S.C. Section 324 (State member banks); 12 U.S.C. Section 1817 (State nonmember banks); and 12 U.S.C. Section 161 (National banks).

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	Thousands of Dollars
<s></s>	<c></c>
ASSETS	
Cash and balances due from depository institutions:	6 0 0 1
Noninterest-bearing balances and currency and coin	6,881
Interest-bearing balances	0
Securities	38
Federal funds sold and securities purchased	
under agreements to resell in domestic offices	
of the bank and its Edge subsidiary	0
Loans and lease financing receivables:	
Loans and leases, net of unearned income	0
Allowance for loan and lease losses	0
Allocated transfer risk reserve	0
Loans and leases, net of unearned income and allowances	0
Assets held in trading accounts	0
Premises and fixed assets	41
Other real estate owned	0
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries	0
Customers' liability to this bank on acceptances outstanding	0
Intangible assets	0
Other assets	718
Total assets	7 678
Total assets	7,678

# LIABILITIES

Deposits:	
In domestic offices	0
Noninterest-bearing	0
Interest-bearing	0
In foreign offices and Edge subsidiary	0
Noninterest-bearing	0
Interest-bearing	0
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under	
agreements to repurchase in domestic offices of	
the bank and of its Edge subsidiary	0
Demand notes issued to the U.S. Treasury and Trading Liabilities	0
Other borrowed money	0
Subordinated notes and debentures	0
Bank's liability on acceptances executed and outstanding	0
Other liabilities	3,370
Total liabilities	3,370
EQUITY CAPITAL	
Perpetual preferred stock and related surplus	0
Common stock	500
Surplus Undivided profits and capital reserves/Net unrealized holding gains	750
(losses)	3,058
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments	0

Total equity capital	4,308
Total liabilities and equity capital	7 <b>,</b> 678

  |4

I, Kevin R. Wallace, Vice President and Comptroller of the above named bank do hereby declare that this Report of Condition and Income for this report date have been prepared in conformance with the instructions issued by the appropriate Federal regulatory authority and is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

6

Kevin R. Wallace

We, the undersigned directors, attest to the correctness of this Report of Condition and declare that it has been examined by us and to the best of our knowledge and belief has been prepared in conformance with the instructions issued by the appropriate Federal regulatory authority and is true and correct.

> Lynda A. Vogel James A. Quale Stephen Rivero

5